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Introduction

Introduction

The history of Judaism is that of a people or sect permanently at war
with the rest of humanity. The Jews have naturally aroused anti-
Semitism at all times and in all places. The scenario which then unfolds
is always the same: after a few initial riots and violence, the goyim
(non-Jews) pass laws intended to regain control of the situation and
eventually end up simply expelling them en masse. But invariably, after
the lapse of a certain time, the Jews always succeed in re-infecting the
host society by bribing the kings and lords, after which they start all
over again with their rackets and their intrigues, having learnt
absolutely nothing from the lesson which has just been inflicted upon
them. This has been their history for three thousand years.

On their side, the Jews never cease attempting to convince the
whole world of the truth of their self-invented image of a community
persecuted for “no reason at all”. From their exodus from Egypt to
Auschwitz, from the destruction of the Temple to the pogroms of the
Cossacks, from the massacres committed by the Crusaders to the pyres
of the Inquisition, their history is an unending succession of undeserved
tragedies. To explain this phenomenon, Jewish intellectuals come up
with all sorts of theories, more or less concocted, and end up claiming
that the history of the Jewish people is a “mystery”, an extraordinary
“enigma”, a fabulous destiny. Most of the time, they add or imply that
they are “God’s Chosen People”. But when you take a closer look, the
reality is in fact much simpler... In any case, I hope this book puts an
end to all the self-contradictory blabber about “Judeo-Christian”
civilisation.



1. The Flight from Egypt

1
The Flight from Egypt

The first known manifestation of hostility to the Jews is related in
Exodus, the second book of the Torah. The Hebrews, we learn, in their
hasty departure from Egypt under the leadership of Moses, set out for
the “Promised Land”, which they finally reached after wandering in the
Sinai Desert for only about 40 years.

The Jews were originally invited into Egypt a few centuries earlier
by Joseph, Jacob’s favourite son, whom his brothers had sold into
slavery. In Egypt, according to the legend, Joseph finally attracted the
attention of the Pharaoh, who trusted Joseph completely and appointed
him viceroy. The country and the entire region was going through a
period of abundance, then a drought, as predicted by Joseph. All cattle
belonging to the Egyptian people were (mis)appropriated by Joseph:
“And Joseph said, Give your cattle; and I will give you for your cattle,
if money fail” (Genesis 47:16). The next year, he acquired the territory
of Egypt for the Pharaoh, “for the Egyptians sold every man his field,
because the famine prevailed over them: so the land became Pharaoh’s
(Genesis 47:20).

During this time, Joseph opened the door of Egypt to his father and
his Hebrew brothers, and they were given the best lands: “And Joseph
placed his father and his brethren, and gave them a possession in the
land of Egypt, in the best of the land, in the land of Ramses, as Pharaoh
had commanded” (Genesis 47:11). In a few years, the Hebrews
multiplied in the country and enriched themselves considerably, as we
can read in the Torah: “And the children of Israel were fruitful, and
increased abundantly, and multiplied, and waxed exceeding mighty;
and the land was filled with them” (Exodus 1:7).

The Egyptians succeeded in freeing themselves thanks to the new
Pharaoh, who had “not known Joseph” (Seti I, or Ramses 11, in the 13th
century B.C.). The Pharaoh ordered all newborn Hebrew males thrown
in the river. What is more, the Jews were compelled to work with their
hands; their lives were embittered by hard work: “And they made their
lives bitter with hard bondage, in mortar, and in brick, and in all
manner of service in the field: all their service, wherein they made them
serve, was with rigour” (Exodus 1:13).

It was here that the figure of Moses appears. Moses had been
placed in a basket and delivered to the river currents by his mother,
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1. The Flight from Egypt

who feared that the Egyptians would kill him. The newborn, according
to Jewish legend, was rescued at the river bank by the Pharaoh’s
daughter, who was bathing at the time, and decided to adopt him.

Moses later negotiated the liberation of his people by compelling
the Pharaoh to allow the Hebrews to leave the country, calling down a
series of plagues which devastated the country: water turned into blood,
invasions of frogs, mosquitoes, horseflies, hail, grasshoppers, etc. Each
time, the Pharaoh broke his word and refused to allow the Hebrews to
leave Egypt. The tenth plague was the extermination of all the first-
born among the Egyptians.

Meanwhile, “back at the ranch”, the Israelites were busy looting the
natives of all their movable valuables. Moses, quite naturally, was only
obeying Yahweh’s command: “Speak now in the ears of the people,
and let every man borrow of his neighbour, and every woman of her
neighbour, jewels of silver, and jewels of gold” (Exodus 11:2). “And
the children of Israel did according to the word of Moses; and they
borrowed of the Egyptians jewels of silver, and jewels of gold, and
raiment” (Exodus 12:35).

When the Egyptians discovered the death of their children there
was great lamentation in the middle of the night. The Pharaoh
immediately called Moses and authorised him to leave Egypt with the
Hebrews, naturally taking all the treasures stolen from the Egyptians
with him (according to the Egyptians). According to Jewish legend, this
all occurred after the Jews had lived in Egypt for 430 years.

The Hebrews then made their way to the country of Canaan, taking
possession of it by virtue of the divine promise made to their ancestors.
Nevertheless — as always, according to Jewish legend — the Pharaoh
changed his mind after their departure, and sent his soldiers in pursuit
of the Jews to bring them back. The Israelites then escaped by crossing
the Red Sea which miraculously opened up before them and closed
again upon their pursuers.

The truth is no doubt another matter. When we look at history, in
fact, we see that the Jews have been expelled everywhere they have
ever lived, from all countries and nations, big or small, at one time or
another. If soldiers were sent after them, it was most probably not to
transport them back to Egypt, but rather, to recover the riches which the
Jews had stolen from the Egyptians, and which they were taking away
with them. And what did the Jews do with all this wealth? They
fabricated their Golden Calf in the Sinai Desert. As for the Egyptian
texts of the time, they mention the expulsion of a “sick people”, or of a
“people with a leprous king”.[1] The Jews, in fact, “were regarded by
the Egyptians with just as much contempt as the Hyksos, their brothers,



1. The Flight from Egypt

~ who are referred to as lepers in hieroglyphic texts and who are called a
‘plague’ and a ‘pestilence’ in a few other inscriptions”.[2]

In sum, all the ingredients of Jewish history were already in place at
that early time.[3] ‘
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2. Amalek

2
Amalek

In the Sinai Desert, the Jews were compelled to fight the Amalekites, a
nomadic people who lived between the Dead Sea and the Red Sea. The
Israelites had hardly exited the Red Sea when the Amalekites came to
attack them. Moses, on the mountain, raised his hands to the sky, while
Joshua won the battle and triumphed over “Amalek” for the first time,
who were subsequently to symbolise the hereditary enemy of the Jews
from generation to generation. We find the Amalekites listed right
alongside the Moabites, conquered by Ehud (Judges 3:13) and the
Midianites, conquered by Gideon (Judges 6:3).

- Towards 1050 B.C., Saul, the first king of the Israelites in the Land
of Canaan, listened to the prophet Samuel, who commanded him to
begin a war of extermination against “Amalek”. Saul called all the
soldiers to arms and undertook a perilous war against King Agag. The
Lord said to Samuel (Samuel 15:2), “Thus says the Lord of hosts: T will
punish Amalek for what he did to Israel, how he ambushed him on the
way when he came up from Egypt. Now go and attack Amalek, and
utterly destroy all that they have, and do not spare them. But kill both
man and woman, infant and nursing child, ox and sheep, camel and
ass”. Thus spake the prophet Samuel: of Amalek there must remain
“neither vestige nor memory”.

Saul therefore marched against the Amalekites, fought them, from
Hevila to the mouth of the Euphrates, to the south, to the Red Sea, and
advanced against their capital. This occurred in the year 1053 B.C. He
took their cities; he put men, women and children to death. He captured
Agag, King of the Amalekites, and put all his people to the sword, but
spared all the best among their animals and movable property, thus
violating Yahweh’s order.

At this news, Samuel spoke out about Saul’s disobedience and
informed him that a new king was to be annointed in his place. Samuel
then told Saul: “And Samuel said unto Saul, I will not return with thee:
for thou hast rejected the word of the Lord, and the Lord hath rejected
thee from being king over Israel” (I Samuel 15:26). Samuel then asked
that King Agag, who had been loaded with chains, be brought to him,
and ordered him cut to pieces. Saul retained his position, but was
deprived of authority.

11



3. The Philistines

3
The Philistines

Around 1020 B.C., King Saul started the war against the Philistines.
The battle of Gilboa took place in 1010. The Philistines arrived on the
plain with their cavalry and their war chariots, so that the Israelites
were obliged to take refuge on Mount Gilboa, where the Philistines
pursued them and cut them in pieces. Three of Saul’s sons were killed,
and Saul himself, finding himself alone, fell on his sword. The victory
of the Philistines was total. After resting for a night, the Philistines
searched the battlefield and looted the dead of their garments and arms.
Among the bodies they found King Saul and his three sons and they
sent his head and his weapons home to their country as trophies. They
hung Saul’s decapitated body and that of his son Jonathon from the
walls of Beit-Shean. In memory of this victory, Saul’s skull was
conserved in a temple of Dagon (Chronicles 10:10), and his armour in a
temple of Astarte. The Philistines then took the cities in the plain of
Jezreel and in the western region of Jordan.

The state of Israel re-established itself with King David, Saul’s
successor. David had entered Saul’s service and married his daughter
Mikal. His fame as a hero was constantly on the increase, over the
course of his combats, which he conducted side by side with his king,
until he made Saul jealous of his success, to the point where the King
decided upon his death, David then took to the hills and gathered all the
discontents around his own person. Saul’s defeat at Gilboa caused him
to be recognised as king at Hebron by the chiefs of the Judean clans.
His numerous victories over the Philistines in the west, and in the south
over the Edomites, beyond Jordan, over the Moabites and the
Ammonites and, in the north, over the Arameans, made David the great
king of Israel. According to legend, it was his son Salomon who
replaced him, although the very name of Salomon nowhere appears in
the archaeological documents of the Middle East. Upon his death, the
Jews became divided. Ten tribes founded the kingdom of Israel in the
north, which was destroyed in 722 B.C. by the Assyrians. In the south,
the tribes of Benjamin and Judah formed the kingdom of Judah, with
Jerusalem as its capital.

12



4. Nebuchadnezzar

4
Nebuchadnezzar

In September 605 B.C., Nebuchadnezzar II was crowned king of
Babylon. His principal concern at the time was the struggle against the
Egyptians, who dominated the Middle East and threatened his western
borders. A few months before his coronation, Nebuchadnezzar
vanquished the Egyptians on the Euphrates and drove them from
Palestine and Syria. The same year, he entered Jerusalem, capital of the
kingdom of Judah. But the kingdom refused to submit and the
Babylonians reoccupied Jerusalem twice, in 597, and, after a long
siege, in 586. It was in this year that the Temple of the Jews was
destroyed and the population deported to the Mesopotamia.

The Judeans exiled to Babylon found themselves treated with great
moderation. The famous Jewish historian Heinrich Graetz writes, in his
monumental History of the Jews: “The goodness of Nebuchadnezzar
went so far as to permit families, entire populations, to remain together,
with their people and their slaves, and to retain their former
relationships. These banished persons lived as free men, their rights and
their domestic habits remained intact. They formed special
agglomerations and could even govern themselves according to their
respective traditions”.[4]

The exiles received lands in compensation for those which they had
lost; they possessed slaves, horses, mules, camels and asses, and, apart
from the obedience which they owed to their king, were hardly subject
to land tax contribution. After Nebuchadnezzar’s death, in 561, under
his son’s reign, their condition became even more favourable. Among
the young people employed at his court, there were Judeans who filled
the office of eunuchs. Heinrich Graetz writes here: “How many times
have we not seen the harem guards, servants to the whims of their
tyrants, rise from the rank of slaves to the position of masters of their
masters!”

Towards 550 B.C., the Persians took over the Babylonian Empire,
and, in 536, their sovereign Cyrus authorised the exiles to return to
their homeland, where the Jews immediately began the reconstruction
of the Temple, which was finished in 515 B.C.[5]
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5. The Encounter with the Greeks

5
The Encounter with the Greeks

Starting in the 4th century B.C., the Persian empire was shaken by
Greek imperialism. In 338, a blonde young prince, Alexander, defeated
the troops from Thebes, and began a prodigious career which was to
lead him to the confines of Asia in years to come.

The city of Alexandria, founded on the Egyptian coast in 332,
became the hearth of Hellenic culture and a great commercial centre
Alexander encouraged the Jews to come and live there, as well as in
other imperial cities, so that the city became cosmopolitan. There was a
major Jewish community in the city as early as the 3rd century B.C.,
arousing the defensive reactions of other inhabitants.

The first anti-Jewish writings which have come down to us were
the works of Greek scholars from Alexandria. Hecataeus of Abdera, a
Greek historian who lived in Egypt at the beginning of the 3rd century
B.C., was the author of a History of Egypt which was much used by
Diodorus of Sicily. In it, Hecataeus of Abdera describes Jewish
customs as “inhospitable and anti-human”. The Jews, even then,
seemed in opposition to the rest of humanity, at least since Moses: “The
sacrifices and customs established by Moses”, writes Hecataeus of
Abdera, “were entirely different from those of other nations; by harping
on his people’s wanderings and exile, he established a way of life
contrary to humanity and hospitality”.

The repugnance of the Judeans at sitting down at table with non-
Jews was considered by all to be hostile and insulting. “They live apart,
in special districts, shutting themselves up, living in isolation,
administering themselves by virtue of privileges of which they were
jealous and which excited the envy of those who surrounded them”,
writes the Jewish historian Bernard Lazare.[6] “Their reserve in their
relations with foreigners was interpreted as a hatred of the human
race”, writes Heinrich Graetz.

Many of them were very rich: “They obtained the monopoly of
navigation on the Nile, the grain trade and the provisioning of
Alexandria and they expanded their dealings to all the provinces of the
Mediterranean littoral. They also acquired great wealth”, affirms
Bernard Lazare, who also informs us that Jewish scholars falsified texts
for propaganda purposes. Thus did Aeschylus, Sophocles and Euripides
celebrate the One God and the Sabbath!
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Historians were also falsified: “The most important of these
inventions was that of the Sibylline Oracles, fabricated from start to
finish by Alexandrine Jews, announcing future times where the reign of
the One God would be brought about”.[7]

The Jewish literature of this period, the First and Second Books of
Enoch, the Jubilees, the Testaments of the Twelve Patriarchs, the
Sibylline Oracles and others, were impregnated with apocalyptic
accents and filled with imprecations against all non-Jews: “Woe to
thee, Gog and all later peoples, and to you as well, Magog!”. Several of
these texts, such as the Sibylline Oracles in which passages from the
First Book of Enoch were drawn up in Greek, and their effects upon
non-Jewish readers were catastrophic due to their emphasis upon the
notion of an exclusively Jewish God who conspires with His People to
exterminate other peoples.

But the Greeks, at least literate Greeks, only really discovered
Judaism with the translation of the Old Testament into Greek, known as
the Septuagint, or Seventy, completed at Alexandria in the 3rd century
B.C., under the reign of, and to the order of, Ptolomy II. The text
aroused indignation and disgust among scholars. Did the God of Israel
really order the destruction of the temples of the people of the countries
in which the Jews lived? And what can one say about all these stories
of treachery, rapes, vengeance, and incest which filled these pages?

The book Les Juifs, rois de I’'époque, published in 1845 by
Alphonse Toussenel, a French naturalist, writer and journalist, is
seriously dated, but the introduction contains an interesting passage
regarding the Old Testament: “I don’t know a lot about the great things
the Jews did, since I never read their history except in a book which
talks of nothing but adultery and incest, of butcheries and savage wars;
where everything we respect is sullied with infamy; where all great
fortunes are invariably founded on fraud and treason; in which kings
who are considered great saintly religious leaders have husbands
murdered so they can steal their wives; in which women who are
considered holy enter the tents of enemy generals to cut their heads off.
I do not concede the title of a great people to a horde of usurers and
lepers, living at humanity’s expense since the beginning of time, which
drags its hatred of other peoples and its unconquerable pride all over
the globe”.[8] The Greeks of Alexandria were scandalised at all this
twenty centuries ago.

Manetho, high priest of the temple of Heliopolis, was a Hellenist
Egyptian from the 3rd century B.C. He was the author of a History of
Egypt, only a few fragments of which remain, which were cited a few
centuries later by the Jewish historian Flavius Josephus. Manetho
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claimed that the Exodus of the Jews was not the heroic adventure
described by the Pentateuch, but the expulsion of a colony of lepers and
lunatics. He describes Moses as a priest from Heliopolis who
committed apostasy, named Osareph, who was the leader of a
particularly cruel race of people. After their arrival in Canaan, “they
burned the cities and villages, pillaged the temples, and sullied the
statues of the gods™.[9] ‘

Hecataeus of Abdera stated that the story of Exodus was largely
imaginary. The Jews, in fact, had already been militarily expelled from
Egypt: “The natives became convinced that if they didn’t expel these
strangers, they would never be freed from their evils. They immediately
proceeded with the expulsion”.[10]

Later, Lysimachus of Alexandria, a Greek scholar who lived at the
end of the 2nd century, disseminated this literature with perseverance.
In his History of Egypt, he spoke of the Jews as a people suffering from
leprosy: “The result in Egypt was widespread sterility”. Lysimachus is
cited here by Flavius Josephus: “Once the lepers and mange-carriers
were drowned, they transported the others into the desert and
abandoned them en masse”. The Jews thereforé only landed in the
desert by chance.

The laws to which they were subject aroused the most vivid
indignation. Moses, we learn, “exhorted them not to show benevolence
to anyone, to follow only the worst advice and to demolish the
sanctuaries and altars of all the gods they met with. They approved of
this advice: the outlaws, in putting them into practice, advanced
through the desert in considerable numbers and arrived in inhabited
countries. They then mistreated the men, pillaged and burnt the
temples, reached the territory known as Judah today, built a city and
installed themselves there”.[11]

Damocritus, a Greek historian, one of Lysimachus’s contemporar-
ies, presents the oldest mention of ritual murder among the Jews:
“Every seven years, they captured a stranger, brought him to their
temple, and sacrificed him, cutting him into little pieces”.[12]
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After the death of Alexander the Great, in 323 B.C., his generals
disputed his legacy, and the empire was divided in the end. Ptolomy
and Seleucus both founded dynasties. The Ptolomys dominated Egypt,
Syria and Judea, while the rest of the empire, including Persia, fell to
the Seleucids (a Hellenistic dynasty in Western Asia).

In 198 B.C., the Seleucid Antiochus III took control of Judea, but
was defeated by the Romans in 188 B.C. and had to pay a colossal
indemnity, causing his successor, Antiochus I'V, to raise taxes in Judea.

The entire Mediterranean littoral became impregnated with Greek
culture, and the Hellenisation of Judea continued vigorously. The Jews
there spoke and wrote Greek. Philo wrote his philosophical treatises in
Greek. Innumerable Greek words passed into rabbinical literature, and
great priests, such as Menelaus or Aristobulus, bore Greek names.

These tax increases set off the powder keg. In 169 B.C., Antiochus
IV, who was returning from the campaign in Egypt to levy more troops,
decided to crush the revolt of the Jews in Jerusalem. He entered the
city, repressed the rebellion and profaned the temple, “showing
contempt for the god they worshipped there” (Graetz). He removed all
objects of value, the altar of gold, the chandelier, the table, all the
precious vases, and the temple was transformed into a place of pagan
worship. Menelaus, even more pro-Hellenic than his predecessor, was
raised to the dignity of high priest. After vanquishing the Jews, he was
granted the title of Epiphanes (the Illustrious).

One story was fated to make the Jews look ridiculous in the eyes of
civilised peoples for a long time; Heinrich Graetz writes: a “fable half-
hallucination and lies, a fable inspired by his accomplice Menelaus”.

Antiochus claimed in fact to have seen in the Holy of Holies of the
Temple a stone statue depicting a man on a donkey, wearing a long
beard, standing on an ass and holding a book in his hand. The man on
the donkey was Moses, who had taught the Israelites an abominable
doctrine, a doctrine which treated all of humanity as an enemy, which
commanded them to keep themselves apart from all other peoples and
show them no benevolence.

Since then, there was a rumour going around among the Greeks and
Romans, that Antiochus had found the head of an ass, made of gold, to
whom the Jews rendered great honours: they worshipped an ass.

17



6. Antiochus Epiphanes

“Again, it was probably Antiochus who encouraged people to
believe, or pretended to believe himself, an infamous calumny against
the Judeans”, writes Graetz; “he is said to have found a Greek lying on
a bed in the temple, who begged him to save him. The Judeans, he
supposedly said, are accustomed to fatten up a Greek every year, and
then cut his throat, savour his entrails, and, in so doing, to swear deadly
enmity against all Greeks”. And the Jewish historian added, offended:
“Whether or not this calumny originates from Antiochus or he
borrowed it from artisans of mendacity, it did, in fact, give Judaism a
reputation which was as lamentable as it was undeserved, that of
lacking charity towards other peoples.”

In June 168 B.C., Antiochus undertook a second expedition to
Egypt, but the Macedonian army was defeated and he was compelled to
withdraw to his capital city.

“This time, once again”, writes Graetz, “he found no better way to
discharge his anger than to commit the most atrocious cruelties against
the Judeans...”, who were no doubt quite happy, and noisily so, to
witness his failure. One of his lieutenants, Apollonius, governor of
Mysia, entered Jerusalem and fell on the inhabitants with a troop of
Greek and Macedonia mercenaries.

Apollonius also ordered the demolition of numerous houses and the
ramparts of the city. Those of the inhabitants who could escape the
massacre sought safety in flight.

Posidonius of Apamea, a Greek stoic philosopher, born in Apamea,
a city in Syria (135-51 B.C.), reproached the Jews for their laws
“contrary to the sacred laws of hospitality”. This is a passage from his
tale:

“Most of Antiochus’s friends were of the opinion that they should
take the city by force, and completely annihilate the Jewish race, as the
Jews, alone among the nations, refused to have any social relations with
other peoples, and considered them all as enemies. They told him that
the very ancestors of the Jews, impious men hated by the gods, had
been chased out of Egypt, out of the whole country. Covered by leprosy
and dry patches, they were gathered up like cursed wretches and
thrown out over the borders so as to purify the country. Then, once they
had been banished, they took over the territory of Jerusalem, forming
the Jewish people and perpetuating hatred between themselves and all
mankind. This is why they instituted special laws, such as never sitting
at table with a stranger and never showing them any benevolence”.[13]

Since Judaism considered all of humanity to be its enemies, it was
therefore permissible, for the good of humanity, to take all steps to
annihilate Judaism. In 168 B.C., through an edict published all over
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Judea, Antiochus the Great purely and simply prohibited Mosaic law.
Circumcision, the observance of the Sabbath and Jewish festivals were
severely prohibited; violators were punished by death. Altars in
memory of the Greek gods were erected almost everywhere and the
temple of Jerusalem was dedicated to the Olympian god Zeus. On 6
July 168 B.C. (17 Tammuz of the Jewish calendar), the high priest
Menelaus sacrificed a pig on the altar and smeared its blood all over the
altar. “They cooked the meat of the animal and soiled the parchments
of the Holy Scriptures with it”, laments Heinrich Graetz. The rolls of
the Torah which were found in the temple were not only soiled, but
burnt, “since the Torah, this school of moral purity and universal
charity, taught nothing, according to Antiochus, but hatred of
mankind”. It received its baptism of fire. An altar to Jupiter was then
erected on the spot.

Antiochus Epiphanes issued decree after decree, ordering
recalcitrant Jews to be treated with the greatest severity. Anyone openly
professing Judaism was subject to death by pubic execution. The Jews
from the cities of Syria and Phoenicia, living in the immediate
neighbourhood of the Greeks, were also compelled to abandon
Judaism. Wherever they found the Rolls of the Law the Greeks tore
them up and threw the pieces into the fire. Every Jewish house of
prayer and educational establishment in the country were destroyed.

A few Jews voluntarily renounced the sect in which they had been
brought up and denounced their ex-fellow Jews to the Greeks: “The
~ refuges of the Hassidic Jews were no doubt revealed by a few
miserable Hellenists”, writes Graetz. The head of the garrison, the
Phrygian Philipp, immediately opened a military campaign against
them, and they all died by fire or smoke inhalation.

The signal for the revolt of the Jews was given by a rabbi, Matthias
Hasmon. Upon his death, in 166 B.C., leadership of the resistance
passed to his third son, Judas Maccabeus (from his surname “The
Hammer”, maccabi). These fanaticised Jews organised a guerrilla war
against the Seleucid garrisons and against all Jews sympathising with
the reforms. The same year, Judas Maccabeus won a battle against the
Greeks at Emmaus. Ever since this victory, Jews all over the world
have celebrated the feast of Hannukah — the Feast of the Lights — for
eight days every year, during which they light candles. From 166 to
164, the Greeks were even expelled from Jerusalem and the
surrounding area.

The victories of the Jews only aroused the hatred of the
neighbouring peoples against them. The Judeans “were more than ever
the object of their furore”, writes Graetz, as if the Jews were already the
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object of particular hatred. “To the South-West the Philistines, to the
North-West the Phoenicians, beyond the Jordan River, the Ammonites,
Syrians and Macedonians throughout the neighbouring regions, all
were driven by the same hatred; but none to the same degree, it
appears, as the Edomites, who lived in the south.” Bitter enemies of
Israel, “they ambushed these unhappy refugees, mistreated them and
often killed them.” Judas Macchabeus went to attack them in
Akrabattine, defeating them and expelling them from their homes. He
then crossed the Jordan with his troops and fought the Ammonites,
commanded by a certain Timotheus, “an implacable enemy of the
Judeans”, who was also defeated by Judas.

Antiochus Epiphanes, who had just crushed Artaxias’ rebellion in
Armenia, undertook an unlucky expedition in Persia. He fell ill shortly
afterwards and died in 164 B.C. The following year, 163 B.C., the
regent Lysias granted them freedom of worship, and the High Priest
Menelaus was sentenced to death and executed. Nonetheless, a
Seleucid garrison remained in the citadel of Jerusalem until 141 B.C.,
so as to protect the Hellenising Jews.
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John Hyrcanus, third son of Simon, last of the Maccabees, launched
himself into the conquest of Samaria and reduced the capital to a heap
of ruins. He devastated Scythopolis and massacred the populations on
the sole pretext that they spoke Greek. According to Flavius Josephus,
he was a sanguinary tyrant, who believed himself invested with the gift
of prophecy. When he conquered Idumea, he put to the sword all those
who did not wish to convert to Judaism. The cruelty of the Jews against
conquered populations spread beyond their frontiers.

In 134 B.C., in a last attempt to reconquer the lost provinces, the
Seleucid king Antiochus VII laid siege to Jerusalem. His advisors
advised taking the city by storm and exterminating “the nation of the
Jews”, since it was the only nation among all the nations of the world to
avoid dealing with any other peoples and in considering all men their
enemies, reports Diodorus of Sicily in the 1st century B.C., adding:
“The ancestors of the Jews were chased out of Egypt because they were
impious and detested by the gods.” The historian wrote again that the
descendants of the Jews from Egypt had “raised their hatred of
humanity to the level of a tradition”.[14]

In the year 64, part of Asia Minor and the Middle East was
conquered by the Romans under General Scaurus, under Pompey’s
orders, commander in chief of the armies of the East. Pompey enjoined
the enemy brothers Aristobulus and Hyrcan, who were struggling for
power in Judea, to appear before him in person at Damas, where he
examined their dispute. Hyrcan invoked his right as the elder brother,
while Aristobulus claimed to be the more deserving to wield power.
Pompey was at first more favourable to the rich and impetuous
Aristobulus, then inclined towards Hyrcan, who was more favourable
to Rome. Aristobulus immediately organised resistance forces and
retrenched himself with his men on the Mount of the Temple. Pompey
then gave the order to invade Palestine with a great deployment of
forces. Roman legions joined up with troops remaining loyal to Hyrcan
and Jerusalem was once again subjected to the horrors of a siege, which
lasted three months. In June 63 B.C., one of the towers of the temple
was destroyed and a breach was opened in the lines, through which the
Romans entered in force. Piso, the lieutenant-general, took the temple
on a fast day. The legions and allied troops succeeded in entering
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through the forecourt, massacring the Jews and cutting the throats of
the priests. Chroniclers maintain that Pompey was the first to penetrate
the Holy of Holies of the temple, sword in hand, where no one was
allowed to enter except for the high priests.

This war cost the lives of 12,000 Jews. The title of king was
withdrawn from Hyrcan, who retained only his dignity as a high priest
and was placed under the trusteeship of Antipater, appointed
administrator of the country.

The walls of Jerusalem were razed and Judea was treated as a
conquered country. Moreover, Judea shrank within its narrow pre-
Hasmonean borders. The cities of the coast, inhabited by Greeks, were
declared free cities, the same as certain cities of the interior.

After having appointed Scaurus governor of Judea, Lower Syria
and territories which extended from Egypt to the Euphrates, Pompey
left for Rome, where he was received in triumph. Taking Aristobulus,
the latter’s daughters and two sons, Antigone and Alexander with him,
who, despite close surveillance, succeeded in escaping en route.

The next year, Alexander placed himself at the head of a new
revolt. Gabinius, who replaced Scaurus, raised an army of 10,000 men,
then sent the young Marc Antony against Alexander, who were joined
by numerous soldiers from Antipater’s army. The Roman army won a
decisive victory, during which over 6,000 Jews died.

At Rome, Crassus, Pompey and Caesar shared power for several
years, in an initial triumvirate (60 B.C.). In 54 B.C., the consul Crassus,
commander in chief of the armies of the Orient, visited Jerusalem and
took control of the treasure of the Temple (2,000 golden talents), which
Pompey had not dared touch, so as to carry on the war against the
Parthians in Persia. He also collected 8,000 talents from the rest of the
country, already heavily taxed by the Romans and thus recovered a
total of 10,000 gold and silver talents (according to Flavius). Crassus
took away everything he found in the Temple, as well as all the
presents given to the Temple by Diaspora Jews (of Asia and Europe).
In 53 B.C., he crossed the Euphrates to meet the Parthians, but was
defeated at the battle of Carrhes. Retreating with what remained of his
army, he was assassinated during an interview with the Parthian general
Surena, and his head was sent to the king of Persia, Orodes II. Cassius
Longinus succeeded him as commander of the East, at Damas, and
stopped the Parthian advance, which threatened Syria. The revolt then
broke out in Judea against the Roman protectorate. In 53 B.C., Cassius
invaded the country and crushed the revolt. Nearly 30,000 Jewish men
were taken prisoner and sold as slaves in various slave markets of the
large city.
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At Rome, the Jewish community at the beginning of the 1st century
A.D. consisted of 40 to 50,000 persons. The Jews already exercised a
certain influence over the progress of Roman affairs, writes Heinrich
Graetz: “Since they all, former emigrés and freed slaves, had the right
to vote in the popular assemblies, their opinions often had great weight,
thanks to their mutual unity, their activity and their cold-bloodedness in
conducting business, and perhaps their wisdom”.

Here, as always, they were detested. A young writer, the rhetorician
Apollonius Molon, who lived on the island of Rhodes — like Posidonius
of Apamea, Stoic philosopher and geographer — was the first to write a
treatise against the Judeans, compiling numerous and varied complaints
against them. His work is lost; we only know of it by the mentions
made of it by Flavius Josephus in his treatise Against Apion.
Appolonius described the Jews as “atheists and misanthropes” and
concluded his observations that the Judeans were “incapable of
rendering any service to humanity”.

- The Roman lawyer and statesman, Cicero, who had been
Apollonius Molon’s student, also gained a good knowledge of the
Jews. In 59 B.C., he was responsible for defending the cause of his
friend and client, the proconsul of Asia, Lucius Flaccus, who was
accused of embezzling funds intended for the navy and extorting
money from a few Greek cities during his term of office in Asia Minor.
The accusers included Jews, who accused him of appropriating the
religious tax which the Jews of the province sent to the temple of
Jerusalem each year. For his part, Flaccus cited a Senatorial decree
authorising the exportation of gold from Roman provinces.

The investigation was conducted by Lelius, a partisan of Caesar and
Pompey, the political enemies of Cicero and Flaccus. Caesar, and
Pompey in particular, encouraged Lelius in his investigation in Asia
Minor, and the charge of misappropriation of public funds turned into a
political trial. The Jews, in their traditional determination to destroy all
elites, naturally belonged to Caesar’s party, that of the people, against
the party of the aristocrats, represented by Flaccus and Cicero.

In his summation, Pro Flaccus, Cicero dedicated only two pages to
the accusations made by the Jews, but these pages have become
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famous, because in them, Cicero proved himself an inveterate enemy of
the Jews. Roman Jews, who were keenly interested in Flaccus’s trial,
came to mix with the crowd. Cicero was hesitant to reveal his hostility
towards them, so he spoke in a very low voice. Here is a passage from
his summation, which Heinrich Graetz preferred not to quote. Here,
Cicero is addressing the prosecutor Lelius:

“The next thing is that charge about the Jewish gold. And this,
forsooth, is the reason why this cause is pleaded near the steps of
Aurelius. It is on account of this charge, O Lelius, that this place and
that mob has been selected by you. You know how numerous that
crowd is, how great is its unanimity, and of what weight it is in the
popular assemblies. I will speak in a low voice, just so as to let the
judges hear me. For men are not wanting who would be glad to excite
that people against me and against every eminent man; and I will not
assist them and enable them to do so more easily. As gold, under
pretence of being given to the Jews, was accustomed every year to be
exported out of Italy and all the provinces to Jerusalem, Flaccus issued
an edict establishing a law that it should not be lawful for gold to be
exported out of Asia. And who is there, O judges, who cannot honestly
praise this measure? The senate had often decided, and when I was
consul it came to a most solemn resolution, that gold ought not to be
exported. But to resist this barbarous superstition were an act of
dignity, to despise the multitude of Jews, which at times was most
unruly in the assemblies in defence of the interests of the republic, was
an act of the greatest wisdom.”

Graetz, by contrast, cites another passage: “One must take
particular care to combat the barbarous superstitions of the Judeans and
it is the act of a man of great character to testify to his great contempt
for these agitators of our popular assemblies. If Pompey made no use of
his right as conqueror and respected the treasure in the temple of
Jerusalem, he did not do so for the sake of the sanctuary, but out of
prudence. He did not wish to provide a pretext for an accusation to a
nation inclined to suspicion and calumny.”

One year later, Cicero was sentenced to exile, and could not reside
less than 80 miles from Rome. His house and villas were entirely
demolished. :
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In 48 B.C., Pompey, who had fled to Greece, was defeated by Julius
Caesar at Pharsalia. He then took refuge in Egypt, where he was
assassinated. In thanking them for their assistance, Caesar permitted the
Jews to re-erect the walls of Jerusalem, which had been demolished by
Pompey when he took the city by storm. He also ordered that all Jews
still in bondage in foreign countries as a result of the acts of Crassus
and the ordinances of Cassius Longinus should be freed.

Caesar showered the Jews with favours. He considerably
diminished their taxes and exempted them from military service. Here
is an extract from the edicts posted on the Capitol of Rome and
Alexandria:

“We, Caius Caesar, inform the magistrates of the Parianians that
the Jews from various provinces have come to see us at Delos to
complain of the prohibition which you have enacted against them living
according to their laws and making their sacrifices, a measure of
harshness against our friends and allies such as we cannot tolerate,
since they are permitted to practice these customs even in Rome. Even
if by this same edict we prohibit public gatherings in Rome, we except
the Jews from this interdiction.”

But the power acquired by Caesar threatened republican
institutions: a few conspirators, among them Brutus and Cassius
Longinus, swore to destroy him and fomented a coup d’état.

On 15 March, 44 B.C., Caesar was assassinated in Rome, in the
midst of the Senate, pierced by twenty-three dagger wounds. The Jews,
who had not forgotten that Caesar had permitted them to rebuild the
walls of Jerusalem, met around his tomb for several nights in a row to
weep and preserve his memory with a religious fidelity. “It is for good
reason that the Judeans of Rome wept at his death and spent several
nights lamenting next to his funeral pyre”, writes the Jewish historian
Heinrich Graetz.

Cassius then went to the Senate, where he assumed power and his
victory was ratified by the Senate. In early 42 B.C., he joined Brutus in
Macedonia. _

Confronting these two defenders of republican institutions were the
“triumvirs”, Lepidus, Marc Antony and Octavius, who joined battle
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with them on the plain of Philippi in October 44 B.C. Cassius, who
commanded the left wing of the army, was defeated by Antony’s
attack. Believing Brutus to have been defeated at his side, he asked his
freedman to stab him to death. Three weeks later, Brutus was defeated
in turn by Octavius and chose suicide rather than surrender.

Octavius, the nephew and adoptive son of Julius Caesar, now
governed the western part of the Empire, while Antony governed the
eastern part. Antony required the assistance of Egypt in his war against
the Parthians. In 41 B.C., Cleopatra came to meet the man who had so
effectively avenged the assassins of Caesar, her deceased lover who
had made her queen of Egypt. Antony was completely besmitten by the
young Cleopatra’s charm and beauty.

Relations between Antony and Octavius deteriorated, and a
confrontation between the two became inevitable. Octavius blamed
Cleopatra for the war, and accused her of wishing to rule over Rome.
Marc Antony and Cleopatra were defeated on September 31 B.C. at the
naval battle of Actium, on the western coast of Greece. The following
year, Octavius arrived at Alexandria with his army and Marc Antony,
seeing that his cause was lost, preferred to commit suicide. Cleopatra,
led before Octavius, was able to withdraw with her servants, where she
was able to commit suicide in turn, causing herself to be bitten by an
asp. In this regard, Graetz writes:

“The Judeans of Alexandria were also overjoyed at the queen’s
death, since they had suffered much at her hand. Shortly before her
death, this crowned monster expressed the wish to be able to cut the
throats of all the Judean inhabitants of her capital who supported
Octavius”.
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As he had formerly received Antipater’s hospitality, Marc Antony
showered his son, Antipater II, with honorary distinctions. Antipater II
(who called himself Herod), aged only 25, was also appointed governor
of Galilee.

The Parthians entered Jerusalem and pillaged Herod’s palace with
everything which he had left behind. These barbarians, as Flavius
Josephus called them, also sacked Jerusalem, and the entire
surrounding countryside, then attacked other cities, which they pillaged
and completely ruined. In 40 B.C., Herod fled to Rome, where Antony
had him crowned king of Judea by the Senate.

The Romans and Herod’s troops then reconquered the region from
Antigone, his rival, who had formed an alliance with the Romans. In 37
B.C., Herod besieged Jerusalem, and in the fifth month, the walls of the
city were demolished. This second taking of Jerusalem by the Romans
occurred 27 years after the siege led by Pompey.

Herod then filled Judea with cities and monuments bearing the
names of his Roman protectors, swearing allegiance to Octavius, who
had in the meantime became the first Roman Emperor, under the name
Augustus. For a dozen years (from 23 to 12 B.C.) Herod laid out a
world-class maritime city, Cesarea, which was equipped with two
collossi, one representing Augustus as an Olympian Jupiter, and the
other, the city of Rome, with the features of Juno. When the new city
was inaugurated with sumptuous festivities, one might have fancied
oneself transported into a pagan city: thus the city was given the name
of Little Rome. Later, this city became the head of Roman government
and became the rival of Jerusalem. “Every time Cesarea rejoiced,
Jerusalem wept”.

Certain Judeans felt an aversion for this parvenu who was
attempting to destroy the morals and customs of the Jews. As for
Herod, who was later nicknamed Herod the Great, Graetz writes: “This
young man was the éminence grise of the Jewish nation. He seemed
destined to deliver Judea hog-tied into Roman hands and place his heel
on their neck.”

In Babylon under Persian domination, Judaism prospered. Jews had
lived there for centuries, even before the destruction of the First
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Temple in 586 B.C. Their situation never ceased improving. “They
‘were rich”, writes Elie Wiesel, “lived in security and enjoyed spiritual
and sometimes even juridical autonomy. Cities such as Nehardea were
entirely Jewish. It is in no way astonishing that, in the conflicts
between Rome and the Persians, the Jews of Babylon supported the
Persians and contributed to the financing of their war effort”.[15]
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Wherever they lived, the Jews nourished the hope of seeing the return
of the Messiah and actively prepared for the coming of this triumphant
ruler. In a passage in his History of the War of the Jews, the writer
Flavius Josephus confirmed the hopes of the Jews and their
determination to rule the world. “That which determined the Jews upon
their war against the Romans”, he writes, “was an ambiguous prophecy,
contained in the sacred books, assuring the Jews that a Messiah would
obtain for them domination over the world”.

The Roman historians Suetonius and Tacitus confirmed this idea,
firmly anchored in the Jewish soul. All over the Orient, says Suetonius,
the antique and enduring belief that “men from Galilee would dominate
the world” according to the prophecies was believed.

Judaism penetrated the eastern part of the Roman Empire. “They
have invaded all the cities”,[16] writes Strabo, a Greek geographer (58
B.C. - 21 A.D.) and “it is not easy to find a single place in the world
which has not hosted this tribe, or, more accurately, which was not
occupied by them”.[17]

The Romans quite naturally distrusted them for all their intrigues,
and some emperors took the necessary steps to bridle their power. “One
would have said”, writes Graetz, “that the Caesars had a premonition of
the mortal blow which the Roman Empire and its cult was to receive
from Judaism.” _

To compensate them for their support, Augustus, the first Roman
Emperor, granted the Jews of Egypt the confirmation of their political
rights and privileges. But his successor, Tiberius, was more hostile to
Judaism than his adoptive father had ever been.

Following a scandalous swindle, he had several thousand Jews
expelled from Alexandria to Sardinia.

In his Antiquities of the Jews, Flavius Josephus writes that four
converted Jews had persuaded a converted aristocrat, Fulvius, wife to
the Senator Saturninus, to make a donation of gold to the Temple of
Jerusalem, but that, instead of sending the gold to the Temple, the four
Jews misappropriated it. The Roman historian Tacitus (55-120) writes
that, in the year 19 A.D., Tiberius, upon being informed of this fraud,
caused the Senate to vote a law by virtue of which four thousand men,
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Egyptians and Jews, should be sent to Sardinia to help combat
brigandage. As for the others, they were to leave Italy before a certain
date, unless they had renounced their impious rites, under pain of
perpetual servitude.

Tacitus’s contemporary, Suetonius (69-125), in his Life of the
Twelve Caesars, states that “the Jewish youth were scattered, on the
pretext of military service, in unhealthy provinces”.

Dio Cassius reports a bit further on, that, “while the Jews live in
Rome in great numbers and had converted many people to their ideas,
Tiberius banished most of them”.

In compliance with this law — which is said to have been inspired in
Tiberius’s mind by his all-powerful minister Sejanus — thousands of
Jews were exiled in Sardinia, and the Jews of all Italy were threatened
with expulsion. Young healthy men were trained in the use of arms, on
the Sabbath just as on other days; when they refused, they were
severely punished. This was the first expulsmn of the Jews in the
Western world.[18]

Pontius Pilate, who received the governorship of Judea from 26 to
36 A.D., was a creature of Sejanus. Until then, the commanders of
Roman troops had respected the scruples of the Judeans. But Pontius
Pilate, who wished to accustom them to worshipping the Emperor,
secretly caused the images of Caesar which surmounted the standards
of the legions to be transported to Jerusalem to be exposed in public.

A violent agitation ensued throughout the entire country, so much
so that Pilate ordered the removal of the images.
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Emperor Caligula did not like the Jews either. As Heinrich Graetz
writes, it was under his reign that “the implacable hatred which had
long been simmering in the hearts of the Greeks of Alexandria” finally
exploded against the Judeans. “In fact, the Judeans had long been
considered secret or declared enemies throughout the Roman Empire.
This was a mixture of religious and racial hatred, joined with a vague
apprehension at seeing this small people, so contemptuous and so
proud, attain supreme power one day.”

Nowhere had these malevolent propensities ever reached such a
degree of intensity as among the Greek population of Alexandria,
which observed the opulence of the Jews and suffered their arrogance.
Greek writers opposed both the Jews and their doctrines, both. We
know nothing of Lysimachus; nothing remains of his writings, but we
know some of his texts from what Flavius Josephus says about them.

Apion, a Greek from Alexandria who lived at Rome in the first
century A.D., was the author of numerous erudite books. In his History
of Egypt in five volumes, he wrote a version of the Exodus of the Jews
from Egypt which corroborated that of his predecessors. Apion also
wrote a Treatise against the Jews, in which he affirms that the laws of
Moses “consist of nothing which is not wicked and dangerous”. He
.pursued the members of this sect, which occupied a high rank in
Alexandria, with sarcasms, recalling Cleopatra’s animosity against the
Judeans, observing that the Jews were hostile to the rest of humanity.

In his Against Apion, Flavius Josephus repeats several of his
remarks. The Jews, said Apion, “captured a Greek traveller every year,
fattened him up for a year, and then, at the end of this time, led him into
a forest where they immolated him; his body was sacrificed according
to prescribed rites, and the Jews, relishing his entrails, swore oaths
while sacrificing the Greek: they then threw their victim’s remains in a
ditch.”

Flavius Josephus attempted to refute Apion’s writings by insulting
his adversary, thus inaugurating a long tradition among Jewish.
intellectuals: Apion, he said, “has the stupidity of an ass and the
impudence of a dog, which is one of the gods of his nation”.

These spiteful dispositions of the Alexandrians had to be kept under

31



12. August 38 A.D.: The Pogrom of Alexandria

wraps under August and Tiberius, when the Imperial governors of
Egypt severely repressed any violent demonstrations. The situation
changed under Caligula, because the governor Flaccus, who had been
one of Tiberius’s friends, closed his eyes to the acts of violence
~committed by the exasperated Greek population. These anti-Jewish
demonstrations were chiefly instigated by a few intellectuals, among
them Denys, the bailiff Lampon and the gymnasiarc Isodorus.

Heros Agrippa I had been appointed king of Galilee by the
Emperor. In July 38 A.D., he stopped at Alexandria where he was
acclaimed by the Jews, who saw in his ascension the hopes of a
national renewal and who decided to give a festival in his honour. His
presence set off the explosion.

The Greeks submitted a petition to Flaccus, governor of Egypt,
requesting the promulgation of an ordinance requiring the Jews to
accept a statue of the Emperor in the synagogues, to which the Jews
refused to submit. Under popular pressure, Flaccus deprived the Jews
of Alexandria of the rights of citizenship, declaring them foreigners,
and ordered the arrest of 38 members of the Council of Elders and the
confiscation of their goods. On 31 August 38 A.D., the leaders of the
Jewish community were led through the crowd in chains and whipped
in public, so thoroughly that several of them died. Flaccus then sent the
army to search all the houses of all Jews, who were chased out by the
residents of the four districts of Alexandria and pushed back into the
Delta district, near the port. The mob, which had long been awaiting
this moment, stormed the abandoned houses, shops and workshops,
pillaging and destroying everything. The Delta district was even
besieged to prevent the Jews from leaving, leaving them to die of
starvation and heat prostration. Entire families perished, old men,
women, children, without distinction of age or condition. Four hundred
Jewish houses were pillaged or destroyed, and their places of worship
were profaned and burnt. As desired by Emperor Caligula, the statues
bearing his image were then installed in all the synagogues. These
vexations lasted until mid-September, without any official intervention.

- It was at this time that the Emperor dismissed Flaccus and summoned
him to Rome, due to his disputes with the Emperor.

The Jew Philo of Alexandria (12 B.C. — 54 A.D.) left a testimony of
these events in his text entitled Legation to Caius, in which we glimpse
once again this propensity of all Jewish intellectuals to ignore the real
causes of anti-Semitism and depict the Jews as the innocent victims of
religious persecution organised by fanatics having lost their reason.

Philo of Alexandria speaks of Caligula here and of his desire to
place a statue of Jupiter’s representative in all the temples of the
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Roman Empire, including the synagogues: “There was an unlimited
power of which we, in misery, were the first to feel the effects... We
were ransacked; scholars were chased out of their dwellings with their
wives and children, to the point that their houses remained deserted;
they tore out the furniture and fittings and whatever was most valuable,
not like thieves, who, in the fear of discovery, steal in the darkness of
night, but in broad daylight, in public. They all showed their loot to
passers-by, as if they had been inherited by right or dearly purchased. A
few, who had ganged together for the purpose of pillaging, shared out
their loot in the public squares, often under the very gaze of the
unfortunates whom they had just pillaged, insulting and mocking them,
which was the hardest of all to bear. All this was sad enough without
anything else. Who would not have found it horrible to see these
unfortunates fall from wealth into dire poverty, from opulence into
misery, without having committed the slightest fault; to see them
chased from their deserted homes, wandering through the streets,
suffering death by exposure to a torrid sun, or the rigours of a frigid
night? But all this was less horrible than what happened.

“The Jews were chased out of the entire city, everywhere;
thousands of men, women and children, crammed into a narrow district,
like a cave, were piled up like miserable herds of animals, in the hope
that in a few days they would be no more than a pile of dead bodies...
Those who were surprised in the other districts of the city, those who
arrived from the countryside, being unaware of the misery of their
brothers, were the object of all sorts of maltreatment. They were stoned
with rocks, broken brick and pottery; they were beaten about the head,
or wherever such injuries might be fatal, until they had all been killed.
The unemployed or wealthy classes of Alexandria posted themselves
all about the narrow district in which the Jews had taken refuge; the
Jews were held prisoner like the citizens of a city under siege, and the
surrounding mob ensured that no one could escape by hook or by
crook. It was anticipated that many, pressed by famine, would brave
death to avoid witnessing the death of their families by starvation and
exhaustion, and would attempt to make a break for it. But their enemies
resolutely sealed every exit; those who were caught were killed after
horrible tortures; a few of those captured were tied with leather straps
around their ankles and dragged through the public places and along the
streets and trampled on by the crowd, who mutilated and abused their
bodies. Their bodies, cut or torn to pieces, were unrecognisable, to such
an extent that there was hardly enough left to bury”. Which is to say,
that the depredations of the Jews had goaded the Greek population of
Alexandria beyond endurance, which then exploded in fury.
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The Greek population of Alexandria sent a delegation to Rome to
prevent the Jews from recovering their equality of civil rights. Their
delegation was led by Apion, the sworn enemy of the Judeans, whom
Tiberius nicknamed Cymbalum mundi, the “carillon of the universe”.
Isidorus was also a member of the same delegation, while Philo
represented the Jews. The outcome of this struggle between the pagans
and the Judeans of Alexandria remained doubtful, but what is certain is
that Emperor Caligula, who was to be their arbiter, hated the Jews,
surrounded as he was by his counsellors, the Egyptian Helicon and
Appelles of Ascalon, both sworn enemies of the Jews.

Caligula caused his statues to be erected in the synagogues of Judea
and ordered that all resistance be broken by force of arms. In October
40, the governor of Syria, Petronius, received the order to enter Judea
with his legions and to transform the sanctuary of Jerusalem into a
pagan temple. But the Emperor was assassinated by the soldiers of his
guard in January 41 A.D., at the age of twenty-eight, after four months
of his reign, although no one knew who commanded them. His death
aroused great relief among the Jews, while at Alexandria, the rumour
spread that he had been killed by the Jews of Rome. Like all the princes
opposed to domination by Israel, he was considered “insane” by Jewish
historians and those who copied from them.
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Caligula’s successor on the throne of the Caesars was Emperor
Claudius, who reigned from 41 to 54 A.D. A priori, he seemed little
suited for the job; he was a stutterer and his family considered him
incapable of exercising a public function. Claudius, in fact, owed his
crown to chance and the intervention of King Agrippa, the grandson of
Herod the Great, whom Caligula had made king of one third of the
provinces of Palestine, Galilee in particular. It was Agrippa who, to
quell the disorders, caused the arrest of the apostle Peter and the
decapitation of James, among Jesus’ disciples. Agrippa convinced
Claudius to accept the election of the Praetorians and induced the
Senate to recognise him, Graetz writes here: “Rome must indeed have
fallen quite low for a wicked little prince to have a word in his Senate,
and get mixed up in his deliberations and impose a master upon the
Empire, in a manner of speaking.”

Claudius did not prove ungrateful: he invested Agrippa with
consular dignity and made him king of all of Palestine, joining Judea
and Samaria to his kingdom. At Alexandria, Claudius re-established the
Jews’ freedom of worship and cancelled the erection of imperial statues
in their places of worship, but he recommended that the Jews cease to
demand new privileges and cease to send a distinct ambassador to
Rome from that of the Greeks, i.e., a Jewish ambassador in addition to
the Alexandrine Greek ambassador. Finally, the Jews were requested to
stop the importation of new Jews, foreign Jews, to Alexandria. The
edict of 41 A.D. also prohibited the Jews of Alexandria from
participating in the athletic competitions presided over by the
gymnasiarcs. The right to participate in these games was reserved to
Greek citizens.

To top it all, he sentenced Isidorus and Lampon, the two leaders of
the anti-Jewish insurrection, to death. The investigation into their case
was conducted with much fanfare, on 30 April and 1 May 41 A.D.,
which proves the importance which the Emperor attributed to the case.
The sentence was carried out soon afterwards. It should be noted that
Isidorus had aggravated his case when he was interrogated in Rome,
together with Apion, to accuse Agrippa. Isidorus enjoyed the support of
the Senate, which rendered him no doubt a bit too insolent with regards
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to the Emperor: “As for you, you are the miserable abortion of the
Jewess Salome...”

In the two large Empires of the time, the Roman Empire and the
Parthian Empire, the Jews were everywhere, having infested all the
major cities of the Mediterranean basin. Rejected by one country, they
simply went elsewhere. We are able to form an idea of the immense
Jewish population of the time simply by remembering that Egypt alone,
from the Mediterranean to the frontiers of FEthiopia, had nearly a
million Jews. At Rome, the Jewish population, expelled by Tiberius,
soon regrouped, and became so numerous and such a nuisance that
Emperor Claudius, although favourable to the Jews, resolved to expel
them. Suetonius summarily reports: “Since the Jews were constantly
rebelling, he expelled them from Rome, at the instigation of a certain
Chrestos”. At the time, in fact, the distinction between Jew and
Christian was still very tenuous.

Claudius’ intentions were, apparently, not favourably interpreted by
the Jews. The Acts of the Apostles, in fact, reports that Claudius issued
an edict ordering the Jews to leave Rome. But Dio Cassius writes that
Claudius did not in fact ban the Jews: “The Jews had once again
become too numerous to be expelled from Rome without riots, due to
their large numbers. He did not expel them, but he prohibited them
from gathering together to live according to the customs of their
fathers” (Histoire romaine, LX, 6). This is what permitted Heinrich
Graetz to write that Claudius “was an idiot doubled by a pedant”.
Graetz wrote this way because Emperor Claudius, in a letter dated 41
A.D., maintained that the Jews were the “plague of the universe”.[19]
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At the beginning of Christianity, before the year 70 A.D., according to
the most plausible estimates, there were about seven million Jews in the
Empire, some two of them in Judea and four and a half million in the
diaspora, or a tenth of the population of the Roman Empire, while the
Christians represented no more than one hundred to two hundred
million souls at the end of the 1st century A.D. Under the Emperor
Nero, we find the Jews re-established in the Empire, in full exercise of
their religion. Seneca (4 B.C. — 65 A.D.), a Stoic philosopher,
complained of their influence.[20] Seneca had been an advisor at the
Imperial Court under Caligula before becoming Nero’s teacher. He
played a role as an advisor to Nero, but was then discredited and forced
to commit suicide. Seneca detested the Jews: “This abominable nation
has succeeded in spreading its messages all over the world; the defeated
are issuing laws to be followed by the victors”.[21] As for the
Christians, who were very hostile to the Jews, he has nothing to say —
neither for nor against.

In 66 A.D., Judea arose against the Romans and insurrection turned
into mass confusion. The only available source on this event is Flavius
Josephus’ book The Jewish War. Here, we learn that a familiar of King
Agrippa, a Jew named Norus, conducted nightly massacres of Jewish
insurgents throughout the city, invading the market of the upper part of
the town and adjacent streets, cutting the throats of men, women and
children, sacking the houses and pillaging homes and shops. More than
3,600 able-bodied Jews perished on this one day (16 Iyar 66),
according to Heinrich Graetz. Florus had prisoners beaten with rods
and crucified.

At the news of the struggle of the zealots against the Roman
cohorts from Jerusalem, the Greeks and Syrians from Caesaria also fell
upon the Jews and there was a massacre; approximately two thousand
Judeans are said to have died on this occasion. On Florus’ order, those
who fled were put in irons and thrown in the galleys like slaves. The
inhabitants of Caesaria are said to have cut the throats of twenty
thousand Jews “in an hour”, according to Flavius Josephus, hardly
bothered by the exaggerations.

The Romans also suffered heavy losses: “The horrible massacre of
Caesaria inspired the entire population of Judea like an attack of
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delirium and excited their hatred of the pagans into a form of insanity”,
writes Graetz. “As if by tacit agreement, bands were formed
everywhere, attacking the pagan population, massacring persons,
burning houses, sacking estates. These bloody expeditions led to
reprisals on the part of the pagans of Judea and Syria. Many cities, in
both Judea and Syria, were separated into two camps, fighting without
letup during the day and spending the night observing each other”.

The war between Jews and pagans spread to Alexandria. The
Greeks of Alexandria attempted to address themselves to Nero to get
the Judeans deprived of the rights solemnly granted them by Claudius.
To this end, they gathered in the amphitheatre to appoint an
ambassador. The Greeks, Macedonians, and no doubt the Egyptians,
the “forgotten men” of the Greek and Roman chroniclers of the time,
met in the amphitheatre to discuss the ambassador’s delegation which
they planned to send to Emperor Nero.

“A few Judeans infiltrated the meeting”, writes Graetz, who adds
that the crowd, “seized with fury at the sight of them”, seized them,
and, “calling them spies, dragged three of them through the streets to
burn them alive”. In truth, the Jews probably arrived at the
amphitheatre in force, but found someone to talk to. Other Jews, in fact,
came along, armed with torches and threatened to burn the
amphitheatre where the Greeks were still assembled. The prefect,
Tiberius Alexander, although a nephew to the Jewish philosopher
Philo, sent the legions to the Jewish quarter to restore order. He ordered
troops, reports Flavius Josephus (who was also a Jew in the service of
the Romans), not just to kill the Jews, “but to pillage their property and
reduce their homes to ashes”.

The Roman soldiers then committed a massacre worse than that
committed by the Greeks and Egyptians in August in 38 A.D. “They
took no pity on babes in arms, nor the elderly, but killed everyone they
found, to the point that the entire district was bespattered with blood:
fifty thousand bodies filled the streets”, writes Flavius Josephus.

Heinrich Graetz accepts this figure in his account: “The soldiers
stormed the rich Delta district, burned the houses and filled the
crossroads with blood and bodies. Fifty thousand Judeans perished in
the massacre, and the soldier’s commander was none other than the
nephew of the ardent patriot, the philosopher Philo!” Tiberius
Alexander, in fact, was of Jewish origin, hated by the Jews as an
apostate.

Between one quarter and one half of the Jewish inhabitants of
Alexandria had perished, but it is also possible that Flavius Josephus
exaggerated. ‘“Naturally”, Graetz writes, “the Judeans revenged
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themselves, as much as they could, for these atrocities, against the local
Gentiles, who committed reprisals in turn, adding to the racial hatred
between the Judeans on the one hand, and the Romans and Greeks on
the other hand, and this animosity extended beyond the narrow frontiers
of Palestine”.
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Pacifying Judea required a strong hand, and Emperor Nero sent General
Vespasian. During the winter of the year 67 A.D., Vespasian left
Greece to visit the theatre of the war. His son Titus supplied him with
two legions from Alexandria, the full fury of which was to be felt by
the Judeans. At Ptolomais, at the mouth of the Nile delta, the local
princes, including King Agrippa and his sister Berenice, came to
welcome Vespasian. They paid homage and offered troops to the
Roman general, thus testifying to their devotion to Rome. Berenice
then initiated an amorous intrigue with Titus which was to last many
years, although she was much older than Vespasian’s son.

The Romans entered the city of Gamala and killed approximately
4,000 men, Titus crucified the prisoners, sometimes five hundred in a
single day, to show the most obstinate of the rebels the fate in store for
them. Sometimes they were sent to Jerusalem after cutting their hands
off. He gathered an army of 80,000 men, gathered a quantity of siege
engines and marched against Jerusalem.,

Three “Judean traitors” (Graetz) assisted Titus during this
campaign. First, there was King Agrippa, who supplied Titus with
troops and who, with his speeches, dissuaded the inhabitants of
Jerusalem from resisting the Romans. Tiberius Alexander, who had
already ordered the massacre of his fellow Jews at Alexandria, was to
continue on to Judea. Titus, not yet an experienced general, required
the apostate’s assistance and appointed him commander in chief of his
guard (praefectu praetario). Finally, there was Joseph Matityahu ha-
Cohen, better known under the name Flavius Josephus, a young general
who had fought the Romans, and who, after having been made
prisoner, served Titus as a guide, accompanying him everywhere.

Flavius Josephus is the author of two reference works which we
have already cited: The Jewish War (75-79), which is the only text we
know of regarding the destruction of Jerusalem, and The Antiquities of
the Jews (93).

In The Antiquities of the Jews, Flavius Josephus, who is considered
a traitor by his fellow Jews, despite all the evidence, attempts to show
that the Jews were well integrated into the Empire, returning to this
contention no less than 18 times. He is nonetheless one of the few
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authors of antiquity who may be granted the title of historian, by reason
of the precision and abundance of his information. A Jew by origin, he
was the descendent of a priestly family through his father, and
Hasmonean kings through his mother. Like Philo, and Philo’s nephew,
Tiberius Alexander, he belonged to an aristocratic and Hellenistic
social class. For him, the inhabitants of Jerusalem were the victims and
prisoners of blood-thirsty extremist “brigands” who led them to their
doom.

He never dissimulated his aversion for the zealots, who were in his
view a gang of lunatics, obsessed by the notion of a final catastrophe.
Vespasian and Titus treated him with the greatest respect. During the
insurrection in Judea, Flavius Josephus was thus appointed commander
and head of the Roman troops on the northern front of Jerusalem.

On the side of the Hebrews, the approach of danger led to a certain
understanding amongst the different parties, and a number of
volunteers appeared from Judea and foreign territories to defend the
city. The zealots, the most radical of Jewish resistance members, did
not hesitate to lash out at the elite of the Judeans who preferred to
collaborate with Roman power. When Titus arrived before the walls of
the city, in March of 69 A.D., these “brigands”, using Josephus’
expression, began pillaging and murdering, to liquidate the most
eminent personalities through a reign of terror.

The zealot camp was itself divided into several rival factions. There
was John of Giscala, at the head of ten thousand men; Simon Bar
Giora, with two thousand men; and Eleazar Bar Simon, with 2,400
men. They were soon all killing each other, and — according to
Josephus — “people had begun to pray for the arrival of the Romans”.

During the month of May, Titus finally began the assault. He took
the third wall, then the second, then the upper town. During all this
time, the zealots, feeling their defeat approaching, redoubled their
cruelty. The Jewish warriors, exhausted by so many struggles and by
famine, could no longer repel the Roman assaults. The Romans scaled
the walls, took the towers and threw themselves into the upper town,
massacring the inhabitants.

There remained only the Temple to conquer. The last fanatics had
barricaded themselves inside and the Romans wondered whether they
should destroy it.

While a few Roman officers expressed the opinion that they should
raze the focus point of the insurrection, Titus, on the contrary,
pronounced himself resolutely in favour of saving the building, no
doubt the result of the influence acquired over him by Princess
Berenice. It was therefore decided to take control of the building
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without destroying it. The next day, the 9th of Ab (fateful day of the
Jewish calendar), the Judeans attempted a new sortie but were
compelled to withdraw, overwhelmed by their adversaries.

On 29 August 70 A.D., after a renewed attempt at escape, the
Temple was finally set on fire. A Roman seized a burning brand and,
raising himself upon the shoulders of a companion, threw the torch
through a window into the interior of the edifice. The wood of the
galleries caught fire, and spread rapidly. Titus ran up with his soldiers
and immediately ordered the extinction of the fire, but no one listened
to him. The Roman soldiers threw themselves inside in a fury,
massacring all those who had not succeeded in fleeing. Titus himself,
impelled by curiosity, penetrated as far as the Holy of Holies, until he
was compelled to withdraw by the smoke. The Temple then burned
completely, except for the foundations and some debris left over from
the western wall. After the fire, Titus ordered that all the remaining
structures should be burnt as well. The walls of the city were entirely
razed, with the exception of the three towers Hippicos, Marianne and
Phasael, which Titus reserved as a monument to his memorable victory.
The last vestiges of the political independence of Judea were thus
buried under the ruins of Jerusalem.

According to Josephus, 115,800 bodies were removed through the
city gate under guard by Titus. In total, he writes, one million one
hundred thousand persons perished during the siege, but this figure is
obviously excessive, since this would be half the inhabitants of Judea.
The population of Jerusalem, increased by bands of zealots, must have
amounted to 40 or 50,000 souls, and the number of deaths no doubt
amounted to 20 or 25,000.[22]

Here, Graetz writes: “This siege, it is said, costs the lives of more
than a million people. If we add those who fell in Galilee and the cities
of the interior, we may conclude that the population of Judeans in
Palestine was largely annihilated”.

Judaism had lost its sacerdotal institutions, its capital city, its centre
"of gravity. The contributions to the Temple were thereafter to be sent
directly to the Roman treasury. The annual fee of two drachmas, which
the Jews were accustomed to send to the Temple of Jerusalem, would
thenceforth be sent to the Temple of Capitoline Jupiter. This tax — the
Fiscus Judaicus — was paid into the Emperor’s personal cash box.

It was thus that what the Jews refer to as the Third Captivity began,
the period of the Roman Exile (Galut Edom). Most of the young people
were scattered among the provinces to gamble with their lives in the
circuses. The youngest and the women were sold at auction to slave
merchants at risible prices in view of their great numbers.
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Titus held court at Caesarea, where King Agrippa resided. There he
organised combats between wild beasts and prisoners. The ferocious
beasts were led into a circus and the Judean prisoners were forced to
fight with them until they were torn to pieces. Sometimes the spectacle
changed: the prisoners were to fight and kill each other. It was thus
that, on 24 October, according to Graetz, 2,500 young noblemen
perished “on the occasion of Titus’ brother’s birthday, the ignoble
Domitian.”

Numerous victims expired under the eyes of Titus and Berenice. At
Beryle, on his father’s birthday, 17 November, Titus deployed the
greatest prodigality, and again it was the Judeans who perished in the
arena. In all the cities of Syria, Titus provided the inhabitants of the
Empire with the revivifying spectacle of Jewish martyrdom. The Jews
of the Roman Empire — particularly those of Syria, Asia Minor,
Alexandria and Rome — barely escaped the fate of their Palestinian
brothers. “As a result of the Judeo-Roman war”, writes Graetz, “the
pagan population was seething with anger against the sons of Jacob;
their hatred went as far as to inspire a veritable fury, and they did not
even bother to conceal the fact that the extermination of the Jewish race
was the most ardent of their wishes”.

It was once again Berenice who inspired Titus to grant clemency to
his fellow Jews. When Titus approached Antioch, the population came
out to greet him and to request that he expel the Judeans from the city.
But Titus disagreed, and never even withdrew their civil rights and
privileges. The inhabitants of Alexandria, as well, begged in vain to
deprive the Jews of their city of their civil rights.

During this whole time, at Rome, the civil war was raging. Nero
committed suicide in 69 A.D., and Emperor Galba was assassinated in
the midst of the Forum. Otho succeeded him on the throne, but was
confronted with the rival pretentions of Vitellius, a military candidate
chosen by the legions from Germany. After a military defeat, Otho
committed suicide in turn. His reign only lasted a few months.

Titus’ entry into Rome was accompanied by the honours of the
triumph, the most extravagant seen in Rome for many years, which
attests, despite its troubles, to the immense joy caused by the Roman
victory over Judea. For several years, gold, silver and copper medals
were struck in memory of this glorious event. These medallions
represented Judea with the features of a woman seated sadly
underneath a palm tree or standing, her hands chained, in the attitude of
desperation. They bore the legend: Judaea devicta or Judaea capta.
Nevertheless, neither Vespasian nor Titus wished to take the nickname
Judaicus, which would have recalled their victory — as the name had a
displeasing connotation at the time.

43



15. Titus and the Destruction of the Temple

Flavius Josephus accompanied Titus to Rome during his triumph.
Vespasian installed Josephus in a palace of his own, granted him the
title of Roman citizen and gave him many rich estates in Judea.
Josephus, who enjoyed the favours of the Flavian dynasty, decided at
that time to adopt the family name of his protectors: Flavius Josephus.
In 95 A.D., he nevertheless published a work entitled Against Apion, in
which he refuted the accusations directed against Judaism, and the book
earned him the recognition of his fellow Jews.

Josephus’ political choices were in sum not highly exceptional.
Until 73 A.D., three years after the apocalyptic fall of Jerusalem,
Jewish assassins having escaped from Palestine arrived in Egypt and
attempted to cause trouble, while the Jews of the upper bourgeoisie led
the repression. 600 “brigands” were arrested; the others were pursued
into Upper Egypt and handed over to the Romans, who tortured them
and then put them to death.

The same year, the Jewish resistance rose again at Massada, in
Judea. A few hundred zealots as well as their families had taken refuge
in this old fortress, besieged by Roman forces. Their leader, Eleazar,
exhorted them to commit suicide rather than fall into the hands of their
enemies. On the 1st day of Passover of the year 73 A.D., inspired by
Eleazar’s words, the Jews cut the throats of their wives and children
before committing suicide. A silence of death reigned over Massada
when the Romans succeeded in entering: there were (according to
legend) only two wives and five children still alive, in the midst of 960
victims,

Berenice joined Titus at Rome, in his palace, as if he were already
her husband. He had promised to marry her in 75 A.D., and Titus seems
to have considered it seriously enough. But the Romans hated the
Judeans too much to permit such a marriage. The scandal was immense
and in 78 A.D., Titus was resigned to sending her away.

Little was lacking for the Jewish princess to become Roman
Empress. But she returned to her brother, in Palestine. She nevertheless
kept her influence and intervened on several occasions in favour of her
fellow Jews. In 79 A.D., Titus succeeded his father Vespasian, but he
died after two years of his reign, in September 81 A.D., never having
seen his former mistress again.
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Domitian and the Fiscus Judaicus

Domitian, Titus’ brother, reigned from 81 to 96 A.D., and was able to
satisfy the Jewish community. In Life of the Twelve Caesars, Suetonius
describes his this way: “Domitian was tall, had a modest, blushing face,
big eyes, but rather poor eyesight; in addition, he was handsome, well-
proportioned, particularly in his youth”.

Immediately after the destruction of Jerusalem, as we have seen,
Titus forced the Jews to pay him the two drachmas which they had
formerly paid their Temple; to evade the Fiscus Judaicus, explains
Graetz, “numerous Judeans denied their Jewish origins”.

But Domitian well understood that the laws of Rome were to be
respected. “The greedy and cruel Domitian”, as Graetz describes him,
caused the tax to be collected with great strictness, ordering an audit of
those who declared that they did not belong to the Jewish community.
The historian Suetonius recalls that he had seen a 90-year-old man
undergo a public inspection because the tax collectors wished to know
whether he was circumcised and liable to the Jewish tax.[23]

“Necessity rendered the Jews inventive, and many of them
employed a ruse to evade the Jewish tax”, writes Graetz. “They
arranged themselves in such a manner as to render the sign of the
alliance unrecognisable on their bodies”.
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The Roman Empire underwent its greatest period of expansion under
the reign of Trajan (98—117). Republican Rome, more than Imperial
Rome, had never experienced such brilliant victories. The campaigns of
this emperor were nothing but a series of triumphs. When he took
winter quarters at Antiochus to receive homage from the defeated
(winter of 115-116), Trajan might well have considered the war in the
East to be over. During the following spring, he set off on campaign
once again to break the last enemy resistance and make these
landscapes into the boulevard of India, which he dreamed of
conquering. But the triumphant victor was troubled in his joy by the
defection of the peoples whom he had subjugated between the Tigris
and the Euphrates. This defection had been prepared by the Judeans,
who had organised a revolt in a large part of the Roman Empire. The
Judeans of Babylon, like those of Egypt, Cyrenaica (the Libyan coast)
and the Island of Cyprus, had conceived the plan of shaking off the
Roman yoke by force of arms.

“This animosity between all the Judeans causes one to suppose that
they followed a premeditated plan”, writes Heinrich Graetz. A pseudo-
Messiah named Andreas excited the fanaticism of the Jews. Judea itself
rose in revolt, and organised the insurrection in the adjacent territories,
on the Euphrates and in Egypt (fall of 116 and winter of 117). “The
Temple will soon be rebuilt”, the Jews repeated, animated by a
prophetic faith which also assured them of their universal triumph.

In Egypt, the revolt lasted three years, from 115 to 117. There are
no sources available on the preparations and various stages of this
struggle; only the outcome is known. The leaders of the insurrection
seemed to have been Julian Alexander and Pappos. The rebels first
attacked the neighbours of their city, and massacred the Greeks and
Romans. Emboldened by success, they formed bands and attacked the
Roman legions led by General Lupus. In the first encounter, the
Judeans triumphed despite Roman strategic skill and Lupus was
compelled to withdraw. This first battle was accompanied by frightful
massacres; both victors and vanquished delivered themselves up to acts
of barbarism and savage cruelty, which were explicable only by an
implacable racial hatred, long cooped up and exploding in a fury which
could only be sated with blood.
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The pagans who fled following the defeat entered Alexandria,
where all the Jewish inhabitants capable of bearing arms had joined the
rebels. The pagans seized the Judeans whom they found there and
tortured them to death. The Jewish army conducted reprisals; the Jews
invaded Egypt, took the armed fortress of Alexandria, took all the
inhabitants prisoner and inflicted torture for its own sake. The pagan
population of the city sought refuge and attempted to reach the port.
The Judeans set out in pursuit and reached them near the ships. There
was a terrible struggle. Appius, then prosecuting attorney in Egypt,
recalls that he only escaped massacre by chance, stating that the Jews
“devoured the flesh of Greek and Roman prisoners, smearing
themselves with their blood and tearing off their skin to make rough
garments”. Graetz hurries to add here: “These are certainly pure
calumnies”.

Alexandria had been seriously harmed by the Jews. In their fury,
the Jews destroyed numerous monuments of the city, including that of
Nemesum, temple of the Greek goddess Nemesis, protectress of armies
and races, and goddess of vengeance. The Judeans are said to have
compelled the vanquished to descend into the arena to fight wild beasts
or kill each other. These were in reprisal for the bloody games in which
Jewish prisoners had been forced to take part, on the order of Vespasian
and Titus. .

“It was reported”, writes Graetz, “that in Cyrenaica the Jews killed
200,000 Greeks and Romans and depopulated Libya, that is, the region
which extends along the east coast of Egypt, that a few years later it
was necessary to send new colonists”.

On the Island of Cyprus, where a numerous Jewish population
remained, having built several synagogues, the revolt was led by a
certain Artemion, the insurgents destroyed Salamis, capital of the island
of Cyprus, and killed 240,000 Greeks.

Graetz relies here on a version from Dio Cassius (150-235), the
author of a Roman History in 24 volumes: “At Cyrene, the Jews rose up
under the leadership of a certain Andreas, massacring Greeks and
Romans without distinction. Some of them ate the flesh of their
victims, others made belts out of their bleeding entrails, others covered
themselves with their skin. Many of their victims were sawn in half;
others were delivered to wild beasts or forced to participate in
gladitorial contests; thus they killed 220,000 individuals, committing
similar atrocities in Egypt and Cyprus under the leadership of a certain
Artemon”.[24]

Trajan, who was in Babylonia at the time, sent a powerful army
against the Judeans. He placed one of his principal generals, Martius
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Turbo, at the head of large forces, on both sea and land, and ordered
them to combat the Judeans in Egypt, Cyrenaica, and on the Island of
Cyprus. In the region of the Euphrates, where the Jews exhibited a
provocative attitude, despite the proximity of the Emperor and a large
army, Trajan entrusted the command of the groups to his favourite
general Lusius Quietus, whom he had already appointed his successor.

At Alexandria, Martius Turbo conceived the plan of harassing the
Jews without letup in minor skirmishes, and it was only after a long and
bitter struggle that the Jews laid down their arms. Turbo was inexorable
with the vanquished. The legions surrounded the prisoners and cut them
in pieces, raped the women, and those who resisted were killed. The
Jews remaining alive were assigned for the first time to live in an
enclosure, to preserve the rest of the population from their dangerous
hysteria.

Turbo then committed his troops against the island of Cyprus. We
do not know the details of this war, but it is certain that the Jews of the
island were exterminated to the last man. They no doubt rendered
themselves guilty of the worst atrocities, since, writes Graetz, “hatred
of the Jewish race was hereditary in the island, to the point that the
Cypriots passed a law prohibiting the Jews from setting foot on the
island, even in the event of shipwreck”.

Trajan was motivated by such a desire for vengeance against the
Jews that, in Babylonia, he ordered Quictus to exterminate the Judeans
to the last man, woman or child. The details of the war of extermination
waged by Lusius Quietus are not known. We only know that thousands
of Judeans had their throats cut and the cities of Nisibe and Edessa
were completely ruined. The houses, streets and roads were piled high
with bodies. Trajan, to reward Quietus for the considerable role which
he had played in the war, appointed him governor of Palestine and
invested him with very extensive powers to enable him to stamp out
any germ of revolt.

Because they believed that the time had come to dominate all
nations, Andreas and Artemion incited their fellow Jews to commit
these massacres.[25] It is this spirit of domination which has always
rendered them odious to all peoples.[26]

The famous historian Tacitus (55-120), born in Gallia Narbonensis
(perhaps at Vaison-la-Romaine), was a familiar of the Emperor Trajan
at the beginning of his reign. He then retired from politics to dedicate
himself to his literary work. His Histories were published between 104
and 109, and his Annals, in approximately 110 or 115. Tt is clear from
his writings that the Jews did not enjoy great consideration in Rome:

“Moses”, writes Tacitus, “to ensure his authority over his nation in
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the future, instituted rites never before known and contrary to those of
all other mortals. Among Jews, what is profane among us, is sacred to
them, and inversely, everything that is abominable among us is
permitted among them... They have an obstinate attachment to each
other, an active commiseration which contrasts with the implacable
hatred which they bear to the rest of humanity. They never eat, they
never sleep, with strangers, and this race, although much inclined to
debauchery, abstain from all commerce with foreign women”
(Histories, V, 1). Tacitus writes again on this subject: “No people has
ever been hated as vehemently by others as the Jewish people, none in
turn ever inspired other peoples with such repugnance, and none has
ever attracted as much implacable and well-justified hatred.”’[27]
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Hadrian succeeded Trajan. At the beginning of his reign, he wished to
establish cordial relations with the Jews, to avoid a new war. He
thought that the Jews might fight on his side if the Parthians invaded
Roman territory. Hadrian also authorised the Jews to rebuild the
Temple at its former location and to rebuild Jerusalem from its ruins.
The Judeans, who had waited fifty years to possess a religious centre
once again, were filled with joy. The work of rebuilding the Temple
progressed rapidly, and the Senate decided to perpetuate the memory of
the event by striking various medallions, representing the Emperor in a
toga, with Judea before him on its knees, while he attempted to raise
them from this humble posture. But the good relations between Hadrian
and the Judaic nation only lasted ten years. Hadrian had in fact
conceived the project of raising Jerusalem from its ruins, but only for
the purpose of transforming it into a pagan city, which led to a new
revolt.

The insurrection, led by Simon Bar Kochba, in 132, was the last
great revolt of the Jews under the Empire. Bar Kochba, “the Son of the
Star”, described himself as the Messiah, and he was recognised as such
by the greatest rabbi of his time, Akiva ben Joseph. The Romans
retreated at first, abandoning one fortress after another to the Jews. At
the end of a year (132-133), 50 fortresses and 985 open cities and
villages were in the hands of the Jews, who conquered all of Judea,
Samaria and Galilee from the Romans.

The new state organized by Bar Kochba (“ch” as in “chutzpah”)
had already enjoyed nearly two years of existence (summer of 132—
134). The Judeans supported themselves essentially on the country
extending along the Mediterranean, with Bethar at the centre. Hadrian
had to recall his ablest general, Julius Severus, from Britain to be sent
against the Judeans. Julius Severus attacked the various enemy military
units and crushed them with cavalry. To strike terror into the hearts of
the Jews, he put all prisoners to death. The siege of Bethar, which
lasted nearly a year, was the final act of this war which had lasted three
and a half years.

The conquerors committed horrible massacres in Bethar. “It is
said”, writes Graetz, “that their horses waded in blood up to their
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nostrils, that a river of blood extended from the city to the sea, 4 miles
away, and was powerful enough to carry large rocks. 300 children’s
skulls were found broken against a rock”.[28] According to Jewish
tradition, Bethar fell on the 9th day of the month of Av in the year 135,
which corresponds — as if by chance — with the date of the anniversary
of the destruction of the two temples (486 B.C. — 70 A.D.) and which
was also — in the imagination of the Jews — to be the date of their
expulsion from Spain in 1492.

The reported figure of the numbers of victims at Bar Kochba was
so high that it is hardly possible for them to be true. It is however
unanimously confirmed by Jewish and Greek historians. After three
years of war, the losses in human life were unheard of: half a million
deaths in combat, innumerable deaths from malnutrition, plus those
killed by fire, according to Dio Cassius.[29]

The Romans did not admit their losses, which were very large, and
the Senate refused to grant Hadrian the honours of the triumph, since he
had remained far from the field of battle. These honours were granted
to his general Julius Severus. Hadrian nevertheless caused a
commemorative medallion to be struck, for distribution to the soldiers
as a token of gratitude for their services rendered during this campaign.
This medallion bore the legend Exercutis judaicus — Honour to the
Conquerors of the Jews,

The day after the war of Bar Kochba, thousands of Jewish prisoners
were sold as slaves at knock-down prices on the markets of Hebron and
Gaza. The Judeans who remained in their country hid in caves to
escape Roman soldiers. Hadrian thought that the Jews were not yet
sufficiently humbled, and devised a plan to obliterate their religion. He
ordered Tineius Rufus to carry out the plan, while Severus returned to
Britain.

Titus had left a few houses standing in Jerusalem, and unfortunates
came to build shacks in the midst of these ruins which were so dear to
them. But Rufus ordered the ground surrounding the city of Jerusalem
— including the entire former site of the Temple — ploughed up.
Jerusalem was thus entirely razed to the ground. Hadrian was finally
able to realize his plan of transforming the holy city of the Jews into a
pagan city. At the place of the ancient city, a Roman city, Aelia
Capitolina, was built, named after the Emperor Aelius Adrien and
Jupiter Capitolinus. In all his published acts, Jerusalem was thenceforth
referred to as Aelius, and the ancient name of Jerusalem fell into
oblivion. Judea itself was henceforth called Palestine. Temples of
Bacchus, Venus, and Serapis were erected. The temple of Capitoline
Jupiter, the goddess protectress of Rome, was erected upon the former
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location of the Jewish Temple. Statues to other Roman, Greek and
Phoenician divinities ornamented the streets. A theatre, public baths
and various buildings were erected. Hadrian established veterans,
Phoenicians and Syrians, in the city. As for the Jews (but not Christians
of Jewish origin), they were prohibited from dwelling there, under pain
of death. They were only permitted to enter the city one day a year, at
the time of the great fair, and again, upon payment of entry duties.
They even sculpted a pig on the main door, in the idea of causing true
Israelites to recoil at this detested emblem. The Jews tolerated in the
surrounding areas, at Tiberias, Capharnaum, and Nazareth, threw looks
of envy and regret on this soil which had formerly been theirs. ‘

Hadrian followed the policies of Antiochus Epiphanes. He
published a decree, in Palestine, prohibiting circumcision under pain of
the severest penalties, as well as the observation of the Sabbath and the
study of the Law. But, contrary to Greek law, Roman law did not
require the Jews to worship Roman divinities.

Observance of the slightest Jewish religious practice was very
severely punished, so much so that the reading of the Talmud was
performed on rooftops, far from the inquiring eyes of anti-Jewish
inquisitors. Violators were severely punished. Heinrich Graetz provides
the - details as follows: “Red-hot iron balls were placed under the
armpits of the condemned men, pointed reeds were forced underneath
their fingernails, while the torso of those condemned to be burnt to
death was wrapped in wet wool, to prolong their agony”.

The Judeans attempted to deceive the vigilance of the Roman
authorities and informers. Among the latter, some were former Jews
who had preferred to leave the sect. The apostasy of Elisha ben Abuya,
an eminent scholar in the faith, had disastrous consequences for the
Jews. Elisha ben Abuya thus learned from the Roman authorities to
recognise Jewish practices and Roman spies were able to sniff out the
progress of a prohibited ceremony from far away. The noise of a
windmill told them, for example, of the preparation of the powder
required for the healing of a newly circumcised child; illuminations
indicated the celebration of a marriage. These clues enabled spies to
surprise the Jews and denounce them to the courts.

Elisha ben Abuya was qualified by the Jews with the name Akher
(other), as if his conversion had made him another man. According to
Elie Wiesel, Abuya is “the symbol of apostasy and treason... he had his
pockets full of anti-Jewish pamphlets... Worse: he began to militate for
forced assimilation... He sympathised with the occupant, became a
collaborator and finally an accomplice of the Roman army.” This rabbi
Elisha “was Akher — he represented the dark forces among the Jews,
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the forces of Evil among men... First he was called Rabbi Elisha, then
Flisha ben Abuya, then Abuya, and finally Akher”.[30]

Rabbi Akiba, the leader of the Judeans, was treated with the
greatest strictness by Rufus, the governor of the province. After having
kept him imprisoned in a dungeon for a long time, Rufus delivered him
up to the hands of the executioner. Before dying, he was subjected to
the most atrocious tortures. Graetz tells us that the executioner then tore
off his skin with iron hooks.

The death of Hadrian, which occurred three years after the fall of
Bethar, during the summer of 138, produced a perceptible improvement
in the situation of the Jews. The Emperor had become, as Antiochus
Epiphanes, the personification of hatred against “the Jewish race”
(Graetz). The Judeans and the Samaritans never pronounced his name
without following it with the following formalised curse: “May God
reduce his bones to powder!”

The separation between Jews and Christians became definitive in
Hadrian’s time. The Christians were indifferent to the fate of the Jews
even in the year 70. Under Hadrian, as a result of the acts of violence
and persecutions committed against them by the Jews, they resolutely
sided with the Romans.
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Emperor Septimus Severus, who reigned between 193 and 211,
inaugurated a new era. Septimus Severus was born in Tripolitania, on
the coast of contemporary Libya. On the side of his mother, he
descended from Italian immigrants married to natives, probably of
Libyan origin. Through his father, he came from a Libyco-Punic
family, and the Punic religion. The historian Dio Cassius describes him
as a small man, thin, very lively and taciturn. He had a strong accent
which caused him to be teased by his contemporaries. For the first time,
the Empire was in the hands of a provincial — Romanised, of course,
but the offspring of a Berber family, who retained certain African
attachments. The advent of this African prince was referred to as
“Hannibal’s revenge”.

This avaricious prince was thoroughly corrupted by Jewish gold.
Septimus Severus promulgated laws which assimilated the Jews to
Roman citizens, and they were admitted to the highest public offices.
These were the first positive provisions which fixed their state within
the Roman Empire, and they were respected throughout the lifetime of
the pagan Empire. From persecuted, the Jews became persecutors. In
Palestine and elsewhere, they exercised their vengeance against those
of their compatriots who embraced Christianity.[31]

His son Caracalla, who succeeded him and reigned from 211 to
217, was of Berber origin on his father’s side, and Syrian on his
mother’s. He began his career by assassinating his brother Greta with a
sword blow to the throat, while the latter sought safety in his mother’s
arms. He then committed a series of systematic murders (20,000
according to Dio Cassius), targeting Greta’s friends, relations and
partisans, or even possible competitors. Caracalla was always
obviously under the influence of the Jews, when in 212, he granted the
rights of citizenship to all inhabitants of the Roman Empire. This law,
which contributed in large part to Roman decadence, is, in fact, of
typically Jewish inspiration. The Jews in fact have systematically
encouraged immigration and the dissolution of the national identity
wherever they have ever lived.[32] Caracalla, who has hated by the
Romans, was assassinated in April 217 during a military campaign
against the Parthians in the East.
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His nephew, Heliogabalus, who reigned from 218 to 222, was born
in Syria. Heliogabalus wished to be a strict follower of the practices of
Baal, the god of the sun, of whom he declared himself the preacher. He
had himself circumcised and abstained from eating pork. He attempted
to introduce Jewish, Samaritan and Christian practices publicly into
Rome, naturally subordinating them to Baal. A rumour had it that he
had converted to Judaism.

Heliogabalus left the reins of government to his grand-mother and
his Syrian mother. This female empowerment, a superstition of the
Emperor, his childish caprices, his unconsidered expenditure, and his
homosexual marriages horrified the old Romans and precipitated his
downfall. In July 221, his grand-mother, with a presentiment that her
grand-son’s vices would ruin him, her and her family, persuaded him to
adopt his cousin, Alexius Bassanius, under the name of Severus
Alexander, and to associate him with authority under the title of Caesar.
This severe, astute, virtuous, patient and wise young man, had
succeeded in making himself popular with the only force that really
counted in the Empire: the army. Thus, when the soldiers wished
Heliogalabus to get rid of his cousin and associate, they began to
murmur against him. Heliogabalus wished to have the ringleaders
arrested but a furious mob invaded the Imperial palace and massacred
the Emperor. His body was dragged through the streets of Rome, then
the populace attempted to throw the body in the sewers, but, since the
pipes were too narrow, the imperial cadaver was finally thrown into the
Tiber, on 11 March 222.

The new Emperor, Severus Alexander (222-235), also held
Judaism in high esteem. The Judeans even saw in him the Messiah
(Graetz). For their part, the people of Antioch and Alexandria had
already given him the title of Head of the Synagogue (archisynagogus).
In 234, he visited Mayence to repel the Germans, in particular, the
Alemanni, but he hesitated to fight and preferred to purchase peace. He
was assassinated in his tent and the army proclaimed one of their own
number, Maximinus, the new Emperor. This marked the beginning of a
period of military anarchy which was to last until the reigns of Aurelian
(270-275) and Diocletian (284-305). The Severus dynasty had ended
as it began: with a coup d’état.
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Constantine, who reigned from 306 until 337, was the first Roman
Emperor to convert to Christianity. By the edict of Milan in 313, he put
an end to an era of persecution and assisted the Church in becoming
established and in establishing the freedom of religion. He made grants
in money and lands, subsidised the construction of large basilicas and
often used Christian symbols on his coins. Constantine thus took
measures to protect the Christians against the fury and intolerance of
the Jews. On 18 October 315, he prohibited Jews from persecuting their
fellow Jews who had converted to Christianity, under pain of death by
burning at the stake. On 7 March 321, he made Sunday an obligatory
holiday, except for when field work was required. Constantine was not
unaware that this deprived the Jews of one day’s work per week, since
their day of rest was on Saturday. The Emperor prohibited the Jews
from encouraging apostasy on the part of Christians, and decided that
all slaves who had been circumcised by the Jews would be freed.[33]

His son Constance II, who reigned until 361, promulgated a law
according to which the circumecision of the slave of a Jew would result,
not only in the automatic liberation of the slave, but also the
confiscation of all the goods of the slave’s owner, plus the death
penalty. On the other hand, it was decided that a Christian who married
a Jewish woman would forfeit all his property to the Imperial treasury;
a Christian woman from the Imperial fabricae who married a Jew
would be sent away and all her husband’s goods would be forfeit.

In 335, from Constantinople, the new Imperial capital, Constance
granted his cousin Julian full powers in Gaul to combat the incursions
of the Alemanni. In 361, upon his death, Julian became master of the
Empire. His reign, which lasted two years (from November 361 to
363), was a parenthesis during the course of which Julian attempted to
restore paganism. Julian re-opened the temples and prohibited
Christians from teaching classical letters. He published an essay,
Against the Galileans, in which he described the Christians as
uncultivated and crude people.

On the other hand, the Jews were no longer subject to special
legislation. Julian called the patriarch Hillel his “true friend”. The
Emperor Julian, in fact, “felt a very keen sympathy for the Jews”,
writes the Jewish historian Heinrich Graetz. A letter, signed by the
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Emperor, was sent to all the Jewish communities of the Roman Empire
to announce the provisions taken in favour of the restoration of the
Temple of Jerusalem. This document, signed at Antioch, is dated from
the fall of 362. |

Julian didn’t just leave it at a promise: he took all steps to raise the
temple from its ruins. He attached great importance to the success of
this enterprise and was never discouraged by the expense, no matter
how high. Numerous workers were sent to Jerusalem to clear away
three centuries of ruins from the location where the temple had stood,
and construction materials were transported there in considerable
quantities.

Julian “the Apostate” therefore found his most loyal allies among
the Jews in his war on the Christians. The Jews, writes Mgr Delassus,
“hastened to benefit from the Emperor’s edicts to assuage their
traditional hatreds. In Asia, they were seen burning Christian basilicas
with impunity”.[34]

Unfortunately for the Jews, Julian failed in his expedition against
the Persians and was killed by an arrow, fired at him (according to
legend) by a Christian in his own army. The Jews long felt the happy
effects of his reign. Thus the restrictive measures issued against them
by Constantine and Constance, which Julian had abolished, were no
longer applied.

An assembly of high functionaries and officials deliberated and
chose as Emperor Valentinian I, who reigned starting in 364. He was
the son of an officer of Pannonian origin (present-day Croatia), and
reigned over the western part of the Empire. He ordered respect for the
religious beliefs of all his subjects. He delivered Gaul from the
Alemanni, rebuilt the fortifications of the Rhine and reinforced the
army in Gaul. His great general Theodosius the Elder, took over the
province of Britain, invaded by barbarians from Scotland and Ireland.

Valentinian entrusted the East to his brother Valens, who reigned at
Constantinople. Valens belonged to the Arian sect of Christianity —
according to which the divinity of God is superior to that of His Son,
who became Man — and was the butt of attacks from the Catholic party.
He thus protected the Jews and granted them numerous proofs of his
esteem. It was under his reign that the Council of Laodicea was held
(364). He was enjoined by the Christians to avoid leisure on the
Sabbath (canon 29), to avoid accepting unleavened bread from the
Jews, nor take part in their festivals and sacrileges (canons 37 and
38).[35]

Saint Athanasius, bishop of Alexandria, an illustrious Father of the
Church who lived at that time, did not confine himself to theological
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debate alone, and noted that the Jews had rather peculiar customs,
writing that “the Jews were not the People of God, but the chiefs of
Sodom and Gomorrah™.[36]

In the Balkans, Valens had to fight the Visigoths and Ostrogoths.
He met his end during the battle of Andrianople, on 9 August 378,
presaging the general invasion of the Empire by the Germanic tribes.

In 367, at Amiens, Valentinian, seriously ill, proclaimed his son
Gratian, then aged 8, Emperor. Gratian reigned from 375 to 383,
proved himself highly benevolent towards Pope Damasus I; he was also
the first Emperor to refuse to bear the title of Pontifex Maximus
(sovereign pontiff) of the Roman religion, which was later granted to
the bishop of Rome.

In January 379, Gratian proclaimed that Theodosius, a native of
Galicia and son of the great general Theodosius the Elder, should be the
next Emperor, granting him authority over the eastern part of the
Empire. In 380, with Gratian, he stopped the Goths in Epirus and
Dalmatia. He installed a part of the Ostrogoths in Pannonia, and
installed himself at Constantinople, while a usurper, Magnus Maximus,
took power in the West.

Emperor Theodosius (379-395) elevated Christianity to the rank of
the sole official and compulsory religion. Christianity became the
religion of the State by virtue of the Edict of Thessalonica of 28
February 380. In 381, Arianism was condemned as a heresy by the
Second Ecumenical Council of Constantinople. Theodosius also
promulgated laws against the Jews, speaking of a “bestial sect” (feralis
secta). “Theodosius declares that being Jewish is a desperate, incurable
malady”.[37]

Despite the exhortations of Ambrose of Milan and other members
of the Catholic clergy, Theodosius the Great prohibited -civil
functionaries from interfering with the religious affairs of the Jews.
Christians who molested them were severely punished. But imperial
orders were powerless to change the spirit of the times. Besides, before
Theodosius’s reign, there were already a certain number of restrictive
laws in effect against the Jews, and these laws remained in effect.
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The Fathers of the Church

Saint Ambrose (340-394), bishop of Milan and famous Father of the
Church, was Theodosius’ contemporary. Learning that the Emperor
Theodosius had sentenced a bishop from Callinicus, in northern
Mesopotamia, to rebuild a synagogue which he had first set fire to, he
became indignant and wrote to the Emperor. While recognising that the
bishop had taken his zeal to an extreme and should be reprimanded, he
protested in such keen terms that the Emperor felt himself obliged to
revise his decision.[38]

Saint Ambrose moreover declared that the Synagogue “was a house
of impiety and a receptacle of sick people”. When, as the result of the
actions of the Israelites, the Christian mobs could no longer restrain
their anger and set fire to a synagogue in Rome, he gave his support in
these terms:

“I have declared that the synagogue caught fire or at least I ordered
these persons to set fire to it. And if anyone objects that I did not
personally set fire to the synagogue, I protest that it began to be burnt
by the judgement of God”.[39]

Heinrich Graetz writes of him: “Ambrose of Milan outdid
Chrysostom in violence and odious calumnies against the Jews. He
called the usurper ‘Maximus the Judean’, for ordering the Roman
Senate to cause a synagogue in Rome burnt by the Christians to be
rebuilt at the city’s expense”.

Saint Ambrose of Milan is recognised by the Church as a model
worthy of imitation for bishops, and as one of the most illustrious
examples of Christian charity. “This shows that one must not use
charity to protect the forces of evil”, writes Maurice Pinay, correctly.

At this time, the Jews could no longer persecute the Christians as
they had done previously. The great theologian Tertullian, Father of the
Church and prolific author, left a testimony regarding the synagogue as
the origin of Jewish persecutions of Christians. Tertullian was born at
Carthage between 150 and 160 to a centurion father in the Roman army
and introduced Christian literature in the Latin language in the first half
of the 3rd century. In his treatise Adversos Judaeos, he clearly accuses
the Jews of persecuting Christians. In Escopiase, he states that “the
synagogues are the points whence issue the persecutions against the
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Christians”, and in Ad Nationem, he writes again: “It is the Jews who
issue calumnies against the Christians™.[40]

As Saint Ambrose reports, the Jews reduced to ashes a large
quantity of churches during the reign of Julian the Apostate, including
the basilica of Alexandria and no one demanded that anyone crack
down on them. ‘

200 years later, Saint Gregory of Nyssa, another illustrious
personage, who was the theological head of the Council of
Constantinople in 381, also accused the Jews, describing them as
follows: '

“Murderers of the Lord, killers of the prophets, enemies of God...
they despise the laws. They are the advocates of the Devil, a race of
vipers, of informers, of slanderers, the yeast of the Pharisees, an
assembly of demons, of perverse men, of stoners, of enemies of
honesty”.[41]

The most vehement of the Christian anti-Judaists at that time was
Saint John Chrysostom (349—407), the most revered of the Fathers of
the Eastern Church. He was born at Antioch and was the bishop of
Constantinople. His eloquence was at the origin of the name
Chrysostom, “mouth of gold”.

At Antioch, he showed the Jews occupying the foremost
commercial positions of the city, causing all business to cease
whenever they celebrated their festivals. He consecrated no fewer than
eight homilies warning Christians against their seductions.[42]

Chrysostom again denounced the Jews as “a nation of assassins”,
“lustful, rapacious, voracious and perfidious thieves”, stating that they
would continue to be punished for their crimes until the end of the
world.[43] The Jews are ‘“child-killers... guilty of ten thousand
horrors”. He thundered: “The synagogue is not a meeting place for
criminals and innkeepers like the house of the devil, it is something
more... The synagogue is worse than a brothel. It is the cave of no-
goods and a hide-out for wild beasts”.

Saint John Chrysostom noted, even at this time, the inclination of
certain Jews towards pimping: “Their synagogues”, he said, “are
nothing but places of debauchery where impure women go”.[44]
Already, the anti-Semites sensed that Judaism is an illness: “One must
be beware of the Jewish disease”, said Chrysostom.

Saint Jerome (340—420), born in a family of Roman aristocrats
living in present-day Croatia, had a perfect upbringing at Rome, where
he converted to Christianity at age twenty-five. He was secretary to
Pope Damasus and remains known for his Latin translation of the
Bible, based on Greek and Hebrew (the Vulgate). He also professed a
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profound hostility to Judaism. In this regard, the Jewish historian
Heinrich Graetz writes: “His enemies having reproached him for being
contaminated by heresy due to his Hebraic studies, Saint Jerome
convinced them of his orthodoxy by expressing his hatred for Jews.
While it is necessary to despise them as individuals and as a nation”, he
said, “as far as I am concerned, I abhor the Jews with an unutterable
hatred”.

In his letter to the brothers Pammachius and Oceanus, Saint Jerome
wrote: “If I have an interest in hating men, in detesting a race, I am
against the circumcised ones [the Jews] with a hatred that astonishes
me. They continue to persecute OQur Lord Jesus Christ in the
synagogues until this very day”.

Saint Jerome cites the words of Christ, cited by John: “You are of
your father the devil, and the desires of your father you want to do. He
was a murderer from the beginning, and does not stand in the truth,
because there is no truth in him. When he speaks a lie, he speaks from
his own resources, for he is a liar and the father of it” (John 8:44).

In describing the Apocalypse, Saint John warned us to beware of
the calumnies of the Jews: “I know your works, tribulation, and poverty
(but you are rich); and I know the blasphemy of those who say they are
Jews and are not, but are a synagogue of Satan” (Revelation 2:9).

The very Catholic Maurice Pinay confirmed Saint Jerome’s
opinions in the 19th century: “If it were necessary to abominate the
Jews and Judaism to be a good Christian, he wished to do so in an
exemplary manner”. And Maurice Pinay added: “It is in no way strange
if one takes account of the fact that the Jews are the principal enemies
of Christianity and the human race”.[45]

Bishop Cyril, of Alexandria, who was firmly opposed to the
hysteria and aggressiveness of the Jews, succeeded in having them
expelled from the city in 415, which gave rise to a few excesses.
Despite the energy he expended in defending the Jews, the prefect
Oreste was powerless to suppress the riots and could only bring a
complaint against Cyril. The court of Constantinople, however, upheld
the bishop’s case.

This anti-Judaism of the Fathers of the Church had already been
professed by the founders of Christianity. Saint Paul claimed to be a
Jew, “born in Tarsus, in Cilicia”, an ancient city on the southern coast
of present-day Turkey. But he abandoned Judaism and turned against
the sect. He later claimed to hold Roman citizenship, on three
occasions, as we may read in the Gospel of Luke.

In his epistles, he systematically denigrated the Jews and their
teachings and defined the Jews as the enemies of all men: “Who both
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killed the Lord Jesus, and their own prophets, and have persecuted us;
and they please not God, and are contrary to all men: Forbidding us to
speak to the Gentiles that they might be saved, to fill up their sins
alway: for the wrath is come upon them to the uttermost”
(Thessalonians 2:16). Saint Paul was decapitated, probably in 67, after
a trial held under Nero’s reign.

The fate of Christ, sacrificed for the renewal of the world,
corresponded profoundly with the schema of the great Graeco-Latin
mythologies. He particularly resembled the god Dionysus, son of Zeus,
dismembered by the Menades and offered to the gods, and that of
Adonis, the god who is reborn from his own blood to signal the coming
of spring.

Likewise, the taking of the Eucharist, which implies the symbolic
consumption of the divine flesh and blood, was foreshadowed long
beforehand by the Dionysian, Elusinian and Orphic mysteries. Finally,
in authorising and encouraging depictions of that which is sacred
(sculptures, paintings, mosaics), Christianity fits squarely into the
straight line of Graeco-Latin culture.
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The End of the Western Roman Empire

With the death of Theodosius the Great, the Roman Empire fell to his
two sons and was officially divided in two: the Western Empire,
extending to present-day Bosnia, and the Eastern Empire.

The Eastern Empire was ruled over by Arcadius (395-408), or
rather his two all-powerful Councillors, Rufinus and Eutropius. The
Jews, writes Graetz, “were rather well treated. Rufinus loved money,
and the Jews had already become familiar with its magic power”.

After defeating the Goths, in the year 400, Arcadius reigned alone
and, with the aid of the patriarch of Constantinople, John Chrysostom,
pursued a firm religious policy. As the Jews manifested their solidarity
before the courts to pervert the decision of the judges through false
testimonies, they were prohibited from testifying before Christian
courts.[46]

In the West, Emperor Honorius prohibited the Jews from occupying
any official function in the Empire, but their religion was respected.
They were free to practice their national customs, and had judges of
their own nationality, except in capital cases. They were only excluded
from the highest dignities of the State. Apart from civil careers, they
were free to engage in trade, industry and letters, and, judging by the
complaints made against them by Christians, they did so with the
ardour which has been characteristic of them at all times and in all
locations. ,

Rutillius, a pagan poet of the early 5th century, a native of
Toulouse, complains that the once vanquished nation was oppressing
its conquerors. Saint Augustine (354-430), the bishop of Hippo (in
present-day Algeria), the famous Father of the Church, thought it his
duty to take the Jews down a peg by reminding them that they were
excluded from the highest State dignities, and were absolutely never
invited to table with the great lords.[47]

Theodosius 1T (408-450), Arcadius’ successor, was a weak prince,
“motivated by excellent sentiments” towards the Jews, writes Graetz, It
was nonetheless necessary to take certain measures to restrain the
aggressiveness of the Jews. In 425, Theodosius II and Valentinian III
(for the West) prohibited the Jews from holding Christian slaves, from
holding public offices, and from pleading before the courts.[48] But
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these laws were very imperfectly applied, due to the fact that the wealth
of the Jews permitted them to evade the law.[49]

Rich Jewish merchants often abused their positions to oppress or
pervert lower-class Christians. In the year 430, the Jews of Inmestar, a
locality in Syria between Aleppo and Antioch, celebrated one of their
festivals by crucifying a Christian.[50]

In his Histoire des Juifs, written at the end of the 19th century,
Heinrich Graetz conceded that the Jews might have been the cause of
certain exaggerations, while excusing his fellow Jews from any act of
malevolence. Once again, the Jews are said to have been punished
despite their innocence:

“In the lamentable situation in which they were placed in Christian
countries”, he writes, “the Jews had no other weapon against their
oppressors except mockery. But they sometimes carried it out clumsily,
particularly on Purim, where the excitement of the festival often led to
drunkenness, and, therefore, to impulsive demonstrations. On this day,
noisy youths hanged a Haman — the traditional enemy of the Jews — in
effigy, to a gibbet designed, accidentally or on purpose, to resemble a
Cross, and which was then burned. This act naturally irritated the
Christians, who accused the Jews of outraging their religion. To put an
end to the scandal, Theodosius II ordered the rectors of the province to
punish . the persons responsible, with severe penalties: but it was
insufficient to put an end to the disturbances. This carnival joke was to
produce the most disastrous consequences sooner or later. The Jews of
Inmestar, a small village in Syria, located between Antioch and
Chalcis, having erected one these gibbets to Haman, the Christians
. accused them of fastening a Christian child to it and whipping it to
death. All the defendants were severely punished by order of the
Emperor”.[51]

At Rome and in Italy, since the advent of the Christian Emperors,
the Jews had lost their power and were no longer the boss.

“It is probable”, writes Graetz, “that they participated in the
invasion of the barbarians and in the fall of Rome, once the mistress of
the world, with a joyful heart”. It is equally possible that they were the
principal architects of Roman decadence.[52]

Rome had by that time long been at loggerheads with the Germans.
The capital of the Empire was finally conquered by the Visigoths under
Alaric in August 410, and the Jews may have imagined that the “end
times” presaging the coming of the Messiah were at last approaching,
when they would finally wreak their vengeance on the goyim. But
according to certain Talmudic scholars, it was not even possible for the
Messiah to appear before the 85th Jubilee. After that date, “one might
hope, but one could have no certainty, that He would appear”.
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In 439, Carthage was taken and pillaged by the Vandals under
Genseric. Once again, Graetz insists on this point: “The punishment
inflicted by God upon the Roman Empire awakened the messianic
hopes in Jewish hearts. Jewish mobs in all parts of the Empire repeated
that the prophet Elias had announced that the Messiah would come in
the 85th Jubilee (4200th year of creation, 400 AD of the Vulgate era).
These Jewish hopes have appeared throughout history and always
ended in a blood bath.”

The invasion of the Huns in the mid-5th century once again
reinforced the idea, among the Jews, that the messianic times had
finally arrived. Heinrich Graetz writes here: “In these innumerable
Huns who threw themselves onto the Roman Empire and whose attacks
brought about its collapse, the Jews saw the army of Gog mentioned by
the prophet, launching themselves from the land of Magog with the
speed of a hurricane, the rapidity of a cloud, to cover the land and the
coming and going of peoples, the spectacle of one Empire disappearing
while another was coming into being, convinced them of the eternity of
the Jewish nation. One people was rising, another was eclipsing itself,
but Israel still existed”.

The entire Western Empire was collapsing. Only Gaul was
successfully defended by the Roman general Aetius, who defeated the
Huns on 11 September 451 at the Catalaunian Fields, between Troyes
and Chéilons-en-Champagne, forcing them to withdraw into northern
Italy.

Upon Attila’s death, in 453, the Empire of the Huns disintegrated,
and the Asians returned whence they had come. In 455 came the sack
of Rome by the Vandals under Genseric. Once the Western Empire had
been destroyed, the anarchy into which society fell was eminently
favourable to Judaism.
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Emperor Peroz

In Babylonia and Persia, a bloody series of persecutions was directed
against the Jews under Emperor Peroz or Pheroces (457—484). The
reason for this persecution is said to have been, we are told, Peroz’s
desire for vengeance against the Jews of Ispahan, a few of whom had
killed and skinned two priests.

“Half the Jewish population of Ispahan was massacred”, writes
Graetz. The movement then extended to the Babylonia communities,
where it persisted until approximately 469-470.

A few years later, the persecution took on a more serious tone:
schools were closed, popular assemblies which had been held upon the
approach of the festivals were prohibited, and Jewish courts were
suppressed and Jewish children converted by force to the religion of the
Magi (474) The city of Sora seems to have been destroyed at this time.

“Like Hadrian”, writes Graetz, “he [Peroz] has been blackened by
Jewish history with the epithet of malevolent and was nicknamed Peruz
Reschia”. The immediate effect of these persecutions was to compel the
Jews to leave Babylon. In the “year 4250 of the era of creation”
according to the Jewish calendar (490 A.D.), the Jews of Babylonia
then emigrated south, to Arabia, and, in the east, to the Indian Ocean,
on the coast of Malabar, where they resumed their old ways.
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Theodoric’s Weakness

Under the leadership of their chief Theodoric, the Ostrogoths destroyed
what remained of Roman power. The peninsula was then in the hands
of a Herul [Eastern Germanic] chief named Odoacer, who passed down
to posterity for deposing Romulus Augustus, the last Emperor of the
Western Empire, in 476. Ravenna was taken by Theodoric in 493 and
Odoacer was killed by Theodoric’s own hand. Rome then ceased to be
the capital of Italy, and Ravenna, alternatively with Verona, became the
political centre of the new Ostrogoth state.

One day, on Theodoric’s order, the minister and councillor,
Cassiodorus, wrote as follows to the Jewish community of Milan.
“Thou seekest, Oh Judea, rest upon this earth, and, in thy blindness,
thou dost not concern thyself with rest in eternity!”

When the Jews of Genoa requested authorisation to restore their
synagogue, Theodoric responded: “Thou seekest that which thou
shoulds’t seek to flee from! We grant the authorisation which thou
demandest, but we criticize the vow which thou hast formulated in thy
folly. Nonetheless, We do not wish to impose our religion upon
anyone, nor constrain heretics to act against their conscience”.

Theodoric prohibited the Jews from building new synagogues and
from renovating old ones; he only permitted them to restore those
which threatened to fall into ruin. But while he granted the Jews only
rather limited freedom, he at least protected them from any aggression.

Theodoric’s policy with regards to the Jews exasperated the people,
oppressed by the economic and financial domination of the Jews. Until
one day, in the year 500, a few slaves in Rome rebelled against their
Jewish masters, and the mob, in solidarity with the slaves, mistreated
the Jews and pillaged their houses. Informed of these disturbances,
Theodoric ordered the Senate to punish the guilty parties and to rebuild
the synagogues at their expense. As the guilty parties were never found,
the municipality was sentenced to rebuild the structures which had been
destroyed.

Despite these various vexations, Italian Jews were happy under
Theorodic. They prospered not only at Ravenna and Rome, as well as
at Milan and Naples.[53] The great protection granted them by the
Ostrogoths was no doubt one of the principal reasons which compelled
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the Italians to wish to be governed by the court of Constantinople,
which imposed less restrictive laws up upon the Jews.

Theodoric died at Ravenna, in 526. Cassiodorus, for his part,
became a monk, founded a monastery and composed a commentary on
the Psalms, among other things. In it he frequently apostrophised the
Jews, writes Graetz, showering them with insults, calling them
“scorpions, lions, wild asses, dogs and unicorns”.
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Zeno, Byzantine Emperor

The Roman Empire of the West was submerged by the Germans; but in
the East, the Byzantine Empire lasted another thousand years, until the
capture of Constantinople by the Turks. '

Eastern Roman Emperor Zeno reigned from 474 until 491. In 466,
while he was a general, he succeeded in repelling the Huns, led by
Attila’s eldest son. It was under his reign that, 10 years later, in 476, the
Roman Empire of the West was buried forever. This same year,
Odoacer, the king of the Heruls, a Germanic tribe from Scandinavia,
overthrew the last Emperor, Romulus Augustus, and sent the imperial
insignia back to Zeno. Between 478 and 483, Zeno was also compelled
to wage war against the Ostrogoths under Theodoric, who renounced
the recapture of Constantinople.

At this time, some serious disturbances occurred during a horse
race. The city of Antioch, like most large cities in the Byzantine
Empire, was divided along party lines, the parties being called the
Blues and the Greens. The Greens caused all the disturbances, attacking
their adversaries, killing, among others, many Jews, throwing their
bodies into fires and burning several synagogues. “When Emperor
Zeno was informed of this event”, writes Graetz, “he declared that the
Greens deserved to be punished because they had contented themselves
with burning dead Jews and had spared live ones”.

The inhabitants of Antioch distinguished themselves in particular
through their hostility to the Jews. One day, a famous chariot driver,
Calliopas, came from Constantinople to Antioch, where he drove under
the banner of the Greens. On 9 July 507, disorders occurred at Daphne,
near Antioch, where his party had gone to meet, and, “for no reason at
all”, writes Graetz (which we are not required to believe), the entire
crowd attacked the synagogue, killed the Jews inside and destroyed all
the sacred objects which the building contained.
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The Legislation of the Church

The Church has never varied on the Jewish question. It has always
wished for the Jews to be respected in their persons and their religion,
but always, too, that they be kept in a state of submission and isolation
which would deprive them of the means to harm others. The councils
were particularly anxious to isolate the Jews in the midst of society, by
prohibiting all communication with them; but the frequent renewal of
these defences proves how difficult it was to ensure compliance.

In October 1893, the Revue Catholique des Institutions et du Droit
published a long and scholarly study of ecclesiastical law concerning
the Jews. Under his signature of the Catholic jurisconsultant Charles
Auzias Turenne, we find the prescriptions of the councils, as well as the
advice given by the Popes or the provisions issued by them, the bulls,
letters, and other pontifical documents, as well as the doctrine of the
Church scholars in this regard. It is from this study that we draw the
information which we present below.[54]

In his Histoire des Conciles, published in 1870, Mgr Carl-Joseph
Héf¢1é, bishop of Rottenburg, recalls that the first council which
appears to have concerned itself with the Jews was held in Spain, at
Elvira (305-306). Elvira, in Latin /lliberis, was a city in Andalucia, not
far from Granada. Canon 16 prohibits giving daughters in marriage to
Jews.[55] Bishop Osius (Hosius), of Cérdoba, member of the Council
of Nice and organiser of the Council of Elvira, caused the adoption of a
decision by virtue of which the penalty of excommunication was
pronounced upon Christians who had relations with Jews or contracted
marriages with them. This prohibition was renewed by the ecumenical
council of Chalcedon in 451.

Canon 50 of the Council of Elvira also prohibits eating with Jews.
This prohibition was taken up by the Council of Vannes in the year
465, that of Agde in the year 506, and that of Epaone in the year 517
(modern-day Yenne, in Savoy, in the diocese of Vienna).

Canon 34 of the Council of Agde (Agatha) says that Jews wishing
to become Catholic had to remain in the catechumenate for 8 months
before being baptised.[56]

In 530, 533 and 541, three Councils were held at Orleans. Marriage
with the Jews was once again prohibited, and the prohibition against
eating with them was renewed; they were moreover prohibited from
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leaving their houses for four days, starting on Maundy Thursday, and
from attempting to convert any person whatsoever to Judaism, under
pain of confiscation of all their slaves. The second Council of Orleans
prohibited marriages between Jews and Christians, a prohibition which
was renewed at several Councils. That of Clermont, in 535, excluded
the Jews from the magistracy; the Council of Macon in 581 prohibited
them from acting as tax collectors.[57]

The Council of Epaone, in 517, where major canons were adopted
or renewed concerning the administration of the Church and the
discipline of clerics, was presided over by Avitus, a close relative of the
Roman Emperor of the West, Avitus, a nobleman from the Auvergne
who reigned from 455 to 456. Left a widower at 40, Avitus distributed
all his goods to the poor and withdrew into a monastery. In 490, he
succeeded his father as bishop of Vienna. A theologian and poet, he
cared for the poor, as well as for Church life in general. Appointed
archbishop, metropolitan of a province located in the kingdom of
Burgundy, Avitus’ first aim was to combat Arianism. The letter in
which he congratulated Clovis at having become converted in 496 has
survived. He also contributed to the conversion of King Sigismond, the
king of the Burgundians, who abandoned the Arian heresy in favour of
the Catholic religion in 516. Once again, it was Avitus who sanctioned
the measures of the Council of Epaone in 517.

Avitus pronounced inflammatory discourses against the Jews. “It
was Avitus”, writes Graetz, “who gave the Franks the signal to begin
the persecutions of the Jews”. Gregory of Tours, who was his student,
has left us the following testimony on this subject: in 516, at Clermont,
Avitus repeatedly exhorted the Jews to convert, without the slightest
success. On Ascension Day, a riot occurred, encouraged by the bishop,
during which the synagogue was destroyed. Avitus then once again
ordered the Jews to convert or leave the city, but they refused to obey
and took refuge in a building, which was soon surrounded by
Christians. It was then that the Jews sent a messenger to the bishop to
help them, declaring that they were prepared to do what he wished. The
bishop hurried to the spot, calmed down the mob, and 500 Jews were
baptised on Pentecost, in the presence of a large mob.[58] Jews who
refused to obey took refuge in Marseilles.

The poet Vanantius Fortunatus was made responsible by Gregory
of Tours with celebrating this triumph. As for Avitus of Vienna, who
~ died in 519, he remained one of the saints of the Catholic and Orthodox
Churches. His feast day is 5 February.

The bishops of Arles and Marseilles acted in the same manner, and
it was necessary for the Pope, on the complaints of the Jews trading at
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Marseilles, to write to these two prelates to show more moderation and
to use only methods of persuasion in the conversion of Jews. But a
short time afterwards, the bishop of Bourges excluded from the city all
Jews who refused to convert.

Chilperic I, King of the Franks from 561 to 584, followed the
impulse given by Avitus and obliged the Jews of his kingdom to be
baptised, personally holding the neophytes.over the baptismal fonts. “It
is true”, writes Graetz, “that while he contented himself with apparent
conversions, he also permitted the Jews to continue observing the
Sabbath as well as all the other prescriptions of Judaism after baptism.”

In his History of the Franks, Gregory of Tours (538-594), a French
bishop and historian, describes King Gontran’s entrance into Orleans
under the acclamations of the Jews, and describes Gontran’s discontent:

- “Woe to this Jewish nation, wicked and perfidious, always deceitful
by nature! Today they make me listen to praises full of flattery,
proclaiming that all the nations adore me as their lord, to try to trick me
into ordering the reconstruction of their synagogues at public expense,
after they have been destroyed by the Christians; which I will never do,
since the Lord prohibits it.”

Gregory of Tours denounced the major role of Jewish merchants in
the slave trade, as well as the purchasing of stolen goods.[59] In the
trading of goods from the East, the Jews naturally added the trade in
slaves. Christians were increasingly turning away in horror from this
trade, but the Jews never felt such scruples. They were moreover
protected by the barbarian kings at that time, who found in them the
means to take advantage of the numerous captives taken during their
military campaigns.

Once again, it was the Jews who purchased the sacred vessels
looted from churches, which was a common occurrence in those days.
A major part of all the precious metals possessed by Jews originated in
this manner.[60] Thus enriched, the Jews bought landed properties. The
letters of Saint Gregory the Great and other documents describe the
Jews as wealthy land owners all over Italy. But they were not farmers.
As the Jewish historian Bernard Lazare has correctly stated: “They had
their lands cultivated by slaves, since their intense patriotism prohibited
them from hoeing foreign soil”.[61]

The Council of Macon, in 581, dedicated its canons 13 to 17 to the
Jews, since then often reproduced and inserted in the Corpus Iuris. The
Council prohibited the Jews from possessing Christian slaves and
ordered that any slaves which they had owned should be resold at the
price of 12 golden soldi. The Jews were prohibited from the exercise of
any function which would permit them to penalise Christians. They
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were prohibited from exercising the functions of judge or tax farmer,
“so that the Christian population may not be placed under their orders”.

Jewish intolerance was also prohibited. They were compelled to
show respect for Christian priests, and could not sit in their presence
without their permission. Finally, the Council of Macon renewed the
prohibition for the Jews to appear on the street during Easter Week.

Four Councils for Spain and Gallia Narbonensis were held at
Toledo in the years 589, 633, 638, and 681; another was held at Paris in
614 — the most important of the Frankish Councils (with up to 79
bishops in attendance). Another Council at Reims (in 625, with 40
bishops), reaffirmed these provisions while adding a few more. All
these Councils — particularly, the Council of Paris — insisted on the
provision that no civil or military public office was to be entrusted to
them. The council of Toledo in 633 extended this disability to the sons
of converted Jews. The Jews were also prohibited from working on
Sunday.

Canon 11 of the Council of Constantinople (692) prohibited
Christians from accepting medicine from them, from eating or even
bathing with them, on pain of loss of position for clerics and
excommunication for laymen.

Many of the prohibitions already mentioned, particularly against
eating with Jews, were reaffirmed by the Councils of Rome (743),
Nicaea (787), Regiaticina (Pavia, 850), Metz (888). The prohibition
against keeping, not just slaves but Christian servants and wet nurses,
was reaffirmed by the Councils of Coyaca (near Oviedo, 1050), Szable
(1091), and Gran (in Hungary, 1114, canon 61).[62]

In his Histoire des Conciles, Mgr Carl-Joseph Héfélé summarises
the principal ordinances of ecclesiastical legislation:

1. Christians must never enter into the service of Jews, nor accept
any employment paid for by Jews. 2. Christians are prohibited from
having recourse to the services of Jewish physicians, and from taking
medications prepared by Jews. 3. Under pain of excommunication,
Christians are prohibited from living in the same house or in the same
family as Jews. 4. Christian women are especially prohibited from
accepting positions as wet nurse in any Jewish family. 5. Jews must not
be permitted to exercise public functions giving them any authority
whatsoever over Christians. 6. Christians must never be present at the
marriage of any Jew or accept invitations to dinner.[63]

There are also a considerable number of pontifical acts relating to
Jews: advice or criticisms of bishops and princes, reminders of the
council canons, bulls properly speaking, constitutions for the pontifical
states, etc. These documents naturally present much more variety and
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even differences than the Conciliar decrees, which were general
regulations, since the Popes most often decided on particular cases.
Nevertheless, the policies followed by the Popes, exhibit, overall, a
remarkable and consistent unity which can hardly be said of secular
princes or governments.

Some Jewish intellectuals deny the legislative provisions and
doctrine of the Church. Complacently, they draw up long lists of Popes
who, they say, have been full of benevolence towards them. They cite a
few acts of protective measures, even the concession of privileges
granted in the pontifical states: they most often reproduce a certain
number of letters or bulls in their favour.

But the guiding principle of the Church has never ceased to be that
enunciated by the Lateran Council in these terms, in 1179: “Judaeos
subiacere christianis oportet et ab eis pro sola humanitate foveri”, that
is, that the Jews must be treated with humanity: that if Jews permit
themselves to commit excesses requiring repression, then only lawfully
constituted authorities may intervene. But they must not be allowed to
escape from the position of inferiority which must be theirs, and
Christians are to have as little to do with them as possible.[64]

As soon as the vigilance of the goyim is relaxed, in fact, the Jews
start moving their little pawns around, taking advantage of the situation
and enriching themselves so excessively that gold and silver run
through their hands like water and thousands of unfortunates who made
the mistake of having recourse to them are reduced to misery.

“The prescriptions of the synods or councils were often forgotten or
even openly violated”, writes Charles Auzias-Turenne; “The result was
that the Jews were not long in enriching themselves, appropriating to
themselves all the goods and money of the country; so much so, that,
far from being independent of the Christians, it was they who imposed
their yoke upon the Christians. When this yoke became intolerable, and
the princes failed to intervene, exasperated mobs sometimes resorted to
the most deplorable forms of violence, throwing themselves upon the
Jews and massacring them, or burning or drowning them by the
thousands. Atrocious crimes like these are understandable, but cannot
be excused in the slightest. Of course, the Popes and bishops naturally
intervened forcefully in their favour, giving them asylum, writing very
strongly-worded letters or documents which are then produced by their
modern defenders”.

There were, of course, Popes who were inclined to indulgence, in
the hopes of gain or of converting the Jews; they always began by
softening the measures already issued. But, almost always, if their reign
was of a certain duration, these same pontiffs were always compelled to
retrace their steps.

74



27. The Justinian Code

27
The Justinian Code

Justinian acceded to power at Constantinople in 527, at the age of 45.
He was born in a rather modest family of Romanised Illyrians in
present-day Croatia. That he possessed good qualities is undeniable: he
had a great sense of the State and the Imperial ideal, coupled with a
great capacity for work. He was a cultivated, sober man, which was
rather rare for the time; he was vegetarian and drank no wine. His wife,
Theodora, a former actress, was also of humble origins.

Master of the Byzantine Empire, Justinian attempted to rebuild the
Roman Empire. The Emperor attacked the kingdom of the Vandals in
North Africa. The capture of Carthage on 15 September 533 was the
death knell of the kingdom founded by Genseric. In the rush, Byzantine
armies overran Corsica, Sicily and Sardinia. In 533, two armies, one
from Dalmatia and the other from Sicily, caught the Ostrogoth armies
in a pincer movement and entered Naples, followed by Rome, on 10
December 536, occupying Ravenna in 54(0. The greater part of the
Mediterranean was once again under the rule of the “Romans”.

Above all, Justinian reorganised the administration and
implemented a great legislative reform. The Corpus Juris Civilis,
known as the Justinian Code (529), was written in Latin, the vernacular
language of the Roman Empire, but which was not understood by the
majority of citizens of the Eastern Empire. A summary of antique
jurisprudence took shape in new laws: the Novelles, written in Greek
(534). Justinian’s legislative work was fundamentally importance since
the medieval West, starting in the 12th century, adopted Roman law
from this source.

Justinian was also a great builder. In particular, he ordered the
construction of the majestic Church of Saint Sophia, at Constantinople.
In the whole Empire, he financed the construction of villas, bridges,
baths and roads. He was also the champion of religious Orthodoxy, but
in exchange for his protection and his favours, he intended to impose
his will upon the Church.

Justinian did everything in his power to contain the power and
influence of the Jews. The Justinian Code prohibited the Jews from
holding public offices, thus depriving them of all honours. Their
testimony in court against Christians was declared null and void due to
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the numerous false testimonies which the Jews were in the habit of
providing to assist fellow Jews. Jewish fathers and mothers were
prohibited from disinheriting converted children.

Tt is interesting to note that, starting at this time, the authorities of
the Empire and the Church came to an understanding to exclude not
only declared Jews from top positions and from military careers, but
baptised Jews as well.

“The reason for such measures”, writes Maurice Pinay in The Plot
Against the Church (1962), “is easily explained if one takes account of
that which other Jewish historians such as Graetz and Cecil Roth have
clearly admitted, that is, that the conversions of the Israelites to
Christianity were feigned, and that, even if they practised the new
religion in public, they remained secret Jews, just as Jewish as before,
and that, among these false Christians, the secret practice of Judaism
was transmitted from father to son, even when the latter had been
baptised and lived officially as Christians”.

These measures were the distant origin of the “purity of blood”
laws, which excluded Catholics of Jewish ancestry from administrative
posts in the State and dignities in the Church in Spain in the 14th
century, so as to avoid infiltration and destruction from within.

In 533, Emperor Justinian prohibited the dissemination of the
Talmud throughout the Roman Empire. The Talmud is the
compendium of the teachings of the rabbis, “the soul of the Jewish
nation”, as Heinrich Graetz writes. Its elaboration was closed at the end
of the 5th century, and the following generations made it their
principal, if not sole, intellectual fare. For over one thousand years, the
Jews remained indifferent to the outside world, to nature, to men and
events. They had no knowledge of the Bible, the history of their
ancestors or the eloquence of their prophets, except through the
Talmud.

Later, during the 13th century, Popes Gregory IX and Innocent IV
also condemned the Talmud and ordered it burned, on the grounds that
it contains all sorts of blasphemies and that it teaches Jews to harm
non-Jews by any possible means. Other Roman pontiffs later
condemned the Talmud as well: Julius III, Paul IV, Pius IV, Gregory
X, Clement VIII, Alexander VII, Benedict X1V, among others but to
Justinian falls the honour of having been the first to prohibit this
frightful book.
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Gregory I (590-604)

After Justinian, a large part of Italy fell to the Lombards (589), a half-
pagan, half-Arian, people, who cared little about the Jews and allowed
them to grow and prosper as they wished. In Western Europe, in Gaul
and Spain, where the Church had trouble establishing its power, the
Jews were, at first, much happier than in the Byzantine Empire and in
Ttaly, The collapse of the Roman Empire created a vacuum which was
highly favourable to the Jews, who could corrupt officials, judges and
ministers as much as they liked.

The Jews then dedicated themselves to the slave trade on a large
scale. In this regard, the Jewish historian, Heinrich Graetz, observed
that “the repeated invasions of barbarian tribes and the frequent wars
had increased the number of prisoners, and the Jews actively dedicated
themselves to the slave trade... Among the Franks, who had no spirit of
fanaticism or intolerance, lived a great Pope, Gregory I, whose
pontificate lasted from 590 until 604. Gregory I favoured an absolute
prohibition of the ownership of Christian slaves by Jews (omnino grave
essecrandumque est christianos in servitio esse Judaeorum). Such
slaves should be confiscated without delay, or purchased, if it was
impossible to proceed in any other manner. If the Jew converted, the
slaves were not returned to him”.[65]

In 593, he took measures against a Jew from Sicily named Nasas,
who worshipped the prophet Elias — as did many Christians at the time
— and practised the slave trade. Gregory enjoined the prefect of Sicily to
break the sect of the Jew and free the captives.

Gregory became even more irate when he learned that the Jews of
Catania had purchased pagan slaves to have them circumcised and
raised in Judaism. He recalled the laws of the Emperors, prohibited the
circumcision of slaves and ordered that all slaves already circumcised
be freed on the spot.

The wealth and pride of the Jews multiplied the conflicts between
them and the Christians. Once again, a Christian, having been held in
slavery for eighteen years by a Jew, implored the protection of the Pope
against the son of his former master, who, having converted to
Christianity, wished to take the former slave back into servitude. The
Pope declared that since the first act of enslavement had been illegal,
the son, although a Christian, had no claim to enforce.[66]
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Gregory the Great wrote to Theodoric, the king of the Burgundians,
to Theoderbert, the king of Austrasia, and Queen Brunhilda, to exhort
them to “provide a prompt remedy to this evil and deliver the believers
from the hands of their enemies”. He concerned himself with assuring
the enforcement of imperial constitutions and the decisions of the
councils, and ordered the bishops to crack down on those who used
their wealth to pervert the Christian people.[67]

On the other hand, the Pope prohibited the use of violence for
purposes of conversion, and even ordered that goods taken from the
synagogues should be returned.[68] Gregory I believed on principle
that the Jews should be converted, not by force, but through persuasion
and kindness.

He thus wrote to Virgil and to Theodore, bishops of the Gauls, to -
prohibit the use of force to compel Jews to submit to baptism. Once
again, he reproached the bishop of Terracine who had taken their
synagogue away, before ordering him to return it. In fact, the
Theodosian Code (L. 83 de his qui super.), with the approval of the
Popes and Fathers of the Church in this regard, had stipulated that the
Jews could retain and repair their old synagogues, but not build new
ones. Now those which the three bishops in question had taken away or
had removed by the people were old synagogues.

Gregory also promised to exempt Jewish farmers or property
owners from part of the land tax if they converted to Christianity. Of
course, he did not fool himself into believing that these proselytes
would be fervent Christians; but, he said, “if we do not win them over
to Christianity, we will at least have their children”.
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Jerusalem, 614

In 608, at Antioch, there was a new episode illustrating the secular
confrontation between the Jews and the rest of humanity. “The Jews
threw themselves upon their enemies”, writes Graetz, “killed a great
number of them and burned their bodies. They attacked the patriarch
Anastasius, known as the Sinaite, in particular, inflicting the cruellest
treatment on him and dragging him through the streets before killing
him”. The Jewish historian justified these excesses in the following
manner: “What frightful sufferings must the Jews have endured at the
hands of imperial functionaries and the clergy to drive them to such
excesses!”

As soon as Emperor Phocas was informed of these disturbances, he
appointed Bonosus governor of the East and charged General Kotys to
punish the rioters. In September or October 608, many Jews were killed
and others were sent into exile.

The Jews soon found an unexpected occasion to revenge
themselves, when Khosrow II, the king of the Persians, invaded Asia
Minor and Syria. Under the command of general Scharbarzar, a body of
the Persian army then descended from the heights above Lebanon to
invade Palestine. Once again, the Jews sided with the invader.

Let us allow Heinrich Graetz to describe it: “When the Jews of this
country learned of the defeat of the Christians and the continued
progress of the Persian army, they felt an ardent desire to take part in
the struggle. They thought the hour had come in which they would be
able to revenge themselves for the evils which the Romans and the
Christians had heaped upon them for centuries! At the instigation of a
certain Benjamin, from Tiberias, who dedicated his immense fortune to
fomenting trouble and in arming Jewish soldiers against the Romans, a
proclamation was issued ordering them to join the Persian army. To
this appeal, the robust Jews from Tiberias, Nazareth and other
mountains of Galilee lined up in a mob under the Persian flag. It is
probable that they first massacred the Christians and sacked the
churches of Tiberias; they joined Scharbarzar’s soldiers to march on
Jerusalem and take back the holy city from the Christians. En route,
these troops were joined by Jews from the south of Palestine and
Jerusalem was taken by storm (July 614). It is said that 90,000
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Christians were killed in the city. The chronicle adds that the Jews
purchased Christian prisoners from the Persians in order to kill them;
this accusation is not based on any concrete fact. Convents and
churches were burned at Jerusalem by the enemy. It is probable that the
Jews took a greater part in these scenes of destruction than the Persians,
because they felt that the holy city was no less soiled by the presence of
the cross and relics of the martyrs than it had been in the past by the
idols of Antiochus Epiphanes and Adriane.”

For fourteen years, the Jews were once again the masters of
Palestine, until the Byzantines regained the upper hand under Emperor
Heraclius, who succeeded in defeating the Persians. Upon his entry into
Jerusalem, in 630, Heraclius brought back the Holy Cross, personally
bearing it along the Via Dolorosa, to the church of the Holy Sepulchre,
which had been rebuilt.

The Jews of Palestine had to pay for the atrocities which they had
committed: “All those who do not succeed in taking refuge in the
mountains or in reaching Egypt were massacred”, writes Graetz. “Of all
the Palestinian Jews, Benjamin of Tiberias, the instigator of the revolt
against Rome, was the only one spared, because he converted to
Christianity”.
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Visigothic Spain

The Visigoths, converted to Arianism, caused the Catholics to carry a
heavy yoke, while they allowed the Jews to remain in possession of
their civil and political rights, admitting them to public functions and
permitting them to circumcise their pagan and Christian slaves. This
prosperous situation for the Jews of Spain lasted for over a century,
until King Reccared abjured his Arian faith in January 587, with most
of the members of the nobility and clergy.

The third Council of Toledo in May 589 was dedicated to the
triumph of the Catholic Church in the peninsula. The pride and power
of the Jews was about to be brought down a peg. They were thereafter
prohibited from occupying public offices and from marrying Christians.
The children born of mixed unions would be baptised by force. They
were also prohibited from holding slaves, a measure which irritated
them to an extreme. The Jews attempted to bribe the prince, as was
their wont. “They sought”, writes Graetz, “to cause this prohibition to
be lifted by offering Reccared a large sum of money; Reccared refused
the gift and maintained the prohibition”. Pope Gregory the Great, who
had, for a certain time, attempted in vain to win over the Jews with
kindness and tolerance, highly praised the conduct of the Visigoth
prince.

The Jews could nonetheless easily evade the laws issued against
them by Reccared, since the king had only very limited power at that
time. The fact is that the Visigoth lords, who elected their kings, were
absolute masters over their lands and continued to permit them to own
slaves and appoint Jews to public offices, so much so that after twenty
years, Reccared’s laws had fallen into total desuetude. His successors
paid no attention to them at all and showed themselves generally
favourable to the Jews.

This situation ceased in 612, with the advent of Sisebut. This king,
a contemporary of Emperor Heraclius, who reigned over the Byzantine
Empire, was, like him, a bitter enemy of the Jews. Sisebut, Heinrich
Graetz writes — without even laughing — “persecuted the Jews without
reason, voluntarily, almost against the will of the Church”.

As soon as he was elected by the Visigoth chiefs, the first thing
Sisebut ordered done was to put an end to the abuses of the Jews by
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rendering effective the canons of the third Council of Toledo, which
had largely ceased to be applied. He renewed Reccard’s edicts and
ordered the ecclesiastics, judges, and even the people to supervise their
application with great attention. He went further than Reccard, in
prohibiting the Jews not only from purchasing new slaves, but even
from keeping those they already possessed. Only the converted Jews
were authorised to possess them, and they even had the right to accept
those they inherited from any Jewish relative. Sisebut solemnly
commanded his successors to cause this edict to be respected, and
expressed the wish that any king who abrogated it “would be exposed
to the vilest ignominy on this earth and delivered to the eternal flames
of purgatory in the other world”.

Despite these entreaties, the lords of the country often granted
protection to Jews who advanced them money. Sisebut then issued an
even stricter measure, requiring all the Jews of the country to accept
baptism within a fixed period or to leave Visigoth territory. Recalcitrant
Jews would be punished by whipping and the confiscation of all their
goods. Some, motivated by the fear of losing their property, accepted
baptism; others emigrated to France or Aftrica.

This was probably under Sisebut’s reign that the Jews of Toledo,
converted, but then, having relapsed, under pain of punishment, signed
a promise to live in a more Christian manner in the future. In this
singular act,[69] the converts declared that they would henceforth have
no more commerce with the Jews (those who had refused to accept
baptism); that they would no longer practice the customs of the Jews;
that they would no longer observe the Sabbath; that they would not
marry their former fellow Jews; that, if they could not eat pork, because
they were not used to it, at least dishes prepared with pork would no
longer disgust them; that they would believe in Jesus and the Gospels;
that they would do nothing against the Christian religion; and that, if -
any one of them violated this commitment, they would burn him or
stone him, or would place his person and his property at the disposal of
the king,

Sisebut died in 620. The new king, Suintila, a weak, corrupt man,
allowed himself to be bribed to abrogate the laws of Sisebut, so much
so that the Jews came back to the country and the converts returned to
Judaism.

Under Suintila’s protection, the Jews recovered great power and
once again threatened the nation and its institutions, which explains and
justifies the conspiracy of the Catholic clergy to depose this felonious
monarch.

The chief of this new episode of resistance to Judaism was Isidor of
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Seville, one of the most illustrious Fathers of the Church. Suintila was
dethroned and replaced by Sisenand. The clergy regained its influence,
and, once again, the ecclesiastical assemblies were intended to reduce
Jewish power in order to protect the Christians.

In 633, the fourth Council of Toledo was held, presided over by
Isidor, archbishop of Hispalis (Seville). This prelate was well-educated,
intelligent and moderate. Sisebut’s measures seemed so forceful that
that the council formally disapproved of them, declaring that it was
necessary to persuade, rather than force, those who lacked faith. Canon
57 of the Council of Toledo thus prohibited the use of compulsion: “No
Jew may in future be constrained by force to embrace Christianity”.
The Council did not however annul that which had been done and
declared that Jews baptised by order of Sisebut remained Christians.

Great disadvantages resulted from these forced conversions. As it
was impossible to supervise so many neophytes or to keep them in
isolation, many of these converts relapsed into Judaism.[70] Canon 59
also says, on the subject of these baptised Jews, that many of them
remained secret Jews.

Strict measures were taken against Jews who, baptised under
Sisebut, had relapsed into their ancient faith. We see, in the acts of the
councils, several depositions against these relapsed converts. To
prevent such apostasy, canon 62 prohibited baptised Jews from having
any relations with their former fellow Jews.[71] They were to be
prevented by force from observing the prescriptions of Judaism and
their children were to be raised in convents. Converts who observed the
Jewish Sabbath and festivals, or who married according to Jewish rites,
practising circumcision or abstaining from foods prohibited by Jewish
law, were to be reduced to slavery. According to certain canonical
legislation, neither Jews converted by force nor their descendants
would be permitted to testify in courts of law. Thus, this ancient
council already established an essential difference between true Jews
and those among them who were Christians in appearance.

Protected by the Hispano-Visigoth nobility, the converted Jews did
not suffer overmuch from the measures imposed upon them by the
fourth Council of Toledo and King Sisenand. But, a new king ascended
the throne in 636, and this prince, named Chintila, cordially hated the
Jews.

Chintila convened a new council at Toledo, renewed all the old
exceptional laws relating to the Jews and decreed that no one could
remain in the Visigoth Empire who not profess the Catholic religion.
The Jews were therefore expelled, and those who preferred to convert
were obligated to sign an undertaking by means of which they pledged
themselves to observe the Catholic religion.
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But frequent palace revolutions, the instability of the authority of
the kings and the disturbances which accompanied each new coronation
hindered the strict enforcement of the decrees of the councils. “At the
bottom of their hearts”, writes Graetz, “these unfortunates, secretly
attached to the faith of their fathers, nourished the hope that the times
would change and that one of these revolutions — so frequent among the
Visigoths — would change the situation”. Their expectations were not in
vain and their situation improved after Chintila’s brief reign.
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31
Dagobert

The situation of the Jews deteriorated considerably in France with the
Merovingian kings. In 540, Childebert had prohibited them from
holding Christian slaves, “it being unjust”, he said, “that he who has
been redeemed by the precious blood of Jesus Christ should be
subjected to serve an infidel who blasphemes His holy name”.

During the following century, the situation of the Jews continually
worsened. In 615, Clothaire II, who had united the entire empire of the
Franks under his sceptre, applied the decisions of the Council of Paris,
prohibiting the Jews from exercising any top-level function or to serve
in the army.

His son Dagobert “also manifested a violent hatred of the Jews”
(Graetz). In 633, he published an edict by virtue of which all those who
would not confess faith in Jesus Christ had to leave his states.[72] It is
probable that they flowed back to the south of France and the lands of
the Rhine.

During the midst of their intestine quarrels, the Franks were
nevertheless compelled to relax their strictness, and the Jews, always
on the lookout to seize the slightest favourable circumstance, gradually
re-entered the Kingdom to dedicate themselves to profitable
undertakings, particularly the slave trade. In the new establishments
formed in Andalucia, the Jews hated the Christians and speculated on
everything without scruple, readily becoming suppliers of slaves to the
Moors.

The Council of Chalon-sur-Saéne, held around 630, prohibited the
sale of slaves outside France.[73] Clovis II, Dagobert’s son, prohibited
the transport of slaves into his kingdom and even redeemed those who
had had the misfortune to fall into the hands of these ignoble merchants
in human beings.
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Mohammed

When, in 622, a handful of adepts of Mohammed left Mecca to travel to
Medina (year zero of the Muslim calendar), a few Jews, by conviction,
‘recognised him as the long-awaited Prophet, and embraced Islam. But
the Jews of Medina were not convinced and, over time, the Moslems
understood that they would not convert and distanced themselves from
the “People of the Book”.

Among the adversaries of Mohammed, was a certain Abdullah, son
of Saurah, who was considered the wisest Jew of Hedjaz. He ridiculed
Mohammed, “sent by God”, treated him with contempt, ridiculed his
revelations and preachings. He did not know that the poor fugitive from
Mecca, who had come to beg assistance at Medina, would soon
subjugate or exterminate the Jews of the peninsula.

The war against the Meccans continued, and the Jews of Medina
became increasingly dissatisfied with domination by Moslems. Some
high-born Jews took advantage of a defeat of Mohammed to visit
Mecca and incite its inhabitants to try again. To finish off, the Meccans
formed a coalition uniting several Arab tribes and, in the year 627, an
army of six thousand soldiers marched on Medina.

The siege of the city was interminable, and the besiegers exhausted
themselves in their vain efforts. In the end, Mohammed succeeded in
sowing discord among Mohammed’s allies, who decided to raise the
siege.

As soon as the members of the coalition were far from Medina,
Mohammed, with three thousand men, marched against the Jewish tribe
- of the Qurayza. The latter, too weak to wage war on open terrain,
retrenched themselves behind the ramparts of their fortresses. After a
siege of 25 days (February-March 627), they had no more provisions
and considered surrender. They requested the Prophet to permit them to
emigrate with their wives, children and some of their property, but
Mohammed refused, and nearly 700 Jews, including the chiefs Kaab
and Houyey, were executed by throat-cutting in a public square of

Medina; their bodies were piled up in one and the same mass grave.
The location of this execution was thereafter known as the Market of
the Qurayza.

Mohammed took two beautiful female captives back with him,

86



32. Mohammed

Safia, the daughter of his implacable enemy, Houyey, and Zainab. The
latter attempted to revenge herself upon him whom she regarded as the
murderer of her brother Marhab and her fellow Jews. Dissimulating her
feelings of hatred, she feigned a profound attachment for Mohammed
and thus gained his confidence. One day, she served him poisoned
meat.

Mohammed, finding the dish disagreeable, rejected it, but one of
his concubines died from it. As a result of this incident, Zaineb was
obviously executed and Mohammed ordered his soldiers never to use
dishes handled by Jews except after dipping them in boiling water.

Mohammed had warned his followers against the Jews: “The hour
of judgement will never arrive before you have fought the Jews to such
a point that the stones they hide behind them call out: ‘Oh,
Mohammed! There’s a Jew hiding behind me, kill him!” »’[74]

The Jews then sought to smash Mohammed’s growing power:
Negotiations were opened at Medina, in the house of a Jew named
Suwailim, but the latter was denounced and his house burnt down.

When Mohammed died, in 632, “the Jews were very glad”, writes
Graetz. They believed that, with the death of the Prophet, the religious
beliefs of his Arabic followers as to his immortality and his divine
mission would disappear. But the Koran had already acquired the force
of law and Mohammed’s violent diatribes against the Jews were
considered by all Moslems as articles of faith.

Towards 640, the second caliph, Omar, decided to expel the Jewish
tribes which the Prophet had left on their lands. He did not wish the
sacred soil of Arabia to be soiled by their traffic. The Moslem warriors
thus had to share vast domains with the Jews.

And nonetheless, as writes the Jewish historian Heinrich Graetz,
“despite these various acts of hostility by the Arabs against the Jews,
one might say that the triumph of Islamism was beneficial to Judaism.”

After Mohammed’s death, the Moslems spread beyond the frontiers
of Arabia, the sword in one hand and the Koran in the other, electrified
by their war cry: “Allah alone is God, and Mohammed is his prophet”.

The old Kingdom of Persia fell in the initial shock. The Jews, here
as elsewhere, opted for those who guaranteed them the greatest
freedom for all their trafficking. Since the Sassanid kings who then
governed the country restricted their financial power, the Jews naturally
sided with the invaders. “The Moslem faith was beneficial to the Jews,
particularly in ancient Babylonia, then called Iraq by the Arabs”,
Graetz tells us.

The Byzantine provinces, Palestine, Syria and Egypt, fell under
Arab domination. “The Jews and the Samaritans favoured the Moslem
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conquest, particularly in Palestine. The fortress city of Caesarea, the
political power of the country, where it is said that there were 700,000 .
men capable of bearing arms, was betrayed to the Arabs by a Jew”.

In 638, Jerusalem fell under the power of the caliph Omar, who
built a mosque on the location of the old Temple. Omar prohibited the
Jews from lodging in Jerusalem and subjected them to a certain number
of restrictive laws, which also applied to Christians. Thus, they were
prohibited from building new synagogues and from renovating the old
ones; they could chant in a low voice during their services; they had to
recite their prayers for the dead in a low voice; they could not occupy
any public office, or judge Moslems, nor prevent their fellow Jews
from converting to Islam. Finally, they, as well as all Christians, were
required to wear garments of a particular colour, and they were not
permitted to ride horseback.

While the Moslems were exempt from all taxation and paid only an
insignificant tax to help the poor, the Jews and Christians were
subjected to a personal tax and land tax.

But despite these restrictions, Heinrich Graetz insists, “the Jews felt
themselves freer among the Moslems than among Christians. First,
Omar’s laws were not strictly applied to them, even during the caliph’s
lifetime. Then, the Moslems, although convinced of the superiority of
their religion, did not despise the Jews, as Christians did. They were
able to recognise their merits and occasionally manifested the greatest
regard for them”.
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The Jews of Spain, as we have seen, had been forced to emigrate or
convert to Catholicism and promise in writing, on King Chintila’s
orders, sincerely to reject Judaism.

“These converted Jews remained no less attached to the faith of
their fathers with all their soul”, writes Graetz.

They were, moreover, protected, to some extent, against the rigors
of the King by the Visigothic nobility, independent of their sovereign.
After Chintila’s death, under the reign of his successor Chindasuinth
(642-652), they all reverted to Judaism publicly as fast as they could.

Chindasuinth’s son and successor, Recesuinth (652-672), was quite
hostile to the Jews. They keenly recommended to the ecclesiastic
officials, in council at Toledo, to take energetic measures against the
Jews, and against relapsed Jews in particular. The council voted no new
measures and restricted itself to confirming the provisions taken by the
Fourth Council of Toledo. The Jews could remain in their country, but
had no right to own slaves, nor occupy public offices, nor testify
against Christians.

Recesuinth, who noted that the nobility of the country defended the
Jews and permitted those among them who had been baptised by force
to live according to their customs, promulgated an edict by virtue of
which no Christian should protect those practising Judaism in secret,
under pain of excommunication or exclusion from the Church. This law
failed to produce the desired effect. The Judaising Christians, as those
who remained attached their old religion were called, “learned”, writes
Graetz, “to wear out the distrustful vigilance of their enemies through
their tenacity. Inside their houses, they continued to celebrate their
Jewish festivals and to neglect the observance of Christian holidays”.

Under the reign of King Wamba (672-680), the Jews once again
established themselves in the country in large numbers. Nevertheless,
as he owed his election to the clergy, the new king was obliged to take
an oath prescribed by the Council of Toledo and to order all non-
converted Jews expelled from the kingdom.

This time, the decree was executed pitilessly. The numerous Jews
who did not wish to accept baptism traversed the Pyrenees and sought
refuge in Septimania (a medieval Jewish kingdom in eastern France).
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The governor of this province, Count Hilderic, had, in fact, refused to
acknowledge the recently elected king and brandished the standard of
revolt. With the aim of gaining partisans, he offered converted Jews
refuge on his territories, guaranteeing them religious freedom, and at
his invitation the Jews flocked there in large numbers.[75] Hilderic’s
insurrection acquired large proportions at Nimes, but the insurgents
were finally defeated. Wamba finally appeared with an army before
Narbonne and expelled the Jews from the city.

The false converts also attempted to infiltrate the Catholic Church
by purchasing the highest ecclesiastical offices. The problem was
raised at a new council, at Toledo. Canon 9 insisted upon the repression
of simony, against those who “attempted to purchase the bishop’s
dignity”.

Wamba was dethroned by a lord of Byzantine origin named Erwig,.
Before the council which was to crown him, in 681, Erwig pronounced
a fanatically anti-Jewish speech, beginning as follows: “It is with tears
in my eyes that I beg the venerable assembly to apply itself to the
purification of the country of the leprosy of corruption. Rise up! Rise
up! ... Exterminate these pestiferous Jews who harden their hearts
without letup in new follies, examine the laws of Moses which our
Majesty will promulgate against them.”

Heinrich Graetz has distorted his translation here. Maurice Pinay, in
Complots contre 1’Eglise, presents the original text: “Most reverend
fathers and honourable Fathers of the Celestial Ministers... show the
discipline of your fervour against the perfidious, and extinguish the
bitterness of the proud, lighten the burden of the oppressed, and the
more you will deracinate the Judaic pestilence which is daily growing
in fury” (et quod plus hic omnibus est, judaeorum pestem quae in
novam semper recrudescit insaniam radicitus exptirpate).

Of the twenty-seven paragraphs which King Erwig submitted for
approval by the Council, only a single one concerned the Jews. All the
others concerned those which had caused themselves to be baptised out
of self-interest, and which, despite their written declarations, continued
to practice Judaism in secret. Erwig proposed quite simply to oblige
them to present themselves for baptism within one year, including their
wives and relatives, and, in the event that they failed to comply with
this order, to confiscate their property, to flagellate them with 100
strokes of a rod, tear the skin off their foreheads and expel them from
the country.

The Council also approved a measure aimed at destroying the
Jewish fifth column in the Church. Canon 18 established a veritable
system of espionage in the very homes of Christian descendents of

90



33. Visigothic Spain 11

Jewish ancestors, and required their Christian servants to report their
Judaic practices, offering them their freedom in reward. This law,
addresses to these servants, ordered: “whether at any time, those who
proclaim, say, or swear that they are Christians, and who discover the
disbelief of his or her masters and who renounce their error, shall
immediately obtain their freedom.”

Judaising Christians travelling on the territory were also compelled
to present themselves before the ecclesiastical authorities of the
localities where they stopped, to cause it to be observed that they
faithfully fulfilled their religious duties.

A new council, presided over by the metropolitan Julian, from
Toledo, of Jewish origin, approved all the measures proposed by Erwig
and decided that they should never be abolished. Two days after the
closure of the assembly, on 25 January 681, all Jews were convened to
announce the provisions of the measures taken against them. For the
third time, baptised Jews were compelled to abjure Judaism and sign an
act of faith. The Jews were ordered to carry the text of the laws
concerning them on their person at all times, so that it might not be
possible to allege an ignorance of the law in the event of disobedience.

The power of the Jews in Spain was completely annihilated by
King Egica, who had married Erwig’s daughter and who reigned from
687 to 702.

In the year 694, a vast conspiracy was discovered. False Christians,
in contact with their brothers in Africa, were plotting to foment a
revolution. Felix, the archbishop of Toledo, then reacted promptly, and
convened a new council which took cognisance of the proofs of the
crypto-Jewish conspiracy. The eighth canon of the 17th council of
Toledo, On the Condemnation of the Jews, ordered as follows:

“Their wicked deeds are without number; for this reason, those
who, due to their wickedness, have not only sought to perturb the state
of the Church, but have, with a tyrannical boldness, gone so far as to
attempt to destroy the country and the nation, must weep for having
incurred such a grave sin of hatred; so much so that in rejoicing in the
belief that their time has now come, they have caused a variety of
ravages to Catholics. For this reason, their stupefying and cruel
presumption must be extirpated by an even crueller punishment. So that
the judge might deal all the more severely with them, and that we must
chastise those whom we know to have been conceived with an even
greater perversity”.

King Egica totally expropriated the Jews, prohibited them from
possessing houses and lands, prohibited them from navigation and
trading with Africans, and, generally, from engaging in any business
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relationships with Christians. The Jews were obliged to cede their
immovable property to the tax authorities, which gave them a sort of
compensation. Moreover, they were expelled from their residences.

All the Jews of Spain were reduced to servitude and distributed
among the great lords of the country, without the possibility of ever
being freed. Jewish children under the age of 7 were taken away from
their parents, so as to be raised as Christians:

“And as regards their children of both sexes, we hereby decree that,
starting at the age of seven, they shall be separated from the company
of their two parents, without ever being permitted to see them again or
have any contact with them, their own Lords being required to entrust
them to the most loyal Christians, in such a way that the boys are
placed among Christian women and vice versa, and, as we have said,
that they never permit the parents, or, even less, the children to hold
any ceremonies of the Judaic superstition under any pretext.”

The punishments, approved by the Council against the crypto-
Jewish conspirators, were applied in all the provinces of the Visigoth
empire, with the exception of Gallia Narbonensis (Septimanie), which
was then being devastated by a mortal epidemic. This tolerance was
granted on the condition that the Jews become sincere Christians.
Numerous Jews then emigrated, but as could be observed over the
subsequent centuries, these fake Christians did not abandon Judaism
and the south of France was transformed into a new Judea. The region
was fated to become the new headquarters of the most destructive
revolutionary heresies.

The Visigoth empire was coming to an end. In April 711, Tarik, a
Moslem conqueror, crossed the narrow straits of Gibraltar and invaded
Andalucia with considerable forces. The Moslem armies were swollen
with all the Jews who had been banned from Spain, as well as by those
who remained in the peninsula.

During the month of July, the armies of Roderick, the last king of
the Visigoths, were defeated, and the Moslems advanced rapidly
towards the interior of the country. Thanks to the support of the Jews,
to whom they entrusted the government of the cities they had
conquered, the Moslem generals were free to use almost their entire
army to continue the conquest of the country.

At Toledo, on Palm Sunday, 712, the Jews allowed the Moslems to
enter the city. The grandees and clergy had fled, and, while the
Christians invoked divine protection in their churches, the Jews opened
the doors of the city walls and joined the Moslems in massacring the
Christians.[76]

The testimonies of the Christian historians are moreover in
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accordance with that of Heinrich Graetz, who assures us, once again,
that the Jews “opened the gates of the city to the Arab general, whom
they acclaimed as a liberator”.[77]

Another Jewish intellectual, Jacques Attali, confirms this statement:
“With their assistance, the Moslem troops defeated King Roderick in
July 711 and quickly conquered the entire peninsula”.[78]

All of Spain became a Moslem province. To reward the Jews for
their services rendered, the Moors treated them favourably, permitting
them to practice their religion openly, with their own private courts.
They thus recovered all their power and acted any way they liked
towards the Caliph.

The first omeyyad caliphs were “tolerant and enlightened”
sovereigns, writes Graetz, “whose conduct was not inspired by the
narrow doctrines of the Koran”.

- Spain under Moslem domination remained for the Jews a Golden
Age for which they long with infinite nostalgia.

The Jewish historian Leon Poliakov writes in this regard: “In 711,
the Arab invasion propelled the Jews to the top of the social scale, as
the advisors and allies of the conquerors”.[79]

And Jacques Attali confirms: “The Jews had never experienced
such a wonderful place to live as this European Islamic paradise of the
8th century”. Jewish financiers were triumphant.[80]
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_ The reigns of Charlemagne (768-814) and his son Saint Louis, also
called Louis the Pious (814-840), were a happy period for the Jews.
They were treated “with benevolence”, writes Graetz, “and were
permitted to possess lands, practise professions and become
shipowners... they were no longer troubled by harassment or
vexations”.

At this time, the Jews established themselves in several regions of
Germany, where they spread into the regions inhabited by Slavs,
beyond the Oder, into Bohemia and in Poland. Large-scale trade was
largely in their hands. They were “the principal import-export brokers”,
writes Graetz, “purchasing and selling goods and slaves”.

The activities of Western Jews were expanding everywhere.
Bernard Lazare writes here: “Protected in Spain by the caliphs,
supported by Charlemagne, who allowed the Merovingian laws to fall
into desuetude, they expanded their commerce, which had until then
consisted principally of slave-trading. They were moreover particularly
well-favoured for this trade. Their communities were in constant
contact with each other”.[81] '

Charlemagne nevertheless imposed a specific formula which
distinguished them from Christians, upon Jews who appeared as
witnesses or complainants against a Christian: “They could only
swear”, writes Graetz, “except after being surrounded by spines,
holding the rolls of the Law in the right hand and calling upon
themselves the leprosy of Naaman in the event of perjury”. That is to
say, that the Christians distrusted the testimonies of Jews, always
systematically ready to take the defence of their fellow Jews.

But the happiest time for the Jews of France was that of the reign of
Louis the Pious (also called Saint Louis). The emperor protected them
from the hostility of the barons and the clergy, permitted them to travel
freely throughout the kingdom, authorised them not only to employ
Christian workers, but to deal in slaves as well. The merchant Abraham
de Saragossa was also free to purchase slaves in foreign countries —
most of them still pagans — and to resell them in the empire of the
Saracens. The emperor also prohibited the clergy from baptising the
slaves of Jews and from removing them from their masters by means of
manumission.[82]
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Under Charlemagne and his son, the Jews, thanks to their relations
with their fellow Jews, concentrated all the trade of the country in their
hands, especially the exportation and importation of goods.[83] Fairs
which had previously been scheduled for the Jewish Sabbath (i.e.,
Saturday) were rescheduled for Sunday. It was enough for them to pay
a franchise tax and render annual accounts of their income and they
could trade without hindrance.

They could only be sentenced to the punishment of flagellation by
their own courts. A special official, bearing the title of master of the
Jews (magister Judaeorum), was responsible for supervising
compliance with their laws. Some were appointed tax farmers. Louis I,
Saint Louis, showed himself “very favourable to the Jews”, Graetz
confirms. One might perhaps attribute this attitude to the influence of
his second wife, Judith, who had a profound veneration for Judaism.

Agobard, archbishop of Lyon from 814 to 840, denounced the
weakness of Saint Louis with regards to the Jews, and opposed their
influence with his strength, with an indefatigable ardour. Graetz calls
him a “bitter enemy of the Jews”. But at court, all-powerful Jewish
financiers had bribed the political personnel and won over the principal
officers and lords to their cause. Proud of their imperial letters, which
they ostentatiously displayed, the Jews thought they could do anything
they liked, defying the threats of the clergy and the statutes of the
ancient councils.

We have seen how, under the Merovingian kings, a simple order
from a bishop was sufficient to banish all Jews from a diocese.
Agobard, bishop of Lyon, and, by consequence, one of the heads of the
French clergy, was not even capable of enforcing the decrees of the
kings and councils against them.

Agobard, who suffered much at their hands, exposes their excesses
and complains in a first letter to Louis the Pious, Espistola de
baptizandis Hebraeis. Five other letters were to follow.[84] In his
treatise De insolentia Judaeorum (827), he once again warned the
emperor against the Jews; they built synagogues, extorted money by all
possible means, refused to tolerate the existence of public markets on
Saturday, although they were the custom everywhere; finally, they went
so far as to kidnap Christian children, taking them to Spain and selling
them to the Saracens as slaves.

Agobard cited precise facts, such as the arrival in his diocese of a
Spaniard originally from Cérdoba, who, twenty-five years earlier, had
been kidnapped by Lyonnais Jews and sold as a slave while still a
child. The Codoban succeeded in fleeing in the company of another
victim, a native of Arles, who had been in the same situation for six
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years. Agobard requested an inquiry into this shameful traffic, which
showed that the kidnapping and sale of Christian children by Jews was
nothing exceptional.[85]

One day, Agobard baptised a slave, a Jew from Lyon who had fled
from his master’s house, so that he might regain his freedom. The
Jewish officials had requested the imperial administration to return the
fugitive slave to his owner, and Agobard, who had refused to obey, had
been deposed. He obtained the support of the ecclesiastical party at
court, so that the canonical laws might simply be applied, while, for
their part, the Jews pulled all the strings required to exert an influence
over the Emperor. Louis the Pious appointed a commission to examine
the matter in dispute, which was finally decided in favour of the Jews.

Retired in his diocese, Agobard nevertheless continued to fight the
enemy. He dealt with the question in five epistles, which followed the
traditional doctrine of the Church: “Keep the Jews at a distance, do not
allow them to dominate”.[86] At his order, the priests attacked the Jews
in their sermons, prohibited their members from maintaining relations
with them, from buying from, or selling to them, from taking part in
their meals or entering their service. The Jews of Lyon then obtained
letters of protection (indiculi), bearing the imperial seal, and Agobard
received the order to put an end to their propaganda (around 828).

But the bishop of Lyon never lost heart. He organised a collective
procedure and wrote to all the bishops in France so as to put pressure
on King Louis to re-erect the bar which had previously protected the
Christians. Perhaps he already knew that the conspirators were
preparing to raise the son of the Emperor’s first marriage against the
Empress and arch-chancellor Bernhard, who had advised the monarch
to make a new division of the Empire to the benefit of the child of
Judith. On Agobard’s reiterated instances, numerous prelates met at
Lyon, in 829, and an address was sent to Louis to set forth the dangers
resulting from the liberties granted to the Jews. He also wrote a letter to
Nibridicus, bishop of Narbonne, another booklet, De cavendo convictu
et societate Judaeorum, and, finally, in collaboration with Bernard,
archbishop of Vienna, a small treatise entitled de Iudaicis
superstitionibus.

This treatise, On the Superstitions of the Jews,[87] is preceded by
an introduction in which Agobard justifies his past conduct regarding
the Jews. He accuses them of all sorts of misconduct and, in particular,
draws up a harsh indictment of their protectors and of those corrupted
by them.

But Louis the Pious paid no attention to this indictment drawn up
by the synod of Lyon. In 830, Agobard, who took part in the conspiracy
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formed against Empress Judith and her friends, was deposed and
obliged to flee to Italy. He was later canonised by the Church.

In 840, upon the death of Saint Louis, war broke out immediately
between his sons related to the distribution of the vast empire of
Charlemagne. The favours granted to Charles the Bald, son of Louis
and Judith, to the detriment of his elder half-brothers, were the cause of
the troubles which agitated the end of his reign. In 843, Charlemagne’s
empire was divvied up into three parts.

Charles the Bald, who was awarded western France, seemed to
have inherited his mother’s predilection for Judaism. This sovereign
employed Jews at court, like the other Carolingians. An Israelite,
Judah, was his banker and treasurer. In a letter, Charles calls him Juda
son féal, and mentions the good services being rendered him by the
Jew.[88] His doctor was another Jew named Sedekias. “Under his
reign”, writes Graetz, “the Jews were able to continue to occupy
themselves freely with their trafficking and acquire lands”. The Jews
succeeded in establishing themselves in various offices as tax
collectors, from which office they seem to have been excluded under
the Merovingian kings, and the Christians complained of the
humiliating harshness with which they were treated by the Jews.[89]
Charles imposed only slight restrictions on Jewish merchants, obliging
them to pay 11% of their income to the tax authorities, while other
merchants paid only 10%.

Their bitterest enemy at that time was Agobard’s disciple and
successor, Amolon, the archbishop of Lyon. In his Amulonis Epistola
contra Judaeos, Amolon writes: “Cursing the infidelity of the Jews and
seeking to protect the Christian people from their contagion, I
demanded three times, publicly, that the faithful keep away from them,
that no Christian should serve them, neither in the cities, nor the
villages, allowing them to have their work done by pagan slaves; I then
prohibited them from tasting their food and drinks. And I published
several strict orders so as to root out the evil and imitate the example of
our pious pastor, master and predecessor Agobard”.

Hincmar, the bishop of Reims and favourite of the emperor
Charles, as well as the archbishops of Sens and Bourges and other
ecclesiastics, supported him in his struggle. In 845, meeting in council
in the city of Meaux, these prelates decided to reinstate the
effectiveness of the ancient canonical laws. They informed the king of
precisely which measures which they intended to apply to the Jews, and
contented themselves with indicating the edicts promulgated against
them since Constantine, mentioning the prohibition passed against them
by Theodosius II, forbidding them from occupying any employment or
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dignity and recalling the decisions of the councils, such as the edict of
the Merovingian king Childebert which prohibited them from
exercising the functions of judge or customs duty farmers or appearing
in the streets during Easter Week. They also invoked the synodal
decisions taken outside of France, particularly the provisions enacted
by the Visigoths against relapsed Jews.

Charles the Bald took no account of the decisions of the bishops
and dissolved the council, although his favourite, Hincmar, was a
member. On 14 February 846, on his order, a new council met in Paris
to examine the amendments to be made to the organisation of the
Church, but the king prohibited them from discussing the Jews.

Amulon advised the high clergy to put pressure on the princes and
lords to abolish the privileges of the Jews. In the letter which he sent to
the prelates with this aim in mind, we find the complaints enumerated
by Agobard. Little by little, anti-Judaism was making progress. At
Béziers, the bishop at that time pronounced inflammatory sermons
every year, starting on the evening before Palm Sunday and ending on
the day after Easter Sunday, accompanied by serious disturbances.
People picked up stones, the only weapon permitted on these occasions,
and threw them at the Jews’ houses. The Jews, according to the same
ancient custom, were permitted to defend themselves in the same way. -
The city was in a state of anarchy and near civil war, which lasted until
Easter Sunday. A chronicler assures us that many people were injured
on both sides.[90] “Blood flowed on both sides”, Graetz writes. These
disorders became traditional in the city of Béziers, and were renewed
every year for centuries. It was only by force of money that the Jews of
Béziers succeeded in having this custom abolished in 1160. The
Viscount Raymond, nicknamed Trincavalle, by a solemn act which has
been found in the archives of Béziers cathedral, committed himself to
pardon the Jews for their customary insults, by virtue of the sum of two

hundred sous and a rent of four livres, payable on Palm Sunday and
intended for use in ornamenting the church.[91]

The counts of Toulouse had the right,. on Holy Friday, to slap the
trustee of the Jews of the city, before the cathedral. This was the so-
called “colaphisation” ceremony. In 1018, the chaplain of the Count
Aimeri de Rochechouart, named Hugo, demanded authorisation to
exercise this lordly right, and gave the trustee a slap so violent that the
victim died.[92] This custom had been instituted following a treason
committed by the Jews at the time of the Moslem invasion.

We find the Jews at the beginning of the 10th century, during the
time of Charles the Simple. The Jews had been expelled from the
county of Narbonne and the king made a gift to the archbishop and the
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churches of the lands, vineyards, houses and mills which had belonged
to them.[93] But France was too disturbed by the invasions of the
Normans for them to pay much attention to them.[94]
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In the East, the Jews hardly had to suffer under the reigns of Harun-al-
Rashid and his sons, who succeeded them at Baghdad. But they were
distinguished from the other inhabitants: in the year 807, Harun-al-
Rashid obliged them to attach a piece of yellow cloth to their garments
as a distinctive mark. It is possible that this measure was only the
reaction to persecutions directed against the Christians, who, for their
part, were obliged to wear a piece of blue cloth.

In Palestine, the situation, however, deteriorated. In 809, after the
death of Harun and the division of the empire, war broke out between
his two sons, Mohamed Alemin and Abdullah Almamun. Graetz writes
here: '

“The sufferings of the Jews of Palestine were such that one
preacher declared that painful trials were surely announcing the coming
of the Messiah.[95] At the end of time, two brothers would reign over
the Ishmaelites (the Moslems): at this time, David’s offspring would
once again flourish and the master of the heavens would give birth to a
kingdom which would never again disappear... God would exterminate
the sons of Esau (Byzantium), the enemies of Israel, as well as the sons
of Ishmael, his adversaries.”

In Jewish eschatology, as we know, Christians and Moslems were
to be definitively vanquished and annihilated. But “this messianic hope
was not to be realised”, writes Graetz. The caliphate was shaken but not
destroyed by the civil war; Alemin was killed and Almamun
proclaimed sole head of the empire. After Almamun’s death, the Jews
were gradually subjected to certain restrictions, as in the Christian
countries. The caliph Almutawakki, Almamun’s successor, reinstated
Omar’s laws and required the Jews — and the Christians — to wear
clothes of a certain colour and shape, transformed the synagogues into
mosques, prohibited Jews from holding public office, and prohibited
Moslems from teaching them (849—856). They no longer had the right
to ride on horseback, and could only travel about by mule or donkey
(853—854). If they purchased a house, they were required to pay the
caliph the tenth part of its value.

While waiting, the Jews exercised their dominion over trade and
finance. Around the year 1000, they were the masters, as is confirmed
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by the Jewish historian Léon Poliakov: “Kings of finance at Baghdad
and bankers to the caliphs, for a quarter century, were ben-Pichras and
ben-Amram, who, although they were the first, were not the only ones,
Another chronicle informs us that the majority of the Jewish merchants
from Tustar in Persia were Jews.

“At Ispahan, called for its flourishing commerce ‘the second
Baghdad’, the Yiddish quarter was the business centre.”[96]

There are very few sources concerning the Radhanites, these Jewish
merchants of the Middle Ages who dominated trade between the
Christian and Islamic worlds. During the High Middle Ages, they were
the only traders dealing with the Near-East and Asia. Based in the
valley of the Rhone, they travelled to North Africa, traversing Spain,
Italy and the Near East, reaching India and China over the Asian
continent. Ibn Khurdadhbeh, who was the director of the post office
and police in the province of Jibal, in approximately the year 870,
wrote: “These merchants speak Arabic, Persian, Greek, Frank, Spanish
and Slavic. They travel from the West to the East, partly by land, partly
by sea. They transport eunuchs from the West, slaves (both women and
boys), silks, beaver, marten and other furs, and swords”.

The merchants could also take another route, always through the
valley of the Rhone, through Germany and the Balkan countries, or
through the north, through Russia. The historians Cecil Roth and
Claude Cahen actually situate the centre of Rhadanite activity in the
valley of the Rhone, the Latin name for which was Rhodanus. But other
specialists affirm that their name was derived from Persian, from rah

“road”) and dan (“he who knows”).

The Rhadanites played an essential role in the slave trade, which
experienced a strong development in the 9th and 10th centuries. Verdun
at that time was one of the principal markets. The slaves were captured
from the Slavic and pagan tribes of the oriental marches of the
Carolingian empire, and resold all over the Islamic world. The traffic
dominated by Jewish merchants was important, since, among us, the
word servus disappeared in favour of the word slavus, which we
transformed into “slave”.

Nevertheless, the Jewish community of Verdun, which was
considered the centre of this trade, consisted of no more than a few
dozen members.[97]

Verdun was also an important location for the castration of slaves.
The Jews of Verdun, in actual fact, were accustomed to castrate their
Christian slaves to make eunuchs out of them, intended for the harems
of Saracen princes.[98] The charters of the Emperor Louis the Pious
have left us the names of two merchants from Lyon, David and Joseph,
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who benefited from the privilege to practice this lucrative commerce.
From Lyon, the merchants travelled with their merchandise to Arles,
where there was a major Jewish community, then proceed on to
Narbonne, which at that time sheltered the largest Jewish community in
Europe, before crossing the Pyrenees.[99] Trading in Furopean slaves
declined somewhat over the following centuries, when the Moslems
began to replace them with African Negroes.
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All of southern Spain was then in the hands of the Moslems. Since
Tarik’s invasion in the year 711, the Jews had been experiencing a
Golden Age on the peninsula. The medievalist historian Jacques Heers
writes: “Our authors, Moslems and Christians, insist particularly on the
role of the Jews who, in Moslem Spain, often formed the majority of
the population in the large cities, particularly Granada, commonly
called the ‘city of the Jews’ in the 8th century. Traders in luxury
products, metals, jewellery and silks, more rarely lenders at interest,
they gathered in small societies of relatives and friends”.

The white slave trade was their business. Roberta Strauss-
Feuerlicht, a Jewish woman historian, confirms this: in central Europe,
“Jews from Bohemia purchased female Slavs and resold them to
Spanish Jews who resold them to the Moors”.[100]

During the 10th century, Moslem slave merchants disliked
travelling into Gaul, where they encountered only hostile populations.
“You didn’t see them frequenting the slave markets while the Jews
were commonly depicted as the masters of this unhappy trade”, writes
James Heers... “People were assured that since the Moslems refused to
do it, these Israelites supervised the correct management of the slave
castration centres”.[101]

Nevertheless, here, as elsewhere, their prosperity, their arrogance,
their immorality, their manner of ceaselessly ridiculing the customs of
other people and their determination to gain undivided domination led
to their being the target of the hostility of the peoples.

At the head of Andalucian Judaism was a certain Samuel ibn
Nagrela or Nagdela. Towards 1025, he became the intimate secretary of
King Habus, who consulted him for all matters of importance. In 1027,
upon the death of his vizir, the Berber King Habus raised Samuel to the
dignity of Minister of State (katib), and conferred upon him the
management of diplomatic and military affairs. Old Samuel ibn
Nagrela died in 1055 and was buried at Granada, near the Puerta de
Elvira. His son, Abu Hussein Joseph ibn Nagrela (born in 1031) erected
a magnificent mausoleum for him, and succeeded his father in all his
offices. To his misfortune, the people were exasperated by Jewish
domination at this time. ’
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Edouard Drumont describes this episode in his La France juive, in
1886: “He revolted everyone through his insolence (insolentia
Judaeorum), he grossly insulted the religion of the country and it was
not long before everyone had only one desire: to get rid of him and the
clique which followed him at every step. ‘“The kingdom then’, says an
Arabic historian, ‘was worth less than a night light when daylight has
long since appeared’ ”. ,

A religious poet, the glorious Abu Ishak Al Elbiri (of Elvira), went
from city to city, excoriating weaknesses and personal defects,
preaching devotion, reconciling amongst themselves the Cindhadjites
and the Berbers, who had long been enemies, reciting his famous Kacid
rhymed in noun to excite people to courage. Everywhere, the crowds
joined in repeating the refrain from his song with him: “The Jews have
become great lords... they reign everywhere in the capital and in the
provinces; they have palaces encrusted with marble, ornamented with
fountains, they are magnificently dressed and dine sumptuously, while
you are poorly dressed and badly nourished”.

The Jewish historian Léon Poliakov presents the remarks of the
poet Abu Ishak of Elvira: “The head of the monkeys has enriched his
town house with marble inlays; he has had fountains constructed
whence flows the purest water, and while he makes us wait at his door,
he mocks us and our religion. If I said that he is as rich as you, oh my
king, I would be telling the truth. Ah, make haste and cut his throat and
offer them as a holocaust, sacrifice him, he is a fat sheep! Nor should
you spare his relatives and allies; they, too, have amassed immense
treasures™.[102] It is here one of the very rare examples, from the pen
of a Jewish author, where the anti-Semitism of the population seems
nearly explicable.

The murder of the Jew was resolved upon by a small number of
conspirators. The occasion was supplied by the incursion of soldiers
from a neighbouring sovereign, Almotassem, prince of Almeria, who
came to invade Granada. One Saturday night, the Berbers took Joseph’s
palace by storm, killing the Jew and nailing his body in the form of a
cross to the gate of Granada. This was 30 December 1066.

The minister’s death overexcited the fury of the people, who
resolved to finish off the Jews in the kingdom. More than four thousand
Jews were killed. The cleansing of Granada produced a profound
impression all over Spain.

Edouard Drumont continues his tale as follows: “Legend has
conserved the memory of the superb disinterestedness shown by Abu
Ishaq. When in the gardens of his persecutor, the crowd came to bring
the poet before whom the military leaders had respectfully lowered
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their bloody scimitars, with piles of gold, sparkling jewellery, precious
necklaces, shimmering materials, and art objects piled up on the ground
by the thousands, Abu took a pomegranate hanging from a tree, opened
it, wet his lips and said: ‘The heat is very great today, I was thirsty;
share these treasures, my children, but do not forget to say your prayers
this evening, since God alone is great!’ ”[103]
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The situation of the Jews in the heart of Europe did not begin to darken
again before the start of the 11th century. In 1012, the Germanic
Emperor Henry II ordered the expulsion of the Jews from Mayence. To
save their lives or their property, numerous Jews had already embraced
Christianity. But the Jews pressured the prince through one of them:
“Thanks to pressing procedure, supported by large sums of money”,
writes Graetz, “Simon ben Isaac succeeded in stopping the persecutions
and in obtaining the authorisation for his fellow Jews to resettle in
Mayence”.

But in 1078, at the Council of Rome, Pope Hildebrand, known
under the name of Gregory VII, son of a modest carpenter, resolved to
reduce their power. He prohibited admitting the Jews to public posts or
granting them any authority whatsoever over Christians. Heinrich
Graetz now writes, rather comically: “He deemed it necessary to
humiliate the weak Jews and outlaw them in the regions where they
were loved and esteemed!”

In the Holy Roman Empire, despite the prohibition under canonical
law and the Pope’s express desire, the Jews were once again able to
buy Christian slaves and hire Christian wet nurses and domestic
servants. On 6 February 1095, he promulgated an edict which
prohibited them from baptising Jews or their slaves by force, and which
ordered that trials between Jews and Christians be judged according to
Jewish law.

In a document written in 1090, the Jews of Prague, which was then
a city of the Empire, are described as merchants and money changers
possessing large sums of money; they were the richest merchants of all
peoples. The Jewish author Julius Brutzkus writes: “As early as the
11th century, the Jews possessed salt mines at Nuremberg. They traded
in arms and exploited the treasures of the churches. But their great
specialty was slavery”.

Jewish merchants coming from the Far East and traversing the
frontiers by caravan are also mentioned in documents written in 1124
and 1222. The interest rates among the Jewish bankers of Prague,
whose business affairs were quite extensive, fluctuated between 108
and 180%.

106



37. Gregory VII

In Poland, as well, certain Jewish merchants prospered from
slavery. The chronicler Gallus says that in 1085, Judith, the wife of the
prince Ladislas Herman, of Poland, attempted to buy back Christian
slaves from Jewish merchants.[104]
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At the end of the 11th century, the umteenth crank Jew, taking himself
for a prophet, awakened the messianic hopes in the hearts of the Jews
of Germany and the north of France. He calculated that, towards the
end of the 256th lunar cycle, between 1096 and 1104, the Messiah
would come to reunite the dispersed sons of Israel, transport them to
Jerusalem and bring them mastery of the world. But instead, the Jews
witnessed the violence of the Crusaders, departing for the Holy Land.

On 27 November 1095, at the Council of Clermont, Pope Urban II
launched an appeal for the Crusade to go and assist the Byzantine
emperor threatened by the Turks, and free the Holy Land. The first two
armies of the Crusades, directed by Peter the Hermit and Walter Sans-
Avoir, did not particularly mistreat the Jews: but the other bands, also
arriving from France, England, Lorraine and Flanders, prepared for
holy war against the Moslems by massacring all the Jews they could
find. They were “proud”, “malevolent”, “insolent”, wrote the monk
from Cluny, Raoul Glaber. In France itself, whence the Crusade
departed, such massacres were very rare. Only at Rouen, a city which at
that time belonged to England, did the Crusaders attack Jews, forcing
them to convert, and cutting their throats if they refused. An event
described as follows in an old French translation: “And those who did
not wish to believe were killed and sent to the devil”.[105] Neither
excommunication pronounced by the priests nor the threats and
prohibitions promulgated by princes were able to prevent such
occurrences.[106]

Guibert de Nogent (1055-1125) abbot of Nogent-sous-Coucy, born
in the Beauvaisis, was one of the principal chroniclers of the First
Crusade, which he described in his Gesta Dei per Francos: “We wish
to go fight the enemies of God in the East, but we have our eye on the
Jews, a race more hostile to God than is any other”.[107]

Pierre de Cluny, who was then the most important person in
Christendom after the Pope, reiterated Guibert de Nogent’s question
addressed to Philip I of France: “Why must we seek the enemies of
Christ in faraway countries, when the blasphemous Jews, who are
much worse than the Saracens, live in our midst and outrage Christ and
the sanctuaries of the Church with impunity?” In 1096, Philip I
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followed the advice of Peter from Cluny and expelled the Jews from his
lands.

Christian vengeance found an outlet in Germany in particular. The
bands that penetrated the land were led by a French knight, William the
Carpenter of Melun. The Jews of Trier were shaking with fright at the
mere news of the approach of the Crusaders. Having met to deliberate,
they decided “to adopt Christianity in appearance” at the suggestion of
one of their chiefs, named Michele (according to Heinrich Graetz).
Archbishop Egilbert read the Credo to them aloud, the Jews repeated it,
and they were then baptised.

From Trier, the Crusaders turned towards Spire. The Jews of this
city had been declared inviolable by the bishop and Emperor both, but
the Crusaders paid no attention and the Christians revenged themselves
for all their humiliations on 3 May 1096. The Jews escaped massacre
by seeking refuge in the palace of bishop Johansen, who granted his
protection, as well as in the imperial fortress. The bishop also had a few
Crusaders seized and hanged, which put an end to the disorders.

The bands waited for more pilgrims, and, thus reinforced, marched
on Worms. Bishop Allebrand did not wish to defend the Jews of the
city, but nevertheless offered asylum in his palace to a certain number
of them. On Sunday 16 May, the Crusaders pillaged and destroyed the
houses of the Jews, tearing up and burning the rolls of the Torah. 800
Jews were killed that day.

At Mayence, the Crusaders were led by a certain Count Emich of
Leiningen (in Rhenania), who was a close relative of the archbishop
Ruthard. More than three thousand Jews were camped in the courtyard
of the archbishop’s palace when, on Tuesday 27 May, at dawn, Emich
arrived with his bands and invaded the bishop’s residence. None of the
Jews enclosed in the archbishop’s palace escaped alive. The only
protector able to come to their assistance, Emperor Henry IV, was then
in Italy, occupied with defending himself.

After Mayence, it was Cologne’s turn. Under the leadership of
William the Carpenter, the Crusaders gathered around the city on the
evening before Pentacost. On Midsummer’s Night, they invaded Neus,
one of the villages in which Jews had hidden themselves, and
massacred them. From there, they visited other villages, looking for
Jews who had taken refuge there, killing all those they found.

The number of Jews from the communities of the Rhine who were
killed between the month of May and July 1096 is estimated at twelve
thousand. The others, who had momentarily embraced Christianity,
hoped that, upon his return from Italy, the Emperor would renew his
protection and once again permit them to live according to their ancient
faith. '
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In actual fact, upon his return from Italy, in 1097, Emperor Henry
IV publicly announced his compassion for the Jews and, at the request
of the head of the Jewish community of Spire, Moses ben Guthiel,
authorised all Jews who had been baptised by force to return to
Judaism. “There was general joy among the Jews of Germany”, writes
Graetz. “All the baptised Jews threw off their Christian mask™. In 1103,
the Emperor again ordered the princes and bourgeoisie to swear that
they would refrain from mistreating the Jewish population and that they
would allow them to live in peace.

At this news, the Jews of Bohemia also resumed their old religion.
But, in the fear of renewed persecution, they resolved to emigrate with
their wealth to Poland and Hungary. Upon learning of the decision of
the Jews, the Duke of Bohemia, Vratislaus, who had just returned to the
country, had their houses occupied by soldiers, gathered their leaders .
together and declared that all their property was thereafter forfeit to the
state. “When you came here”, he told them, “you brought none of the
treasures of Jerusalem with you. Defeated by Vespasian and sold for
derisory prices, you were dispersed all over the world. Naked you came
forth into this country, and naked shall thou depart from it” (Graetz).
The Jews of Bohemia were thus despoiled of all the wealth which they
had amassed at the expense of the Christians.

When, after long travails, Godfrey of Bouillon succeeded in taking
Jerusalem by storm, both Jews and Saracens were seriously mistreated:
“If you want to know what was done with the enemy at Jerusalem,
know that at the Gate and Temple of Salomon, our people had the
blood of the Saracens up to their horses’ knees.” As for the Jews, they
were locked inside their synagogues, which were then set on fire. This
occurred on 15 July 1099.
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The audacity of the Jews went so far as to attempt to occupy the throne
of St. Peter. But the partisans of Cardinal Pier Leoni met with
determined resistance.

At the beginning of the year 1130, while Pope Honorius II was in
articulo mortis, Cardinal Aymeric persuaded him to institute a
commission of eight cardinals to elect his successor. He would then
remain at the Holy College to approve this choice. Pier Leoni’s
partisans, who held a majority in the Holy College, but were a minority
on the commission, were thus defeated. When Honorius II died in the
night of 13-14 February, Aymeric gathered the members of the
commission present on the spot, and the virtuous Papareschi, Cardinal
of Sant Angelo, with Judeo-sceptical tendencies, was thus elected by
six votes to one, taking the name of Innocent II. The vote was
confirmed by ten other cardinals of the same faction, most of whom
were French. But a few hours later, three-quarters of the cardinals
elected Pier Leoni, a false Christian, who took the name of Anacletus
II. The result was the Great Schism.,

Anacletus II was supported by the Jews of Rome and the Normans
under King Roger II of Sicily, although Innocent I was compelled to
leave Rome. He first took refuge in Tuscany, then Liguria, and finally
in Provence.

When Saint Bernard, doctor of the Church and abbot from
Clairvaux, became aware of these unfortunate events, he resolved to
abandon his peaceful and tranquil life in a monastery and enter battle,
at the very moment when the battle seemed lost, since the crypto-
Jewish Pope entirely dominated the situation thanks to his gold and the
support which he continued to receive, while Innocent II was
abandoned and a fugitive, excommunicated by Anacletus. In a letter
addressed to the Emperor Lothair, Bernard wrote that “it was an affront
to Christ for a descendant of a Jew to occupy the throne of Saint Peter”,

Emperor Lothair II did not prove himself in a hurry to decide, but
the King of France, Louis VI, was more reactive, no doubt on the wise
promptings of Abbot Suger, his advisor. He convened the archbishops
of Sens, Reims and Bourges at Sens, as well as the bishops and abbots,
among them Saint Bernard. In October 1130, Innocent II, in turn,
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convened a synod at Clermon-Fernand to excommunicate Anacletus,
and after the Council of Reims, in October 1131, the only remaining
support for Pier Leoni was from Italy (in the majority) and, in
particular, his brother-in-law, Duke Roger II of Sicily, who dominated
the situation on the peninsula. This was the purpose of the marriage
between the anti-Pope’s sister, a converted Jewess, and the duke in
question. Married to a sister of Pope Pier Leoni, Roger II supported the
Jewish anti-Pope with all his resources, while simultaneously opening
his court to Jews and Moslems. '

To triumph over the crypto-Jew occupying Rome required a
military invasion. Saint Bernard and Saint Norbert, founder of the
Norbertine order and archbishop of Magdeburg, convinced German
Emperor Lothair II to undertake such an invasion. Joining Innocent in
northern Italy with a small army, he advanced on Rome, which they
took without meeting resistance in 1133, since many nobles betrayed
Anacletus at the last moment. Lothair installed Innocent at Lateran,
while Pier Leoni took refuge in the castle of Sant Angelo. But, as Roger
1T advanced at the head of an army, Lothair was forced to withdraw,
leaving the new Jewish anti-Pope master of the situation. His position
as “Jewish Pontiff” continued until his death, on 25 January 1138.

Innocent was obliged to flee to France. There, the combative monk
obtained the support of King Louis VII and put together an army at the
head of which he again invaded Italy. At the gates of Rome, this time,
he received the unexpected support of Roger II of Sicily. The Norman
chief had much changed over the years, and he understood that he had
been tricked. He promulgated laws requiring the Jews in his States to
convert. In offering Innocent his support, Roger of Sicily was doing a
complete turnabout compared to his former policy. The Pope accepted
his assistance, and Innocent II entered Rome with Roger’s troops on 28
November 1149. Innocent II died in 1153, the same year as Saint
Bernard.[108] The Crusade organised by Bernard had saved the Church
from the clutches of Judaism, which led to his canonisation.
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Under the two Capetian kings, Louis VI and Louis VII, during the first
half of the 12th century, the Jews of France enjoyed a prosperous
situation. “Great affluence reigned among them”, Graetz writes.

“They possessed, not only houses, but the countryside and the
vineyards, which they either cultivated themselves or had cultivated by
Christian servants. The story is even told, not without exaggeration,
that half the city of Paris, not yet very important at that time, belonged
to Jews.”

Jewish financiers dominated the situation. A Jew from Dijon,
named Salomon, was the creditor of several of the great abbots of
Burgundy, such as Sainte-Benigne and Sainte-Seine, whose debts were
only paid by Duchess Alix de Bourgogne in 1122, as attested by two
charters of the said duchess.[109]

The count of Montpellier owed the sum of 50,000 sous to a Jew
named Bendet. In a letter to the king of France, Pope Innocent III
expressed his indignation at the fact that the Jews appropriated to
themselves the property of the Church, acquiring lands and
vineyards.[110]

If the powerful lords and great religious communities were indebted
to the Jews, numerous private parties also found themselves dependent
upon usurers, whose capital increased from day to day thanks to skilful
speculations. The French were sunk so deeply in debt that they
despaired of ever being free of them.

The slave trade was always one of the activities most favoured by
Jewish merchants. In 1105, Count Bernard III granted a monopoly on
the importation of Sicilian slaves to three Jews, merchants and ship
owners from Barcelona.[111] In Germany, the slave trade was
flourishing at this same time. In the customs duty tables of Wallenstadt
and Coblenz, we note that the Jewish merchants had to pay four dinars
for each slave. A document written in 1213 says of the Jews of
Laubach “that they are extraordinarily rich and that they carry on a
large-scale trade with the Venetians, the Hungarians and the
Croats”.[112]

The minds of the time were also concerned by the recapture of
Jerusalem, in the hands of the Saracens. On 31 March 1146, at Vezelay,
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in the presence of King Louis VII and an immense crowd, Bernard de
Clairvaux preached a Crusade, promising absolution for all sins to
those who took the cross. The following year, Louis VII departed on
the Crusade, accompanied by Queen Eleanor.

Saint Bernard is always cited by the defenders of the Jews, because
of two letters written in 1146 in which he expresses indignation against
those who were massacring them. In the first, addressed to all Frankish
bishops and the Frankish people, he in fact recalled that it was not
permitted to kill, mistreat or pillage the Jews. But in his sermons, he
insisted strongly on the bull issued by Pope Eugene III, who, to raise
troops for his Crusader army, dispensed all those departing on the
Crusade from payment to the Jews of the interest on their debts.

One of Saint Bernard’s contemporaries, Pierre de Montboissier,
abbot of Cluny, better known under the name of Peter the Venerable
(1092-1156) was the author of a Treatise against the Inveterate
Hardening of the Jews (Tractatus adversus Iudeorum inveteratam
duritiem). He seems to be the first person in the Christian West to have
used the Talmud as a source. He wrote to Louis VII in 1146: “What’s
the use of going to distant countries in search of the enemies of
Christianity, while we allow the Jews, who are worse than the
Saracens, to outrage our most holy practices in peace amongst us. Since
the Saracen, while denying the dogma of the incarnation, at least admits
that Jesus was born of a virgin, while the cursed Jew rejects all our

beliefs. Loyal to the law which prohibits murder, I do not ask you to
- order the massacre of these blasphemers; God does not wish them
exterminated; they must wander through the world like Cain, charged
with shame and opprobrium, leading a life a thousand times worse than
death, Their existence is vile, miserable and troubled by constant fears.
It is not therefore necessary to kill them, but to inflict upon them a
punishment in relation to their condition™.

Peter the Venerable finished his letter by advising the king to
despoil them of all their goods: “They must be execrated and hated”, he
says. “Of course, I do not demand that they be put to death; but that
they be punished in a measure proportional to their perfidy... What
could be more just than to despoil them of that which they have
accumulated by fraud... What I say is known to everyone. If they fill
their granaries with wheat, their cellars with wine, their sacks with gold
coins, their chests with silver and gold, it is not by working the land,
nor by serving in war, nor by practising any other useful and
honourable labour; it is by tricking the Christians, it is by secretly
buying at rock-bottom prices objects of great value which have been
stolen or which they buy from thieves”.[113]
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The abbot also denounces the Jews as the principal receivers of
stolen goods, particularly sacred objects stolen from churches: “When a
brigand steals sacred vases, chalices, censers, at night, he hides among
the Jews and sells them the objects of his theft. An ancient, but
detestable, law, nevertheless passed by Christian princes, seemed to
protect them in this scandalous commerce. According to this law, a Jew
in whose house sacred ornaments are found, even if stolen by means of
sacrilege, is not obligated to return them, nor to report the thief. Thus
their crime remains unpunished, and that which would draw down the
ultimate torment upon a Christian enriches a Jew and causes him to
swim in abundance”.[114] Then he continues: “Let us therefore take
this ill-gotten overabundance (pingiiedo) of riches from them, or at
least strongly reduce it, and let the Christian army which, for the love
of Christ, spares neither its gold, nor its goods, to permit them to
triumph over the Saracens, refrain from sparing these treasures which
the Jews have so criminally acquired. Let us spare their lives; but let us
take their money. Reservatur eis vita, auferatur ab eis pecunia”.[115]

Louis VII was not disposed to crack down in that manner. He was
of course obliged to order the implementation of the papal bull which
dispensed the Crusaders from paying their debts to the Jews. But under
his reign, there was no legal measure of reprisals against the Jews. Pope
Alexander IIT also wrote to the Archbishop of Bourges to complain of
the king’s overly great tolerance, and to remind him of the obligations
recently prescribed by the Lateran Council.[116] The king simply
ordered that converts who returned to Judaism could not remain in the
kingdom, and that, if they were arrested, they would be subjected to
capital punishment.

Thanks to the kindness of the king and his ministers, and the
energetic intervention of Abbot Singer and Saint Bernard, the Jews
were thus preserved from the fury of the Crusaders.

The situation was somewhat different in Germany, principally in
the Rhenanian communities, which had already suffered from the First
Crusade. It was a French monk, Rodolphe, a former Cistercian monk
from Clairvaux, who, through his inflammatory speeches, caused an
outburst of anti-Jewish violence. He took the lead in the revolt, went
from city to city, from village to village, preaching extermination
everywhere. The popular revolt would have been bloodier than the first
one if Emperor Conrad III had not granted the Jews effective
protection.

In his own domains, at Nuremberg and in other fortresses, Conrad
offered them asylum, and requested the princes and ecclesiastics to
defend them in the cities or regions where he had no direct power.
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Nevertheless there were victims. The Jews of the banks of the
Rhine purchased the right of refuge in their castles, from the princes,
for money. Cardinal Arnold, of Cologne, gave them the fortress of
Wolkenburg, near Kénigswinter, as well as arms with which to defend
themselves; but as soon as they went out, they fell into the hands of the
Crusaders.

The archbishop of Mayence, Henry I, chancellor of the Empire,
also gave asylum in his palaces to a few Jews fleeing from the people’s
vengeance, but men succé:eded in penetrating the archbishop’s
residence and massacring them before his very eyes. The archbishop
announced this fact to Saint Bernard and asked him to attempt to
repress these outbreaks of violence. The abbot of Clairvaux then
published an order in which he said of the monk Rodolphe that he was
“an unworthy son of the Church, a rebel against the superior of his
convent, disobedient to the bishops, and preaching murder, contrary to
the laws of religion”. He added that it was indispensable not to mistreat
the Jews, because the Church demanded their conversion in a special
prayer on Holy Friday. “Now”, he said, “it is impossible to convert
them, if they are all killed”. This order was addressed to the
ecclesiastics and Christians of France and Bavaria.

He wrote to the clergy: “The Jews must not be persecuted; one
must not sacrifice them or hunt them like wild beasts. See what the
Gospels say in this regard. I know that it is prophesied with regards to
the Jews in the Psalm: ‘The Lord’, says the Church, ‘has revealed to me
His will regarding His enemies: do not kill them, so that My people do
not become forgetful’. They are, it is certain, the living signs which
recall the Passion of the Saviour to us. Moreover, they have been
dispersed all over the world, they may be witnesses to our
redemption”.[117]

In the abbot’s letter 365, addressed to Henry, archbishop of
Mayence, Bernard wrote again: “Does the Church not triumph every
day over the Jews in a more noble way in showing them their errors or
in converting them than in killing them? It is not in vain that the
universal Church has established throughout the world the recitation of
the prayer for the obstinately incredulous Jews, so that God may raise
the veil which covers their heart, and bring them out of their obscurity
to the light of Truth”.[118]

He did not hesitate to preach before the burnt synagogues. But the
rioters of the valley of the Rhine did not understand his Latin, nor his
French. He nevertheless succeeded in causing the cessation of the
persecutions. The monk Rodolphe, for his part, did not listen to Saint
Bernard’s injunctions and continued his work to free the people.
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One day, the body of a Christian was found near Wiirzburg. Mobs
immediately attacked the Jewish community of Wiirzburg, and more
than twenty Jews were killed, including the rabbi Isaac ben Eliakim.
Others were so badly beaten that they were left for dead. The bishop of
the city caused the bodies to be taken into his palace and buried in his
garden. It was 24 February 1147.

When Emperor Conrad left Germany, after having joined the
Crusade with his knights and the largest part of his army, the revolts
against the Jews multiplied. In May 1147, the people again massacred
Jews in multiple locations on the territory.

The insurrection propagated itself in France, but there were only
~ local disorders. At Carentan, in Normandy, in a courtyard in which

various Jews had gathered, there was a real battle with the Crusaders.
The Jews were killed, not one being spared.

In England, where numerous Jews from France had established
themselves since William the Conqueror, they did not have to suffer
any persecution at all, either, since King Stephen did not permit these
excesses.

The second Crusade was therefore less painful for the Jews than the
first; on the one hand, because the princes and high dignitaries of the
Church protected them, and also because the German Emperor and the
King of France, who had placed himself at the head of the Crusades,
did not accept bands such as those of William the Carpenter and Emich
of Leimingen in their armies.

The Jews of Germany nevertheless paid dearly for the protection
accorded them; the Emperor considered himself the protector of the
Jews from that time onwards, and the Jews, until then free and
independents like the Germans and the Romans, became “serfs of the
imperial chamber”. They became inviolable, as servants of the
Emperor, but in exchange, they had to pay an annual tribute to the
treasury from that time onwards.
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In North Africa, a reformer named Abdallah ibn Tumart, a former
student of the mystical philosopher Alaghazali at Baghdad, founded the
sect of the Almohads, that is, “partisans of unity”. Ibn Tumart
propagated his doctrine with the sword, in the empire of the
Almoravids, and after him, his disciple Abd el Mumen continued his
work. From victory to victory, he overthrew the dynasty of the
Almoravids and took control of the whole of northern Africa.

In 1146, close to taking control of Marrakesh, which had withstood
a long siege, Abd el Mumen convened all the Jewish inhabitants and
gave them the choice of conversion to Islam or death. Abd el Mumen
permitted them to emigrate and even gave them time to sell their
immovable property and other objects which they could not take with
them. Those who remained had to become Moslems or die. Many Jews
then abandoned Africa and crossed over into Spain, Italy, or other
countries, but the majority accepted Islam. In the entire empire of the
Almohads, which gradually extended from the Atlas mountains to
Egypt, all the synagogues were destroyed,

“Most of the Jews who adopted Islam were only Moslems in
appearance”, writes Graetz. The Moslems were not very strict in this
regard. It was enough to acknowledge that Mohammed was the Prophet
and to visit the mosque from time to time, and “they were allowed to
practice Judaism in secrecy”. Even pious rabbis did not hesitate to
become Moslems, because they were only required to declare that
Mohammed was the prophet, without having to renounce their religion.

Abd el Mumen crossed the strait and marched into Andalucia. Torn
by intestine divisions, Moslem Spain was rapidly conquered. Cérdoba
fell into the hands of the Almohads in the month of June 1148, and in
less than a year, the largest part of Andalucia suffered the same fate.
Wherever they passed, the Jews were condemned either to choose
between apostasy, emigration or death, and the synagogues were
destroyed. The Jewish schools of Seville were closed. “The others
became Moslems in appearance and practised Judaism in secret,
waiting for a favourable opportunity to return openly to their old
religion.”
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With the conquest of Moslem Andalucia by the Almohads, the Jews
disappeared, at least in appearance. Many of them emigrated to the
North, among the Christians whom they had betrayed centuries before,
in the five kingdoms of Castile, Leon, Aragon, Portugal and Navarre.

Toledo, the capital of Castile, had more than 12,000 Jews and
possessed several synagogues.[119] The country was governed at that
time by Alphonse VII Raimundez, who was bought off, and who took a
Jews named Judah ibn Ezra as his advisor. After conquering the
fortress of Calatrava, located between Toledo and Coérdoba, Alphonse
entrusted the government of this city to Judah ibn Ezra, and granted
him the title of prince at the same time.

In Christian Spain, the Jews exercised the professions of banker,
tax farmers, and suppliers to the king, among other things. Royalty
protected them in return for economic and political support. In Aragon,
Jehudah de Cavallera was one of these big Jewish “capitalists” of the
13th century. They rented saltworks, coined money, supplied the army
and owned large tracts of land and multitudes of livestock.[120] Israel
Abraham also notes in the Jewish Encyclopaedia (volume II, page
402), that in the 12th century, “Spanish Jews owed their fortune to the
slave trade”. ‘

King Alphonse VIII was compelled to appoint the Jew Jehudah
minister of finance. Married to an English princess, Alienor, Alphonse
VII also had a favourite Jewess for seven years, Rachel, who was the
daughter of his minister of finance. Rachel’s legendary love affair with
King Alphonse inspired Lope de Vega’s play, Las paces de los Reyes y
Judia de Toledo, four centuries later, reworked in the 19th century
tragedy Die Juden von Toledo by Franz Grillparzer. Their love aroused
the jealousy and hatred of the Queen.

In 1180, there was a plot to eliminate the woman who had
bewitched the monarch’s heart. The conspirators forced their way into
the palace, assassinated Rachel and her friends under the King’s eyes, a
murder followed by a general attack on the Jews. Alphonse, seeing his
subjects’ fury, from the nobility down to the commoners, dared not
punish the assassins for fear of sharing the fate of his favourite. To
Alphonse, this was a terrible warning,
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After having done all they could to encourage the Moslem invasion
of the peninsula in the 8th century, it was now in the Jews’ interests to
oppose them. As was their custom, they sub-contracted the
undertaking, and, thanks to their gold, charged the Christians with this
task. The Jews of Toledo, who were prospering in the Christian
kingdoms, thus supported King Alphonse in his struggle against the
Moors, supplying him with major subsidies. At the battle of Alarcos, on
19 July 1195, Alphonse was defeated and lost the elite of his
knighthood. But on 16 July 1212, Alphonse took his revenge and
crushed the Saracens at Las Navas de Tolosa.
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Some of the Jews who had left Moslem Spain after the Almohad
conquest found refuge in the south of France. At the end of the 12th
century, the Jews of Languedoc and Provence were therefore rather
numerous. They were “highly devoted to the interests of the country”,
writes Heinrich Graetz, without laughing, who adds; “The communities
were closely linked to each other, lending each other mutual support
under difficult circumstances. They generally lived in great ease,
practising agriculture and maintaining commercial relations with Spain,
Italy, England, Egypt and the Orient”.

In the north of France, their situation remained rather prosperous
until the last 20 years of the 12th century. King Louis VII, as we have
seen, protected the Jews. He did not wish to enforce the decision of the
Lateran Council against them, which prohibited them from employing
Christian wet nurses or domestic servants, and despite the Pope’s
prohibition, he allowed them to build new synagogues. In the
population, however, the Jews were the object of quite particular
hatred.

It was starting with this epoch that accusations of ritual murder and
the profanation of the host began to be made. Starting with the 12th
century, there have been over 100 cases of profanation of the host and
over 500 ritual murder trials, but these figures are probably lower than
the true figure.[121]

In 1144, the body of a murdered apprentice was found in a wood
near Norwich, England. Three years later, at Wiirtzburg, the body of a
Christian discovered in the Main caused the massacre of about 20 Jews.

In 1171, at Blois, all the Jews (men, women and children) were
burnt after being condemned by a tribunal. For the first time, then, the
Jews were accused of using Christian blood for the celebration of their
Passover. One evening, at twilight, the servant of a lord saw a Jew
throw the body of a child into the Loire, frightening the servant’s horse
and nearly throwing him into the Loire, too. The count Theobald
(Thibaut) of Chartres then had all the Jews of Blois, about 50 persons,
thrown into prison. The Jews attempted to buy their lives and offered
him 100 livres of silver in cash and 180 livres in IOUs, but Theobald
did not allow himself to be bribed, and sentenced them all to be burnt
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alive. 34 men and 17 women perished in the flames. It was the 20th of
the month of Sivan (26 May 1171).[122]

In 1180, Philip Augustus succeeded his father, Louis VIIL
According to the historian Rigord, the Jews owned almost half of Paris
by this time.[123] Served by Christian domestic servants, the Jews
lived in luxury while the entire Christian bourgeoisie, soldiery and
peasants owed them money. In the cities, villages and suburbs, debts to
the Jews were everywhere. A great many Christians were even
expropriated by them as a result of Christian indebtedness to the Jews.

At this point, one must read the text by Abbot Claude Fleury
(1640-1723). A native of Rouen, abbot Claude Fleury was the author
of an Histoire ecclésiastique, a monument of erudition. He was elected
to the Académie Frangaise and appointed religious instructor to the
future Louis XV. His description of Philip Augustus gives an idea of
contemporary complaints against the Jews:

“King Philip was still anti-Jewish, because the antiquity of their
establishment at Paris and the reputation of their doctors had made
them so wealthy that they owned nearly half the town, which, despite
the laws and the canons [rules of ecclesiastical law] they had Christian
slaves of both sexes living in their houses with them, and made Jews
out of them, and practised limitless usury against the Christians, the
nobles, bourgeois and peasants, some of whom were compelled to sell
their estates, while others had to live in the Jews’ houses, as prisoners,
bound to servitude by oath”.[124]

“They live solely by trafficking, in the most sordid business deals
imaginable; they are resellers, brokers, usurers. Some of them study
medicine, and have dominated the trade since I’ve lived here... The
Gospels speak of a woman who had suffered under several doctors,
spending all her money on medications”.[125]

One of Philip’s first decisions was to regulate the problems linked
to the presence of Jews in French territory. On 19 January 1180, a
Sabbath, he ordered all the Jews in the royal estate arrested, without
any formal charges against them, threw them in prison and only freed
them for a ransom of 1,500 silver marks.

The same year, he cancelled all debts owed to Jews by Christians,
obliging all the debtors to pay one fifth of their debts to the national
treasury.

On 10 March 1182, an edict of the king despoiled the Jews of all
their goods and expelled them from the royal domain. The Jews all had
to leave between April and St John’s Night (24 June). As usual, they
offered large sums of money, but the king remained intransigent.
Despite all the gold offered him by the Jews, Philip Augustus remained
firmly resolved.
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The Jews were only allowed to take movable property with them;
that which remained was redistributed to the guilds. The fields,
vineyards, farms and other immovable property reverted to the crown.
Philip was considered almost moderate in taking only one fifth of the
amount of all the debts to the Jews, remitting the rest to the debtors.

This measure concerned above all the Jews of the Isle-de-France,
who emigrated to southern France, in Burgundy, Champagne, Alsace
and Lorraine.

Rigord remarks as follows on this event: “This year”, writes
Rigord, “deserves to be called a jubilee year, since the king’s actions
enabled the Christians to recover their property, encumbered by debts
to Jews”.

The following year, the king ordered all the synagogues
transformed into churches, which aroused the blessings of his entire
people.[126] Only a few Jews who had gotten themselves baptised
retained the ownership of their property and their liberty.

In October 1187, the capture of Jerusalem by Saladin made a
profound impression on the Christian world, and the event determined
Philip Augustus and the king of England, Richard the Lion Hearted, to
leave together on a third Crusade. King Richard distinguished himself
in particular, and saved the Latin states of the East.

Philip for his part, was compelled to return suddenly to France to
manage the Flemish succession.

Hardly had he returned from the East when he had to concern
himself with a very painful matter. In 1192, at Saint-Germain-en-Laye,
he learned that at Braisne (today Bray-sur-Seine, upstream from Paris),
in the estates of one of the vassals of the count of Champagne, the lady
of the place, Agnes, countess of Dreux, had handed over for Jewish
vengeance a man accused of theft and the homicide of a Jew. The Jews
tied his hands behind his back, put a crown of thorns on his head, and
whipped him through the town, before hanging him from a gallows.

The king was informed that the man was innocent, and that the
Jews had caused him to perish like Christ, solely out of derision. There
was general indignation. On learning these facts, Philip left for Bray
immediately, surrounded the village, seized all the Jews and ordered
them burned in his presence, without delay.[127] 82 Jews perished in
flames on that one day.[128]

A few years later, in 1198, the energetic Pope Innocent III launched
a fourth Crusade. The preacher Foulques de Neuilly went from village
to village exhorting the Christians to take part. Following the example
of the monk Rodolphe, Foulques encouraged people to pillage the
houses of the Jews to take back what they had stolen from the
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Christians. Over-excited by his inflammatory speeches, many of the
good barons allowed the exasperated people to take the law into their
own hands, after which he expelled the Jews from their lands.

In July 1198, Philip Augustus permitted the Jews to return to their
estates, but they were attached to the soil as serfs and no longer had the
right to own anything, which did not deter them in the least. “The
fortunes of the Jews belong to the Baron” was an accepted principle all
over the north of France, where the Jews were appreciated in
proportion to their revenues. Thus it was that a noble sold his property
and his Jews to the Duchess of Champagne.

It remains nonetheless true that the Jews continued to prosper until
September 1206, right after the fourth Crusade, when Philip Augustus
had to publish an ordinance officially regulating loans: no Jew could
accept interest at a rate exceeding two pennies per livre per week. The
maximum rate of interest was fixed at 43%. That is to say that before
then, usurers used to take more. There were to be two “honest men” in
each city who would keep the great seal of the Jews, and they would
swear on the Gospels that they would not affix the seal without
personally verifying that the sum was lawfully due.[129]

The 1206 ordinance moreover prohibited the Jews from receiving
collateral in the form of sacred vessels and blood-stained clothing,
which was obviously another habit of theirs.
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William the Conqueror, who had victoriously invaded England in 1066,
had prohibited the Jews from possessing Christian serfs or hiring
Christian wet nurses. In England, and on the French territories
dependent upon the English crown, the Jews nevertheless lived in
safety. Established chiefly in the large cities, “they acquired
considerable wealth”, writes Graetz. “At London, the Jews resided in
magnificent palaces”.

During the reign of King Henry II, in the second half of the 12th
century, the Jews already practised usury on a huge scale. “They are
generally very rich”, writes Abraham Léon, “and their clientele consists
of large landed property owners. The most famous of these bankers was
a certain Aaron of Lincoln, who was very active at the end of the 12th
century. King Henry II, alone, owed him 100,000 livres, a sum
equivalent to the annual budget for the entire kingdom of England at
the time. Thanks to extremely high interest rates — between 43 and 86%
— a mass of lands formerly owned by the nobility had passed into the
hands of Jewish usurers”.[130]

Their problems began on 3 September 1189, the day of King
Richard’s coronation. Upon his return from the cathedral where he had
just been crowned by the archbishop of Canterbury, Richard received
numerous deputations coming to pay him homage, including a
delegation of Jews. In view of the magnificent presents which the Jews
were offering him, Baldwin, the archbishop of Canterbury, remarked to
the prince that it was his duty to refuse these presents, and to command
the Jews to leave the room. Richard acquiesced, and throughout the city
of London, the rumour spread that the king had expelled the delegates
from the palace. This was the signal for the insurrection.

The people and the Crusaders immediately agreed to pillage the
Jews, who were locked inside their palatial houses, which were then set
on fire. Houses and synagogues were burnt and large numbers of Jews
were massacred, in London, Lincoln and Stamford.[131]

The next day, King Richard had the principal ringleaders arrested
and executed, declaring the Jews to be inviolable. But as soon as he left
England with Philip Augustus at the head of the Crusade, the London
massacres were imitated in various cities in England. Bloody riots
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occurred at Lynn and Norwich, where the Jews were killed and their
houses pillaged.

The chronicler Richard de Devizes, a monk in the convent of St.
Swithun, Winchester, wrote: “The same day as his coronation, at the
same solemn hour, people began to immolate the Jews of the city of
London, sending them to their father the devil. And it took so long to
celebrate such a great sacrifice that the slaughter was barely even
finished on the next day. Other villages and cities imitated the act of
faith of the Londoners, and sent all these bloodsucking leeches to hell
with the same devotion, along with all the blood spilled in cutting their
throats. On this occasion, and nearly all over the kingdom, but with an
unequal fervour, there were similar actions against these same
reprobates. Only the city of Winchester spared the vermin which it
nourished; the population of the city is wise and clever and always
showed signs of moderation”.[132]

A year later, the tragedy of York occurred. “In this city”, writes
Graetz, “there lived two very rich Jews, Josse and Benedict, who
resided in superb palaces”. The debtor-knights of the Jews of York,
under the direction of a certain Mallebidde (or Malebydde) attacked the
Jews. But it was not so much the jealousy and fanaticism, but
exasperation which motivated the Christians. All of them, peasants,
artisans, bourgeoisie, nobles and monks, wanted to fight these ignoble
usurers, who never stopped, what is more, ridiculing their religion,
receiving stolen goods, in addition to an addiction to other morally
disgusting practices. The people pillaged and burned Benedict’s house,
which had been burnt before, during the London riots. All the other
Jews of the city took refuge in the fortress with their families and
precious personal effects, where they withstood a siege against the
insurgent populace.

On 17 March 1190, after fruitless attempts to pacify the Christians,
the besieged Jews in the fortress resolved almost unanimously to follow
the advice of a rabbi and commit suicide. They buried their gold or
silver, burned their other effects, cut the throats of their wives and
children, and killed each other. We still see, near York, the ruins of the
old tower of Clifford, who, according to tradition, was the scene of the
massacres. The legend, maintained by Jewish historians, said that not a
single member of the Jewish community of York survived; the number
of Jews killed is said to have amounted to approximately five hundred.

The people, whose rage was not yet satisfied, moved on to the
cathedral, where they forced public officials to hand over all the loan
contracts, after which they burnt the lot in the nave of the cathedral.

The government did not remain a passive spectator in this popular
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insurrection. The principal guilty parties were prosecuted; the sheriff
and governor of the city were forced to resign, and the citizens were
summoned to court to answer for their conduct.[133]

That day, which was Palm Sunday, and in all the localities where
there were still Jews in England, old scores were settled all over
England, wherever there were any Jews left.

At Bury Saint Edmunds, 75 Jews were massacred. King Richard
charged his chancellor to open inquiries and have the guilty parties
executed, but the Crusaders had disappeared, and the nobles and
citizens who had participated in the disorders had fled to Scotland. The
Jews were nevertheless permitted to continue residing in the country
and pursuing their business affairs. Richard contented himself with
simply submitting their loan contracts to additional formalities.

King John, who succeeded his elder brother Richard in 1199, was a
little bit less sentimental. When a Jewish financier, Abraham of Bristol,
refused to pay the contribution demanded of him, the king ordered him
to have all his teeth pulled out, one per day. At the seventh extraction,
Abraham submitted to the royal will.
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The Byzantines had always prohibited the Jews from occupying public
positions, and they were compelled to pay considerable taxes. In
Christian cities, only a few Jews were met with. In all of Palestine,
which was in the hands of the Christians, there were not a thousand
Jews. Benjamin de Tudela, a Jew from Navarre, who, in the 12th
century, travelled to all localities where he believed there were
synagogues so as to become informed as to the state of his religion,
reported that he found no more than two hundred Jews in Jerusalem.
They were almost all wool dyers, gathered in a separate quarter, under
the tower of David.[134] His tale is confirmed by that of Rabbi
Petachia, from Regensburg, who also visited his brothers in Judea over
the course of the same century.[135]

If Jerusalem was depopulated of Jews, the rest of the Holy Land
was no less so. Tiberias was no exception. Benjamin de Tudela found
only 50 persons of his religion, one synagogue and a few graves.

In the cities of Asia Minor where Islam was dominant, on the other
hand, Jews were numerous. The largest communities at the time were
located in the region between the Tigris and the Euphrates. The
community of Mosul was at least as important as that of Baghdad.

In the Maghreb and in Andalucia, the Almohads protected Judaism
but regulated it firmly to prevent it from doing harm. But in Egypt,
Jewish bankers were kings. The Jewish community there had
“flourished under the reign of the Arabs”, writes Jewish historian Cecil
Roth. “Although the lunatic Hakim (996-1021) had exercised the most
fanatical of repressions regarding the adepts of the dissident religions,
his successors treated the Jews with kindness, even employing them in
the public administrations: from 1044 until his assassination in 1047,
the banker and court intendant, Abraham (Abu Said) ben Sahl, vizir of
the Sultan’s mother, effectively governed the country”.[136]

It was in Egypt that the greatest Jewish intellectual of the Middle
Ages, Maimonides, born at Cérdoba in 1135, found refuge with his
family. Men in all the parts of the Jewish world respected his
judgement. “A false Messiah appeared in Yemen; there was an
epidemic of persecutions in the Maghreb; philosophical doubt was of
concern to the rabbis of Marseille, the greatest Egyptian scholar wrote
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indicating the attitude to be taken in the clearest terms so as to be in
accordance with the principles of Judaism”.[137]

Moses Maimonides also undertook to justify the conduct of these
Jews who pretended to practice Islam solely for the purpose of
undermining the enemy from the inside. An author nonetheless rather
favourable to the Jews, George-Bernard Depping, writes here: “It is
annoying to find in the works of Maimonides the typical Jewish hatred
for those practising another religion. Not only does he permit them to
deceive people, but he forgets himself so much as to express his
conviction that one must exterminate traitors, epicureans and
heretics”.[138]

Sheikh Abd al Qadir al Jilani (1081-1166), an Iranian saint of the
lineage of Ali, was doubtlessly correct when he wrote: “The Jews, who
live dispersed all over the world, are nonetheless firmly loyal to each
other, are dishonest, the enemies of men; they are dangerous creatures
who must be compared to venomous serpents; as soon as they
approach, you must crush their heads, since if you allow them to raise
their heads, even for a moment, they will bite you, and their bite is
deadly”.[139]

At Baghdad, Benjamin of Tudela, visiting the city, counted 28
synagogues and 10 yeshivas (Jewish universities). About 40,000 Jews
lived in the city at that time. If the Almohads had imposed yellow
clothing on them, the Mamluks, in Egypt, required them to wear a
turban of the same colour (blue for Christians). But their dhimmitude
[minority status under Islam] was rather gentle in comparison to what
the Jews endured in the Christian world.

In the Ottoman Empire, in the 16th century, some Jews occupied
the highest positions in the land. We also know that they played a
considerable role in the Kemalist revolution of 1922 in Turkey.[140] In
the Moslem world, in general, the situation deteriorated for them after
the Second World War, with the creation of the State of Israel.
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The Papacy, like most other authorities of the time, was relatively
tolerant of Jews until the 13th century. Pope Alexander III (1159-1181)
had been favourable to them. His tax administrator was the Jew Yehiel
ben Abraham.

But in Innocent ITT (1198-1216), the Jews met with real resistance.
Innocent III was for them, writes Graetz, “an adversary as powerful as
he was malevolent”, “the implacable enemy of the Jews and Judaism”.
The great bulls concerning the Jews therefore appeared after the year
1200.

At the beginning of his reign, however, Innocent III showed
himself to be rather partial to the Jews, intervening against the violence
of soldiers departing on the Crusades, prohibiting the baptism of Jews
by force and the pillaging of their property without legal authorisation,
attacking them with whips and stones during their feast days or
profaning their cemeteries. But he detested them nonetheless.

One of the principal letters from Innocent III is the one he sent to
the archbishop of Sens and the bishop of Paris in 1205. The same year,
he criticised the King of France, Philip Augustus, for his lack of
vigilance after readmitting the Jews to his kingdom, and recommended
more severity: “I have learned that in France the Jews have
appropriated to themselves the goods of the Church and the Christians;
that, contrary to the decision of the Lateran Council held under
Alexander III, they are hiring Christian wet nurses and domestic
servants; that the courts do not accept the testimony of Christians
against the Jews; that the community of Sens has built a new
synagogue which exceeds in height the neighbouring church, and
where their Jewish prayers are recited, not in a low voice, as before
their expulsion, but so loudly that, in a word, it disturbs the offices of
the Christians; and finally, that the Jews are authorised to show
themselves in public during Easter Week, in the cities and villages, and
to divert the faithful from their faith”.[141]

Here, we learn that the houses of the Jews remained open until the
middle of the night, and were used for the receipt of stolen goods.[142]
Innocent III recalled once again that the Jews secretly cut the throats of
Christians and he enjoined Philip Augustus to treat them with greater
strictness.
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During the month of May, the Pope sent a severe letter to Alphonse
VIII, king of Castile, because this prince had not wished to permit
ecclesiastics to confiscate Moslem slaves owned by Jews and baptise
them, nor compel the Jews and Moslems to pay their tithes to the
clergy.

Here is another letter addressed to the Count de Nevers in January
1208. The Pope wrote to him, saying: “The Jews should wander, like
Cain, through the world, and bear the mark of their abjection upon their
faces. Instead of humiliating them and reducing them to servitude, the
Christian princes protect them, receive them in the cities and villages
and use them as bankers, to make them extort money for them from the
Christians. What is more, the Jews are permitted to throw Christian
debtors into prison, and accept as collateral Christian-owned castles
and estates. The tithe is then no longer paid by the Church. Is it not
scandalous that the Christians are allowed to have their animals killed
and the grapes pressed by Jews, allowing them to take what they want
and leave the rest to Christians?”

But Innocent III did not preach a war of extermination agamst the
Jews, although such a war was preached and practised against the
Albigensians. The doctrine of the Church established that the Jews
were destined to remain the people witnessing the victory of
Christianity. ’

Innocent III summarised Church doctrine and case law concerning
the Jews (Constitution Licei perfidia Iudoreorum of 15 September
1199): Under pain of excommunication, he wrote, no one should be
permitted to force the Jews to be baptised, nor beat them, pillage their
property without court order, attack them with sticks during their feast
days, nor, finally, invade their cemeteries and dig up Jewish bodies to
rob their graves.[143] The number of pontifical documents on this topic
— constitutions, bulls, letters, etc. — is considerable.

Every time the exasperated Christian population committed
massacres or pillaging, the Popes raised their voices, condemned the
crimes of the Christians and enjoined the bishops to intervene and.
protect the victims, congratulating them on what they themselves had
done. The Popes also permitted fugitive Jews to install themselves in
their States, in the Comtat Venaissin or in Italy. Likewise, on many
occasions, the Popes prohibited Christians from baptising the Jews by
force, or from robbing or desecrating their cemeteries.[144]

These facts did not prevent the Jewish historian Heinrich Graetz,
like the totality of his fellow Jews, from distorting history in any way
they like: “Innocent IIT was the first Pope to treat the Jews with an
inhuman severity”, he writes.
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The heretical sect of the Albigensians experienced widespread
growth in the 12th and 13th centuries in Languedoc, where it was
protected by segments of the local nobility. This heresy — no doubt not
accidentally — took root in a land where the Jews had installed
themselves in large numbers. Raymond V of Toulouse exercised a
benevolent sovereignty over them, and his successor Raymond VI
(1195-1222) “was perhaps still more favourable to the Jews than his
father”, writes Graetz. “even entrusting public offices to them”.

It was not therefore without reason that Pope Innocent III ordered
the Albigensian heresy and the Jews of the south of France to be kept
under the same strict surveillance. Raymond VI was the object of these
vexations as much for being a friend of the Jews as for being a
protector of the Albigensians. In 1209, he was humiliated by Milo, the
Pope’s legate: the count of Toulouse was flagellated and taken naked to
the Church with a rope around his neck. He had to confess his sins in
public and swear, among other things, to fire all his Jewish officials.
Thirteen barons, accused, like himself, of showing favour to the
Albigensians and Jews, were also compelled to swear that they would
fire all their Jewish officials and refrain from appointing any more.

The Pope finally decided to mount an expedition against the
Cathars, granting the combatants the same indulgences and favours
which he granted those who fought in the Holy Land. He first
demanded of Philip Augustus that he head the expedition, but the latter,
still at war with King John, the King of England, did not wish to open a
second front. Initially, the King of France even prohibited the barons of
his kingdom from taking part in the Crusade against the Albigensians,
before changing his mind and giving his authorisation. The Pope also
obtained a promise from the King that Christian debtors of the Jews
who went to fight the Albigensians would be declared quit of all back
interest, and that the payment of the capital would be adjourned.[145]

The Crusaders, directed by Count Simon IV de Montfort and the
papal legate Arnaud Amauri, Abbot of Citeaux, met near Lyons and
headed south. To avert the threat to his states, Raymond VI of Toulouse
made honourable amends (18 June 1209).

Arnaud Amauri then decided to attack the fiefs of Raymond-Roger
Trencavel, Vicount of Albi, Béziers and Carcassonne, which sheltered
large numbers of Cathars and Jews. On 22 July 1209, the Crusaders
took Béziers by storm and put the city to the sword. Arnaud was asked
how to distinguish the heretics from the believers: “Kill them all”, he
replied, “God will recognise His own”.

After the capture of the city, he wrote to the Pope: “We took
account of neither sex, nor age; nearly 20,000 persons fell under our
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blows. After the massacre, they pillaged and burnt the city”. Two
hundred Jews died in the carnage, and numerous others were taken
prisoner.

During the month of September, the Council of Avignon, presided
over by Milo, papal legate, decided that all the barons and all the free
cities should promise under oath not to entrust any office to the Jews,
and not to permit the Jews to hire Christian domestic servants.

This same council prohibited the Jews from working on Sunday or
Christian holidays and from eating meat on Christian fasting days. The
fourth canon prohibited the Christians from having any financial
transactions with Jews, and the Jews were usually sentenced to return
everything which they had extorted through usury.[146]

Arnaud Amauri’s soldiers later covered themselves with glory in
Spain, where the Christians were fighting the Moslems. At this time, an
Almohad leader from north-west Africa, Mohammed Alnassar, led half
a million of his fellow-Moslems in crossing the Mediterranean. In view
of the approaching danger, the Christian kings of Spain united and
called upon Pope Innocent III to preach a Crusade against the Moslems.
Numerous Christian warriors crossed the Pyrenees to fight the
Moslems, among them, the Abbot of Citeaux, Arnaud Amauri and his
soldiers, the “ultramontanists”, as they were called. In 1212, they threw
themselves upon the Jews of Toledo and would no doubt have
massacred the entire community without the intervention of King
Alphonse VIII and the bourgeois Christian citizens of the city, who
took the Jews under their protection.

The Twelfth Ecumenical Council, or Fourth Lateran Council,
meeting in Rome in November 1215, in the Lateran basilica, renewed
the ancient restrictions against the Jews and added others. The
disinclination of the princes and peoples to obey rendered such frequent
reminders necessary. '

In the canons (67, 68, 69), the Jews were prohibited from
demanding excessive rates of interest, on pain of being “deprived of all
relations with Christians”. The latter, for their part, were prohibited
from having sustained relations with Jews, under pain of
excommunication. The Jews were prohibited from holding any public
office; in the event of violation, the Christian was to be punished and
the Jew, after being dismissed in a shameful ceremony, was to remit all
the money received by him during his period of employment, and the
money was to be given to the poor.

These canons also introduced the obligation for the Jews to wear a
distinguishing mark in order to distinguish them from the Christians,
starting at age twelve. This custom was actually much older, but this
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was the first time it was ever required by a Church council; from this
time onwards, the order to do so was often renewed.

The mark most usually prescribed was a circular piece of yellow
cloth, called a rouelle (“little wheel”). The Jews ceaselessly attempted
to get its size reduced, or even to render it almost invisible, by
converting it into a sort of ornament so nobody would notice.

Women were also supposed to wear the rouelle, or, as prescribed
by certain councils, particularly that of Avignon (1326), the cornalia, a
sort of hairstyle with points. In Italy, it was also through the headwear
that Jewish men were supposed to be marked, that is, by a yellow beret,
the birettum glaucum.

The “rouelle”, as it was called, was not a novelty at all. The Pope
seemed to have borrowed the idea from the legislation prevalent in
Moslem countries. It was, in fact, the Almohad prince, Abu-Yusuf
Yacub Al-Mansur, who first obliged the Jews of his kingdom, who
should have converted to Islam by obligation, to wear special clothing
by law: a crude robe with long sleeves, and a veil of a ridiculous design
instead of a turban.

“If I were sure”, said the perspicacious prince, “that the Jews were
sincerely converting, I would permit them to contract marriages with
Moslems. If I knew, on the contrary, that they were persisting in their
ancient faith, I would stab them right through with a sword, I would
reduce their children to slavery and I would confiscate their property.
But I am in doubt, therefore I force them to wear clothes that make
them look ridiculous.”

Innocent Il introduced this law into Christian countries on 30
November 1215. As the result of this papal decision, the provincial
councils, states and princes deliberated on the subject of the rouelle to
determine the colour, design, length and breadth in minute detail. But,
whether it was round or square, yellow or red, placed on the hat or on
the breast, the result was the same: the rouelle permitted Christians to
forearm themselves against the sneakiness of the Jews, always inclined
to pass for natives so as to deceive people with greater effectiveness.

The councils of Narbonne (1227), Rouen (1231), Tarragona (1239),
Béziers (1246), renewed the prescriptions cited above, in whole or in
part, and added a few. All insisted on the rouelle, like Fritzlar (1259)
and Aschaffenburg, near Mayence (1292), which, what is more,
prohibited the Jews, on pain of a fine of one silver mark, first, from
leaving their homes, and second, from even showing themselves at
their windows on Holy Friday.[147]

Innocent II’s successor, Honorius III (1216-1227), with equal
strictness, insisted that the Jews be forced to wear the rouelle. In 1222,
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the Council of Oxford renewed the measures dictated by the Fourth
Latran Council seven years earlier. Here, the rouelle took the form of
two white squares, evoking the Tables of the Law, which the Jews had
to sew onto their coats. For the rest, since the death of King John and
during the minority of King Henry III, the true sovereign was Etienne
Langton, archbishop of Canterbury, “an implacable enemy of the
Jews”, writes Graetz.

In the Holy Roman Empire, Emperor Friedrich II, who reigned
until 1250, was a “liberal and enlightened prince”. At his court, Jewish
scholars translated - philosophical works from Arabic into Latin,
distorting the texts to further their interests. “Nevertheless”, writs
Graetz, “he hated the Jews just as much as the pious Saint Louis”.
Although an implacable adversary of the papacy, he applied in his
states the bull which distanced the Jews from any public employment,
and he applied the decisions of the Lateran Council more severely than
the king of Spain. He permitted the Jews of Africa to flee before the
Almohads and establish themselves in Sicily, but, while he exempted
the other immigrants from any taxes for ten years, he made the Jews
pay very heavy taxes.
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Under the reign of Louis VIII, son and successor of Philip Augustus,
complaints from borrowers and trials brought by usurers caused new
problems. By an ordinance passed in 1223, the new king suddenly
annulled all interest obligations contracted with the Jews starting from
All Souls Day of that year. He declared expired all titles dating back
more than five years, and granted debtors a period of three years in
which to pay their debts, in nine equal payments. This act had no other
purpose than to free the government of incessant complaints, but the
Jews continued nonetheless to practise usury.[148] “Thou shalt not lend
upon usury to thy brother; usury of money, usury of victuals, usury of
anything that is lent upon usury: Unto a stranger thou mayest lend upon
usury; but unto thy brother thou shalt not lend upon usury: that the Lord
thy God may bless thee in all that thou settest thine hand to in the land
whither thou goest to possess it” (Deuteronomy 23:19-20).

Queen Blanche of Castile — Saint Louis” mother — who governed
the kingdom of France during her son’s minority, also attempted to put
an end to the scourge of Jewish usury. In December 1230, the Melun
ordinance established that the sums due to the Jews should be paid
within three years, and that the term of each payment should expire on
All Saints Day. The Jews should present their letters or their bonds to
their lords before All Saints Day. In 1234, a new ordinance assisted the
Christians in the payment of their debts to Jewish usurers.

The poet Gautier de Coincy (1178-1236), monk and troubador born
in Picardy, who was one of the great French poets of the Middle Ages,
expressed the disgust of ordinary people for the members of this
sect:[149]

“More bestial than naked beasts,

Are the Jews, there is no doubt [...]

Many hate them, and I hate them,

And God hates them, and I do, too.

And all the world must hate them.”

During the year 1236, the Crusaders, departing for Palestine, gave
violent expression to the Christian resentment against the Jews. In
Anjou and Poitou, at Bordeaux, and Angouléme, massacres occurred:

“The Crusaders treated them with ferocious cruelty, pitilessly
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crushing them under the hoofs of their horses, women and children,
tore up the holy rolls, and nearly five hundred of them embraced
Christianity. The Jews filed complaints with Pope Gregory IX, who
wrote to the bishops of Bordeaux, Saintes, Angouléme and Poitiers in
September of that year, to persuade them to save the rest of the Jews.”

The region was able to defend itself against the Jews, since we see
that in 1249, the count of Poitou, Alphonse, Saint-Louis’ brother and
lord of La Rochelle, ordered the Jews expelled from his states. In 1291,
public aversion towards the Jews exploded with such force at La
Rochelle that the council of the commune shared the popular animosity
and chased all the Jews from the city.

The popular revolt of 1236 had been aroused by a certain Nicholas
Donin. He ceaselessly excited the mob against the Jews, travelling all
over the region, from city to city, from village to village. Nicholas
Donin was a former Jew who had left Judaism and had turned against
the sect. With a good knowledge of the Hebrew language, he had been
excommunicated by the Jews after expressing doubt as to the value of
the Talmud and the authenticity of oral law. He then left Judaism
completely and had himself baptised under the name of Nicholas. In
1238, he went to Rome to denounce the horrors contained in the
Talmud to Pope Gregory IX.

Let us recall that the Talmud, the secret book of the Jews, contains
teachings of the rabbis from the first few centuries. It retranscribes or
summarises the stormy discussions which took place in the various
academies of Palestine and Babylonia. A master would announce a
problem and his disciple would propose a solution, the students would
engage in copious disputation, and the next generation would arrive at a
conclusion. Although the debate continued for generations, occupying
masters and pupils alike, the Talmud only rendered an account in a
brief passage or a single paragraph.[150]

The simplest things were the object of hair-splitting. The rabbis
thus sought mysteries in the clearest or most insignificant phrases of the
Torah, engaged in the most extravagant conjectures. They went so far
as to claim that each passage of the Bible was subject to seventy and
even six hundred thousand different explanations.

Thus, one can “prove” through the Talmud that the rabbis both
preached and condemned intolerance, approved and rejected usury,
honoured and degraded women, etc. It is nevertheless true that the work
contains many passages offensive to non-Jews.

“It is beyond doubt”, writes Graetz, “that the Talmud, composed
without any spirit of scientific or historical criticism, contains all sorts
of remarks”. The Jewish historian openly acknowledged that certain
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remarks made by the rabbis are of a nature likely to offend Christians:
“To harm the Jews”, it says, “they have pretended to attribute the same
value to the entire content of the Talmud and to place the simplest
babble on the same rank as major prescriptions”. And Graetz continues
cheerfully, without fear of ridicule: “As for Nicholas Donin’s assertions
that the Talmud permits the Jews to deceive Christians and to wriggle
out of their oaths, these are impudent lies”.

The accusations which Nicholas Donin was the first to direct
against the Talmud had the most painful consequences for the “Chosen
People”. Later, erudite Hebraising Christians continued the study of the
Talmud and confirmed what everybody suspected. The following are
just a few of the precepts taken from this Holy book:

Christians are idolators; do not associate with them (Hilkhoth
Maakhaloth); the Christians are impure because they eat impure food
(Schabbath, 145b); Jewish women are contaminated merely by meeting
Christians (lore Dea, 198, 48);, Jews are human beings, but not
Christians, who are animals (Kerithuth, 6b); Christians and animals are
associated in a comparison (Orach Chaiim, 225, 10); Christians were
created to serve the Jews (Midrash Talpioth, 225); one must have no
more compassion for Christians than for pigs, when they are sick with
the intestines (Orach Chaiim 57, 6a); for the interpretation of a Psalm,
one rabbi says: “the Psalmist compares Christians to impure beasts”
(Kethuboth, 110b); the seed of the goyim is like that of animals
(Sanhedrin, 74b); the soul of the non-Jews comes from death and the
shadow of death (Emek Haschanach, 17a); one must replace dead
(Christian) servants, like cows or lost asses (Jore Dea, 377); the Jews
have the right to be called men, but not the Christians (lebhammoth,
61a); striking a Jew is like slapping the face of God himself (Sanhedrin,
58b); a Jew should always be considered to be good, despite the sins
which he may commit. It is only his outer shell which is soiled, not his
inner self (Chagigah, 15b); a Jew must not enter the house of a
Christian on a feast day (Gittin, 62a); do not eat with the Christians, for
‘that leads to familiarity (Jore Dea, 112, 1); do not drink milk drawn by
a Christian (4bhodah Zarah, 35b); one must throw wine away if it has
been touched by a Christian (4dbhodah Zarah, 72b); dishware
purchased. from Christians must be thrown away (lore Dea, 120, 1);
one must stop all contact with Christians three days before the
beginning of one of their feast days (4bhodah Zarah, 2a); a child must
not be fed by a Christian wet-nurse, since Christian milk will give him
a malevolent disposition (lore Dea, 81); Christian wet-nurses lead
children to heresy (lore Dea, 153); one may pretend to rejoice with
Christians during their feasts, if this helps conceal our hatred (lore Dea,
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148); the property of a Christian belongs to the first Jew who claims it
(Babha Bathra, 54b); if by mistake a Christian returns too much
money, you must keep it (Choschen Ham, 183, 7); the Jews may with a
clear conscience keep all property lost by a Christian (Choschen Ham,
226, 1); it is permitted to deceive Christians (Babha Kama, 113b); Jews
who deceive a Christian must share the profit equitably (Choschen
Ham, 183, 7); usury may be practised against Christians or apostates
(Abhodah Zarah, 54a), the Jews may lie and perjure themselves, if it’s
to cause a Christian to be condemned (Babha Kama, 113a); the Jews
may swear falsely using words with a double meaning, or any other
subterfuge (Schabbouth Hag., 6d); one must never cure a Christian,
unless failing to do makes an enemy for Israel (Jore Dea, 158); it is
prohibited to deliver a child for a Christian woman on Saturday (Orach
Chaiim, 330, 2); it is permitted to kill a Christian indirectly, for
example, if someone who does not believe in the Torah falls into a pit
in which there is a ladder, one must quickly pull the ladder out
(Choschen Ham, 425, 5); as regards Christians who are not enemies, a
Jew may nonetheless refrain from intervening to warn them of a deadly
danger (lore Dea, 158, 1); do not save Christians in danger of death
(Hilkkoth Akum, 10, 1); he who wishes to reveal the secrets of Israel to
the Christians must be killed, even before he tells them anything at all
(Choschen Ham, 386, 10); those who wish to change religions should
be thrown into a pit and forgotten (4bhodah Zorah, 26b); one must kill
those who would give Jewish money to the Christians (Choschen Ham,
388, 15); goyim who seek to discover the secrets of the Law of Israel
commit a crime which calls for the penalty of death (Sanhedrin, 59a);
baptised Jews must be put to death (Hilkhoth Akum, X, 2); even the best
of the goyim must be killed (4bhodah Akum, 26b); if a Jew kills a
Christian, it is not a sin (Sepher Or Israel, 177b); spilling the blood of
the impious is an agreeable sacrifice to God (lalkut Simoni, 245c), etc.

Nicholas Donin collated extracts from the Talmud, which he did in
a 35-count indictment. As a result of Nicholas Donin’s work, Pope
Gregory IX sent a letter to the bishops of France, England, Castile,
Aragon and Portugal on 9 June 1239, ordering them to confiscate all
copies of the Talmud and remit them to the Dominican and Franciscan
monks. The sovereigns of these countries were to assist the bishops in
enforcing the order, while the priors of the Dominicans and Franciscans
were responsible for opening an inquiry on the Talmud and burning all
copies.

When vigilance was relaxed, the Jews hastened to make many
times more copies; thus, the orders of the Popes and the bishops had to
be renewed frequently. After Gregory IX, Popes Innocent IV (1244),
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Clement IV (1267) Honorius IV (1286), John XXII (1320), Benedict
XIV (1415) Julius ITL, Paul IV, etc. also placed the Christians on guard
against the horrors contained in the pages of the Talmud.
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The principal occupation of the Jews, in Brittany as elsewhere, was
lending at interest. But Brittany was the province of France which
showed the greatest strictness in combating Jewish usury. In 1239, the
states (parliament) of the Duchy decreed that debtors would be declared
acquitted towards the Jews, that the Jews should be banned from the
country, and that all their goods, both movable and immovable,
possessed by them as collateral should be returned to the borrowers.
The assembly even forced the Duke of Brittany to promise, under oath,
on behalf of himself and his descendants as well, under pain of
excommunication in the event of violation of their oath, to refrain from
ever permitting Jews to enter the duchy and prohibiting all barons of
Brittany from permitting any Jews on their lands. Popular aversion for
the Jews went so far as to approve the murders which had been
committed a few years before during the Crusades, and it was
prohibited to prosecute anyone whatsoever for the commission of these
murders.[151]

In 1588, Bertrand d’Argentré thus presented the Latin text of the
document, which he reproduced: “From this time henceforth the
country found itself loaded with Jews, inhabitants of the country of
Brittany, who, through the inclemency and cruelty of their usurers,
were permitted to consume both nobles and merchants, and all the little
people, thus arousing the pity of the country; the states, clergy, nobles,
and Third Estate all gathered, and made a pressing request of the Duke
to expel them, which was finally decided upon, and the Jews were
banished according to the patents; the tenor of which follows, as
extracted from the charters of Brittany and found in the letters of Saint
Melaine etc. of the Abbot of Kemperle”.[152]

In 1716, Dom Pierre Morice summarised the document as follows:
“The usurers were so outrageous that the prelates and barons begged
the duke to expel them entirely from the lands of his obedience. To
satisfy the Duke, being at Ploérmel on the 20th day of April of the year
1240, issued an edict, in which he declared: 1. That he would expel the
Jews from all parts of Brittany and that he would no longer suffer them
on his lands nor on the lands of his subjects; 2. That he abolished all
debts contracted with Jews, of any nature whatsoever; 3. That the
property, both movable and immovable, of the Jews, pledged as
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collateral on the said debts, should be returned to the debtors or their
heirs, except for articles sold voluntarily by Christians; 4. That no one
should be prosecuted for the death of the Jews killed until the present
time; 5. That he would prevent all debts contracted with Jews on the
lands of the debtor’s father from being paid; and finally, that he would
have the said edict confirmed by the King of France. The Duke
undertook under oath to respect the present ordinance throughout his
lifetime, and to submit, in the event of violation, to the censures of the
Church. He subjected all his successors to the same oath, and
prohibited the act of rendering them homage before they have fulfilled
this duty. The prelates and barons for their part also swore that they
would no longer suffer the Jews on their lands”.[153]

The following is the edict of 20 April 1240, by means of which the
Duke of Brittany, John I the Red, upon the proposals of the parliament
of Brittany, expelled the Jews from his territories:

“To all those by whom the present letters may be read, John, Duke
of Brittany, Count of Richemont, greetings.

“Know that we, at the request of the bishops, abbots, barons and
vassals of Brittany, having carefully examined the interest of the
country, hereby expel all Jews from Brittany. Neither ourselves nor our
heirs will ever permit another Jew to set foot in our lands of Brittany,
and we shall not permit any of our subjects to have any Jews on their
lands.

“All debts contracted with Jews drawn up in Brittany, in any
manner and for any reason whatsoever, are hereby entirely remitted,
and we hereby issue a receipt for the same.

“All lands mortgaged to Jews, and all immovable or immovable
pledges held by the Jews shall be returned to the debtors or their heirs,
except for lands and other pledges which shall have been sold to
Christians by judgement of our court.

“No one shall be accused nor prosecuted for having killed a Jew.

“We pray and entreat in good faith and with all our power
Monseigneur the King of France to confirm by these letters the present
assise or ordinance, and we hereby provide surety for our father and for
ourselves, that the debts contracted in Brittany towards the Jews shall
never be paid on the lands of our father.

“The present edict, as written, has been sworn to by ourselves in
good faith, in obedience, to be maintained forever; if it ever happens
that we should happen to violate it, we, the bishops of Brittany together
or each one separately, shall be entitled to excommunicate us and place
an interdict on our lands located in their dioceses, notwithstanding any
privilege obtained, past or future, by ourselves.
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“What is more, we wish, and command, that our heirs who in future
may come to succeed us, when they shall have attained the lawful age,
shall faithfully commit themselves by oath to observe the present edict
as written here. The barons, vassals, and all others liable to swear
fidelity to the count of Brittany shall not swear the same, nor shall they
render homage to our heirs, as long as the latter, duly required by two
bishops or two barons at least in the name of the others, shall not have
sworn to keep the present edict faithfully. But this oath being sworn,
the barons and all those who owe fidelity to the Count of Brittany shall
henceforth swear fidelity and render homage immediately to our heirs.

“Executed at Ploérmel, Tuesday, before the Resurrection of Our
Lord, the year MCCXXXIX.[154]

The decree was strictly respected, and for centuries there were no
longer any Jews in Brittany.

At this time, at the other end of Europe, the Mongols and Tatars of
Genghis Khan were ravaging Russia and Poland, and extended their
incursions as far as Germany. Once again, the Jews played the “invader
card”. “The rumour spread”, writes Heinrich Graetz, “that the Jews of
Germany had betrayed their country, and that instead of supplying the
Mongols with poisoned foodstuffs, which they assured their ‘fellow
Germans’ that they had done, they attempted to supply them with huge
barrels filled with weapons. This accusation served as a pretext for
atrocious cruelties”.
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Saint Louis reigned in France starting in 1226. This king, who has been
popularised by history for his justice and good faith, quite naturally felt
a horror of Judaism.

There is a famous anecdote told by Saint Louis, as reported by
Joinville: _

“He [Saint Louis] told me that there was once a great disputation
between clergy and Jews at the monastery of Cluny. And there was at
Cluny a poor knight to whom the abbot gave bread at that place for the
love of God; and this knight asked the abbot to suffer him to speak the
first words, and they suffered him, not without dubiousness. So he rose,
and leant upon his crutch, and asked that they should bring to him the
greatest cleric and most learned master among the Jews; and they did
so. Then he asked the Jew a question, which was this: ‘Master,” said the
knight, ‘I ask you if you believe that the Virgin Mary, who bore God in
her body and in her arms, was a virgin mother, and is the mother of
God?’

“And the Jew replied that of all this he believed nothing. Then the
knight answered that the Jew had acted like a fool when — neither
believing in her, nor loving her — he had yet entered into her monastery
and house. ‘And verily,” said the knight, ‘you shall pay for it!’
Whereupon he lifted his crutch and smote the Jew near the ear, and beat
him to the earth. Then the Jews turned to flight, and bore away their
master, sore wounded. And so ended the disputation.

“The abbot came to the knight and told him he had committed a
deed of very great folly. But the knight replied that the abbot
committed a deed of greater folly in gathering people together for such
a disputation; for there were a great many good Christians there who,
before the disputation came to an end, would have gone away
misbelievers through not fully understanding the Jews. ‘And I tell you,’
said the king, ‘that no one, unless he be a very learned cleric, should
dispute with them; but a layman, when he hears the Christian law mis-
said should not defend the Christian law, unless it be he with his sword,
and with that he should pierce the mis-sayer in his guts, as far as the
sword will go.” ?[155]

This history of the knight of Cluny is told by King Louis himself,
who wished it to be exemplary for Christians: that unless you are a
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scholar, and a “very good one”, at that, you should never dispute with a
Jew, rather, you should stab him right through the guts, with your
sword. ‘

Saint Louis gave the order to organise a public debate between
Nicholas Donin and four rabbis, so as to confound the Jews. The four
defenders of the Talmud were Yehiel of Paris, Moise of Coucy, Juda
ben David of Melun, and Samuel ben Salomon of Chiteau-Thierry. The
debate was held on 25 June 1240, at the royal court, in the presence of
several bishops and Dominicans, and the Queen Mother, Blanche of
Castile.

The discussion revolved around these two points: does the Talmud
contain the blasphemies against God and assertions contrary to
morality? Does it contain blasphemies against Jesus? At this point,
Graetz writes: “After refuting various arguments produced against the
Talmud, Yehiel agreed that this compendium, in fact, contained attacks
on Jesus, son of Pantheras, but he stated that this personage had nothing
in common with the Jesus of Nazareth. Yehiel made his statement in
good faith, as the passage easily lent itself to error”.

The Talmud was obviously condemned, and, on 6 June 1242,
twenty-four cartfuls of copies of this nauseating work were publicly
burned in Paris.

“This painful event profoundly afflicted the Jews”, writes Graetz.
“Many of them celebrated this sad anniversary by fasting on that day
for many years”.

It was the first time since Justinian that laws had been passed
against the Talmud. In 1244, when Pope Innocent was informed that
the Jews might have saved a certain number of copies from the flames,
he ordered the King of France to proceed with new house searches.

Considering that the Talmud and other clandestine Hebrew books
incited the Jews to commit all sorts of crimes, the Pope, in the same
bull, ordered these works publicly burned “to confound the perfidy of
the Jews”. This extremely important bull, dated 9 July 1244, Impia
Jjudaeorum perfidia, says, word for word: “The impious perfidy of the
Jews [...] causes them to commit such enormities that they cause
stupefaction among those who hear of them and horror in those who
listen”.[156]

The Jews, as we have seen, were then constrained to wear a
distinctive sign. Saint Louis absolutely insisted that the Jews should be
easily recognisable by Christians, and imposed a heavy fine of 10 livres
tournois upon all Jews who failed to wear the rouelle. This mark did
not however prevent them from practising usury and the ruin of
Christians.
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The King also ordered the Jews of Languedoc to dedicate
themselves to the professions and honest trade, but they obviously
preferred lending at interest. The debtors, unable to free themselves
from debt, were obliged to sell their properties and ended up by
becoming the prisoners of their pitiless creditors.

Most of the councils of France held during this period thundered
against usury: the Council of Chiteau-Gontier in 1231, the two
Councils of Lyon in 1245 and 1247, those of Albi in 1254, Montpelier
in 1258, Sens in 1269, Arles and Poitiers in 1273, Avignon in 1282,
etc.

The Councils of Bézier, in 1246, and Albi, in 1254, prohibited
Christians from employing Jewish physicians. The Council of Vienna
of 1267 ordered that any Jew guilty of fornicating with a Christian
woman should be sentenced to a fine of 10 silver marks, and that the
woman involved be publicly whipped and banished in perpetuity from
the city.

In 1254, in the general ordinance for the reformation of morals,
Saint Louis ratified that which had previously been ordered by his
mother. He added that the Talmud was to be burned in conformity with
the prescriptions of Innocent IV. But Jewish usury resisted all the
king’s efforts. He eliminated one third of all debts contracted under
usurious contracts, accorded two periods for the payment of the rest,
and bailiffs were prohibited from arresting Christians in relation to
debts to Jews, or from forcing them to sell their patrimony.

“We wish the ordinance of the Jews to be kept as it is; that is: that
the Jews cease their usury, blasphemies, magic and sorcery, and that
their Talemus [Talmud] and other books, found to contain blasphemies,
should be burnt, and that Jews who do not wish to comply with these
prescriptions be expelled and that transgressors be faithfully punished;
and that all the Jews live by the work of the their hands or other needs
without usury”.[157]

This ordinance was enforced with extreme strictness. The authors
report that the Jews complained that they had never suffered such
persecution. In 1257 or 1258, Saint Louis once again decreed that the
usurious interest demanded by the Jews should be returned to those
who had paid it, or to their heirs.

These orders were insufficient, and recourse was had to yet another
act of authority. We see, by an act of Thibaud, king of Navarre and
count of Champagne, that King Louis and his son had secretly agreed
to arrest all the Jews in their domains on the same day in 1268.[158]
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The Neapolitan theologian Thomas of Aquinas (1225-1274), in his
Summa Theologica (II-11, q. 10, art. 8), formally established that “No
compulsion may be exercised against the Jews to bring them to believe,
because belief is a matter of the will. The will cannot be constrained.”

On the other hand, St. Thomas, aware of the danger represented by
the Jews in Christian society, professed that the Jews should be subject
to the authority of the Church “There is no other alternative except,
either expelling them from the country, or allowing them to live here
but subjecting them to hard servitude which binds their hands and
prevents them from causing so much evil.”

But for Saint Thomas, the words servi, servitus, do not have the
exclusive meaning attributed to these words today. They do not refer to
slavery properly speaking, but rather, a state of inferiority depriving the
Jews of several rights enjoyed by other citizens and subjecting them to
various burdens from which other citizens are exempt, for the express
purpose of preventing them from doing evil.[159]

“Do not associate with them except in cases of necessity, and even
then, only if you are firm in your faith”, he said. “Avoid entering into
relationships of familiarity if your religion is vacillating, and if nothing
compels you to see them” (Summa, question 10, article 10).

One of these writings is called De regime Iudaeorum. It is not, as
one might suppose, a general treatise on the subject, but a rather short
response to the Duchess of Brabant, Alix of Burgundy, whom he had
consulted on various points in 1261 and who had asked him for advice
on government following her husband’s death. To put her conscience at
ease, Alix consulted the great doctor of the Church.

Saint Thomas replied: “Lords are perfectly within their rights to
demand of the Jews any fee, since in principle, the very goods of the
Jews belong to them”.

He nevertheless recommended against irritating them by means of
excessive reprisals. They must be allowed to retain the necessities:
“Necessarium vitae subsidia eis nullatenus subtraantur”. He specified
that the word “necessary” should be interpreted broadly.

A bit further along, Saint Thomas stated that the princes should
constrain the Jews to earn their living by working, instead of enriching
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themselves through usury: “Your perplexity in this regard, as much as I
can conjecture, seems to me to increase the consequences of your first
question. In effect, you inform me that the Jews in your states only
possess what they have acquired through their detestable usurious
practices; hence, it follows that you are unaware that it is permitted to
demand something of them, while they should rather return what they
have thus extorted. Here is my answer on this point:

“It is obvious that the Jews would never lawfully be allowed to
keep the profits from their usurious dealings; therefore, if you
confiscate their profit, you cannot lawfully keep it yourself, unless it
proceeds from extortions of which you or your predecessors were the
victims. If it proceeds, on the contrary, from extortions practised
against other persons and you have seized it, you must return it to those
to whom the Jews themselves owe restitution; therefore, if there are
persons from whom the Jews have extorted sums by usury, these sums
should be returned to the interested victims; if there are none, the sums
should be applied to good works on the advice of the diocesan bishop
and men of recognised probity, or to objects of public utility, as long as
the need is pressing, and the general good so commands. And it would
even be permissible to demand restitution from the Jews a second time,
in conformity with the customs of your predecessors and with the
intention of using it as indicated above”.[160]

In conclusion, he recommended that the duchess apply the
provisions of the councils relating to the rouelle in her estates: “In all
Christian kingdoms and at all times, it must be possible to recognise the
Jews of both sexes as distinguished from citizens of the nation by
means of an exterior sign”. This was a wise piece of advice, which
permitted immediate identification of the fox in the henhouse.
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The king of Castile, Alphonse I, who reigned from 1252 to 1284,
promulgated several edicts against the Jews, based on Visigothic
legislation — “this poisonous source upon which the Spanish hatred of
the Jews was ceaselessly fed”, writes Heinrich Graetz. The Visigothic
code had been translated into Spanish on Alphonse’s order (1257—
1266). A chapter on the Jews was added, in which we read that “no Jew
may hold any public office or hold any public dignity in Spain”.

Alphonse X integrated into his code all the laws of exception which
the Byzantines and Visigoths had passed against the Jews, even adding
other restrictions. He ordered the Jews and Jewesses to wear a
distinctive sign on their hair, on pain of fine or flagellation for failure to
do so. Jews and Christians could not eat together, nor bathe together.

Alphonse X, known as Alphonse the Wise, also believed that the
Jews crucified a Christian child every year and renewed against them a
prohibition against appearing on the streets on Holy Friday. On the
other hand, he also prohibited Christians from profaning synagogues,
forcing Jews to undergo baptism, or to summon them into court on their
feast days. Alphonse X did not strictly enforce these laws, but they
were applied later and contributed to restraining the aggressiveness of
the Jews in Spain.

According to a census from the time, Castile had nearly 850,000
Jews at the time, who formed over 80 major communities in the region
at that time, the most important of which was at Toledo.

Aragon formed an independent kingdom, with Mallorca and Sicily.
The Jews there were not as free as in Castile. The King of Aragon,
Jayme (James) I, who possessed properties in the south of France and
who had frequent interviews with Saint Louis or his councillors,
enforced these laws more strictly.

His confessor, Raymond of Pefiaforte, a general in the order of the
Dominican friars, no doubt played a major role in all this decision
making. In the hope of converting all these Jews, Pefiaforte organised
schools where preacher monks dedicated themselves to the study of
Arabic and Hebrew and thus prepared themselves to fight the Jews with
greater success. He thus created a line of apologists who did not content
themselves with compiling passages from the Old Testament
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prefiguring the Trinity or prophecying the coming of the Messiah, but
who attempted to refute the rabbinical books and Talmudic assertions.

A Dominican, Pablo Christiani (Paul Christian) — a former Jew and
native of Montpelier — provoked the Jews into public controversies, in
the south of France and in other regions, to show them that their holy
books already announced the divinity of Jesus.

His superior, Raymond of Pefiaforte, determined to organize a
controversy between Pablo and one of the most famous rabbis of the
time, Nahman of Girona, at court. In 1623, King Jaime, conforming to
the desire of the general of the Dominicans, invited Nahman (known
under the name of Maitre Astruc de Porta), and several other rabbis, to
come take part in a public colloquium at Barcelona.

For four days, starting on 20 July, Nahman and Pablo Christiani
confronted each other on the subject of the divinity of Jesus. The
dispute (disputatio) was held in the palace of the sovereign, in the
presence of the entire court, high dignitaries of the Church, the nobility
and the people.[161]

The pro-Judaism advocate was finally banished, and Pablo
Christiani was sent to preach to the Jews in the principal cities of the
kingdom, with authorisation to gather the Jews together wherever he
thought necessary, and the right to seize all their books. Assisted by
several religious persons, Father Christiani undertook his mission with
great zeal.

These books were used by the Dominican Raymond Martin
(Martini) in composing the treatises Capistrum Judeorum (Muzzle for
the Jews), and above all the Pugio fidei (The Dagger of the Faith). The
latter work, published in 1278, was the most widely sold. It was
studied, consulted, and plagiarised, too. The author, a man familiar with
Hebrew, Arabic, Chaldean and Syrian, shows vast erudition. Martini
knew Hebrew better than Saint Jerome, and was very well versed in
Biblical and rabbinical literature. He had studied the Talmudic
haggodot, the writings of Raschi, of Ibn Ezra, Maimonides, and Kimbhi.
He fought the Jews with their own weapons, that is, with the Mosaic
law and the Talmud. His enormous in-folio is sprinkled with Hebrew
quotations, and the diffuse hair-splitting which accompanied them
show that the author had attended the schools of those same rabbis
whose most violent antagonist he had since become. He criticised the
rabbis for teaching — among other things — that Jews were authorised to
kill goyim. It is true that the Avodazara treatise says the goyim should
be left in any pits which they might happen to have fallen into, and that
minims (Jewish heretics), traitors and apostates should be thrown in

there, t00.[162]
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Another convert, Jerome de Saint-Fois, making the same criticism
of the Jews, cited a passage from rabbi Simeon, son of Rabbi Joanhia,
who claimed that it was better to kill the best of the Christians, the way
one crushes the head of the best of the scorpions.[163]

If the situation of the Jews was merely “rather good” in Castile at
this time, Graetz tells us, it was “highly satisfactory” in the young
kingdom of Portugal, under the reign of Alphonse III (1248-1279) and
Denis (1279-1325). The Jews there were not obliged to pay the tithes
to the Catholic clergy or to wear the rouelle, and could even hold the
highest dignities. King Denis even had a Jewish minister, named Judah,
who was also the head of Portuguese Judaism. On several occasions,
the Church attempted to subject the Jews of Portugal to canon law.
King Denis finally agreed to allow the introduction into his kingdom of
the restrictive legislation drawn up by the Papacy against the Jews, but
he most often neglected to apply them.
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At the end of the 13th century, the Jews enjoyed sufficient liberties in
Poland to exercise their domination over Christian Poles. The Boleslas
Charter, signed at Kalisz in 1264 (and confirmed in 1343 at Cracow by
King Casimir), granted them complete freedom of action. The Jews
there were rich and powerful, masters of nearly all trade.[164]

In a few adjacent regions, there were similar provisions. In Silesia,
the Duke of Breslau, Henry IV, who had been completely corrupted by
Jewish financiers, also assured the Jews of governmental protection for
their persons, their goods, their religion, their schools and their
speculations. It was even prohibited to proffer the banal accusation of
infanticide against them, unless the charge could be supported by the
testimony of three Christians and three Jews. If the accuser could not
prove it, he incurred the penalty which would otherwise have been
suffered by the guilty Jew.

In Moravia, the Jews were protected by special laws, as in Silesia
and Poland. Ottocar II, King of Bohemia and Margrave of Moravia,
promulgated these special laws were in 1254, The Jews enriched
themselves and, as everywhere else, all bourgeois money passed
through their hands. Everything was in hock to them, even the mitre of
the Abbot of Trebisch. The bourgeois, the people and the clergy of this
city quickly became exasperated and the Jews were expelled.[165]

In 1267, after the council of Vienna, Ottocar finally took salutary
measures, renewing all the old restrictions by the states of Lower
Austria. He ordered them to wear a particular costume, with a high and
broad piece of headwear, probably the pointed hat. They were
prohibited from building new synagogues, or enlarging and
embellishing the old ones; they were prohibited from employing
Christian workers or domestic servants, from occupying public offices,
from practising medicine and from selling foodstuffs and drinks. The
Christians and Jews were never to intermingle, at meals, markets,
baths, or weddings. Catholic parish priests were assigned responsibility
for pronouncing upon complaints concerning excessive usury, and for
receiving a tax payable by Jews to Christians, as in indemnity,
wherever they lived. Finally, if a Jew had carnal knowledge of a
Christian, he would be punished by imprisonment and a fine of at least
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ten marks, while the Christian woman would be whipped and chased
out of town.[166]

Jews occupied numerous public offices in Hungary. They
controlled salt farming, taxes and often lands. Bela IV, King of
Hungary (1235-1270) maintained against them in their offices and
even introduced into his own country the regulations of Frederick the
Quarrelsome of Austria and Styria, who protected the Jews against
popular violence and accorded them special jurisdiction.

After intervention of the Papacy, this situation changed suddenly.
Legions of Dominicans and Franciscans invaded the regions of the
Carpathians, partly to preach a Crusade against the Mongols, and partly
to bring the schismatics of the Greek Church back under Papal
jurisdiction as well.

Under their leadership, the prelates of Hungary and southern
Poland met at the synod of Ofen (Budapest, formerly called Ofen-
Pesth), in September 1279), under the presidency of the papal legate,
promulgating restrictive laws against the Jews of Hungary, Poland,
Dalmatia, Croatia, Slavonia and Galicia.

It was prohibited to rent anything of any nature whatever to the
Jews or to entrust them with public offices. The synod of Ofen also
obliged the Jews of Hungary to wear a piece of orange cloth in the form
of a wheel, on the left side of the breast.

But the anti-Jewish measures of the Christians were not applied
very strictly. It was only fifty years later, that the last king of the
families of Arpad, Ladislas IV, gave these edicts the force of law.

153



53. Pointed Hats and Ritual Murders

53
Pointed Hats and Ritual Murders

In Germany, after the death of Emperor Frederick II, in 1250, a struggle
exploded between the Guelphs, partisans of the Pope, and the
Ghibellines, partisans of the Emperor. During the power vacancy, until
the election of Emperor Rudolph of Habsburg in 1273, the Jews no
longer enjoyed the security guaranteed by the prince’s authority. The
common people revenged themselves for all the humiliations they had
been forced to suffer at the hands of the Jews, who were murdered by
the thousands.

Every year, there were new massacres in Wissembourg,
Magdeburg, Arnstadt, Coblenz, Sinzig, Erfurth, and many other cities
in Germany. The anti-Semites proudly called themselves Judenbrditer,
Jew-roasters.

The Council of Vienna in 1267, presided over by a papal legate,
decided that, instead of the rouelle, the Jews should wear a pointed hat
or a hat shaped like a horn, a Judenhut. The Council, as we have seen,
recalled all precedent measures and ordered the Christians to conform
to them. He added the prohibition against attending Jewish games and
that of buying meat from them.

Ritual murder accusations regularly triggered popular riots. One
day in 1234, the body of a Christian was found in the vicinity of Baden,
between Lauda and Bischofsheim. Trial proceedings were brought
against eight members of the Jewish community, who were executed on
2 and 3 January 1235.

In 1283, around Easter, the body of a Christian infant was found on
the banks of the Rhine, near Mayence. The archbishop of the city,
Werner, Archchancellor of the Empire, attempted in vain to calm the
crowd by proposing to open an inquiry and summon the defendants
before a regular court. But the Christians, driven mad, fell upon the
Jews on the second day of Easter Week, killed a dozen of them and
pillaged numerous houses. The archbishop’s intervention put an end to
the disorders. The same day, in the neighbouring city of Bacharach, 26
Jews had their throats cut.

Two years later, in 1285, the body of a Christian child was found at
Munich. The populace, once again, revenged themselves for this crime.
The Jews who were able to escape the fury of the crowd sought refuge
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in the synagogue. Their assailants piled flammable materials all around
the building, which was then set alight. 180 Jews were burned alive.

Goyishe vengeance was again exacted in 1286 at Boppard and at
Oberwesel, near Bacharach, where 42 Jews were killed after the
discovery of the body of a man nicknamed “Good Werner” by the
people.

The Jews offered to pay Rudolph of Habsburg 20,000 silver marks
if he agreed to punish the rioters at Oberwesel and Boppard and to
protect the Jews against the violence of the people. Rodolph agreed to
the conditions but his protection was never sufficient, and, in the spring
of 1286, the Jews from several German communities decided to
emigrate. At Mayence, Worms, Spire, Oppenheim and other cities,
numerous Jewish families abandoned all their goods and left for
Palestine. The rumour was in fact going around that the Messiah had
appeared in that country and was about to free the “children of Israel”.
Above all, they learned that the members of the sect lived happily in
Syria, under the domination of a Mongol sovereign, who, writes
Graetz, “even showed more respect for the Jews than the Moslems and
had conferred high offices upon them”.

The collusion of the Jews and Mongols was public knowledge,
since in Germany, in the 17th century, William Prynne, a prolific
author, contented himself with remarking how the Jews in Germany, in
the year 1241, had rendered themselves guilty of intelligence with the
enemy by attempting to arm the Tatars to destroy the Christians.[167]

In France, during the Jewish Passover of 1288, the body of a
Christian was found at the home of one of the notables of the Jewish
community of Troyes named Isaac Chatelain. The inquiry was carried
out by the Franciscan and Dominican friars, and, on 24 April, 13 Jews,
most of them from the Chatelain family, were burnt at the stake.
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Confronted with this repression, certain Jews pretended to convert to
Christianity, with a view to continuing their past work of slowly
destroying Christianity. One of the Popes who struggled with the
greatest energy against crypto-Judaism was Nicholas IV. In his bull of
5 September 1288, entitled Turbato corde, he commanded the
Inquisitors, clerics and secular authorities to pursue the marranos
relentlessly, as well as those who defended them:

“Against the heretics, as well as those who favour them, one should
proceed relentlessly. As for the Jews who may have coaxed Christians
of the two sexes into their execrable rites, they should receive an even
stiffer penalty”.[168]

This bull was one of the firmest foundations of the Church’s
struggle against the Jewish fifth column which was infiltrating
Christianity and against the carriers of heresies and their protectors. It
was in fact enough to come to the defence of a crypto-Jew or a heretic
to fall into the scope of action of the pontifical Inquisition.

As long as the Popes firmly supported the provisions of this bull
and the canons of the Lateran Councils, it was very difficult for the
Jews to penetrate the Christian citadel. It was only when Martin V and
Leo X despised what had been ordered that the synagogue could
succeed in tearing Christianity in pieces.

156



55. Edward I and the Expulsion from England, 1290

55
Edward I and the Expulsion from England, 1290

In England, King Henry III Plantagenet (1227—-1272), the son of King
John and Isabelle of Angouléme, favoured the immigration of Jews and
protected them against the common people.

In 1225, a general clamour arose in the kingdom: at Lincoln, a 10-
year-old child, who had disappeared a few days earlier, was found dead
in a cesspool. According to the chronicler of the time, Matthew Paris, a
number of Jews were massacred by the mob, and on 25 August 1255,
the Jew found guilty for this crime by a court was tortured and
hanged.[169] His Jewish neighbours were arrested on the same charge
and conducted to London. Eighteen of them were hanged, and the
others acquitted. The child whom they had killed is known as Hugh of
Lincoln.[170]

In 1263 and 1264, a revolt of the barons took place against King
Henry III of England, led by Simon VI de Montfort, Count of Leicester.
The Jews were accused of serving as the tools of royal oppression, and
the communities of London, Cambridge, Canterbury and Lincoln were
convulsed by riots. At Worcester, Simon de Montfort expelled all the
Jews from their lands after declaring all outstanding debts to them null
and void. At London, in 1264, more than 500 Jews were massacred;
their houses pillaged and their synagogues destroyed.[171]

The Jews had already been expelled from various cities by the time
of the reign of Henry III: the citizens of Newcastle in 1234 and those of
Derby in 1260-1261 even purchased the right to prohibit the Jews from
residing among them.[172]

Starting with the first year of the reign of Edward (1272-1307), son
of Henry III and Eleanor of Provence, the king prohibited them from
building synagogues, from possessing fiefs and other freehold land.
The Statutum de judaismo of 1275 prohibited them from lending at
usury, but some Jews attempted to evade its prohibitions. Better luck
next time: 293 of them were hanged at London for violating the royal
interdict.

It was soon discovered that counterfeit money was circulating in
England and that the country’s silver pennies were often clipped. The
reaction of King Edward I was exemplary. On Friday 17 November
1278, all the Jews of the country, men, women, and children, were
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thrown into prison and inquiries were opened. Nearly 300 Jews found
guilty of altering the coinage were hanged; others were condemned to
life imprisonment, while others, finally, were expelled from the country
and deprived of all their goods.

The ignominies committed by the Jews multiplied exponentially.
After the murder of a Christian child at Northampton, the guilty parties
were arrested at London, quartered on 2 April 1279, and their bodies
hanged from a gibbet.

One of the most remarkable intellects of the time, the Scottish
theologian Duns Scotus (1266-1308), at that time a professor at
Oxford, stood out by reason of openly stating his opinion on the best
way to annihilate Judaism. Duns Scotus was the pride of the Franciscan
order, and had a profound influence upon William of Ockham. The
“subtle doctor” (doctor subtilis) went even further than Saint Thomas,
in proposing a solution to the Jewish problem based on the complete
destruction of the sect. ‘

In reply to the question, “Should one baptise infant Jews against the
will of their parents?”, the canonists and theologians of the 13th
century, headed by Saint Thomas, responded in the negative. For his
part, Duns Scotus thought it the duty of the king to kidnap Jewish
children from their parents and baptise them.[173]

With regards to the argument of the necessary preservation of the
Jewish people, in the expectation of their conversion at the end of time,
the Franciscan believed that “it was sufficient to preserve a small
number, kept separate on an island”.

In November 1286, the new Pope, Honorius IV, in a letter
addressed to his legate and the archbishop of York, ordered measures to
be taken. On 16 April 1287, the ecclesiastics met in synod at Exeter and
decided to reintroduce all the measures decreed against the Jews by the
councils. Fifteen days afterwards, on King Edward’s orders, all the
Jews in England were thrown in prison, but rather promptly released in
return for a large sum of money, 12,000 pounds sterling.

The year 1290 should have been a reassuring, even happy, year for
the Jews. Abulafia, an illuminated cabbalist who considered himself a
prophet of Israel, conceived the strange project of converting the Pope
to Judaism. Pope Nicholas III ordered him arrested and imprisoned.
Only the Pope’s sudden death saved the cabbalist’s life. Abulafia then
left for Sicily. There, he no longer contented himself with his role as a
prophet, but now declared himself the Messiah in person: God had
revealed certain secrets to Abulafia, announcing the commencement of
messianic delivery. This happy period, according to him, was to open
in the year 1290.
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But the year 1290 was not the right year. At Prague, this same year,
an anti-Jewish insurrection spread rapidly all across Bohemia, Moravia
and Germany, and massacres were committed which the authorities
were unable to contain. There was talk of 10,000 deaths. It was one of
the bloodiest reactions ever experienced by the Jews since their
infiltration of Europe.

In England, through the decree of 18 July 1290, Edward I expelled
all the Jews from his kingdom, on his own authority, without consulting
Parliament. The date, according to Heinrich Graetz, coincided with the
9th day of the month of Av, the date upon which the Jews
commemorated the destruction of the Temple of Jerusalem. They were
granted the right to convert their property into liquid cash by the month
of November; after this time, those found on the territory would be
hanged. But first, they were to return to their owners all pledges and
collateral in hock to them from Christians.

King Edward nevertheless prohibited his officers from mistreating
them upon their departure and from extorting money from them in the
ports of embarkation. Finally, on 9 October, 16,511 Jews left England.
Any goods which they had been unable to sell were confiscated by the
King,

Graetz recounts that, despite the royal prohibition, a ship captain
played them a nasty trick: “Although he had promised to transport
several families down the Thames to the high seas, he disembarked
them on a sand bank at low tide, and left them there, awaiting the high
tides; and when these unfortunates, surrounded by the waves, begged
him to save them, he told them to remember Moses, who had protected
their ancestors from the waves of the Red Sea. All these families were
drowned”.

The Jews of Guyenne, at that time an English province in south-
western France, were included in the general proscription. They went to
France, where Philip the Fair first authorised them to settle. But Philip
soon changed his mind, and, with the consent of Parliament, decreed
that the Jewish exiles from England and Guyenne would have to leave
France by the third Thursday in Lent.
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Persia at that time was under the yoke of the Mongols, led by the Khan
Agrun. His physician, a Jew named Saad-Addaula, had drawn his
sovereign’s attention to acts of embezzlement committed by certain
officials, thus gaining the prince’s trust. At the start of the year 1288,
Saad-Addaula was sent to Baghdad to audit the city’s accounts, and, on
his return, at the summer palace, he was raised to the dignity of
Ministry of Finances.

As the Khan didn’t like the Moslems, Saad-Addaula entrusted the
highest offices to Christians and Jews, “and naturally”, writes Graetz,
“he particularly favoured his friends and his relatives”. Little by little,
he inspired such confidence that no major affair of state was handled
without his assistance. It was no doubt on his advice that Argun opened
diplomatic relations with Europe, with a view to forcing the Moslems
to withdraw somewhat, particularly from Palestine. The Christians even
hoped that the Khan would convert to Christianity.

The Moslems, excluded from all public employment, conceived an
implacable hatred for the Jewish minister. A sect of brigands, the
assassins, founded especially to kill the enemies of Islam, resolved to
put him to death with all his family, but the plot failed.

Saad-Addaula aroused a lot of hatred due to his arrogance,
including among the Mongols. Thus, when Argun fell ill, in November
1290, all the malcontents allied themselves against the Minister. In
March 1291, when they saw that the Khan was definitely going to die,
they hastened to kill the Jewish minister with his favourites and sent
messengers to the various provinces to arrest all of Saad-Addaula’s
relatives, to confiscate their property and reduce their women and
children into slavery.

“The Moslems went even further”, writes Graetz. “They assaulted
all Jews without distinction, massacring them all. At Baghdad, the Jews
defended themselves forcefully and killed a great many number of their
attackers.”

During the following generation, the theologian Qayyim Al-
Jawziya (1292—-1350), author of sixty books, wrote:

“As to the nation which excites divine anger, it is the Jews, the
nation of lies and perfidy, of swindling, trickery and subterfuges.”
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At Bern, in 1294, a new case of ritual murder resulted in the expulsion
of the Jews, after which, the municipality erected a monument with a
significant name: Kinderfresserbrunnen, the well of the child-eaters.

The same year, the Jews fled Zurich after having to pay a fine of
1,500 florins. 38 Jews were thrown into burning pyres at Schaffhausen
and Winterthur, and those who escaped the flames sought refuge
outside Switzerland.[174]

During the civil war that broke out in Germany between Adolf of
Nassau and Albert of Austria, a gentleman named Rindfleisch, a native
of a small city in Franconia named Réttingen, resolved to ignore the
restrictions of Church doctrine and undertook to exterminate the Jews.
This episode was triggered by a story of desecrated hosts.

On 20 April 1298, Rindfleisch began by burning all the local Jews.
Under his leadership, the exasperated Christians went from town to
town, recruiting new adepts on the way, and killing all the Jews that fell
into their hands.

On 24 July, the entire Jewish community of Wiirtzburg was
massacred. At Nuremberg, the Jews, having taken refuge in the city
fortress, defended themselves courageously. But on 1 August, the
fortress was taken and all the Jews were pitilessly massacred. In
Bavaria, only two communities escaped Christian vengeance: that of
Regensburg and that of Augsburg.

From Bavaria to Franconia, the Rindfleisch rebellion spread to
Austria. In the space of six months, they destroyed over 146
communities and — at least according to Graetz — killed over 100,000
Jews. This was the first real genocide in Europe. The Jews were in a
trance, waiting to be massacred, which would have happened without
the death of Emperor Rudolf and the ascension to the throne of Albert,
who put an end to the civil war. The new emperor took vigorous
measures to restore order in the country, punished those who had
mistreated Jews and imposed fines on cities having participated in the
violence. :
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The King of France, Philip the Fair — Philip IV (1268-1314) —
distinguished himself in particular through the firmness of his policies
with regards to the Jews. The following is one of his edicts from July
1291, concerning the situation in Poitou.

“Philip, King of the Franks by the grace of God, to all those reading
these presents, greetings.

“Having learned through the relation of a great number of very
trustworthy men that the territory of Poitevin is being inhumanely
exploited and absolutely crushed by a considerable quantity of Jews
practising criminal usury and all sorts of illicit commerce; desiring to
oversee the happiness of the inhabitants of this territory and comply
with the wish which they have come to me to express in many different
ways: we hereby instruct all prelates, canons, abbots, priors, colleges,
cities, municipalities, barons and other temporal lords of the seneschal
of Poitiers, as well as all those who govern men and all those who are
dependent upon them, that the Jews are hereby expelled in perpetuity
and irrevocably from the said bailiwick. We shall not at any time
permit them to take up lodgings here nor to stay here; we order that
they be expelled and by our seneschal before the Nativity of the
Blessed Virgin Mary”.[175]

In 1299, he renewed the order of Saint Louis which provided for
the restitution of usurious profits extorted by the Jews. In 1304, by
means of a convention signed with the Duke of Burgundy, Philip again
prohibited his officers from receiving complaints from Jewish usurers
of the Duchy and from prosecuting Burgundians whom the Duke had
dispensed from the reimbursement of loans contracted with the
Jews.[176]

Philip soon decided to finish with the Jews and crushed all
opposition capable of threatening royal authority. He began by
attacking the Jews themselves, before concerning himself with the
Knights Templar. During the summer of 1306, he secretly ordered all
his officials, high and low, to arrest and imprison all the Jews in France
on the same day. On the morning of 22 July, all the Jews were arrested
by the king’s men and thrown in prison. The order was carried out on
the day after the anniversary of the destruction of the Temple of
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Jerusalem (9 Av, in the Jewish calendar); the Jews had not yet
recovered from the trials of the fast which they had observed in
commemoration of the event. They were informed that their goods
were forfeit and that they were granted one month in which to prepare
to quit the kingdom. After the cutoff date, those who had not left
France were to run the risk of being killed.

Heinrich Graetz affirms that Philip the Fair took this course of
action “to replenish the royal treasury”. But a bit further along, we read
in the same text: “Philip the Fair pretended that the Jews had attracted
this punishment as a result of their crimes”. Graetz, quite obviously,
does not describe or specify the crimes involved; but nevertheless feels
sorry for his fellow Jews: “None of these unfortunates, neither the poor
nor the rich, were left with anything but the clothes on his back, and
enough food for one day. The gold, silver and precious stones of the
Jews were transported to the king by the cartload; the rest of their
property was sold at risible prices”.

The king showed so much contempt for the victims of banishment
that he gave his coachman the synagogue which the Jews of Paris had
owned in the Rue de la Tacherie. Several years before, he had already
condemned the Jews of Paris to a fine of 300 livres for singing too
loudly in their synagogue.[177]

Their debtors were at first granted a term of 20 years in which to
pay their debts. The auditors had great difficulty in making sense of this
labyrinth of debts, agreements and contracts, most of them illegal,
signed between Jewish creditors and Christian debtors. Facilities were
accorded to the debtors who would denounce themselves, but few of
them were simple enough to reveal the debts which they had contracted
in secret.

The Jews then offered to reveal the exact situation of their debts if
they were authorised to return. A few of them were allowed to return,
but, in drawing up a balance sheet of their assets, they bribed the royal
auditors and started lending usuriously all over again.

The list of their debtors which they presented contained so many
widows, orphans and poor people who denied their obligations, that the
King, not daring to despoil these unfortunates, rejected the declarations
of the Jews as false and libellous, and ordered them to leave the
kingdom immediately. He dismissed the auditors for their conduct, and
ordered them to come to Paris to render an accounting of their actions,
simultaneously prohibiting the authorities from searching for any more
debts owed to Jews or from pressing for payment, unless they were
obvious and of little value.[178]

In the month of September, nearly 100,000 Jews left France. At
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Troyes, Paris, Sens, Chinon, Orleans, and many other cities, royal
auditors were responsible for auctioning off their houses, synagogues
and schools, bringing in considerable revenue,

Most of them settled in the adjacent regions, such as Lorraine,
Alsace, Savoy, Dauphine, Provence — a part of which had already been
placed under the sovereignty of the Holy Roman Empire — as well as
Roussillon. ‘

Emperor Albert protected the Jews who came seeking refuge in
Germanic lands; and when new popular uprisings occurred in
Franconia, Swabia and Bavaria, the sovereign offered them asylum and
punished the rioters.[179] It must be said that the Jews were, for the
emperors, a profitable property, like real estate. They spoke of them in
this sense in their public pronouncements and expressed themselves
very imperiously of their alleged ownership rights to all the Jews in the
Empire.

In Gascony, the king of England, Edward II, on the complaints
received regarding the excesses of the usurers, commanded the Jews to
leave his States in 1314. The order probably was not carried out to the
letter but there were so many edicts of this kind, since he renewed it
over 30 years later, declaring that his express will was that the Jews
should be banished.[180]

A particular class remained in France: the converted Jews. For the
most part, they were very dubious Christians, and it sufficed for them
to come into close relations with their former fellow Jews to cause
them to abandon their new faith and réturn to the faith and customs of
their fathers. But the Inquisition was there to supervise the flock of the
faithful. Apostasy was a crime equivalent to heresy, and those who
intended to become Jews again were pitilessly persecuted.
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The banishment of the Jews didn’t last long. In 1315, in fact, Philip the
Fair’s successor, Louis X the Quarreller, who only reigned for two
years, readmitted the Jews into the kingdom so as to finance the war in
Flanders,[181] and this, for a term of 12 years, with the promise that if
the king decided to expel them after this period of time, he would warn
them a year in advance. Despite the protests which exploded all over
France, their recall went ahead. Jewish auditors, appointed by the king,
were charged with giving all those who desired to return letters
containing an indication of the place where they wished to live.

When one year later, after the death of Louis X, his brother Philip
V, known “the Tall”, succeeded him, he confirmed and even extended
the privileges of the Jews, protecting them quite especially against the
attacks of the clergy and decreeing that only royal officials would have
the right to confiscate their goods and their ledgers. A public act fixed
their rights and obligations and assured them of a tolerable existence.
Here are the two principal articles: they must live by the work of their
hands or the sale of good merchandise; they may lend at interest, but
without practising usury. Their old debts would be paid; they would
receive a third, and the king would receive the other two thirds (perhaps
this article was one of the principal reasons for their recall; they could
not be prosecuted for whatever had happened prior to their return. No
lord could tolerate any outside Jews on his lands, i.e., any Jews apart
from his own Jewish subjects. Their old privileges would be restored,
and they would be permitted to repurchase their synagogues and
cemeteries at the market price. Those of their books which had not been
sold would be returned, except for the Talmud, which remained
condemned by the Church.[182]

Still common in the 13th century, “show” theological disputations
disappeared in the 14th century. The Talmud was no longer disputed;
rather, it was burnt. In Delamare’s monumental work, Traité de la
police, published four centuries later, in 1705, we read that the treaty of
June 1315 states “that all the books of their law shall be returned, with
the exception of the Talmud, since this book is abominable [...] A tissue
of innumerable indignities, this work contains, in addition to a
multitude of abominations, curses and horrible imprecations proffered
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each day by the perfidious and ungrateful Jews against the Christians
and their exercises of devotion. This impious book, worthy of all
anathemata, shall be seized”.[183]

The Jews could therefore have dedicated themselves to trade, and
even legal lending, in compliance with the privileges which they had
just received. The lessons they had received should have taught them
extreme circumspection. But they persisted in their stubbornness, and
complaints concerning their usury never ceased. The same year in
which Philip the Tall confirmed their privileges, it became necessary to
repress the usury of the Jews of Montpelier and oblige them to wear the
“Jew mark”. The king’s parliament even imposed a contribution of
1,500,000 (one and a half million) livres — an enormous sum at the time
—upon the entire Jewish nation of the kingdom, as a fine.[184]

Upon their return to France, the Jews had learned nothing. A case
of ritual murder occurred at Chinon in 1317. Another case of ritual
murder occurred at Saint-Quentin. The Jews of Lunel, in Languedoc,
were condemned for parodying the Passion and desecrating a cross in
1319.

In 1319, on the instigation of the Inquisitor Bernard Gui,
ecclesiastics burnt two cartloads of copies of the Talmud at Toulouse.
The following year, Pope John XXII, son of a middle-class family from
Cahors, who became Pope in 1316, promulgated a bull, Cum sit
absurdum, once again condemning the Talmud. A riot broke out in Puy
in 1320, after another ritual murder accusation.[185]. That same year,
the revolt of the Pastorals broke out.

After a pilgrimage to Mont St. Michel, groups of Michelets,
essentially, young peasants from the north of France, organised
themselves to depart on a Crusade. This popular movement was
supported by inflammatory sermons by an apostate Benedictine and a
priest. Travelling in large gangs, these Pastorals converged upon Paris,
which they entered on 3 May 1320. Five days later, advised of this
uncontrolled, subversive movement, Pope John XXII' promulgated the
excommunication of all those departing on Crusades without pontifical
authorisation.

After a few pogroms, the Pastorals were convinced to leave Paris.
A troop of 40,000 Pastorals marched from town to town, banners
flying. A singular assemblage of shepherds and peasants, they spread
like a torrent throughout France, ravaging everything in their passage.
Far from diminished by the obstacles which they encountered en route,
on the contrary, their multitudes were ceaselessly on the increase.

At the beginning of the month of June, they traversed Saintonge
and Périgord, which they devastated and pillaged, recruiting new
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followers as they passed. More and more numerous, they entered
Guyenne.

Having arrived in the region of Agen, they divided into two groups.
Nearly 500 of them entered Jaca and savagely killed the Jews of
Montclus before directing themselves towards Pamplona, capital of
Navarre. Jaime III of Aragon put an end to their exploits by sending his
son, Alphonse, to annihilate them.

The second group travelled up the valley of the Garonne,
massacring the Jews as they went. These settlements of account
extended throughout the entire region, from Bordeaux to Albi, Foix and
other cities in the south of France. More than 100 Jewish communities
were thus destroyed in Gascony.

Pierre Reymond de Comminges, who had just been appointed
archbishop of Toulouse, wrote to the Pope requesting assistance and
advice. The Pope then accused the king of France of irresponsibility
and expressed his astonishment to his legate, Gaucelme, “that Your
Royal Highness should so gravely have neglected to repress the
excesses and the pernicious example of the Pastorals, who should rather
be called wolves, rapacious and homicidal, whose manner of procedure
gravely offend His Divine Majesty, dishonouring the royal power and
preparing, for the entire kingdom, inexpressible dangers if they are not
stopped”.

On 25 June, the Pastorals attacked the Jews of Albi and Toulouse.
The governor of Toulouse ordered his knights to arrest them. Many of
them were conveyed into this city and thrown in prison, but the
common people freed them and then attacked and massacred the Jews.

The Pastorals, in fact, met with popular complicity everywhere they
went.

Four days later, they were at the gates of Carcassonne, where the
royal army was awaiting them. Placed under the command of Aimeric
de Cros, the senechal of Languedoc, the royal forces were reinforced by
troops loyal to young Gaston II of Foix-Bearn. It was there that the
Pastorals were crushed.

The survivors fled towards the region of Narbonne. The consuls,
warned by the senechal, prepared to defend the city. The Pope wrote to
the archbishop Bernard de Fargues advising him to do the same. The
roads and passes were barred, and all persons running away or remotely
resembling a Pastoral were hanged. In the fall of 1320, there wasn’t a
single Pastoral left in the region.

The remaining Jews did not appear to have learned a thing. In 1321,
the communities of the bailiwick of Carcassonne officially asked King
Philip the Tall to expel the Jews, due to their usury and extortions.
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They were also accused of pimping and blasphemy: “They debauch
Christian women, abuse their insolvent debtors, and insult the Christian
religion”.[186]

This year, Edward II, king of England, and Duke of Aquitaine,
hastened to write to the seneschal of Gascony to demand the goods of
the massacred Jews. “These goods”, wrote the sovereign coldly,
“belong to us, and not to other persons”.[187]

The Jews revenged themselves for their persecution by poisoning
wells. In 1321, many of them were arrested, tortured and burnt for this
crime. At Chinon, 163 Jews were burned in two days. The authorities
dug a ditch, lit a great fire and threw the Jews into the flames, both men
and women,

At Vitry-le-Frangois, 40 Jews locked up in jail were killed. Graetz
estimated that as a result of this accusation — poisoning the wells —
nearly 5,000 Jews paid with their lives. For the historian Léon
Poliakov, obviously, this was all simply a ‘“new myth”, which created
the “legend of the Jewish well-poisoners”.[188] The Jews of France
were nonetheless sentenced to a fine of 150,000 livres for poisoning
wells.

In the Brabant, anti-Semitic insurgents laid siege to Genappe,
which was full of Jews. Duke John II vigorously repelled the assaults,
supported by the pontifical court of Avignon, which approved the
firmness of the Duke of Brabant. In the same region, at Mons, in 1326,
a converted Jew was accused of striking an image of the Virgin, painted
on a wall of the Abbot of Cambron. The Jew was seized and put to the
torture. Nevertheless, since he persisted in proclaiming his innocence,
despite his torment, the torture was stopped. It was at this moment that
a blacksmith claimed to have had a dream in which he was assigned the
mission of revenging the Virgin, and offered to fight the Jew. A closed
field was designated at the gate of Mons and a crowd streamed out to
watch the spectacle which was about to be held for their edification.
The two champions entered the lists, each one equipped with a cudgel.
The blacksmith got the better of the Jew, who died on the spot. The
body was then hung by the feet, upside down, and a fire lit underneath,
slowly consuming the remains.[189]
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Navarre had been integrated into France in 1285, through the marriage
of Jeanne de Navarre and Philip the Fair. “In Navarre, which had been
part of France for half a century”, writes Heinrich Graetz, “hatred of
Jews raged with this bitter violence which had never yet been seen in
Germany”.

The death of Charles IV, in the month of February, and the power
vacancy, encouraged disturbances. On 5 March 1328, a Sabbath, the
signal of attack was given by the inhabitants of Estella. The inhabitants
of the city, incited by the Franciscan Don Peter Olygoyen, as well as
bands of “Jew killers” from elsewhere, took the Jewish quarter by
storm and the inhabitants were massacred. All over Navarre, mobs
assaulted the Jews and there was carnage.

More than 6,000 Jews were liquidated. Only the community of
Pamplona, capital of Navarre, seems to have avoided being attacked by
Christians.

With Philip VI began the reign of the dynasty of the Valois. Hardly
having just ascended the throne, the new king imposed fines on all the
villages and cities involved, ranging from 200 livres (Viana) to 10,000
livres (Estella). Peter de Ohgoyen s brother was imprisoned under the
bishop’s guard.
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The centre of Jewish activity at the time was in Spain. The brilliant
business deals pulled off by the Jews in administering the finances of
the kingdom, the harshness and contempt with which they treated the
Christians, as well as their haughtiness, soon aroused the hatred of
grandees, prelates and populace, who allied themselves against the rich
and powerful financiers. People were only waiting for a favourable
opportunity to settle accounts. The alliance first saw the light of day in
the Cortes (representative assembly) of Madrid in 1309. People were
complaining of Hebrew treasurers and speaking of the need to deprive
the Jews of control over financial affairs.

In 1315, the Cortes of Burgos resolved that the tax collectors would
be chosen from bourgeois notables of the various localities, and that
they could not be nobles, nor priests, nor Jews. At the council of
Valladolid, in 1322, the clergy decreed that the ancient canons of the
Church should be applied, excluding Jews from public office.[190]

But the decisions of the councils of the Church were hardly
followed by results. Under the reign of Alphonse XTI (1325-1350), “the
situation of the Jews of Castile”, writes Graetz, “was so satisfactory,

" particularly compared to that of their fellow Jews in other countries,
that this epoch was, for them, almost a Golden Age... Under the modest
title of treasurers, intelligent Jews then directed the policies of Castile.
The high nobility also employed Jewish advisors and officials.”

They were “dressed in silk and gold”, enjoyed “consideration and
authority”. They protected their fellow Jews “against the cupidity of the
lower nobility, the jealousy of the people and the malevolence of the
clergy. The sole fact that there were Jewish dignitaries among the
sovereign’s entourage, wearing the uniform of the court and knight’s
swords, sufficed to inspire a salutary reserve among the enemies of the
Jews. No one dared to outrage, vilify and sometimes kill them, as
occurred in Germany, as long as they were known to enjoy the support
of powerful defenders in the King’s entourage”.

When he attained his majority, Alphonse XI took the reins of
government, and personally chose two Jews, Don Joseph d’Ecija and
Samuel Ibn Wakar, from among his favourites.

Don Joseph d’Ecija’s full name was Joseph ben Ephraim Beneviste
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Hellévi. On his uncle’s recommendation, the king appointed him
treasurer and even intimate advisor. Joseph d’Ecija never went out
except in an official carriage, accompanied by knights, and the
grandees of Spain ate at his table.

Don Samuel Ibn Wakar (Samuel Abenhuer), the other Jewish
favourite, was the king’s physician, astronomer and astrologist. Though
exercising no political function, he enjoyed great credit at court. Don
Joseph and Don Samuel were jealous of each other, and their rivalry
was to have unfortunate consequences for their fellow Jews.

As the result of complaints filed by the people against Jewish
usurers, who “strengthened by the support of Alphonse XI, hounded
their debtors mercilessly”, writes Graetz, the Cortes once again
requested the king to put an end to these abuses, and the King agreed.
In 1329, encouraged by this initial success, the Cortes went even
further and requested the king to prohibit the Jews from acquiring
immovable property, collecting taxes or acting as royal treasurers. This
time, however, Alphonse XI refused. What is more, he granted new
favours to Don Samuel Tbn Wakar, entrusting with the tax collections
on merchandise imported from Granada, under Moslem domination,
and authorising him to strike coins of the country bearing the legal title,
by special privilege. Out of jealousy, Joseph d’Ecija offered to pay the
King a higher sum than that offered by Ibn Wakar for the privilege of
collecting the taxes paid on the goods from Granada. He thought he had
pulled off a clever trick against his rival, when the latter succeeded in
persuading the King that he would render service to the Castilian
population by prohibiting any imports from Granada (1330-1331).

With the rapid growth of commerce, numerous Jews had been
attracted to Aragon, where they prospered by usury. By royal
ordinance, Jews were prohibited from lending at interest, from
receiving more than 20% per year, and from cumulating the interest
with the principal. But a simple prohibition was not sufficient to
prevent the abuses of Jewish usury. A few years afterwards, it was
necessary to draw up more detailed statutes “to counter the avidity of
the Hebrews and the hardness of their usury” (from the statement of
content of the statutes), since, in Aragon, as nearly everywhere else,
their inventive minds were always finding new ways to evade the laws.

Numerous precautions were intended to prevent the various frauds
of the usurers. The preamble declared that the Christians had almost
entirely renounced usury, but that the insatiable avidity of the Israelite
usurers knew no limits, particularly regarding the cumulation of interest
with the principal. The government’s intention was not to prevent the
Jews from lending at interest, but to put an end to the abuses. It was
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ordered that all Jews who wished to lend at interest in the cities or
countryside should first swear before a notary that they would obey the
laws.[191]

Throughout the country, the exasperation of the Christians was
reaching the point of paroxysm. A newly converted Jew proved the
bitterest enemy of his former fellow Jews. This apostate, named Abner,
from Burgos, is better known under the name of Alfonso de Valladolid.
This physician knew the Torah and Talmudic literature well, and also
possessed profane knowledge. Having reached the age of almost 60, he
converted to Christianity and had been attached to the sacristan of a
major church in Valladolid. He was the author of various writings of
religious controversy, particularly the vast Libro mostrador de justicia,
an anti-Jewish summa denouncing the daily prayers of the Jews and
their curses against the Christians. “He manifested a violent hatred of
his former fellow Jews”, writes Graetz. “Familiar with Jewish
literature, he singled out the passages which lead to equivocation, and
multiplied his accusations against Jews and Judaism”. v

He composed a great number of writings where he sometimes
attacks the Jewish religion with great heat, and sometimes defends
Christianity against the objections of the Jews. Since he was less
comfortable in Spanish than Hebrew, he used Hebrew to denounce the
writings of the Talmud containing injurious passages about Christ.

At Abner’s request, the King of Castile invited the delegates of the
Jewish community of Valladolid to come and debate this question
publicly with their enemy. Called upon to justify themselves, the
Jewish representatives of Valladolid affirmed that these imprecations
were in no way directed at the founder of Christianity nor its adepts;
but they fooled no one. On 25 February 1336, upon concluding the
controversy, King Alphonse decreed that the Jews would henceforth be
prohibited from reciting the passages in question.

Among the favourites of the King of Castile were Gonzalo
Martinez d’Oviedo, formerly a poor knight, who owed his position to
Don Joseph d’Ecija. But Gonzalo conceived a profound hatred for Don
Joseph and all Jews. When he became the King’s minister, and grand-
master of the order of Alcantara (1337), he conceived a plan to
exterminate the Jews of Castile. He began by insinuating to the king
that Don Joseph and Don Samuel [bn Wakar had amassed immense
riches in the offices which they occupied, and obtained authorisation to
take all measures which he considered necessary to make them
disgorge their ill-gotten gains.

On his order, the two Jewish favourites, as well as two of Ibn
Wakar’s brothers and other relatives of the accused and their families

172



61. Spain in the Hands of the Jews

were thrown into prison and their property confiscated. Don Joseph
d’Ecija died in prison and Don Samuel succumbed to the tortures
inflicted upon him.

After this initial success, Gonzalo tackled two other Jews, Moise
Abudiel and Soleiman Ibn Yaisch, who also occupied high positions.
Gonzalo then believed that the time had come to attack the Jews of
Castile as a whole. During a campaign against Granada, in which he
took part as a general, he engaged the king to imitate Philip the Fair of
France, but his advice was contradicted by the king’s ministers and
even by the prelates.

Gonzalo also beat the Moslems who had attempted to invade
Castile. Their chief perished on the battlefield. After this brilliant
victory, he had no doubt that his sovereign would allow him complete
freedom to deal with the Jews as he saw fit. A woman’s intervention
saved the Jews and prepared for Gonzalo’s fall.

The beautiful Eleanor de Guzman had in fact bewitched the king
and made him suspect in the eyes of Alphonse XI, who decided to have
him arrested. Gonzalo was ordered to return to Madrid, but Gonzalo
refused to obey and raised the knights of the order of Alcantara, as well
as the inhabitants of the cities placed under his authority, against the
king. He even attempted to ally himself with the king of Portugal and
the king of Granada, who was an enemy of the Christians.

In 1339, Alphonse XI then convened all his knights and marched
against the rebels. Frightened by the prospect of a civil war, several
knights from Alcantara abandoned the cause of their grand-master and
surrendered to the king the towers which they were responsible for
defending. Seeing himself powerless to continue the struggle, Gonzalo
implored the king’s grace, but he was condemned as a traitor and
burned alive. As a result, the Jewish communities of Castile celebrated
the day of his death as a day of deliverance. King Alphonse again
treated the Jews with benevolence, and entrusted a high post at court to
Moise Abudiel.
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A new revolt against the oppressor broke out in Germany. Emperor
Louis IV of Bavaria was more favourable to them, while his rival, the
Austrian Frederick the Fair (c. 1289 — 13 January 1330), was quite
hostile to the Jews, causing all copies of the Talmud in his states to be
searched for and burnt, and insisting with other princes before the Pope
for him to put the Jews back in their place.

In view of the imminence of the danger, the Jews of Rome sent a
delegate to plead their cause at the papal court of Avignon and before
King Robert of Naples, suzerain of Rome, who protected the Jews. The
Jewish delegate succeeded in pacifying the anger of the schismatic
Avignon Pope, Clement V, “thanks to a gift of 20,000 ducats”, writes
Graetz. The danger was thus allayed.

Starting in 1236, the Jews of the Empire were no longer free men,
but “serfs of the imperial chamber”. Louis of Bavaria imposed a new
tax upon them: the “golden penny”: any Jew or Jewess in the Germanic
empire, aged over 12, and who disposed of the sum of 20 florins,
should pay an annual tax of one florin. In his eyes, this tax was justified
on the grounds that, since Vespasian and Titus, the Jews paid an annual
tax to the Roman emperors whose direct heirs the Germanic Caesars
claimed to be.

Under the reign of Emperor Louis, the Jews suffered the setback of
disorders and civil war which then raged in Germany. For two
consecutive years (1336-1338), bands of peasants and beggars, calling
themselves the “Jew Killers”, ravaged the Jewish communities of
Southern Germany.

At the head of these Judenschliger were two members of the
nobility, including an Alsatian inn-keeper named Cimberlin, the “king
of the poor”. They were known as “Armenleder”, “leather arms”, due
to the strip of leather which they wore wrapped around one arm. For
more than two years, they criss-crossed the countryside between Alsace
and Austria, killing Jews and destroying their property. Armed with
pitchforks, hatchets, poles and flails, 5,000 peasants revenged
themselves for their humiliation.

In Alsace, the first localities they entered — Roufiach and Ensiheim
— felt the effects of the rage of the common people, too long despised.
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Nearly 1,500 Jews were massacred. The survivors took refuge in the
fortified city of Colmar. The troop of Jew Killers were not long in
arriving under the walls and demanding their victims. At the
magistrates’ refusal, the insurgents spread throughout the region and
committed all sorts of disorders.

The Emperor’s protection remained ineffective or came too late.
The Jew Killers were dispersed, or at least contained, by the arrival of
Emperor Louis, but after his departure, they regrouped and renewed
their activities. The bishop then formed a league of lords and municipal
magistrates to break their resistance. In the end, the armed force
succeeded in capturing one of the Armenleder, and the Emperor
ordered him decapitated.

Similar massacres occurred at this time in Bavaria when a new case
of host profanation occurred. The municipal advisers of the city of
Deckendorf had themselves fixed the date of the insurrection. On 30
September 1337, when the church bell gave the signal, the knight
Hartmann von Degenburg, accompanied by numerous knights, entered
Deckendorf and fell upon the Jews by surprise, who were pillaged,
killed and burnt. A church dedicated to the Holy Sepulchure was
erected on the spot and became an object of pilgrimage. From
Deckendorf, the disorders spread through Bavaria, Bohemia, Moravia
and Austria, killing thousands of Jews.

The Emperor, who was then embroiled in struggles with the Pope
and the King of France, had more or less ignored all these events. His
relative, Henry, Duke of Bavaria and the Palatinate, even congratulated
the inhabitants of Deckendorf for having liquidated the Jews, and
authorised the public use of everything they had stolen.

The Jews, protected by the Popes, had the possibility at that time of
taking refuge in the papal states. While they were never persecuted
there, at Rome as at Avignon, it is because they were never allowed to
oppress the people, dedicating themselves to illegal commerce,
ridiculing religion and fomenting heresies.

The same year, a council convened at Avignon passed the
following resolution, among others: “All Christians must reject and
despise the fetid services of the Jews. The Jews, for their part, rise too
far above the servile condition which is proper to them.”
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1348: The Black Plague

The Black Plague, which came from the Orient, arrived at Marseille on
Jewish international merchant ships.[192] From 1348 to 1352, the
plague spread for over four years with unprecedented violence, killing
off one quarter of the population of Europe, or approximately 25
million individuals. The plague did not completely spare the Jews, but
the fact is, as Graetz writes, that they died “in smaller numbers”, giving
rise to the justifiable suspicion, among the Christian population,
especially since certain Jews had already poisoned the wells 20 years
before to revenge themselves on the Pastorals.

The people, convinced that the Jews had caused the plague out of
hatred for the Christians, committed massacres which the authorities
had great difficulty in repressing.

In mid-May, a few Jews were killed. From there, the movement
spread to Catalunya and Aragon. At Barcelona, the population had
already killed 20 Jews and pillaged numerous houses. A few days later,
the same scenes were repeated at Cervera, in Spain, where the Jewish
communities barricaded themselves in their districts.

At the beginning of the month of July, Pope Clement VI
promulgated a bull by means of which he prohibited the killing of Jews
without legal condemnation under pain of excommunication, as well as
their forced baptism and/or looting their property. Perhaps this bull had
some effectiveness in the south of France, where he lived, at Avignon,
but it had no effect on the rest of Christendom.

The environs of Lake Geneva also became the theatre of bloody
disturbances. On the order of the Duke of Amadeus of Savoy several
Jews, accused of poisoning, were incarcerated at Chillon, Thonon and
Chatel. At Chillon, the defendants were put to the question. One of
these Jews, named Aquet, declared that he had poisoned wells at
Venice, Apulia, Calabria and Toulouse. These declarations were
recorded by the secretaries in their transcripts and countersigned by the
judges. As a result of these declarations, not only were the defendants
burned, but all the Jews living around Lake Geneva as well. In
September, the consuls of Bern sent to Geneva for the records of the
hearings and burned all the Jews in the city. Pope Clement VI
published a new bull, but it was not obeyed.
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The massacres took on quite a particular nature of savagery in the
Holy Roman Empire. In vain did the new Emperor, Charles IV, seek to
interpose himself.

Graetz writes here: “The Germans not only persecuted the Jews to
gain control of their property. It was quite in all the innocence of their
stupidity, and with firm conviction, that they believed that it would
have been quite easy for the Jews to poison the Rhine, the Danube, the
rivers, springs, the fountains and water tanks of Germany”.[193]

In many cities, they went so far as to surround their wells and
fountains with walls to prevent the inhabitants from approaching,
forcing them to drink rain water or melted snow. Towards the end of
1348, the Jews were expelled from all the cities on the upper Rhine.
They were considered outlaws. They were expelled or burnt at will.
Chased out of the cities, they were beaten to death in the countryside by
the peasants.

In Basel, they were tortured. Marooned on an island in the Rhine,
they were locked up in a house built especially for this purpose, which
was then set on fire. After this summary execution, the council decided
that no Jew would be allowed to settle in the city, a prohibition which
remained in effect for 200 years. A few days later, it was the turn of the
Jews at Fribourg.

The verses of Guillaume de Machaut (1310-1377), the most
famous French poet of his century, were no doubt an accurate reflection
of the feelings of the people of his time. The following is an extract
from his Judgement of the King of Navarre (1349):[194]

“Afterwards there came a piece of shit

False and traitorous, a renegade,

This was Judea the shameful,

The bad, the disloyal,

Whoever hates the good and loves all evil

Who gave so much gold and money

And promised Christian people,

That poisoned wells, rivers and fountains

Which were clear and clean

In several locations.”

In the Dauphine, the sovereign was also the accomplice of the anti-
Jewish insurgents: while the people swooped down on the Israelites and
massacred them, the Dauphin had others arrested, sentenced by judges,
and their goods confiscated.[195] The archives of the Dauphine
contains the accounts of the sums corresponding to the executions of
the guilty. The trial of the Jews of Vizille lasted ten days and cost 27
francs, 17 sous and a penny. The question is raised in these accounts of
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a master Girard, who was cut in two and attached to the gibbet for
stealing a Christian child and delivering him to the Jews. 13 members
of the sect were murdered at Veynes, in the region of Gap. Those of
Saint-Saturnin underwent the same fate a few days afterwards.[196]

At Rouffach, a great many Jews were burned on a plain which still
bears the name Plain of the Wells. At Strasbourg, pots of poison were
found in the wells. The magistrates of the city persisted in their
sentiments of benevolence with regards to the Jews, but the mayor, a
certain Wintertur, soon had to yield to the demands of the common
people. The workingmen’s guilds met on Cathedral Square after
obliging Wintertur and his colleagues to resign from office, an act
which was followed by multiple acts of anti-Jewish violence. On 14
February 1349, 2,000 Jews were thrown into prison, then dragged to
the Jewish cemetery, where hundreds of them were burned alive in a
wooden shack.[197] The prefecture headquarters was later built on the
site of this cemetery. Their synagogue was demolished and replaced by
a chapel. The new council prohibited the Jews from residing in
Strasbourg, a prohibition which remained in effect for a century, and
their immense riches were confiscated. The only Jews spared were
those who converted to Christianity.

In several places, the magistrates used the treasures and precious
stones taken from Jewish houses to embellish the city.[198]

At Mulhouse, where the Emperor had already acquitted the
residents guilty of anti-Jewish violence and cancelled a debt of 200
silver marks owed to the Jews, an imperial charter again acquitted the
bourgeoisie after the massacres of 1348 and granted them the houses
and other property of the victims.[199]

Such massacres occurred in the great majority of German cities. In
the Rhineland provinces, the residents of Spire opened the series of
massacres. A very small number of Jews accepted baptism. The Jews of
Frankfurt suffered the same fate, but the pillaging of Jewish houses
caused a fire that destroyed a quarter of the city.

The flagellants, mendicant penitents, went in groups from town to
town, inspiring new terror.[200] At Mayence, a troop of flagellants
incited the people against the Jews. The Jews were not in a mood to
perish without resistance. Three hundred of them equipped themselves
with weapons and stubbornly defended themselves, killing 200
Christians. Faced by overwhelming numbers, they set fire to their
houses and threw themselves into the flames after burying all their
treasures. On 23 August 1349, the largest Jewish community in-
Germany — approximately 6,000 people — was thus destroyed. The
bodies were placed in barrels which were rolled down into the Rhine.
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The Palatine Count Rupert, despising the clamour of the people,
welcomed and protected the Jews who had escaped from Spire and
Worms.

Persecutions resulting from the Black Plague reached Cologne,
where the Jews were so much more numerous that the Jews from the
surrounding regions sought refuge there. There, they were attacked by
the Christians on the same day as their fellow Jews from Mayence, and
all were massacred.

These Kkillings spread from locality to locality, throughout
Germany, from the Alps to the North Sea. The contagion reached
Bavaria and Swabia. The inhabitants of Memmingen, in Swabia,
obtained letters from the Emperor acquitting them from any
prosecution relating to the massacres which they had committed against
the Jews.[201] A few years before, in 1344, the Jews of Memmingen
had been powerful enough to have the bishop place an interdict on the
bourgeoisie which had committed these acts, probably because of their
debts. The Jews paid dearly for this impudent procedure when the
general rioting broke out.[202]

Jews were Killed en masse at Augsburg, Wiirtzburg and Munich.
“At Nuremberg”, writes Graetz, “the Jews of this mercantile city were
particularly detested because they had considerable wealth and
beautiful homes, paid for by numerous debtors”. Emperor Charles IV
declared to the council of the city that he would hold it responsible for
any mistreatment inflicted on the Jews. But no one paid any attention to
his orders. On a square later renamed Judenbiihle (“Jew mound”) the
Christians erected an enormous pyre and burnt all the Jews who had not
succeeded in fleeing.

At Regensburg as well, where there was the oldest Jewish
community in southern Germany, the common people demanded the
death or at least the expulsion of all Jews. The Jews owed their health
to the intervention of the council and the high bourgeoisie, who
solemnly swore before Mayor Berthold Egoltspecht to defend them
against any aggression.

At Brussels, every Jew in the city, approximately 500 in number,
was massacred by the crowds. In Brabant, the massacres were not just a
momentary paroxysm, that is, the executions of Jews and lepers
continued for nearly two years, which was for as long as the Plague
lasted.[203] Then, just as the popular frenzy was dying down, the
flagellants arrived to stir it up again.

Nevertheless, there were several countries where the Jews didn’t
suffer too much. Louis, King of Hungary, had expelled them from his
states, but as miscreants, not as poisoners. '
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In Poland, as well, where the Black Plague was raging, they were
not too badly mistreated, thanks to the protection of King Casimir the
Great, who showed benevolence towards the Jews. It should be noted
that King Casimir had fallen under the influence of a Jewess named
Esterka, who became his mistress. In 1354, at the request of a few
influential Jews, Casimir confirmed the Charter of Kalisz, which had
been drawn up in the last century, granting the Jews exorbitant
privileges. The Jews took refuge en masse in the Kingdom of Poland,
which then began a long decline, ending in its dismemberment by its
neighbours at the end of the 18th century.

In November 1355, a sort of Constitution of the Germanic Empire
was promulgated under the name of the Golden Bull, at the diet of
Nuremberg. The monarch conferred a few Kingly rights upon the seven
electors of the Empire, such as the right to possess sources of additional
income. This illustrates the manner in which the Jews were
simultaneously rejected and sought after, disdained and courted by the
princes and nobility.

“They knew well that they were only appreciated for the resources
which could be derived through them”, writes Graetz. Hardly
astonishing that, faced with this obvious proof that they could only
defend their miserable existence through money, they were so avid in
obtaining it.
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64 :
The Late Awakening of John the Good

King John II, known as John the Good, was King of France from 1350
to 1364. In 1356, he had been taken prisoner by the English at the battle
of Poitiers. During his captivity, the Jews negotiated their readmission
into the Kingdom with the Dauphin, the future Charles V, and obtained
privileges which were confirmed upon King John’s return.

Through an edict of March 1360, the Jews could return to France
paying an annual fee, for a limited duration of 20 years. They then
obtained considerable commercial privileges. “They could lend at rates
of up to 80 or 100 percent and demand collateral”, writes Graetz.

The Jewish banker Manassés de Vesoul, who had directed these
negotiations with zeal and ability, was responsible for collecting the
annual taxes imposed on his fellow Jews. To defend them against
arbitrary action by the judges and officials, a Jewish court was
authorised to exercise civil and criminal jurisdiction over them, without
appeal. These privileges attracted many Jews to France. -

The following are the articles of the treaty concluded between the
Jewish banker and the royal government.[204] The King agreed to
permit the Jews to enter the Kingdom of France; to remain there for 20
years; to acquire dwellings there; to engage in trade and brokering; to
practise all liberal and mechanical arts; to lend money at interest, all
without impediment on the part of the authorities and lords of the
Kingdom. They were to enjoy royal protection, having no judge other
than the Royal Commissioner, the Count d’Estampes. Each Jew, upon
entering the Kingdom, was to pay 14 florins for himself and his wife,
and one florin two large livres tournois for each of his children and
their people. In return for this contribution, they were to be quit of all
other taxes of any nature whatever, and would not be subject to any
servitude or lordly fee. They were to have a protector or guardian, a
function to which the King was to appoint the Count d’Estampes,
prince of the blood; they were not to be subject to prosecution except
by the said Count or the King, and no other justice of the Kingdom
should ever be entitled to prosecute them for any offense; in addition to
which, the King’s prosecutors were to be barred from bringing charges
without duly informing them of all the facts and circumstances. For
common crimes, they were to be discharged by virtue of a deposit paid
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by the Jews or Christians. No Jew was ever to be prosecuted in court,
for any crime whatsoever, committed prior to his entry into the
Kingdom of France.

In the event that any of them should prove unworthy of remaining
in the community, two rabbis, assisted by four other Jews appointed for
this purpose, would be entitled to banish them from the Kingdom, but
in this case the King should enjoy the confiscation of his goods and was
to receive the sum of 100 florins from the two rabbis. Those who lent
money to the Christians against collateral were to take four pennies
interest per livre per week. Whatever they may have received in
addition was to be returned to the debtors. The public authorities were
to assist them in recovering their loans; they were to be permitted to
lend upon all sorts of obligations and pledges, except ecclesiastical
vessels and agricultural tools. It was to be prohibited to compel them to
attend Christian sermons, or to engage in combat in a closed field; it
was to be prohibited to seize their books. All ordinances contrary to the
present franchises were to be abolished; all ancient privileges were to
be confirmed as often as the Jews wished.

It is obvious that the draft of the above treaty was drawn up by the
Jews themselves, since the King’s government would not have so
carefully compiled all the guarantees proper to prevent violence.

The privileges granted to them were exorbitant, and simply the
precursor to more violence. Philip Augustus had established an interest
rate of two pennies per week, which was already excessive. The rate
now granted them was twice as high, that is, nearly 80% per annum.
Whatever the rarity of cash, the legal rate established by the ordinance
of 1361 was intolerable, and the King was quite short-sighted in
allowing himself thus to be surprised by the cupidity of the Jewish
usurers, who were very certain to recover their costs in a very short
period of time against the King’s subjects, regardless of the head tax
which they undertook to pay to the Treasury. What they brought into
the Kingdom in terms of capital earned them a return of 80%, starting
in the first year. They could thus anticipate an abundant harvest during
the 20 years in which they were allowed to live in France.

This is why they insisted so persistently on being allowed to remain
among the Christians, despite the reverses which they had had to
endure at regular intervals.

All the cash of the French would be swallowed up in the money
chests and strong boxes of the Jews, and their stay was to cost the
Kingdom far more dearly than the King’s captivity for ransom at
Poitiers.[205]

The Jews also stipulated the right to possess dwellings without
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mentioning lands. The essential point from their point of view was the
right to lend money. Jewish historians, or assimilated Jews, who claim
. that the Jews of the Middle Ages practised usury because they were
forced to do so are either ignorant or dishonest.

The readers of our previous books know the score on this subject.

The inevitable happened. Complaints were raised against Jewish
usury in all parts of the Kingdom. The King, having taken the advice of
notables from several good cities, declared by ordinance announced at
Reims, in October 1363, that “major abuses” committed by the Jews
had forced him to intervene.

He first required them to wear a rouelle the size of the red and
white royal seal on their clothing, and he made them subject to
prosecution by ordinary courts despite all the prerogatives granted in
the past. He also declared the nullity of all obligations by means of
which Christians pledged their liberty as collateral in loans from
Jews.[206] A

Which proves that, after plundering their debtors of all their
property, the usurers then reduced their borrowers to slavery, or, least,
servitude. The obligation to wear a distinctive mark on their clothing
was renewed shortly afterwards in the Assembly of the Estates General
held in Amiens.[207] Twelve councils and nine royal ordinances
ordered all the Jews in France to wear the rouelle between 1215 to
1370. Which is to say that many Jews attempted to evade doing so.
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The Death of Blanche of Bourbon

Alphonse XI of Castile was married to Marie-Constance of Portugal,
who gave him a son, Peter. But the King had left his lawful wife and
son for his mistress, Eleanor de Guzman. This situation aroused
profound bitterness in Peter I and his mother, who, after the death of
the King in 1350, wished to revenge themselves upon the bastards of
the deceased King, which Peter did so thoroughly that he quickly
acquired the nickname of Peter the Cruel.

Don Peter, son and successor of Alphonse X1, ascended the throne
at the age of 15. Under his reign, the Jews enjoyed considerable
influence in Castile. Don Peter had appointed Don Samuel ben Meir
Allavi (or Ha-Levi), from the distinguished Abulafia Hallevi family of
Toledo, as treasurer. Little by little, Samuel gained the King’s trust,
became his intimate counsellor and was consulted in all important
matters. The King’s physician and astronomer was also a Jew,
Abraham Ibn Cargal. There were so many Jews at Peter’s court that, to
show their contempt, the Spaniards referred to it as the “Jewish court”.

In 1352, in order to seal an alliance, Peter I decided to marry
Blanche of Bourbon, sister to Juana of Bourbon, Queen of France, wife
to Charles V.

There was very keen dissension among the courtiers, some
declaring for the Princess of Bourbon, and others for the King’s
mistress, Maria de Padilla. Samuel, and with him, all the Jews in Spain,
favoured Maria de Padilla, because they knew that Blanche of Bourbon
viewed the Jews with displeasure since they occupied all the highest
positions at court, and she had already publicly expressed her intention
to get rid of them.,

In July 1353, Peter the Cruel married Blanche of Bourbon, but, on
the pretext of delayed payment of the dowry, he abandoned her shortly
afterwards to join his mistress, who had already given him a son. The
failure of this marriage obviously caused the failure of the alliance with
the King of France. Don Peter then freed himself from all maternal
restraint and had his mother exiled to Evora, in her native Portugal,
before having her poisoned. Then, in 1358-1359, he got rid of all his
enemies, starting with three of his half-brothers. He then murdered his
aunt, Eleanora of Castile, and his sister-in-law, Juana Nufiez de Lara
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(wife of another half-brother). Castile was then plunged into a bloody
civil war, Henry of Trastamara (also spelled Trastdmare or, incorrectly,
Transatamare), another of Don Peter’s half-brothers, headed the revolt.

At Don Peter’s court, Samuel Ha-Levi now enjoyed considerable
influence. His riches were immense, writes Graetz, who adds:
“Numerous Jews, unshakeable in their hopes, saw in the elevated
situation of Samuel and other Jewish favourites, certain proof that the
messianic times were approaching”.

Don Peter took umbrage and one day confiscated the entire fortune
of Samuel and his family. The Kingdom recovered 230,900 doubloons,
4,000 silver marks, 125 chests of precious fabrics and 180 slaves. “It
seems that considerable quantities of gold and silver were found
concealed in Samuel’s house.” Samuel himself was thrown into prison
and tortured. It was hoped to make him confess that he possessed even
more riches, but he made no confession and died under torture. “It is
true”, writes Graetz, “that, even after Samuel’s death, the King
continued to entrust high positions to Jews”.[208] It was not without
reason, therefore, that Henry of Trastamara continually referred to Peter
as “the King of the Jews”.

In 1361, Don Peter had his first wife Blanche of Bourbon
imprisoned and then assassinated. “It was said”, writes Graetz, that, “a
Jew had poisoned Queen Blanche on the King’s orders, because she
had expressed the desire to expel the Jews from the Kingdom. A French
romance has perpetuated this legend”.

This “legend” is nevertheless a proven fact, which also caused the
King of France to send the constable Bertrand de Guesclin and his
“great companies” into Spain to lend Henry a helping hand in 1365. A
detailed account of it may be found in the Collection compléte des
Meémoires relatifs a [’histoire de France.[209] Volume IV, published
" by Jean Petitot in 1819, is dedicated to the memory of the Constable of
France, Bertrand du Guesclin. This is the republication of a text by
Jacques Le Febvre, “provost and theologian of Arras, hereinafter
chaplain and preacher of the Queen”, published in Douai in 1692,
entitled Anciens Mémoires du quatorzieme siecle, depuis peu
découverts, ot I’'on apprendra les aventures les plus surprenantes et les
circonstances les plus curieuses de la vie du fameux Bertrand du
Guesclin, connétable de France (Ancient Memories of the Fourteenth
Century, Recently Rediscovered, in Which One Can Learn of the Most
Surprising Adventures and the Most Curious Circumstances of the Life
of the Famous Bertrand du Guesclin, Constable of France).

Jean Petitot provides a plethora of historic details relating to
Bertrand du Guesclin, and explains his preference for Le Febvre’s
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work, written in imitation of the ancient chronicles. Le Febvre retains
the archaic language of du Guesclin’s time. “I believed”, he writes,
“that the patois of the fourteenth century, which I used in a few places
in my book but with much reserve and discretion, will serve to relax the
reader’s mind and even be of some pleasure to him, while revealing the
lively and naive features which are conveyed with such forcefulness”.

Jean Petitot adds: “We therefore decided to reproduce Le Febvre’s
original text, whose occasional lapses even better recall the tone and
manner of the authors of the fourteenth century”.

The following is a summary of chapters 14 to 22. Chapter 14 is
entitled “Of the Origins of the War in Spain between King Peter,
Known as the Cruel, and His Natural Brother Henry, Count of
Trastdmara”.

“Bertrand, always seeking new occasions to display his valour and
courage, found material with which to satisfy his warlike inclinations in
Spain, where the people were taking sides, some with King Peter and
others with Henry, Count of Trastdmara, Bertrand sided with the latter,
as we shall see later. The source of this dispute was the bad conduct
and cruelty of the said Peter, criticised for his enormous injustices. The
first was the mistreatment of the Queen, Blanche of Bourbon, his wife,
sister to the King of France. The indignities which he committed
against this princess scandalised all his subjects, which could not view
all his cruelties against her without great indignation, being a women of
great sweetness, whose birth and beauty should be the three links most
capable of attaching him closely to her. But the ardent love which he
felt for Maria de Padilla, who had enchanted him by a potion which she
induced him to take, suffocated in his heart all the emotions of
tenderness which he should naturally have felt for such an
accomplished Queen. This concubine had acquired such a great
ascendency over his mind that she governed absolutely and caused him
to commit a thousand outrages against his own wife, whom she
regarded as her rival.

“The other injustice for which the King was criticised is that he
carried on no business with Christians, whose customs and religion
displeased him greatly. The Jews were the only confidants of all his
secrets; he gave them his full attention and revealed to them all his
innermost thoughts. With regards to all others, he maintained a
profound dissimulation, rendering himself impenetrable to all the lords
of his Court, to whom he could not refuse access, but remained
inaccessible on matters in which he could not prohibit himself from
communicating with them due to the eminence of his character and the
royal authority which he held in his hands. Even his closest relatives
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could not find the key to his heart, since he made such a mystery out of
everything. This surprising conduct alienated all minds and attracted
the aversion of all his subjects, which hoped only for revolution, in the
hope of seeing a change in this horrible situation.

“So far did this prince, who was correctly called Peter the Cruel,
take the inhumanity with which he treated her, whom he was not even
content with depriving her of her liberty by imprisoning her, but whose
life he wished to take, upon whom he undertook, by means of a poison
which he had administered to her, but against which she was able to
protect herself through emetics, because she knew the evil depths of
this prince and the jealousy of his concubine, and always kept her guard
up. All these outrages never destroyed the respect and regard which she
owed him, promising herself that God would touch his heart and open
his eyes, to cause him to overcome his blindness.

“The more Peter caused himself to be hated, the more Henry, his
alleged natural brother, caused himself to be loved. It seemed that he
was worthier of the Crown than this barbarous King; since he had
found the secret of conciliating all the hearts through quite engaging
airs, and no one ever left his presence unsatisfied with the reception
which he had received, so much did he possess the gift of pleasing
everyone. All hearts were turned in his direction. The pride of the first
caused the sweetness of the second to be admired, and the Catholic
religion, of which he made a high and sincere profession, rendered
odious this penchant manifested by Peter for the superstition of the
Jews. It was therefore desired to see him on the throne instead of the
former, whose conduct could no longer be tolerated.

“Henry spoke to King Peter about his conduct in the hope of
amending it, which only increased Peter’s bitterness [...] The prince’s
remarks were very inappropriately supported by a Jew named Jacob,
who found himself there; since, wishing to flatter Peter and woo him at
Henry’s expense, he had the nerve to tell Henry that it was indeed bold
to undertake to teach lessons to Peter, the wisest King on earth, and that
the best thing Henry could do in the future would be to never more
appear before him; but Henry soon made him eat his words at the
expense of his own life; since after reproaching him for the pernicious
advice he had given Peter, and the infamy of the nation, he pierced him
to the heart with his dagger, and left him dead on the floor. The King,
all surprised and quite indignant at this assassination committed in his
presence, wished to avenge the Jew’s death upon his brother on the
spot, pulling a knife from his scabbard to kill him, but he was restrained
by a knight who grabbed his arm as he was about to strike a blow.

“Henry escaped in the same instant, and had hardly gotten down the
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stairway before he told his retainers to saddle his horses to enable him
to flee instantly to save his life. Peter was being held down by four
men, uttering a thousand curses against those who were restraining
him, and accusing them of being accomplices of this bastard, whom he
would never pardon for the blood which he had just shed. It was in vain
that people told him it was only the blood of a Jew, a race having
attracted the curse of God upon itself, a nation which had had rendered
itself the horror and execration of men, through the deicide which it had
committed on the person of the Saviour; but all this oil thrown on the
fire lit it so strongly that Peter had this poor knight hanged for
preventing him from killing Henry”.

Chapter 15 of Jacques Le Febvre is entitled “Of the Tragic Death of
Queen Blanche of Bourbon, Commanded by Peter the Cruel, Her Own
Husband”:

“This barbarous King had conceived such a mortal aversion for
Blanche of Bourbon, his wife, that he took all steps to make attempts
on her life. The poison which he employed to dispatch her had no effect
upon her, because knowing the design to cause her death, she took all
the precautions necessary to guard against poisoning. Maria de Padilla,
Peter’s mistress, induced this prince to send Blanche far away from the
court entirely, and give her an establishment in some distant province,
so that nobody ever saw her, and this absence, without hope of return,
would have the same effect as her death. Peter, madly in love with his
concubine, followed her advice. He confined the princess in the most
distant province of the court, giving her a small retinue to back her up
in her quality as Queen, not daring the anger the people against himself
.as he would have done if he had reduced her to a private condition.
This domain, which Blanche had had by division, would earn her the
admiration of all vassals dependent upon her seigneury.

“A rich Jew held some lands as an enclave in the Queen’s
department. He visited the court, like the others, to pay his respects as
her subject, and as it was the custom in those times to show respect by
kissing the cheek of one’s sovereign to show the zeal and affection
which one would have all one’s life for her service, this Jew
approached the Queen to salute her as his lady and his mistress; she
could not refuse to accept this mark of servitude, since he was her
subject; but after he had left her chamber, she expressed the horror she
had felt for this ridiculous ceremony, criticising her servants for their
carelessness, which they had shown in failing to prevent the villain
from approaching her, and immediately called for hot water to wash her
mouth and face, to clean off the stains, so to speak, which the Jew’s
kiss had left there. Her indignation did not stop there; since, as she was
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his sovereign, she wished to punish the Jew with the most drastically
cruel torments for the temerity which he had shown in taking liberties
in this manner; and in the first outburst of her anger she wished to have
him hanged. When the Jew was warned that he had been condemned by
the Queen, and that he was under pursuit for the purposes of hanging
him, the Jew took flight and ran straight to King Peter to complain of
Blanche’s design on his life, turning a ceremonial duty, which he had
hastened to fulfil, into a capital crime. The King received him under his
protection, commanding him to fear nothing, and saying that he well
perceived that this princess, having a hatred and an aversion for all
persons whom he, the King, respected, would not scruple to make
attempts on his life as well, as soon as she got the chance; that it was
therefore necessary to prevent this; but that it would be much better to
get rid of her secretly to save appearances, and without having any
power over him.

“The Jew, burning with desire for revenge, assured him that
nothing would be easier than to send him to the other world without
leaving a mark on her body, no blows or wounds. Peter liked this
expedient, and declared that whosoever pulled this thorn from his foot
would render him a great service. He therefore permitted the Jew to
execute the affair as he had conceived it, without any scandal. The
vengeful Jew, who was anxious to satisfy his resentment against the
Queen, was thrilled to have received this barbarous order from Peter.
He gathered together a troop of his fellow Jews to assist him in the
murder and, marching all night, visited the Queen’s apartment. He
entered, right up to her door and, knocking on the door at such an
unheard of time of night, one of the Queen’s servant girls refused to
open, and, astonished at all the noise, told him through the keyhole that
it was not the proper time to visit the Queen, and demanded what was
the object of his visit so late and at such an hour. The Jew, to cause
himself to be admitted, claimed that he had very happy news to deliver
to the Queen, since her husband, in testimony to the fact that he wished
to be entirely reconciled with her, was coming at that instant to come to
be with Her Majesty. The chamber maid ran joyfully to the Queen to
announce this unexpected adventure which was bound to be very
pleasing to her, congratulating her in advance that the King had
regained his own heart and wished to treat her more justly in the future
than he had done. The Queen, who saw the impending danger,
immediately began to cry, knowing that she had a very short time to
live, because she foresaw quite rightly that the Jews, who hated her
mortally, would not have appeared at her chamber in such great
numbers without having received some bloody order, which they were
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about to carry out. The chamber maid, becoming aware of the pains and
misfortunes of her mistress, cried out in alarm, and crying torrents of
tears, said that she would not open the door unless His Majesty
absolutely commanded it. The Queen signalled to her no longer to
dispute with the Jews over entry to the chamber and at the same
moment raised her eyes to the heavens, for the health of her soul,
protesting that she was not sorry to die innocently, following the
example of the Saviour, praying God to spread His blessings on the
-Duke of Bourbon her brother, on the Queen of France her sister, on
Charles the Wise, and on the entire royal family. She had hardly
finished these words, when the Jews entered her chamber in a huge
mob. They found the holy princess lying on her bed, holding a psaltery
in one hand, and a lighted candle to read her prayers in the other; and
turning her eyes towards those who had just entered, demanded what
they wanted of her, and who had sent them to talk to her so late at
night. They answered that they were in desperation, seeing themselves
constrained to announce to her the harsh order which they had received
from the King to cause her death, and that she was to prepare herself
for her last hour.

“This discourse was interrupted by the cries of her servant girls,
who tore their hair and filled the chamber with their sobs, sighs, telling
each other that the best princess in the world was about to die unjustly,
conjuring Heaven to avenge this inhumanity upon those who were the
authors. The poor Queen ordered them to contain their cries, adding
that they need not cry so grievously, since she was about to die
innocent, and it was rather Peter’s conduct, her husband’s conduct,
which was to be pitied, committing this barbarous act through the evil
councils of his concubine, who had long desired her blood.

“The Jews, fearing that the crying and wailing of the Queen’s
chamber maids would prevent the execution of their mistress and reveal
the murder which they wished to conceal, took them all by the hand,
dragged them out of the chamber, pulled them into a basement, and
strangled them in order to kill the Queen Blanche in greater quiet and
secrecy afterwards. These rabid killers did not hesitate in dispatching
her, crushing her abdomen by dropping a heavy beam on her, so as to
crush her to death, without leaving any bloodstains on her face or her
body; and after they had done the detestable deed, they immediately
withdrew to a castle located on a high rock, which the King had
instructed them to do for asylum.

“This inhuman prince, not wishing to attract criticism for the
murder which he had ordered, kept up the exterior pretence by all the
means he could devise, publishing a manifesto in which he excused
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himself for this villainous act as best he could; but his later conduct
proved only too well that he was the author of it; since, instead of
besieging the castle, in which the rascals had taken refuge, so that
justice might be done, they came filing out six months later with an
impunity which horrified everyone, and it was obvious that they had
only been the ministers of Peter’s cruelty. All persons cursed this evil
prince who had never blushed in committing such a horrible
assassination, of a princess whom he should have adored for the
innocence of her morals and the nobility of her extraction. Most of the
Jews, even those who had hitherto been Peter’s most outspoken
partisans, could no longer keep silent on this matter. Peter, for his part,
took precautions against all of Henry’s undertakings in his states.

“He levied numerous troops, gained the principal lords of Castile
through gifts and favours, and performed so many acts of generosity to
gain the commitment of the people of his party that poor Henry saw
himself abandoned by all, and constrained to seek asylum in foreign
countries. This unfortunate prince was reduced to throwing himself into
the arms of the King of Aragon, who received him in his court with
great probity”.[210]
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66
Bertrand du Guesclin and the White Company

Peter the Cruel ordered the King of Aragon to cease protecting his
enemy, under pain of declaration of war. So as to avoid armed conflict,
the King of Aragon was forced to distance himself from his friend.

Chapter XVI entitled “Of Bertrand’s Resourcefulness in Using an
Army Corps Composed of All the Vagabonds of France and Taking
Them to Spain against Peter the Cruel to Avenge the Death of Queen
Blanche and Cause Henry to Ascend the Throne”.

“All of France learned with great pain of Peter’s cruelty committed
against Queen Blanche, his own wife, in causing her to die unjustly and
abandoning her to the discretion of the Jews, who crushed her to death
on her own bed after entering her chamber at night and finding her at
her prayers, a candle in her hand. All the circumstances aggravated
Peter’s crime, and rendered the fate of this princess even more pitiable.
The Queen of France, her sister, and the Duke of Bourbon, her brother,
strongly condemned such a wicked deed, which deserved exemplary
vengeance. King Charles V of France, known as ‘the Wise’ (1338
1380), shared their feelings very forcefully, and sought only an
opportunity to watch it explode. This opportunity presented itself as
favourably as it could. The Kingdom of France was bursting with
rascals and vagabonds who were desolating the country with their
brigandage and pillaging. It was impossible to suppress this disorder,
because these crowds of thieves were growing more numerous by the
day, recruited from the one million foreigners who had entered the
Kingdom to plunge the country into anarchy and chaos. The
countryside was infested by large numbers of German, English,
Navarrese and Flemish brigands, sacking and burning the chiteaux and
holding the nobility to ransom. The prince’s edicts were despised.
Force and violence became the sovereign law of France, so much so
that it seemed that France had become the prey of rabid dogs.

“King Charles, wishing to arrest the course of so much evil,
assembled the wisest men of the Kingdom to take council as to best
means of providing a remedy to so many evils without entering into
open war against the brigands. Bertrand relieved his anxiety by
suggesting the special pretext of avenging the cruel fate of Queen
Blanche, his sister-in-law, and assuring himself that he could get rid of
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this troop of vagabonds once and for all, he cajoled them so
successfully that they came to share his sentiments, and he inspired
them with the desire to turn their weapons against the King of Spain, in
the hopes of enriching themselves with pillage all over Spain, an
opportunity which would be offered by the war about to be declared by
the prince. He even offered to place himself at their head and command
them, to ensure the success of the expedition, representing to the King
that through this artifice he would purge France of these foreigners, and
that he would moreover employ them usefully against the enemies of
the Crown. Charles gave a hand to Bertrand’s judicious proposal, and
immediately dispatched a herald to the leaders and generals of all these
people to obtain a safe conduct, so that he might send them someone
later who could contact them in complete freedom.”

Bertrand du Guesclin then visited Chalon-sur-Sadne, principal
encampment of the “Great Companies”, groups of undisciplined
soldiers desolating the Kingdom after the end of the war against the
English. -

“Bertrand told them his plans, telling them that the King of France,
furious with Peter, intended to make him repent for the cruel death
which he had inflicted upon Queen Blanche, his sister-in-law, and that,
to punish this cruel prince for such a black assassination, he had
resolved to carry the war into the heart of his states; that the King his
master had charged him with telling them for his part that if they
wished to share such a just sentiment, and lend their troops and their
assistance, he would not only pay them the sum of 200,000 livres cash,
but would arrange with Saint Peter for the absolution of all their sins
which they had committed until then; that he advised to join up, so
much the more so because they would be going to a fat, rich country,
the pillaging of which would greatly enrich them.”

Hugues de Caurelay won over all the leaders — “Gascons, English,
Bretons, Navarrese, who would give their word to march under
Bertrand’s ensigns [...]; Guesclin returned as happy as could be, and
hastened to Paris to assure the King that he would deliver the kingdom
from all the bandits and rascals who had been desolating the country
for twenty years, through their pillaging.”

These leaders were then summoned to the Temple, in Paris, where
King Charles had established his dwelling, “This prince offered them a
thousand favours, gave them the richest gifts he could and made them
very rich presents to commit them further in his interests. The principal
lords of the court did not content themselves with getting to know these
men, they also wished to form a very close friendship with their
generals, with whom they hoped to live more than a day. The Count of
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the Marche, the Besque de Vilaines, the Marshall d’Andreghem,
Olivier de Mauny, Guillaume Boitel and Guillaume de Launoy
approached them, and declared that they would be quite glad to share
with them the perils of the war which they were about to undertake.
These leaders were enchanted to learn of this resolution, assuring them
that such a noble and generous company would give even more heat to
fighting well. Bertrand gathered them together at Chalons-sur-Sadne,
and made them march towards Avignon”.

In the fall of the year 1365, Bertrand du Guesclin set out en route
for Spain. At Avignon, in the city of the Pope, he made a cardinal
understand it was in the Pope’s interest to pay, “...if he wished to
contain the license of all these vagabonds, whose hands were so
accustomed to brigandage, and who cared less about the absolution
which they were promised than the money they were demanding, being
entirely prepared, in the event of refusal, to conduct horrible
depredations against the Papal states”.

The cardinal figured a deal was a deal, and departed immediately to
render an account to the Pope of all that had occurred. The pope,
understanding the situation, gathered the bourgeois of the city and
demanded contributions. Soldiers, vagabonds and brigands then left
with their pockets full, together with the papal absolution. They then
headed straight for Toulouse, then Aragon, to assist King Henry against
Peter the Cruel, “...who had no good feelings for the Christian religion,
but rather his entire secret inclination was for Judaism, of which he
made a secret profession, and who, moreover, had become the horror
and execration of all of Europe”.

Henry came to meet Bertrand. “Guesclin embraced him tenderly,
and made a very sincere protestation that he would never set foot in
France without having first placed Henry on the throne of Spain”.

“It should be noted”, writes Le Febvre, “that the troops led by
Guesclin were called the White Company because they all bore a white
cross on the shoulder, as if they wished to testify that they had only
taken up arms to abolish Judaism and combat the unfortunate prince
who protected it to the great contempt of the cross.”

The army left Aragon “to penetrate deeper into Spain, so as to reach
Peter, and give him no rest, or truce”.

The first city in their path was taken by storm and pillaged, “after
which the victorious soldiers put many a Spaniard and Jew to sleep in
mother earth if they dared to resist. The loot was great; since the Jews
who surrendered at discretion, to save their lives, sacrificed all their
riches to ransom their lives. Never did an army reap such pleasant
booty as that which Bertrand had promised them: it was also necessary
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to satisfy the lust for gain of so many Bretons, Frenchmen, Normans,
Liégeois, Walloons, Flemish, Brabangons and Gascons, of whom the
troops were made up, and who had only joined this expedition to enrich
themselves from the ruin of Spain. The Marshall of Andreghem,
Hugues de Caurelay, Gautier Huet and his brother, Guillaume Boitel,
the Sire of Beaujeu, seconded Bertrand with admirable bravura, placing
each one of themselves at the head of the men they commanded, and
leading the assaults by giving them the first example of how to do it”.

“Du Guesclin”, writes Heinrich Graetz, “proved himself harder on
the Jews, whom he treated, not as soldiers who fight for their King, but
as slaves in revolt against their master.”

The capture of the city spread terror all over Spain. Bertrand left a
garrison in the city and continued to advance, arriving before Burgos.
Archers and crossbowmen shot at all those besieged who appeared on
the ramparts to defend the city, while pioneers and sappers filled in the
ditches. The walls were undermined with picks and levers while rope
ladders permitted the bravest to penetrate the fortress, “...although the
Jews and Saracens, of whom the city was filled, threw boiling water
down on them”. The soldiers of the White Company were soon masters
of the city.

“There was a Norman who was brave enough to plant the first of
Bertrand’s standards on the wall, and cry to the others that the city was
taken, and they should climb up bravely. He soon found himself
followed by a crowd of determined men who clung to the ladders and
joined him in great numbers. From there, a crowd spread into the city
and went to seize the gates and open them to their companions, who,
frenziedly throwing themselves inside, made the bourgeoisie cry for
mercy, who, kneeling down with their wives and children, begged for
quarter, declaring that they were surrendering to Prince Henry, whom
they wished to recognise in future as their master and sovereign.”

Henry, “who wished to earn the honour of showing clemency to
attract others into his party, allowed himself to be moved by their
prayers, and not only promised them their lives would be saved, but
also their property, which his followers were forbidden to disturb. He
only wished to show such indulgence to Christians; for Jews and
Saracens, who were entirely loyal to Peter, he gave no quarter [...]

“After the White Company had stayed in the country for a while, to
rest and recover from the fatigue of two sieges and bandage their
wounded, the victorious troops threw themselves against Bervesca, a
fortress which Peter had manned with a large garrison of Spaniards,
who were entirely devoted to him.”

Du Guesclin immediately invested the city and placed himself at
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the head of the bravest men to commence the attack. “The besieged
appeared on the walls, determined to defend themselves, while
Bertrand’s men shot at them with darts and arrows; Hugues de
Caurelay chose a few of his hardiest troops with whom he approached
the Jewish district, where he undermined the walls with great blows of
iron battering rams, opening large holes in the walls: the Jews,
understanding that they would all be massacred if they persisted in
offering resistance, assisted the besiegers in entering their Jewish
quarter in order to save their own lives. There was a Breton among the
Caurelay troops who immediately climbed up on top of the walls and
raised Bertrand’s standard while crying Guesclin’s name. This signal
encouraged the others to exert themselves to the utmost, climbing up by
means of rope ladders with which they had richly provisioned
themselves. This assault was very bloody on both sides; since while the
French were climbing the walls, and assisting each other in reaching
the top of the rampart, the Spanish threw barrels of boiling water down
on them from the top, causing them to fall into the ditch. This
misfortune in no wise cooled the ardour of the besiegers, who relieved
each other with ever greater rage and returned to the assault with
renewed stubbornness. The besieged threw barrels full of stones down
on top of them, and great beams to crush them, so much so that this
vigorous resistance caused the French to doubt the success of the siege.
It was believed that they would waste a great deal of time, and
consideration was given to the idea of lifting the siege and departing,
without making any further attempts. Henry feared that the siege would
be abandoned, and made his last efforts in person before his troops,
when Bertrand, who was never afraid, whom the presence of danger
only made him more intrepid, appeared on the barriers of the gate with
a woodman’s hatchet and struck the gate so many furious blows that he
broke it open. All the bravest men, encouraged by his example, entered
pell-mell to attack the enemy inside the city, where they wreaked
terrible carnage. Those who could avoid the soldiers’ fury through
flight concealed themselves in their houses, hoping to be safe from
danger, but they were no safer than if they had been outside. The
women kneeled in supplication before the victors to save the lives of
their husbands and the children prostrated themselves at the soldiers’
feet, begging them not to kill their fathers; but all these supplications
were incapable of arresting the course of violence and killing. There
remained an old tower in which a few Jews had taken refuge; Bertrand
attacked the gates and rapidly destroyed them. No quarter was offered
to the most obstinate of those inside but some indulgence was offered
to others who surrendered on discretion in good faith.”
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Peter the Cruel, who was at Burgos, where he held court, was
informed of the fall of Bervesca by two bourgeois who had escaped:

“They told him that the enemies had climbed the walls like
monkeys with rope ladders, and that they had opened the way despite
all the efforts made to dispute their passage; that, after all, the city was
inundated with the blood of Jews, Saracens, and Spaniards which they
had shed in rendering themselves masters of the town. This prince had
difficulty believing the tale of the astonishing capture at first, and
imagining that these two bourgeois had sold the city for money, he
threatened to kill them all. One of them, to excuse himself, represented
to him that those who had captured the city were not men, but devils
before whom it was impossible to hold out; that these were men who
feared neither arrows, nor darts, nor death, nor wounds; that the day
dawned through all the dangers, always advancing without ever falling
back; and that he believed that there was no fortress in all his states
which could resist such determined troops for fifteen full days, and that
the troops seemed to have come straight from Hell [...]

“Peter, not recovering from the alarm which disturbed him, called
upon all the Jews in whom he had a quite singular trust. The first Jew'
was named Jacob; the second, Judas; and the third, Abraham. He
implored them to inform him of their opinions and advice, in the
deplorable state in which his misfortune had reduced his condition.
These three men were themselves rather at a loss, not knowing which
way the prince should turn to get out of such a dangerous predicament.
He called a fourth advisor from the Jewish nation named Manasseés,
who took the liberty of testifying that he no longer believed the King to
be safe in Burgos, and that he would do better to establish himself in
Toledo, the walls of which were safe from capture and the citadel well
fortified [...] Peter, thinking that he had placed his affairs in order, and
counting on the loyalty of those left at Burgos, dreamed only of setting
out for Toledo, accompanied by the Count of Castres and these four
Jews, his particular confidants. He was received in this great city with
extraordinary acclamations [...] Peter had just left Burgos when a spy
from this city came to inform Henry, telling him that Peter had taken
the road to Toledo, and that it was believed that Peter intended to hole
up there. Bertrand, who was present at the presentation of this spy’s
report, was of the opinion that they should march away to capture
Burgos, promising Henry to have him crowned King of Spain there [...]

“The march of the army commenced after the break of day. They
put the baggage train in the middle; the avant-garde was led by the
Marshall d’Endreghem, seconded by Olivier de Mauny, Hugues de
Caurelay, Nicholas Strambourc, Jean d’Evreux, Gautier Huet, and
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many English knights, all of whom made a very good impression. The
rear guard was commanded by Bertrand, whose name was so
redoubtable that everyone believed that his name alone was worth an
entire army. The count of Marche, the Sire de Beau Jeu, Guillaume
Boitel, Guillaume de Launoy, Henry de Saint Omer, wishing to earn
the honour of accompanying such a great captain, and of sharing with
him the perils and glory which he was about to seek on this expedition;
but above all, Prince Henry promised that it would be advantageous to
him to fight under the ensigns of a general whose arms had always been
victorious, hoping, moreover, that God, knowing the justice of the
cause which was motivating them all to act, would spread his blessing
over their undertaking, then, that the enemy whom they were about to
fight was a reprobate prince, who was neither content publicly to
renounce the Christian religion, through the infamous commerce which
he carried on with the Jews, a great scandal to all his subjects, but had
what’s more stained his hands with the innocent blood of the holiest
and most accomplished princess of the entire world, that he should all
the more so arranged that she should be his own wife, and that besides,
she was descended from Saint Louis.”

Here is chapter 18, entitled “Of the Voluntary Surrender Which
Those of Burgos Made of Their Cities As Soon as They Learned That
Bertrand and the White Company Were on the March to Besiege
Them”. We learn that these “three sects”, Christians, Saracens and
Jews, “all had but one desire, to recognise Henry as their King [...] as
long as he promised them not to molest their customs and privileges”.
The coronation of King Henry and his Queen took place at Burgos, on
Easter Sunday, April 1366.

“Bertrand and all his White Company, having gloriously executed
that which they had undertaken in Henry’s favour, took council
together, in the thought of turning their arms towards Granada, against
the Saracens who had taken control of the city. But Henry, seeing that
the plan would gravely injure his interests, which remained unfulfilled,
and could fall apart if he neglected them, ordered them to follow up
their initial triumphs by advancing on Peter’s territories, as they had so
well begun, representing to them that it was a motive of religion which
made them bear their thoughts against the Kingdom of Granada,
because it was full of Jews and Saracens, that were no fewer in the
lands of Peter’s obedience, which impelled them to serve as the object
in the accomplishment of their pious designs; that moreover he would
abandon to them the pillage of all the conquests which they would
make, of which they could enrich themselves greatly”.

At this piece of news, Peter the Cruel left Toledo to take refuge in
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Cardona, and hid in a forest, “so frightened was he of the peril which
threatened him”. The bourgeoisie of Toledo, terrified, did not fight.
Henry approached the city with his army, and received the keys to the
city from the hands of the bishop. Fleeing the enemy, Peter travelled to
Seville, the only city of any importance remaining open to him. From
there, he learned that Cardona had surrendered.

He took it out on his two Jewish advisors, Daniot and Turquant,
“...who through their pernicious councils had embarked him in all the
unfortunate affairs which he had to endure. He accused them of being
the cause of all his misfortunes, since they had maliciously advised him
to murder Queen Blanche, having they themselves rendered the
ministers and instruments of this cruelty to satisfy their private
vengeance, that since that detestable murder, they had aroused the
indignation of all his subjects and the revolt of his own brother, who
followed him, fighting everywhere; that they deserved punishment with
the utmost torment, but that he would content himself with banishing
them forever from his court, prohibiting them from approaching on
pain of death. These two Jews obeyed without replying or attempting to
justify themselves before this prince whose anger they feared. They set
out for Lisbon to take shelter from the menacing storm; but by
misfortune they were met with one morning by Mathieu de Gournay,
an English knight, who surprised them exiting a little valley, as he was
foraging. He had barely noticed them before he confronted them sword
in hand, ordering them to surrender, or it would cost them their lives.
These two miserable creatures, trembling with fear, cried for mercy: he
asked whether they were Jews or Saracens; Turquant replied that they
were in truth Jews, but that if he would be so good as to spare their
lives, they would promise to deliver the city of Seville to him
tomorrow. The knight assured them that not only would he spare their
lives, but that they would be rewarded in proportion to such as essential
service, if they were lucky and adroit enough to carry out their promise.
Turquant resumed speaking, revealing to him the means he would
employ to achieve his aim. He informed him that the Jews, having a
separate district in Seville, could open and close the gates whenever he
liked, and it would be very easy to enter the place they occupied and
win over the officials with whom he had secret intelligence; that he
would turn their minds so well that they would condescend to do
whatever he wished, as long as he promised that in facilitating the
capture of the city for Henry, neither their property nor their lives
would be affected.”

Turquant actually succeeded in convincing the elders of the Jewish
community of Seville. Peter, being informed of this treason thanks to a
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“female Jewish spy, left Seville precipitously. “Henry, Bertrand and the
entire White Company, took advantage of such a favourable occasion
to present themselves before the walls of the city. The information
which they had already obtained about the place from the Jews greatly
facilitated the surrender”, and Henry made his entry into Seville at the
head of his army.

Peter went to meet the King of Portugal at Lisbon to request his
assistance, but the latter made him understand that he did not have the
means to combat the French. On the other hand, the Prince of Wales,
eldest son of the King of England, who held Guyennes, an ancient
province in western France, under English control, would no doubt be
inclined to support him. “These arguments encouraged Peter to take the
road to Bordeaux to speak with the Prince of Wales, who held court
there. He therefore had a vessel prepared which he loaded with
everything he had that was most precious, not forgetting his gold table,
in which he embarked, followed by 25 knights, 50 Spanish shield-
bearers and a great number of Jews, who made a very strong
company.”

In February 1367, the Prince of Wales, or Black Prince, who owed
his nickname to the colour of his armour, crossed the Pyrenees. His
avant-garde suffered a defeat at the hands of the French, but in April,
impelled by the impetuosity of a few young Spanish lords, Henry
fought the disastrous battle of Néajera, in northern Spain, against du
Guesclin’s advice. As a result of the defeat, du Guesclin was taken
prisoner, while Henry of Trastdmara took refuge on the other side of
the Pyrenees, where he immediately regrouped his army.

Peter the Cruel, who no longer needed the Prince of Wales,
perfidiously invited him to withdraw his troops towards Navarre,
making him believe that there was an abundance of foodstuffs there and
that he would go there personally, to bring him all the sums of money
which he had promised. But having withdrawn to Navarre with his
troops, the Black Prince found nothing to eat there, “all the crops
having been consumed [...] and Peter, who was supposed to bring him
so much money, so much riches and treasure, left him to rage
helplessly together with all his troops”.

Du Guesclin personally fixed his own ransom at 100,000 florins.
The Princess of Wales, Joan of Kent, made him a present of 30,000
florins, while 4,000 French knights or shield-bearers who had served
him in Spain paid the rest. The Black Prince quite willingly liberated
him, all the more so since a rumour was current that he was only
holding du Guesclin prisoner because he feared him. Du Guesclin
regained Castile, where Henry had returned, and rapidly reconquered
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the country. The siege of Toledo lasted nine months. The city was
valiantly defended by partisans of Don Peter, “and most particularly by
the Jews”, writes Graetz. “The siege was horrible, and the community
of Toledo disappeared almost entirely after the capture of the city”.

Peter the Cruel had arrived to assist Toledo, with an army
composed essentially of Moors and Jews. On 14 March 1369, he
suffered a heavy defeat at the battle of Montiel and was taken prisoner.
When du Guesclin went to visit him with Henry, the two half-brothers
fought, and Peter was killed. Peter’s death pacified Spain, and du
Guesclin was able to return to France with the sensation of having
accomplished his mission. On hearing the news of Peter’s death, Pope
Urban V cried joyously, “I hear with satisfaction of the death of this
tyrant, rebel against the church and protector of the Jews and Saracens.
All just people rejoice at the punishment inflicted upon the wicked
tyrant”,
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May 1370: The Hosts of Enghien

According to a rumour in the Brabant, the Jews of the city of Enghien
had purloined 6 consecrated hosts from a church of Brussels to pierce
them with daggers and knives in their synagogues. An old Jewess
denounced the guilty parties, and there was a general cry of
* indignation. The elders of the synagogue of Enghien were put to the
question. On 22 May 1370, three of them were torn with pincers and
burned alive near the Porte de Namur, Brussels. One of the condemned
men, Jonathas, had acquired great riches through speculation.

All the other Jews were banished from Brabant, and their property
confiscated. A resolution was taken to perpetuate the memory of this
event: eighteen paintings depicting all the details of the event were
painted for the Church of St. Gudula of Brussels. So as to
commemorate the event, a secular holiday was instituted, the return of
which was fixed at fifty years.

In July 1820, the story of the hosts of Enghien was still being
celebrated, with eight days of festivals. In streets piled high with
flowers, the faithful carried images of the saint, sacredly ornamented
with precious stones, ornamented with eight pierced hosts. There were
banquets, concerts, archery contests, fireworks and illuminations.[211]
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When Charles V ascended the throne of France in 1364, in a country
ravaged and partially occupied by the English, he hastened to abolish
the restrictions added to Jewish privileges by his father, and authorised
them to prolong their stay in France. The privileges of the Jews were
thus established for six additional years, The Jews obtained everything
they wanted at court through bribery, and the banker Manassés de
Vesoul, who represented them, made very skilful use of his credit in
their favour. .

Despite the express prohibition against taking more than four
pennies in interest per livre per week, the Jews, utterly incorrigible,
greatly exceeded this rate, which was already too high. As usual, the
complaints reached the King. The provost of Paris initiated legal
proceedings and sentenced the usurers to heavy fines. There was even a
question, at the King’s council, of re-expelling from the Kingdom, but
Manassés de Vesoul, in return for a bribe of 1,500 gold francs, was able
to obtain a royal order shoving the matter under a rug and imposing
silence upon the King’s prosecutor. Then, after another payment, of
3,000 gold francs this time, they obtained an extension of the time they
were allowed to remain in France, now amounting to 26 years in
total.[212]

While the Jews visited the fairs of Champagne and Brie, it was not
so much to exhibit merchandise as to speculate in the other traders’
need for money, forcing other traders into bankruptcy and ending up
with their collateral on top of the interest.

Charles Evrart de Tremagnon, a Breton jurist and author of the
Songe du Verger, finished in 1376, one of the widely read books of the
14th century. The book was also an indictment of Judaism. The book’s
dialogue between a cleric and a knight contains remarks such as the
following: '

“And in fact”, said the one, “I knew someone who borrowed 10
francs from a Jew, but when the principal and usurious interest rates
were added together, he found he had paid 1,300 francs, and even then
he wasn’t in the clear. Anyone who honestly wished to investigate the
matter would find 50,000 people in France who have been disinherited
and reduced to poverty by the Jews in this Kingdom of France.”
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And the other responds, “The Christians, in their misery and
poverty, live like dogs in the hope of getting their collateral back.” And
they both agree the fact that “These are the evils and horrors that occur
every day as a result of doing business with or associating with
Jews”.[213] »

The Jews were always supposed to pay a tax at certain tolls. At
Saint-Symphorien d’Oson, a Jew on foot paid four pennies, a Jew on
horseback and a pregnant Jewess paid double.

An even more insulting outrage was practised at Puy. Whenever a
Jew dared show his face in the city, he was liable to trial by the choir
boys in the cathedral. Under the terms of a sentence handed down in
1373, these same choirboys sentenced a Jew to a fine of 300 livres for
being surprised inside the city.[214]

In the country of Lesmont, in Champagne, any Jew who passed by
was compelled to kneel before the door of the lord or the lord’s tenant
farmer to receive a slap from him.[215] Georges-Bernard Depping,
who reports these facts from the 19th century, remarks indignantly:
“Such were the insults to which people were inhumane enough to
subject the people of Moses and Solomon!”[216]

Charles V died in September 1380. The little people of Paris took
advantage of the occasion and rebelled against the Jews. The Jews of
the capital were pillaged and a few Jews were killed. The powerful
provost of Paris, Hughes Aubriot, known as the defender and protector
of the Jews, was unable to quell the revolt.[217]

Aubriot was on very poor terms with both the Church and the
University of Paris, which was dominated by the Clergy. During the
course of disturbances, in Paris, after the death of Charles V in 1380, he
arrested some Parisian citizens who had harassed some local Jews. For
this, he was placed on trial, and a variety of trumped up charges were
brought up against him, including heresy, sodomy, and extortion.
Luckily, he was a strong supporter of Philip the Bold, Duke of
Burgundy, who was able to prevent his execution. Instead, he was
sentenced to life imprisonment on bread and water. He was later
released during disturbances in Paris, and sought refuge in flight.

In the Chronique des Quatre premiers Valois, we read that Aubriot
was accused of being “addicted to heresy, buggery, sodomy, and being
a false Christian”, and “having committed several horrible and
abominable acts, such as living bestially with women against nature,
having carnal traffic with Jewesses, such as handing over to the Jews
the children of Jews who had been converted to Christianity, as well as
corrupting women and then having had their husbands hanged for
sodomy and not keeping Christian laws”.[218]
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In the adjacent duchy of Burgundy, by contrast, the Jews didn’t
have to suffer much. Philip the Bold (1363-1404) maintained the
obligation imposed upon the Jews prohibiting them from leaving their
houses without a “horn” hairstyle. He also prohibited them from
wearing coloured clothing, bathing in the same places as Christians,
and touching food exposed for sale, and having more than one
cemetery and synagogue per diocese. He also ordered them to abstain
from meat during Lent, like the Christians. But there were no bloody
persecutions during his reign.

Strasbourg, city of empire, re-admitted the Jews in 1383 by a public
act which limited their stay to a just a few years. But once they gained a
foothold, they never had any difficulty in perpetuating themselves there
and worming their way to respectability.

An Alsatian noble from Mulhouse named Neuenstein was being
prosecuted for debt, the amount of which exceeded his capital. As he
wished to get rid of his Jewish creditor, he invited him to dine with
him. When the creditor arrived, he had him placed in a trunk by four
tough valets who transported him to Burgundy. The prisoner only
returned after four weeks, after paying a ransom of 400 florins. But the
case ended up before a magistrate. Neuenstein was banished for
perpetuity, and his estate was confiscated in favour of the city, who
turned it into a tile factory.[219]
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Henry of Trastamara, who ascended the throne of Spain in 1369, bore
no ill-will towards the Jews of his kingdom. His struggle with Peter had
absorbed considerable sums, and he owed large sums to his allies. He
therefore needed skilful financiers to find the money required and
collect taxes regularly. He called upon two Jews from Seville, Don
Joseph Pichoén (or Picho) whom he appointed Minister of Finance, and
Don Samuel Abrabanel.

But anti-Jewish resentment was first expressed at the first meeting
of the Cortes, at Toro, in 1371. “It was complained that this race
occupied high positions at court and before the grandees of Spain, that
they controlled the tax farming and thus made the Christians dependent
upon themselves”, writes Heinrich Graetz.

Henry was obliged to take these recriminations seriously and
promulgated two anti-Jewish edicts. He prescribed the wearing of the
rouelle, like their fellow Jews in the rest of Europe, and required them
to change their Castilian names to Jewish names.

There were approximately 200,000 Jews in Castile around 1370, or
between 3 and 5% of the total population. In the kingdom of Aragon,
with 600,000 Jews, the proportion rose to 6 or 7%.[220]

The richest and most influential Jews had infiltrated all mechanisms
of the State, enriching themselves through usury, parading around in
public like peacocks, covered with gold and silk garments.

They were also active as pimps: a Jewish pimp was punished by
fine at Barcelona in 1387.[221] “Some Jews”, writes Graetz,
“complained of the egoism and immorality of their rich fellow Jews,
- who dreamt only of increasing their fortunes and gaining more
dignities... ‘Most of our grandees’, said the preacher Salomon Alami in
his Moral Mirror, who frequented the royal courts and are officials at
the Treasury, ‘are proud of their situation and their riches, but forget
the poor’. They live in palaces, go out in sumptuous carriages, and,
with a princely prodigality, cover their wives and daughters with gold,
pearls and precious stones... They are even jealous of each other and
mutually calumniate each other before kings and princes”.

Denunciations of Jews by fellow Jews were becoming quite
common. “They even denounce the rabbis”, says Graetz. “The Jewish
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minister Joseph Pichén was thus accused of embezzlement by several
of Jewish favourites, thrown into prison and sentenced to a fine of
40,000 doubloons. After paying this sum, he was released. To revenge
himself or perhaps simply to justify himself, he implicated his
informers in a ‘very serious accusation’ ”, writes Graetz, who does not
inform us of what it was.

King Henry II of Castile died at this point, in 1379. During the
festivities of the coronation of his son Don John I, at Burgos, a court
composed of rabbis sentenced Joseph Pichon for being an informant,
without even hearing his defence. A few court Jews asked the young
king to authorise them to execute one of their fellow Jews, said to be a
very dangerous man, whose name they failed to reveal. Equipped with
a royal charter and the text of the decree, Pichdn’s enemies visited the
chief of police (alguacil) and demanded his assistance in executing the
sentence of the rabbis.

On 21 August 1379, early in the morning, a few Jews, accompanied
by the alguacil, entered Pichén’s home, woke him up and got him to
come outside on some pretext. The moment he got to the door, he was
immediately killed.

The execution produced profound emotion, and, on the orders of
King John I, the Jewish executioners, a member of the rabbinical
tribunal of Burgos, as well as the alguacil, Fernan Martin, were put to
death. What is more, the king eliminated the criminal jurisdiction of the
Jewish tribunals; henceforth, the Jews were to elect Christians as judges
in their criminal trials. Don John I also ordered them, under pain of the
severest penalties, to abstain from all proselytism and to delete all
insulting passages contained in their prayers.

From that time onwards, the situation of the Jews of Spain
deteriorated. On the instances of the Cortes of Valladolid, in 1385,
King John elevated into state law the canonical provisions prohibiting
the Jews from living in the same house as Christians or from hiring
Christian wet nurses. He also decided that neither Jews nor Moslems
would be allowed to occupy the posts of treasurer to the King, Queen
or infante [royal child not in line for the throne].

Ferrdn Martinez, Archdeacon of Seville, was actively inciting the
people of Spain against their Jewish oppressors. Martinez, former
confessor to the Queen Mother, had thundered against Jewish acts of
malfeasance, denouncing their “riches and indomitable pride” in his
sermons since 1378. On 15 March 1391, in a town square, he finally
and openly exhorted the Christians to free themselves, an exhortation
followed by acts of popular violence. The authorities, directed by the
chief of police of Seville, caused two of the ringleaders to be punished,
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but this intervention only aggravated the popular anger. The Jews
pulled all their usual strings and Henry III’s regency council crushed
the popular resistance movement.

Martinez nevertheless continued to preach the same sort of
sermons. Three months later, on 6 June 1391, the people of Seville
attacked the Jewish quarter and set it on fire. The crowd massacred the
population so completely that the Jewish community of Seville, which
consisted of 7,000 families, entirely disappeared. “4,000 Jews were
killed by rioters, after which the survivors accepted baptism”, writes
Graetz. The women and children were sold to the Moslems as slaves,
and two synagogues were transformed into churches. From Seville, the
rebellion spread all over Spain.

- After Seville, the revolt spread to Cérdoba, the cradle of Spanish
Judaism. Many members of the Jewish community were killed, and the
others accepted baptism. At Toledo, as well, some of the community
accepted Christianity. Nearly 70 Jewish communities of Castile
experienced the same outbreaks of Christian violence, exasperated by
Jewish domination.

At Saragossa, the principal agitator was the Archdeacon’s nephew.
The people attacked the aljamas (Jewish quarters) en masse, just before
departing on a holy war in the Holy Land.

Although always in disagreement with Castile, Christians took up
arms in the kingdom of Aragon as well. Three weeks after the massacre
at Toledo, the same scenes recurred in the province of Valencia: “Not a
single Jew of a community of more than 5,000 persons remained. More
than 200 Jews perished, while the others sought safety in abjuration”.
At Valencia, 7,000 Jews were said to have converted to escape death.

At Palma, capital of the island of Mallorca, a group of vagabonds
and sailors, preceded by a cross, crossed “Jew Street” in Montesion
shouting, “Death to the Jews!” 300 Jews were killed, and many Jews
renounced their faith. La Sicil, a region in Aragon, was the scene of
more violence.

Three days later, carnage broke out at Barcelona, capital of
Catalunya. The Jews of the city experienced four days of terror. On
Saturday, 5 August 1391, towards 1:30 in the afternoon, a small group
of harbour troops, including some sailors from Castile, burned the gate
of the Jewish quarter and killed a number of Jews. The mob joined in
the pillaging, which started that evening and lasted all night, while the
surviving Jews took refuge in the royal castle.

Calm returned on Sunday, 6 August 1391. A counter-attack was
even attempted, and a few of the guilty parties were arrested and
thrown into prison. Royal officials, councillors and most of the
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administrators mounted guard around the Jewish quarter and the castle
“to protect the Jews.

On Monday, 7 August, dozens of armed men gathered on the
instructions of the advisors, and 10 sailors from Castile were sentenced
to be hanged. When Guillermo de San Clemente, the King’s deputy,
was on the point of executing the sentence, at about 1 o’clock in the
afternoon, he was interrupted by rioters, who freed the condemned
prisoners after attacking the prison.

On Tuesday 8 August, dying of hunger and thirst, the Jews in the
castle surrendered. A procession left the cathedral and came to meet
them, whereupon most of the Jews immediately accepted baptism in the
cathedral and churches. The others were put to death. Shortly
afterwards, Lleida, Girona and other cities were the scene of similar
events.

On 14 December 1391, 11 ringleaders of the riots at Barcelona
were hanged. On 22 December, 10 others suffered the same fate and
two were quartered, including a tailor named Armentora. The total
number of death sentences amounted to 25.

These riots, which lasted a little over two months, from 6 June to 13
August 1391, caused hundreds of deaths. Highest estimates appear
dubious: 4,000 deaths at Seville, over 2,000 at Cordoba. Others are
more modest: between 100 and 250 at Valencia, 250 to 400 at
Barcelona, 78 at Lleida.[222]

Heinrich Graetz writes: “The impression was generally so terrifying
that, for several months after the end of these excesses, the Jews no
longer dared leave the places of refuge in which they had sought
comfort... They continued to live in a sort of continual trance, in a
sombre mood, with a troubled mind, trembling at meeting a Christian
and fleeing before a child”.

These acts of violence no doubt indicated the coming of the
Messiah, announcing the forthcoming hour of deliverance.

Some Spanish Jews crossed the straits to establish themselves in
Algiers or Fez. Others went to Portugal, which had become an asylum
for abjured Jews. King Don John I of Portugal energetically maintained
order and punished all rioters with an implacable severity.

Pope Boniface IX once again prohibited Christians from using
violence to baptise Jews. His bull was published in all the cities of
Portugal and elevated into a law of the state. On 17 July 1392, King
Don John I again promulgated an edict prohibiting Christians from
punishing relapsed Jews (those who had returned to their religion of
origin).

At the other end of Europe, in the Holy Roman Empire, more than
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3,000 Jews were massacred at Prague in a popular riot, and their
synagogues were burned (Easter, 1389). The next year, Emperor
Wenceslas published an edict declaring “all counts, barons, lords,
knights, valets, bourgeois and other subjects residing in the country of
the Franks discharged from all debts to Jews in both principal and
interest”.
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In 1380, upon the advent of Charles VI, hardly out of childhood, the
government was the plaything of courtly intrigue. The dukes of Berry,
Burgundy, Orleans, each had their partisans, and the fraction with the
most credit obtained whatever royal orders they desired or disrupted
parliamentary procedures. In this party struggle, the Jews never lacked
for friends and protectors. No doubt they also had more debtors.

It was at this point, as always, that anti-Jewish riots broke out in
Paris and a few provincial cities. The common people, enraged by the
usury of the Jews, practised with impunity, pillaged Jewish property
and wounded or killed several inhabitants; but the Jewish community
always managed to arrange compensation. For example, they argued
that precious objects left with them as collateral — gold, silver, precious
stones, jewellery, etc. — had been stolen in the riots, and that as a result
they could no longer return these objects to their owners. They were
thus dispensed from returning them without even having to compel the
government to reimburse them.

We see, through the public documents of the time, that they never
ceased supplying the King with bribe money, for wars and other
expenses.

In 1388, they extorted the right to demand four pennies per livre in
interest, an exorbitant rate. But the kings always prohibited the
cumulation of rents with capital, and charging interest on interest,
which was called, in the language of the time, fuire des montes montes
[making mountains of mountains]. The Jews had never before been
allowed to push usury to this point.

The king’s prosecutors and other judicial officers then filed charges
against the guilty usurers. In fear that the authorities might discover
transactions capable of bringing down a new tempest upon their heads,
the Jews hastened to advance the king a large sum of money.

They then complained that the officers of the law were molesting
them, and begged the King to protect them from these “persecutions”.
The monarch in this case was weak enough to impose perpetual silence
upon his own prosecutor, and to protect the Jews from any prosecution
for 10 years.[223]

The unfortunate borrowers, for their part, probably paid 10 times
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what it cost the Jews to obtain this concession. The King was weak
enough to prohibit his own prosecutor from accusing them of any
abuses whatever. He was also ordered to avoid disturbing them in any
way and to allow them to enjoy their privileges to the fullest, so that the
fortunes of private persons were placed at the discretion of the usurers
for 10 years. Never since the reign of Louis the Pious had the Jews
obtained so much power.

With an insane king and a government undermined by factions, the
Jews speculated in public misery, enriching themselves rapidly, and, as
usual, pushing their audacity to ever greater extremes. In this case, they
asked the king to stop issuing creditors with the letters of respite which
were obtained to prevent prosecution by the creditors of anyone who
enjoyed credit at the royal court. It cost them 10,000 francs.[224]

Quite luckily, some honest judges reacted against these parasites.
Despite formal orders from a “crazy” king, Jews guilty of exceeding
the legal rate of interest or charging interest on interest were arrested
and locked up in a caretaker’s lodge, and consideration was given to
confiscating all their property. The Jews, with money in hand,
immediately went to complain at court, claiming that the prisoners were
innocent, that they had only been exercising their privileges, and that,
despite the persecution, the community was prepared to pay whatever
sum of money the King wished to see raised. Through the payment of
6,000 francs cash, the representatives of the Jews obtained the
liberation of the guilty parties. The prosecutor was reduced to
silence.[225] ‘

In 1388, in yet another case, at Montpelier, a Jew was convicted of
placing counterfeit money into circulation. The curator of the privileges
of the Jews of the city demanded custody of the prisoner, claiming that
he alone had the right to judge them. But when the affair was laid
before the King’s Council, it was decided that the judgement belonged
to the general masters of the mint. The outcome of the case is unknown.

The Jews finally lost their credit in France at the court of the Denis
Machaut affair. Machaut was an extremely rich Jew from Paris who
had converted to Catholicism. One day, he disappeared without a trace.
There was a great commotion and the affair was laid before the provost
of Paris. Seven Jews were arrested, who admitted having exhorted
Denis Machault to return to Judaism, Apostasy was a crime which was
so rarely pardoned that a Christian was burned alive at Paris for having
had children with a Jewess, who brought the children up in the Jewish
faith.[226]

Assisted by lawyers and theologians, the provost condemned the
- Jews to be burned alive. But Parliament, having been apprised of the
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affair, commuted the sentence to banishment and confiscation,
moreover stipulating that the guilty should be whipped in three public
squares, that they pay 10,000 livres in fines for the construction of the
little bridge of the Hotel-Dieu, and that they remain in prison pending
the return of Denis Machault.

The poet Eustache Deschamps, in his Complainte de L’Eglise
(1393), then called for the expulsion of the Jews in his voeux.

The adversaries of the Jews took advantage of the Denis Machault
affair to obtain the revocation of all the privileges granted to the Jews
and their banishment from the kingdom. We are unaware of the
intrigues which were put in play at court to arrive at this result.

The 28 years which King Jean had permitted them to remain in the
kingdom of France in 1360, and the 16-year extension which Charles
VI had granted them, should only have expired in 1396. But the crimes
and other abominations which they committed every day obliged King
Charles VI to cut this period short. The exasperation of the people was
too great and could no longer be contained.

“The Jews collected great sums in interest and had their borrowers
imprisoned when they didn’t wish to pay”, thus arousing popular
enmity. “The people hated the Jews”, writes Graetz. Their incessant
raillery against the Catholic religion, the receiving of stolen goods,
their usury, pederasty, pimping, ritual murders, racketeering and
swindling of all kinds, had aroused the disgust and hatred of the
Christians against the members of this sect. On 17 September 1394, the
day of the Great Pardon, the King finally took the decision to expel the
Jews from the kingdom. ,

“We have long been informed, on repeated occasions, by
trustworthy persons, our prosecutors and officials, of serious
complaints and grievances received every day of the excesses and
crimes of the Jews against Christians and, for this reason, our
prosecutors have conducted several investigations through which it
appears that the. Jews have committed various kinds of crimes,
especially, crimes against our faith and the contents of our letters...
After mature deliberation with our council, we hereby declare, as an
irrevocable provision, that henceforth no Jews whatsoever shall be
permitted to reside in or enter our kingdom”.[227]

Loans owed to Jews were cancelled and their debtors discharged
from repayment. This memorable edict put an end to the legal existence
of the Jews in France.

The following text is by Michel Pintoin, a monk at Saint-Denis and
historiographer to the King: “Jewish usury, which was getting more
odious with each passing day, and which was practised throughout the
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kingdom, have reduced more than one family to the most horrible
misery. The enemies of Jesus Christ have aroused the hatred of all
French people. The King, informed of these disorders and heeding the
wise counsel of the Queen, his well-beloved spouse, has, despite the
large sums extorted from the Jews every year — sums which filled his
treasury — resolved to separate the wheat from the chaff and to distance
all believers from contact with infidels. An ordinance, published in all
the cities of the kingdom, commanded the Jews to leave France before
Christmas and to seek refuge abroad, under pain of conviction of /ése-
majesté and the confiscation of their property”.[228]

Graetz stresses that the decree had been promulgated, perhaps
intentionally, on the Day of Expiation, while the Jews were in the
temple. The Jewish historian gives vague and succinct explanations:
“They were accused of outraging Christianity and violating the terms of
their privileges”.

Charles VI nevertheless treated them less harshly than his ancestor
Philip the Fair. He granted them a grace period in which they were
permitted to collect their debts, ordered the provost of Paris and the
governors of the provinces to protect them, and charged officers to
accompany them to the border to protect them against robbery and
assault. The Jews only left France in late 1394 and early 1395. They
left for Provence, which was not yet part of France, Italy or the Holy
Roman Empire. Jews only remained in the papal territories: in the
Comtat-Venaissin, Avignon and Carpentras.

Some Jews had entrusted large sums to the famous Nicholas
Flamel, a sworn scribe of the University of Paris, who passed for a
sorcerer and alchemist, capable of transforming mercury into gold, and
who was in cahoots with the cabbalists. Flamel, they say, never
returned the money to the Jews, and is said to have used these sums to
build the church of Saint-Jacques-de-la-Boucherie, the tower of which
is still in existence, next to the Hotel de Ville.

When their departure was decreed, the great theologian Jean Gerson
praised Charles I'V for having expelled the Jews.[229]

In 1398, the Provencal prior Honoré Bonet, who resided in Paris,
published a text entitled L ’Apparicion de maistre Jehan de Meun,
author of Roman de la Rose. The great writer, who appeared to him in a
dream, was said to have bitterly upbraided the prior for failing to put an
end to the evils raging in France, against which de Meun now ordered
him to rebel. Another great writer, Honoré de Balzac, also spoke
through de Meun, setting forth the popular complaints against the Jews
in these words: .

“You have been thrown out of the royal kingdom due to your great
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iniquities, your usury, your sins. One will find in you so many things to
criticise that you really should have been burnt alive, since you practise
no honest profession and wherever you reside no benefit or utility
results from your presence. You do not till the earth nor do you toil on
the sea. You shall have no portion of Paradise.”

A few Jews lingered in the kingdom, probably involuntarily, or
because they were subject to prosecution by Christian creditors. In
1395, seven of these Jews appealed to the provost of Paris against the
King’s prosecutor; who had put them to the question and “tortured”
them. They remained in prison until at least 1397.

Two of them died, and eight others came to join them. It cost them
4,000 gold écus in bribes to the Queen to be freed, but they were
immediately conducted to the bridge of Lyon or Macon, on the banks
of the Rhine, for expulsion from the kingdom, along with all the other
Jews.

On 30 January 1398, an ordinance of Charles VI prescribed that all
the obligations signed by Christians to the benefit of the Jews would be
“withdrawn, torn to pieces and burnt”.[230]

France was now Judenrein, purified of Jews. As a result, France
experienced a magnificent flourishing in the arts and all other fields for
the next four centuries, until 1789 at least.

After their departure, there remained such an evil memory of them
and their presence that, many years later, people continued to express
their hatred and disgust at the “rapacious usurers”. In his Mystére de la
Passion (1452), Anoul Gréban caused one of his theatrical characters to
describe them as the “cruellest of wolves”, “deadlier than scorpions”,
prouder than an old lion”, “more rabid than false dogs”. He also called
them “wicked and felonious”, “bawds”, “whores and perverse
progeny” and “devils from hell”. [231] :

This “anti-Semitism without Jews”, a phenomenon leading to a
great deal of feigned puzzlement among Jewish intellectuals, cannot
otherwise be explained.
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Since Italy was divided into a large number of small states, no
government was never able to control the activities of the Jews. If one
such state restricted their activities, another prince was always found
who could be induced to consider it to his advantage to protect them.

Compliance with the order to wear the rouelle was as difficult to
enforce in Italy as it had been in France, and had to be renewed on
numerous occasions. The synod of Ravenna, in 1311, once again
subjected the Jews to the wearing of a mark on their clothing, further
stipulating that no Jew could reside more than a month in any location
where there were any synagogues.[232] At Malta, the bishop exercised
the functions of guardian of the rouelle rouge, that is, that he made sure
that the Jews wore a red mark the size of the royal seal below their
beards.[233] Pope Paul II required them to wear red tabares (a sort of
short jacket). Later, at Rome, they were required to wear yellow clasps
or barrettes, but the barrettes were as difficult to introduce as the
tabares.[234]

At Venice, in the year 1298, the Great Council deemed it necessary
to appoint five honest men to supervise the Jews and fine those who
gave themselves over to usurious practices. They were then granted
permission to reside and open banks for 10 years only, and were
compelled to renew a licence called the condotte. They were then
granted condottes for 10 years, in return for a yearly payment of 4,000
ducats into the treasury. The legal rate on loans was not to exceed 10%
in the absence of a written contract. If there was a contract, the interest
could increase to 12%. The senate wished to force the Jews to write
written contracts at all times, so as to put an end to the endless disputes
between Jews and Christians as to the rate of interest on loans.

In 1385, an ordinance of the Grand Council established that Jewish
usurers were committing serious abuses by demanding usurious rates of
interest and that they were continually enriching themselves in an
outrageous manner at the expense of the poor. As a result, the Council
ordered them never to refuse a loan when the borrower presented
collateral equal to the value of the loan. They were also prohibited from
having any intimate relations with Christian women, even prostitutes,
under pain of a fine and six months to one year in prison.[235]
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These regulations did not however put an end to the disorders. In
1388, the Senate began to complain that the Jews were refusing to loan
small sums of less than 30 ducats to the poor of Venice at 8%. The
Senate ordered them to grant these loans under pain of fine, while
prohibiting the acceptance of holy objects as collateral.

On 27 August 1394, two and half years before the expiration of the
10-year contract, the Senate, by quasi-unanimous decision, ordered that
all the Jews were to be expelled from the city upon expiration. In fact,
in the Senate’s report, we may read that “all the moveable wealth of the
Venetians was in danger of ending up in the hands of the Jews.” The
Judeorum expulsio was effective starting on 21 February 1397.
Henceforth, the Jews would only be authorised to enter the city with
15-year permits and they would be compelled to wear a yellow rouelle
on their lapel. Lending at usury in Venice, “publicly or secretly”, would
~ henceforth be punishable by a fine of 1,000 ducats. It was necessary to
await the beginning of the 16th century for the Jews of the nearby port
city of Mestre to be authorised to come and engage in their dealings in
Venice, on condition.
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While a few Jews fled Spain after the riots of 1391, most of them
remained in the country, where they were supposed to convert. These
new Christians were called marranos, or conversos. But, writes Graetz,
“while they professed Catholicism for appearances’ sake, they
continued to practise Jewish rites in secret. The authorities saw nothing
or pretended they saw nothing”. The Inquisition was not yet in
operation, but the people were not deceived as to the innermost
sentiments of these false Christians. The Spanish people “hated them
even more than the Jews”.

Nevertheless, some Jews were sincerely converted. Conversos were
even the first people to demand the founding of the Inquisition.
Wherever they established themselves, the Jews suffered persecution,
“very often provoked by renegade Jews”, writes Graetz. Because, as
always, the sincerity of any “new Christian” can only be judged by the
force of his or her anti-Judaism.

Don Peter Ferrus, a baptised Jew, published innumerable treatises
against the rabbis and Jewish community. Diego, a monk, from
Valencia, was also a secret Jew who mixed Hebrew words in his satires
against the sect. The poet Alphonso Alvarez of Villasandino larded his
poetry with Jewish words. The apostate physician Astruc Raimuch de
Fraga, until that time one of the primary defenders of Judaism, also
carried on very active Christian propaganda under the name of
Francisco Dids Carne.

But none of these converted Jews did as much harm to his former
fellow Jews as Salamon Levi, of Burgos, known, as a Christian, under
the name of Paul (Pablo) de Santa Maria. Before his baptism, he
practised the functions of rabbi. He engaged in noisy activity and lived
like a lord, travelling about in luxurious carriages, accompanied by a
numerous escort. In 1391, he received baptism with his brother and
four brothers. Paul de Santa Maria then visited the University of Paris
to study Christian theology and a few years later, the rabbi was
ordained a priest. He went to Avignon, where the cardinal Peter de
Luna had just been elected anti-Pope under the name of Benedict XIII.
Thanks to his skill, zeal and his facility with words, Paul gained the
good graces of the Pope. He was appointed archbishop and chaplain,
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then bishop of Cartagena, and, on the Pope’s recommendation, the
King of Castile, Henry III, showered him with favours. He also
published the Scrutinorum scripturarum, in which he accused the Jews
- of homicides, adultery, thefts and mendacity, and expressed joy at the
massacres of 1391. Pablo de Santa Maria began to provoke new
persecutions of the Jews, advising Don Henry III to prohibit access to
public office not only by Jews, but by new Christians as well. “He
expressed his malevolence towards Judaism and the Jews even when
explaining the Bible”, writes Graetz. “These actions showed the Jews
that this particular apostate was indeed their most implacable enemy.”

Nevertheless, King Henry kept two Jewish physicians around him,
in whom he reposed absolute trust. For the Jews, the reign of Henry II1
was like a calm between two storms. .

The situation deteriorated after this sovereign’s death in 1406. The
heir to the throne, John II, was then only two years old, and the queen
mother, Catalina (Catherine of Lancaster), occupied the regency. As
co-regent she had the infante Don Ferdinand, who later became king of
Aragon. Finally, among the King’s advisors was Pablo de Santa Maria,
preceptor to the young king, who exerted a great influence in the
council to the regency.

In 1408, an edict reinstating the paragraphs of the compendium of
laws of Alphonse, who was hostile to the Jews, was published in the
name of the young King. Public employment was now closed to them.
Any Jew who accepted a function on the part of a nobleman or city was
liable to a fine amounting to double the wages earned on the job. If his
fortune was insufficient to pay the fine, first of all, all his property was
confiscated, and, in addition, he was sentenced to fifty lashes.

On 2 January 1412, Regent Dofla Catalina (Catherine of Lancaster),
in accordance with the infante Don Ferdinand and Pablo de Santa
Maria, promulgated an edict of twenty four articles, in the name of
John II, intended to protect the Christian population from the Jews. The
Jews were now obliged to reside in special districts (juderias) which
could only have one gate to come in and go out of. They were
prohibited from practising medicine, having business relations with
Christians, taking Christians into their service, even on the Sabbath,
and from occupying any public office whatsoever.

Their private jurisdiction was abolished. A few articles of the edict
regulated the manner in which they were to dress. They were no longer
permitted to wear the same garments as ordinary citizens of the
country, nor to wear rich fabrics, under pain of a considerable fine; in
the case of recidivism, they risked physical chastisement and even the
confiscation of all their goods. They were prohibited from carrying

219



72. Pablo de Santa Maria

weapons. On the other hand, the wearing of the rouelle, of red cloth,
was very strictly required. If a Jew shaved his beard or cut his hair
short, he was punished by 100 lashes. Finally, they were prohibited
from bearing the title Don (“Sir”), either in writing or orally, and from
leaving one city to go and live in another. The Jews did not even have
the freedom to leave the territory. Those surprised in the act of
emigration lost all their goods and became serfs of the King. The
nobility and bourgeoisie were threatened with severe punishments for
offering protection to any Jew.

This edict, which shows the influence and probable partial
authorship of Pablo de Santa Maria, was enforced in the strictest
manner. A contemporary Jew, Salomon Alami, cited by Graetz,
describes the results: “The wealthy residents of palatial dwellings”, he
writes, “are confined in dark corners, in miserable huts. We are forced
to replace our sumptuous and elegant garments with rags, to make us
objects of contempt and mockery. Considerable personages engaged in
tax farming are reduced to poverty, because they know no trade
permitting them to earn a living”.
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Such was the situation when Vincent Ferrer arrived at the court of
Castile. Vincent Ferrer (or Ferrier) was a Dominican monk, originally
from Valencia, who had refused a high position at the papal court at
Avignon to travel Europe barefooted, as a simple flagellant monk. For
twenty years, from 1399 until his death, he criss-crossed Spain, Italy,
Switzerland, and even went to Scotland. He was known for the
austerity of his morals, his contempt for riches, and his humility. He
was often accompanied by an impressive retinue of followers, to the
point that he had to preach outdoors, in large spaces, to enable him to
be heard by the entire crowd. Burning with enthusiasm, eloquent, with
a warm and vibrant voice, he knew how to move the masses. Whether
tearfully describing the Passion of Christ or announcing the
forthcoming destruction of the universe, he drew tears from all his
listeners and exercised an absolute domination over them.

Wherever he appeared, he was welcomed as a saint, accompanied
by a crowd of disciples. Upon his arrival in a village, the entire
population left their work and ran to meet him. When he commanded
the multitude to uncover their shoulders and mortify the flesh as Jesus
had been flagellated by the Jews, thousands of listeners shed tears with
him. The rich left their goods and lived in austerity, women from great
families withdrew into the cloisters. There were never enough
confessors to hear all the confessions that people had to make to them:
criminals, rogues and courtiers denounced themselves for the scandal
of their past lives. The notaries who accompanied the Dominican drew
up records of the restitution of goods unjustly acquired. There were
reconciliations between families, parties and cities.

This missionary, venerated as a saint by Christians, was feared by
the Jews. Vincent Ferrer enjoyed a very great influence before the
kings of Spain, because on more than one occasion, he succeeded in
calming popular riots solely through the authority which he exercised
over crowds. It was therefore easy to obtain authorisation from the
royal family to preach in the synagogues and mosques, and to constrain
the Jews and Moslems to come and listen to his sermons.

Vincent Ferrer was hostile to any physical violence against Jews
and any forced baptism. But with support from the civil authorities, he
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obliged the Jews to come and listen to his sermons. With the cross in
his hand and the role of the Law under his arm, in the midst of an escort
of flagellants and swordsmen, he invited Jews to accept baptism.

Using the pen and the spoken word, he undertook an implacable
crusade, which he continued for many years. He first directed his
attacks against the new Christians, whom he accused of being
insufficiently fervent. In the fear of finding themselves subject to the
fearful punishment applicable to relapsed converts, perhaps in part due
to the inflammatory eloquence of the Dominican, many marranos did
public penance.

In 1412, with Pablo de Santa Maria, he determined the government
to issue the statute of Valladolid, which prohibited the Jews from
selling or offering food to Christians, hiring Christians to till the land,
and from shaving off their beards. The Jews naturally had to wear a
distinctive sign.

Many Jews converted, the moment they started trembling at the
sight of their synagogues being torn down. Vincent Ferrer could have
had the Jewish districts completely destroyed by mobs with a single
word. Wherever he preached, many Jews were baptised and many
synagogues were transformed into churches and blessed by the
Dominican. “During the four months that Vincent Ferrer lived in
Castile (December 1412 — March 1413), he did the Jews so much harm
that they never recovered from it”, writes Graetz.

Called to Aragon, where several pretenders were disputing the
crown, he succeeded, in June 1414, in having the Castilian infante, Don
Ferdinand named king of the country. Ferdinand rewarded his services
by hastening to have him appointed confessor and director of
conscience.

Like their fellow Jews in Castile, the Jews were obliged to listen to
the sermons of the Dominican monk, and in many communities, at
Saragossa, Tortosa, Valencia and Mallorca, there were numerous
abjurations. It is estimated that 20,000 Jews from Castile and Aragon
accepted baptism as a result of his preaching. Vincent Ferrer, who died
in 1419, was canonised in 1455. His saint’s day is 5 April.
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The great schism of the Orient, which had pitted two Popes against
each other for forty years, one in Rome and one in Avignon, ended in
1417, after the council of Constance.

A council meeting in Pisa had attempted to ﬁnd a solution a few
years before, in 1409. The 500 representatives had decided to depose
the two Popes and elect a new one. In the month of June, the
condemnation of the two rival pontiffs was pronounced and the
cardinals elected Alexander V. These cardinals were excommunicated
by the two rival Popes and the situation deteriorated, since there were
now three Popes, two of them anti-Popes.

In May 1410, Alexander V died and was replaced by Jean XXII. In
his Chroniques, Enguerrand de Monstrelet described the coronation of
Pope (anti-Pope) Jean XXIII at Bologna. On this occasion, he recalls
how the Jews saluted the cortege when he arrived at their street and
presented the Pope with a roll of the Torah, as was the custom. The
Pope threw it to the ground and said, “Your law is good, but ours is
better”. The Jews followed the cortege and attempted to approach the
Pope, so much so that they threw coins. But the 200 armed men at the
head and tail of the cortege each had “a leather mallet with which they
struck the Jews, so great was the joy to see it”.[236]

The anti-Pope of Avignon, Benedict XIII, then attempted to rally
partisans to himself by provoking mass conversions of the Jews of
Spain. To this end, in concert with King Ferdinand, he had convened
- the wisest rabbis at the end of 1412 to a religious dialogue at Tortosa.
At this meeting, Jerome of Santa-Fe was to show them that the Messiah
had already arrived, based on the Talmud, and had taken human form
in Jesus. The papal court wished above all to convert the eminent Jews
of Aragon to Christianity, persuaded that once the community leaders
were converted the masses would follow.

Jerome de Santa-Fe was then one of the most implacable enemies
of Israel. Like Pablo de Santa Maria, he was also a former Jew. Before
his conversion, his name was Joshua Lorki d’ Alcaniz, physician to the
Pope of Avignon. The list of the persons to be convened was drawn up
by Jerome de Santa-Fe.
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The Jews knew from experience how these conferences, which
were nothing but traps, always ended up for them, but were not in a
position to reject the proposal of the Christians. They had no alternative
but to have themselves defended as best they could by their ablest
scholars. Twenty-two of the most important Jews in Aragon appeared
at this dialogue, with the poet and physician Don Vidal Benveniste Ibn
Labi of Saragossa at their head, who was the progeny of a grand Jewish
family. The representatives of Judaism in Aragon all possessed a high
level of culture, but, writes Graetz, “the repeated persecutions and
humiliations had defeated the courage of the most valiant. At the time
of the events, this elite of the Judaism of Aragon was not yet capable of
rising to the level of its mission”.

This controversy prolonged itself, with many interruptions, for 21
months (from February 1413 to 12 November 1414) and took up 68
sessions, sometimes in front of 2,000 spectators. On the 63rd day,
Jerome de Santa-Fe introduced the Talmud into the prosecution
evidence, and Nicholas Donin later denounced the horrors of all sorts
which it contained while demanding that the book be condemned. To
attain this objective more easily, he made a compendium of all its
abominations. Heinrich Graetz speaks here of “... all the fantasies and
singularities” which one could discover “in the immense ocean of the
Talmud”.

Jerome also repeated the accusations of his predecessor Alphonse
de Valladolid. The Jews were now divided into two groups. In
accordance with the majority of his colleagues, Astruc Levi declared in
writing that the aggadot incriminated in the Talmud had no authority
and imposed no religious obligation. But Joseph Albo and Don Vidal
protested and affirmed that they would submit to the authority of the
haggadot, with the reserve that the passages cited by Jerome should not
be taken literally.

The papal court also summoned to Tortosa, in groups, these
thousands of Jews who had listened to Vincent Ferrer and who had
accepted baptism. They introduced themselves all together in the
meeting room and publicly made their profession of faith in the creed
of the Christians. Three thousand neophytes also paraded in the
baptistries of Tortosa, and the year 1414 became known as the “Year of
the Apostasy”. In the last session of the dialogue, the Pope coldly
dismissed the notable Jews and announced that new restrictive
measures would be taken against their fellow Jews. All the rabbis, with
the exception of two, in the name of a crowd of Jews who had been
present during the debates, declared that they would recognise and
abjure their errors and demanded baptism.[237]
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The measures announced by Benedict XIII were promulgated six
months later, on 11 May 1415. The bull of Valencia consisted of 13
articles. Jews were prohibited, for example, from teaching the Talmud.
All copies were to be searched out and destroyed.

All those who read the writings of anti-Christian polemics, in
particular, a treatise entitled Mar Mar Yeshu, would be condemned as
blasphemers. No community, small or large, would be permitted more
than one synagogue. The Jews were forbidden from residing with
Christians, bathing, eating, having commercial relations with them,
from occupying public office, having Christian domestic servants or
wet nurses, from practising medicine. Henceforth, for the first time, the
Jews were obliged to live in separate quarters. Jewish relatives could
not disinherit their converted children under any pretext.[238] Once
again, they were required to wear distinctive emblems of red or yellow
cloth. Finally, they were ordered to attend Christian sermons three
times a year, and, after the sermon, to listen to the reading of the bull.

A son of the apostate Paul, Gonzalo de Santa Maria, baptised at the
same time as his father, was charged with supervising the strict
enforcement of this edict. No doubt, this bull, in most paragraphs,
simply renewed the provisions recently taken by Queen Catalina. But,
while the latter had only promulgated her edict against the Jews of
Castile, the bull of Benedict XIII applied to the Jews of all Christian
countries.

The bull of Benedict XIII, if it had been strictly enforced, would
have put an end to the political existence of the Jews. It annihilated in
effect all the sect’s civil rights, and placed them outside Christian
society. But anti-Pope Peter de Luna or Benedict XIII, recognised only
in Aragon, did not enjoy such great authority over Christianity. Even
Castile failed to obey him.

Benedict XIII, replaced by the council of Constance and abandoned
by his friends, soon only retained his magnificence in the small fortress
of Pefiiscola. We do not know what happened to Jerome de Santa-Fe
after the fall of his protector. In Jewish circles, this convert had
received the nickname of Megaddef (“the Blasphemer”). King
Ferdinand, the regent Catalina and Vincent Ferrer left the scene almost
all at the same time, between 1417 and 1419.

In Castile, Catalina’s restrictive laws continued to apply, and the
bull of Benedict XIII remained in force in Aragon. “Vincent Ferrer, in
particular”, writes Graetz, “had hurt the Jews a great deal, not only in
Spain, but in other countries as well.”

There were many countries in Europe where Ferrer, either through
his preaching, or through the reputation of his exploits, which preceded
him wherever he went, caused “considerable harm to the Jews”.
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With the termination of the Great Schism of the West, a synod was
organised by the Jewish communities of Italy, held at Bologna and at
Forli (1416 and 1418), raised the necessary funds to purchase the
protection of the Pope and the college of cardinals. Pope Martin V
allowed himself to be bribed, and, on 31 January 1419, he promulgated
a bull which began as follows: “Since the Jews are made in the image
of God and that the debris of their nation will one day find health, we
decree, like our predecessors, that it is prohibited to bother them in
their synagogues, to attack their laws, usages and customs, to baptise
them by force, to force them to celebrate Christian feast days, to
impose upon them the wearing of distinctive signs or to place any
obstacle in the way of their commercial relations with Christians”.

“It is permitted to suppose”, confirms Graetz, “that the rich gifts
offered by the various Jewish delegations to Martin V were not at all
without influence upon the sentiments of benevolence manifested by
the pontiff with regards to the Jews”.

Later, Martin V was able to take energetic measures against the
crimes committed by the Jews. We know that the merchants of the sect
have never scrupled to traffic in human flesh. On the edges of the Black
Sea, certain Jews have never hesitated to sell young Christians to the
Moslems.

The city of Caffa, in Crimea, was a flourishing colony, the great
warehouse of Genoese trade in the Black Sea. Many foreigners moved
there to profit from the activity of this Italian colony, and there were
numerous Jews. We have no information on the trade they conducted,
but we know that several of them, practising no religion in public and
not making their religion known by any exterior sign, dedicated
themselves to the slave trade. They purchased young girls and boys
from the Tatars, the Russians and in the Caucasus, and sold them to the
Saracens at a great profit. The young Christian slaves, young men and
girls, finished up in the harems. The Dominicans of Caffa warned the
Pope of this abominable traffic, and Martin V, indignantly ordered
another bull, that the Jews should always wear a distinctive emblem on
their clothing; he then authorised the bishop of Caffa and other
Genoese trading posts to seize the goods of Jews suspected of dealing
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in slaves and to use the money from these seizures to redeem the young
people sold. Recalcitrant Jews were to be expelled from the
colony.[239]

An Italian author of the 15th century, Giovanni Fiorentino,
obviously had a good understanding of the nature of the Jews. In one of
his writings, he shows a Jew from Mestre who wishes to cut a pound of
flesh from the body of a debtor from Venice, simply to have the
satisfaction of causing the death of a Christian.

A text from an anonymous author entitled Gernutus, le Juif de
Venise, had been published at the end of the 14th century. Sung to the
air of Black and Yellow, the ballad was compiled by an English
folklorist, Thomas Percy, canon of Dromore, County Down, Ireland, in
1765: “In the city of Venice/ Not long ago/ There lived a cruel Jew/
Who lived solely off usury/ According to Italian authors...”’[240]
Between 1553 and 1640, the English theatre had a repertory of no less
than sixty plays including Jewish usurers among the characters.
William Shakespeare took up this theme in 1600 in his famous play,
The Merchant of Venice, and the horrible usurer Shylock still
personifies the implacable hatred of the Jew towards Christians, even
today.[241]
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At the other end of Europe, Jews were distrusted just as much as they
were in Spain. The rouelle, imposed by the Fourth Lateran Council of
1215, was useful in revealing the fact that one was dealing with a Jew.
Canon 33 of the Council of Salzburg of 1418 contains a provision
proper to place the goyim, always too trusting, even further on their
guard against the Jews: at the same time as it enjoined the Jews to wear
the yellow bonnet, Jewish women had to attach a little bell to their
robes.[242] ’

The disorders began in Austria in 1420, for the usual reasons. On
23 May, Archduke Albert (Albrecht) ordered the arrest and
incarceration of all the Jews in the kingdom. In the prisons, the men
were separated from the women, and the children from their parents.
More than 100 victims died this way in Vienna, on 12 March 1421,
burnt in a meadow, on the banks of the Danube. The synagogue of
Vienna was destroyed that same day. What is more, an edict from the
Archduke prohibited all Jews from residing in Austria in the future.

The new converts left Austria to take refuge either in Poland, or in
Italy or Bohemia. But the latter country became increasingly uncertain
for them. After the death of John Huss, in July 1415, the religious
struggle between Catholics and Hussites had become an international
- struggle between Czechs and Germans. The Jews, who systematically
favoured everything that could contribute to the weakening of the
Catholic Church, naturally supported the Hussite movement, supplying
them with money and weapons. Thus the Hussites showed no hatred for
the Jews. There was only a single case in which Jewish houses were
looted along with Catholic ones.

“It should be remarked”, writes Graetz, “that every time a party has
been formed within Christiandom to fight the reigning church, it has
taken a Biblical, that is, Jewish, character. For the Hussites, the
Catholics were pagans, while they considered themselves the people of
Israel, commanded by God to fight the Philistines, the Moabites and the
Ammonites, and they destroyed the churches and convents as places
soiled by the worship of idols.”

Emperor Sigismund united considerable forces, hiring German
landsknechts and mercenaries from Brabant and the Netherlands.
Armed bands came running from all parts and marched on Prague,
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where the chief Hussite, Ziska, organised the defence of his country.
Wherever they passed, the German soldiers attacked Jews. In the
provinces of the Rhineland, in Thuringia, in Bavaria, they killed all the
Jews they could find. Sigismund did not permit their mistreatment, but
he did not defend the Jews very zealously. _

The Jewish community of Cologne was expelled in its entirety at
this time (1426). The Jews, accused of a ritual murder, were burnt at
Ravensburg, Uberlingen and Lindau (1430).

The Council of Basel (June 1431 — May 1443), which deliberated
on all great European affairs, attempted to get the Hussites to re-enter
the bosom of the Church. The council also renewed all the ancient
restrictive measures against the Jews. It thus reinstated the application
of the canonical provisions which prohibited the Jews from having
relations with Christians, employing them as domestic servants, of
treating them as physicians, and occupying public office. The Jews
were also required to wear distinct clothing and reside in special
districts. To these ancient prohibitions, the council added a number of
new prohibitions: the Jews could no longer obtain any university
degree and were to be constrained, even by force, to go and listen to the
speeches of Christian proselytisers. It was also resolved to teach in
Hebrew, Chaldean (and Arabic) in upper schools to facilitate their
conversion. This council also concerned itself with converted Jews. It
prescribed benevolence in their regard, but also supervision.

It is probable that the apostates Gonzalo and Alfonso de Cartagena,
whom King Don John IT had delegated to this assembly, played an
important role. We recognize the influence of the two brothers in
several of the resolutions voted by the council, whose only purpose
related to the Jews in Spain. When the Jews were prohibited from
occupying a chair in a school, the measure was not intended for
application in Germany, since at the time, the Jews did not dare teach in
universities at that time.

Emperor Sigismund died in 1437. His successor, Albert of Austria,
was an implacable enemy of Jews and heretics, and, writes Graetz,
“and he would gladly have exterminated them all, if the Hussites had
not had good weapons to defend themselves and if the Jews had not
been an inexhaustible source of income”. When the Council of
Augsburg decided to expel the Jewish community, in 1439, he hastened
to ratify this resolution. They were granted a grace period of two years
in which to sell their houses and property. They were then expelled to
the last man, and the stones from their cemeteries were used as building
materials. Albert II only reigned two years and left the crown to
Frederic III (known as “the Peaceful” or “the Fat”). This weak and
corruptible sovereign was, for his part, incl